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Introduction

Studies of the Revolution in the northern colonies typically emphasize the
demonstrations, crowd actions, and political intrigues that took place in the lead-
ing port cities, especially Boston, Newport, Philadelphia, and New York City.!
These studies have imparted an urban ambiance to the historical literature and
have rendered the rural areas as little more than appendages to these colonial
cities. Some of this emphasis is justifiable. Colonial officials governed from the
port cities, which were usually also provincial capitals and the nexuses between
Britain and British North America. Moreover, the imperial policies promoted
by the Grenville administration (1763—1765) and the Townshend Program
(1767) more immediately affected the economies of, and political power within,
these cities than of the farming areas, thereby inciting a greater public reaction
in the urban centers than in the countryside.

This urban focus, nonetheless, obscures an essential element of the story and
is thus not entirely accurate. At least 93 percent of the entire American colonial
population lived in rural areas, and the Revolution could neither have been waged
nor won without their steadfast support.? For example, farmers sent food and other
supplies to Boston, when it labored under the hardships caused by the so-called
Intolerable Acts (1774), especially the Boston Port Act. American farmers also
fed both Continental and state troops throughout the military conflict.

Much of the manufacturing performed in large commercial enterprises dur-
ing the colonial period was carried out in rural areas. For example, the colonial
iron industry was situated in rural areas, close to the iron and coal pits and the
forests required for production. These country forges and the associated settle-
ments, where the workers lived, constituted laboring villages, not unlike later
lumber and mining camps—artificial towns in the countryside. It was a forge in
a valley near Philadelphia that provided so many buildings and facilities that
George Washington used it for his encampment at Valley Forge, Pennsylvania,
in the winter of 1777 to 1778. The ironworks of William Alexander (or Lord
Stirling) in rural Orange County, New York, produced vital war equipment.’
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4 Introduction

Most of the Patriot soldiers, who used this equipment, also came from the
countryside. Farmers rather than urban dwellers filled the armies that won
American independence. Rural communities also politically dominated the
new states. In those colonies, where the British army controlled the key ports
and stifled urban revolutionary activity, rural people nurtured and sustained the
struggle. The New England states were the exception, for the British evacuated
that area early in the war, and urban political leaders could thus continue vig-
orously to support the Revolution. However, during the period that the British
occupied Newport (December 1776—October 1779), the burden of keeping the
Revolution alive fell on the people in the more rural areas of Rhode Island. Of
course, in the colonies to the south of New York, rural Americans (along with
some urban refugees from British-occupied cities) played key roles in creating
the new states.

The contribution of rural New York to the Revolution has long been under-
estimated. From 1776 until 1783 the British occupied New York City and ruled
itunder martial law. Here, the military commander-in-chief maintained his head-
quarters. Here, too, was located the capital of what remained of the royal
province of New York.* And from here, raiding parties scoured the middle states,
searching for supplies and military victory. Meanwhile, rural political leaders,
in concert with politicians from Albany and other small towns of the Hudson
and Mohawk Valleys, began fashioning the new State of New York and its repub-
lican government. George Clinton, the state’s first governor, came from the vil-
lage of Little Britain on the west bank of the Hudson, near Newburgh. Melancton
Smith, a prominent state politician during and after the war, came from Dutchess
County. Abraham Yates, who served with John Jay on the committee that drafted
the New York State Constitution of 1777, hailed from Albany. Of course, Whig
members of the Livingston family retreated at the outbreak of the war to their
upstate properties, where they become leaders of the new state.’

Although New York’s rural areas may have played a key role in the
Revolution, they did not cause the conflagration. Instead, they were reacting
(albeit hesitantly) to decisions made in Great Britain. The Great War for Empire
(1754-1763)—also known as the Seven Years’ War and the French and Indian
War—persuaded the British government to reevaluate the role and place of its
colonies within the empire.® Wartime experiences, especially smuggling
between its North American colonists and the enemy, led British officials to con-
clude that they must enhance their authority over the empire and rationalize the
quilt of regulations that had been patched together over the past century.” They
also thought they needed to reduce the debt that had mushroomed during the
war, for the government’s creditors were writing memorials demanding their
due. Some of these petitioners also sat in Parliament, where they listened sym-
pathetically to their own appeals.®
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Even before the conflict had ended, the government had already embarked
on its program to remake the empire. The Revenue Act of 1762 authorized the
Crown to use the navy in peacetime to enforce the acts of trade and navigation.
The pace of reform quickened in April 1763, when the Grenville ministry
assumed power. [tissued directives implementing the Revenue Act and demand-
ing that colonial governors comply fully with their lawful responsibilities or
face dismissal. The cabinet also increased the number of naval vessels stationed
in North America.’

In October the king issued the Proclamation of 1763, which forbade
colonists from settling west of the Appalachian Mountains. At first, all colonials
believed that this prohibition injured their economic prospects by restricting
their ability to acquire land, but over time loopholes enabled investors and set-
tlers to ignore the line and to move beyond the mountains. However, the procla-
mation included another important provision. Land that the crown controlled
and for which no land grants had been made was to be allotted to veterans of
the war. Pursuant to this provision many former soldiers settled in northern New
York and were eventually indifferent to the Revolutionary cause.!?

The Revenue (or Sugar) Act of April 1764 sought to help pay for the British
troops stationed in America, supposedly to protect the colonies from attack, but
also to keep the colonists in check. The act cut the duty on foreign molasses in
halfin the belief that the lower rate would inhibit smuggling. The act also boosted
the duty on foreign sugar; banned the importation of foreign rum into the
colonies; doubled the duties on foreign products that were shipped from England
to the colonies; set new or higher taxes on non-British coffee, indigo, pimento,
textiles, and wines imported into the colonies; and extended the list of enumer-
ated goods that colonists could ship only within the empire. The act also author-
ized creation of a new vice-admiralty court in Halifax, Nova Scotia, that was to
have concurrent jurisdiction with the vice-admiralty courts, which were already
operating in America, but which were notoriously lax. At a prosecutor’s discre-
tion, any colonial maritime or civil case falling within the jurisdiction of a vice-
admiralty court could now be filed at the new site. Removing the trial to a
different court, the cabinet hoped, would improve the chance of conviction,
enhance compliance with the act, and increase revenues.!!

The Currency Act also became law that April, because the ministry feared
that provincial legislatures might allow American debtors to pay the sterling
debts owed to British creditors in depreciated colonial paper currency. The act
forbade colonial governments to issue paper money as legal tender. It also pro-
hibited these governments from delaying the redemption date for existing paper
issues. No colonial governor could sign a paper-money bill that did not have a
clause suspending its operation until the Privy Council approved it. The act infu-
riated many colonists, because they had long used paper money successfully;
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their imbalance of trade with Britain had relentlessly drained species from the
colonies and made the use of paper money essential.!?

The Quartering Act of March 1765 required that colonial governments sup-
ply and house British troops sent into their provinces. Supposedly, these troops
were present to protect the empire from attacks by a revived French military or
by aggrieved Native Americans. But colonists argued that the act was really tax-
ation without representation, for Parliament was alleging that it could compel
provincial assemblies to allocate money for specific purposes. Urban Americans
claimed, too, that these troops were being kept in or near the major cities along
the Atlantic coast to enforce the government’s postwar policies and to intimi-
date their residents. The presence of these troops on American soil inescapably
became a sore point. Not only did British Americans oppose standing armies in
peacetime, they also clashed physically with the redcoats. In 1766 British troops
were used to crush land riots in the Hudson Valley. In 1770 the “Battle of Golden
Hill” in New York City pitted British regulars against neighborhood civilians.!?

Focused upon the intended outcome of its legislative agenda and heedless
of the negative (although predictable) consequences of its actions, Parliament
also passed the Stamp Act (March 1765), the first direct tax Britain ever levied
on its North American colonies. The measure taxed most printed material,
including newspapers, broadsides, pamphlets, and many commercial and legal
documents. The tax was to be paid in sterling and used to support the army sta-
tioned in America. Infractions of the law could be tried, at the prosecutor’s dis-
cretion, in either the juryless vice-admiralty courts or the local common law
courts. The tax antagonized many crucial economic constituencies in New York.
Merchants were incensed, because the need for stamps on commercial docu-
ments would increase costs and complicate business transactions. The require-
ment that the tax be paid in specie threatened (following the Currency Act) to
kill the very commerce upon which the measure aimed to raise revenue. Land
speculators were vexed by the new taxes that were now to be levied on their
deals. Lawyers were upset, for stamps would have to be affixed to court docu-
ments. Printers were appalled, because the statute inflated the cost of what they
printed, threatened to undermine freedom of the press, and could wreck their
business.!# Dissenting clergymen feared that baptisms, marriages, and funeral
services would not be performed, for the certifying documents would be taxed.
The Stamp Act managed to offend all the major leadership groups of colonial
New York.

More than self-interest was involved. As early as 1752, before the Great
War, William Livingston had argued: “Itis a standing Maxim of English Liberty,
‘that no Man shall be taxed, but with his own Consent.’”’!> This argument was
repeated in rebuttal to the postwar British imperial policies. One New York writer
neatly summarized the American constitutional position: “Since we are agreed
in the Right of the Colonies, to be taxed only by their own Consent given by their
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justice in America. A companion measure created an American Board of
Customs at Boston that had power over all colonial customs officials and that
reported to the British Treasury Board. The colonists responded with a boycott
of British goods, and Parliament again backed down, this time by repealing in
April 1770 all the Townshend duties except the one on tea, which was to remain
in effect as a symbol of parliamentary sovereignty. New Yorkers consequently
lifted their boycott against all items except tea, and relations with the mother
country improved.?

The next crisis finally did involve rural areas in the protest movement. In
1773 Parliament enacted the Tea Act, mainly because the East India Company
faced bankruptcy. To regain financial solvency, the company needed to sell the
vast amounts of tea overflowing its warehouses. The Tea Act remitted all British
duties on tea exported to the colonies and now allowed the company to sell
directly to consignees there, instead of at public auction in Britain. Company
tea would thus be cheap, even less expensive than the tea British Americans
smuggled into the colonies to avoid paying the Townshend duty. The ministry
gave scant consideration to how colonists would react to a law that overturned
established patterns of trade, that ruined businesses by granting the East India
Company a monopoly in America, and that would set a precedent for
Parliament’s creating similar monopolies over other commodities on the
American market. It also reopened the question of whether Parliament could tax
the colonies. Many Americans considered the Boston Tea Party (December
1773) and the corresponding events that prevented the marketing of tea in other
cities, including New York, to be virtuous resistance to a program that would
harm all Americans.?!

Parliament responded to the Boston Tea Party with the Coercive (or
Intolerable) Acts, which aimed to punish Massachusetts for its insubordination
and to intimidate colonists elsewhere from following that province’s lead. But the
altering of Massachusetts’s charter, tampering with the administration of justice
in the province, and closing the port of Boston, only awakened colonists through-
out America, in both urban and rural areas, to the imperial dangers that menaced
them. If Parliament could unilaterally change Massachusetts’s charter and mis-
treat that colony, it could do the same to them.?> Some rural and urban communi-
ties sent food and money to support Boston in its crisis. This was the first time that
many agrarian areas became active in the protest movement. Most of the colonies
also agreed to send representatives to Philadelphia in September 1774 for what
became the First Continental Congress. In October, Congress adopted the
Continental Association, which called for the cessation of all British imports begin-
ning on December 1, 1774, and for an embargo on all exports to Britain, Ireland,
and the British West Indies from September 1, 1775. Most important, Congress
called for the creation of committees in every town, city, and county to enforce
the Association and to punish violators. In time, these extralegal bodies would
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Representatives; It follows, that if they are not so represented in Parliament,
[then] they have not given, nor can they possibly give their Consent to be there
taxed, consequently . . . such a Tax must be arbitrary illegal and oppressive.” A
second New Yorker, “Freeman,” avowed that it was “not the Tax itself,” but “the
unconstitutional Manner of imposing it, that is the great Subject of Uneasyness
to the Colonies. Whatever Justice there may be in their bearing a proportional
Charge of the War, they apprehend, that Manner of levying the Money upon
them, without their own Consent, by which they are deprived of one of the most
valuable Rights of British Subjects, never can be right.” A third, “A.B.C.,”
insisted that Americans could be “taxed only by our Legal constitutional
Representatives.” !¢

The parliamentary acts outlined above burdened urban New Yorkers more
than their rural counterparts, who, for the most part, did not own the ships or the
cargoes that were subject to stricter commercial regulations. Often they traded
by barter or in commodities rather than in currency. They rarely saw the red-
coats who were usually barracked in urban or frontier areas. Even the Stamp Act
impinged more on urban than on rural New York. As a result, it was New York
City and Albany that reacted first and most vigorously to the stamp tax. Neither
city garnered much support from its rural neighbors. The intensity and violence
of the rioting in New York City (November 1765), however, helped persuade
the British government to repeal the tax in March 1766.!7

Rioting was not new to British North America.!® Colonial protestors had
used rural and urban crowd actions throughout the eighteenth century to obtain
redress from unpopular laws, proclamations, and practices. Notable were the
New Jersey land riots (1740s); the Paxton Boys riots in Pennsylvania (1763);
the tenant riots in Dutchess County, New York (1741, 1766); the Regulator
Movements in South Carolina (1767-1769) and North Carolina (1768-1771);
and theriots involving New England and New York settlers on the western slopes
of the Green Mountains (1770s). The new British imperial regulations of the
1760s provoked disturbances, especially in urban areas, where the new policies
had the greatest impact. None of the participants aimed to overthrow the British
Empire or realized that a revolution was in the offing, but most historians con-
sider the disturbances that took place in the decade before the Battle of Lexington
to be critical steps leading to the American Revolution.

Although the ministry had backed down and repealed the Stamp Act, the
government’s general policy remained the same. Immediately after the repeal,
Parliament passed the Declaratory Act, which proclaimed its supremacy over
the colonies “in all cases whatsoever.”!® The continued need for revenue led
George Townshend, the Chancellor of the Exchequer, to persuade Parliament in
1767 to pass the Townshend Act, which levied duties on glass, lead, paint, paper,
and tea imported into the colonies. The proceeds were to be spent both for colo-
nial defense and for defraying the cost of government and the administration of
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become the de facto governing bodies in each colony.?> When the North ministry
and Gen. Thomas Gage responded with military force against the protesters in
Massachusetts and shed American blood at Lexington and Concord (April 1775),
both urban and rural Americans rose to meet the challenge.?* It was now almost
inevitable that only a clash of arms could settle the conflict.

While these imperial crises were unfolding in the 1760s and 1770s, rural
New York was also plagued by its own (sometimes violent) controversies that
were unrelated to the quarrel with Britain. But these disputes often influenced
how residents responded to the Revolution. They pitted one group against another
and so created antagonists and allies. Many of the people who opposed each other
before the war were to do so during the war. Many who were allies in the prewar
years were to remain so when fighting commenced. Therefore, by considering
these earlier controversies we may perceive clues to wartime allegiances.

During the French and Indian War (1754-1763), northern New York, from
Albany to Canada, was a wilderness. To settle the region and to safeguard the fer-
tile Hudson Valley from fresh, armed incursions, the British government encour-
aged new communities in the region. Throughout the 1760s and 1770s veterans
of the French and Indian War and immigrants from the British Isles settled in what
was to be Charlotte County, which was situated along the east side of the Hudson
River, immediately north of Rensselaer and along the shores of Lakes George and
Champlain. These settlers established their homes and farms under land patents
New York had granted them. There they encountered and clashed with land-hungry
settlers from New England, who had moved west from the Connecticut Valley
with land patents issued by New Hampshire. Dozens of Yankees, led by Ethan
Allen, engaged in many small-scale battles along the western slopes of the Green
Mountains in a campaign that aimed to drive the Yorkers out of the region. These
hostilities engendered so much enmity between these settlers that their prewar ani-
mosity powerfully shaped their wartime allegiance. It is little wonder that early in
the Revolution, when Green Mountain Yankees became enthusiastic rebels, the
veterans who had fought for their crown against the French stayed neutral or
became Loyalist. Moreover, given that the Allen family was religiously liberal
and inclined toward deism, it is not surprising that the staunch Presbyterian immi-
grants from Ulster and Scotland were loath to champion the Revolution.??

Long Island, too, was plagued by such controversies. In the town of
Jamaica, Anglicans and Presbyterians fought, sometimes violently, for control
of the local church, parsonage, and minister’s salary. In nearby Hempstead, res-
idents in the northern part of town fought for autonomy against residents of south
Hempstead, who opposed separation. In the Revolution, the Patriots found sup-
portamong Jamaica Presbyterians and residents of north Hempstead; the Crown,
among their enemies.?®

In the western part of the colony, along the Mohawk River, ethnic and reli-
gious groups were enmeshed in conflict in the 1770s. Since the early 1700s,
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German Palatines from the Rhine Valley and Lutherans had been settling not
only in Pennsylvania but also in New York’s Mohawk Valley. These ardent
Protestants were soon forced to share this frontier region with their traditional
enemy, Catholics. In 1773 and 1774 Sir William Johnson located settlers and
tenants on extensive land grants that the crown had awarded him for his work
with Native Americans and for his leadership role in the wars against the French.
Many of these settlers belonged to the Roman Catholic McDonnell clan from
the Highlands of Scotland. They created flourishing settlements north of the
Mohawk around Johnson Hall, where an Irish priest ministered to them. Most
Johnson tenants became Loyalists, and so too did many other Scots, who came
to British North America. However, most of the Germans became revolution-
aries and in 1777 contributed to the American military victory at Oriskany by
preventing Col. Barry St. Leger from reinforcing Gen. John Burgoyne.?’

The rural residents of Dutchess and Westchester Counties and of the east-
ern part of Albany County also experienced in the prewar period considerable
violence that was not directly connected to British imperialism. In this region
several New York landlords, including members of the Livingston family, force-
fully confronted many of their tenants, who had migrated from New England,
over such issues as political power, land rights, fees, and other manorial and
estate policies. The very fact that these people were fighting over strictly local
issues clearly demonstrates that the British government was not the only, or even
the primary, source of discontent in rural New York. However, during the war
these antagonisms continued, with many Livingstons becoming Whigs, and
many of their tenants becoming Tories.

Conflicts emerged elsewhere. Notably, by the end of the Great War for
Empire, the ethnic makeup of Albany, the province’s most populous county, had
begun to change. As a consequence, its economy, culture, and lifestyle were also
evolving. In 1756 Albany County had only 17,424 residents. However, a short
fifteen years later, its population had increased by almost 250 percent to 42,706
people. Almost all of the newcomers were Britons, and their presence altered
the demographics of the county and the distribution of political power. For gen-
erations the Dutch had dominated the Albany County courts; but in the 1760s
the British newcomers challenged the Dutch for control over jury and judicial
decisions. The new inhabitants also made English, not Dutch, the primary lan-
guage in the area.

In the town of Albany, enmity between the established Dutch mercantile
families and the new British commercial interests grew significantly, especially
over Canadian and Native American commerce. Britain’s victory in the French
and Indian Wars had dramatically affected Albany’s Dutch traders. The conti-
nent now belonged to Great Britain, and the Dutch could no longer profit by
smuggling goods between French Canada and Albany. To offset the loss of this
lucrative trade, some Dutch and French Canadian traders formed commercial
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alliances that sent emissaries as far west as Detroit to develop trading connec-
tions with Native Americans. However, British merchants, who believed that
the wealth of the West was theirs by right of conquest, strenuously countered
these efforts. Indicative of the eventual success of British mercantile interests
was the rising power and stature of Sir William Johnson, his Loyalist family,
and his supporters in American Indian affairs. Such commercial competition
also demonstrated that British imperialism in the years after 1763 was not the
only issue that pitted New Yorkers against one another.?

Not nearly as dynamic was Richmond, the county with the colony’s small-
est population. Isolated from the state and nearer to New Jersey, its less than
3,000 residents were politically dominated for most of the eighteenth century
by a few leading families led by the Billopps. The county’s docile villages and
farms socially and politically slept their way into the revolutionary period. Staten
Islanders deliberately held themselves aloof from the emerging conflict and
remained overwhelmingly loyal, when the British army and navy occupied the
county in 1776. However, late in the conflict some Staten Islanders began to
chafe under martial law and the military’s seizure of produce and services, so
that by war’s end most residents accepted the conversion to statehood as less
onerous than continued British domination.

Despite the many and often violent divisions that plagued rural New York
in the colonial period, the Revolution created fresh challenges and demanded
that the Patriots move simultaneously on several fronts. They had to support the
war effort by mounting military initiatives to keep the British from moving south
from Canada and north from New York City; to create a new political entity, a
state with a constitution and a functioning government; to maintain an economy
capable of feeding the people of the new state and supplying its soldiers in the
field; and to ferret out Loyalists and to watch over residents who opposed the
new government. Their success in all these endeavors not only helped bring vic-
tory over Great Britain but also aided in the transformation of New Yorkers from
colonial subjects to republican citizens.

The Whigs saw the Loyalists as an unremitting menace. One of the first
actions of the new provisional government was to destroy the power of the
Loyalist Johnson family and its cohorts, because their power in the Mohawk
Valley threatened the security of Albany and much of northern New York. Many
of the Johnsons and their allies consequently fled to Upper Canada (present
Ontario) rather than remain under the control of the nascent revolutionaries.

Meanwhile, the residents of rural Long Island (about 18 percent of the
state’s population) had to endure the harsh British occupation of their commu-
nities, martial law, the nearly constant demands that the British army made for
supplies, the harassment of local residents by British officers and soldiers, and
raids from across the Long Island Sound. Although their plight was in many
ways different from that of rural New Yorkers living in areas controlled by the
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Whigs, the war was transforming them, too, from provincial New Yorkers into
citizens of the new republic. British oppression had convinced both neutrals and
Loyalists, who did not evacuate the state, that they were American, not British,
and that their future belonged in New York.?

Before the Revolution most white New Yorkers, who protested against Great
Britain because their rights were being trampled and their status was being reduced
to servitude and slavery, did not think about the rights of the 19,883 African
American New Yorkers, most of whom were slaves. Nevertheless, over time, the
rhetoric of the Revolution did have an effect upon how European Americans
thought and acted concerning slavery. The number of slaves declined in New York
State from 21,193 in 1790, to 15,017 in 1810, 75 in 1830; and 0 in 1850.3°

Once the war was won, the people of New York had to rebuild their soci-
ety, their economy, and their political system. Despite the long years of war, the
state’s population had increased by 42 percent (from 168,007 to 238,897 resi-
dents) between 1771 and 1786. Moreover, the areas of New York that the British
had occupied from 1776 to 1783 had to be reintegrated into the state. New York’s
war-torn economy had to be rebuilt. Patriots had to determine how to handle
defeated Loyalists who still remained in New York and how to dispose of the
property of those who had departed the state. Residents also had to demonstrate
that republicanism was a workable form of government. During and after the
war, state offices that had not existed in the colony or that had been filled by
appointment, were now filled by election. This opened the political system to
ambitious men who had previously been kept out of office. The political needs
of the new state thus encouraged political participation and furthered the cre-
ation of a democratic republic. Because the postwar challenges were eventually
met does not mean that the road was not daunting, that the tests were not severe,
or that failure was not a real possibility.

In sum, the American Revolution created crises and challenges for rural
New York. Yet, by doing so (and as the chapters that follow will demonstrate),
it allowed rural New Yorkers to emerge as citizens and leaders of the new State
of New York. Although historians of Revolutionary America have typically
focused their attention upon New York City, rural New York was just as impor-
tant in the birth of the new state. This book consequently considers the revolu-
tionary experiences of the people who lived not in New York City but in what
we have termed The Other New York.3!
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Part 1

The Revolution
in Downstate New York
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Kings County

Edwin G. Burrows

In the first half of the eighteenth century, despite its proximity to Manhattan,
Kings County grew more slowly than any other in the province. Between 1698
and 1771, its population rose from 2,017 to 3,623 (an 80 percent increase); dur-
ing the same period, the population of New York County, just across the East
River, climbed from 4,937 to 21,863 (a 343 percent increase), while that of the
entire colony jumped from 18,067 to 163,348 (an 804 percent increase).! Not
that Kings County was an undesirable place to put down roots: its original Native
American inhabitants had been driven out or marginalized, and by all accounts
the western end of Long Island (then often called Nassau Island) was as fertile
as it was beautiful. Visitors never failed to marvel at its abundant wildlife, dense
forests, bountiful orchards, fat cattle, and sweeping fields of wheat, corn, and
tobacco—*"the richest spot, in the opinion of New-Yorkers, of all America,”
wrote the Rev. Andrew Burnaby.?

Why would the richest spot in New York, let alone all America, have cap-
tured so small a share of the burgeoning provincial population? The answer turns
on two circumstances, both of which bear directly on how the people of Kings
County would experience and remember the Revolution.

First, the vast majority of its white inhabitants were fourth- or fifth-gener-
ation descendants of the Dutch and Walloon colonists who colonized New
Netherland in the middle of the previous century and stubbornly resisted
Anglicization after the English conquest of 1664. They spoke and wrote in
Dutch, and they insisted on Dutch mates for their sons and daughters; many
could boast of working the same land that had belonged to their grandfathers
and should in the fullness of time belong to their own grandchildren. They relied
on the Reformed Church rather than English courts for the resolution of dis-
putes, and they clung to the Roman-Dutch legal tradition, which among other

21
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things allowed married women to use their maiden names and control their own
property. Thus, although Kings County itself was an institution of English local
government (set up when the entire province was “shired” in 1683), its small
rural communities remained so determinedly Dutch—so insulated from the eco-
nomic and social forces reshaping British North America in the eighteenth cen-
tury—that it is no wonder prospective settlers tended to look elsewhere.?

But Kings County presented a second and arguably even more formidable
obstacle to newcomers: the growing dependence of its Dutch farmers on African
slave labor. Between 1698 and 1771, the number of slaves in the county rose
from 296 to 1,162—an increase of 866 as against an increase of only 740 in the
number of whites. On the eve of the Revolution, one out of every three residents
was in bondage, a greater proportion than any other county north of the Mason-
Dixon line, and slaves represented a significant share of the wealth of the
Rapeljes, Van Brunts, Cowenhovens, Leffertses, Sudayms, Lotts, Wyckoffs,
Remsens, and other prominent families. It is the breadth of slave ownership that
commands attention, however. Nearly 60 percent of the county’s white families
owned one or more slaves, relying on them to perform a wide variety of tasks:
cooking and cleaning, tending crops and livestock, hauling agricultural produce
to mills and markets, maintaining fences, building roads. The result, as a pair of
observant Hessians discovered in 1776, was that Kings County offered few if
any opportunities for a poor white man to make a living. “Near every dwelling-
house negroes (their slaves) are settled, who cultivate the most fertile land, pas-
ture the cattle, and do all the menial work,” observed Major Baurmeister. Whites,
added Chaplain Waldeck, “cannot earn anything with fieldwork or other hand-
work in this area, since the landed gentleman has his work done by his own
Negroes.” Besides, as the county’s servile population grew, so had the urgency
of vigilance. Disorderly, disobedient, and runaway slaves became a more and
more familiar feature of local affairs, and all whites, whether they owned slaves
or not, were expected to aid and abet the racial regime.*

These two circumstances—Dutch clannishness and resistance to assimila-
tion, plus the intensifying exploitation of slave labor—not only help explain
why the population of Kings County failed to keep pace with the rest of the
province, but also why the bulk of its white landowners took a dim view of Whig
resistance to Britain’s colonial policy after the end of the Seven Years’ War. True,
their forebears had rejoiced when Admiral Cornelis Evertsen drove the English
out of New York in 1673, then despaired when the Netherlands gave it back;
true, too, they had cheered Jacob Leisler’s revolt, neither forgetting nor forgiv-
ing his brutal execution in 1691. Since then, however, they had been left pretty
much to their own devices—and indeed flourished under the umbrella of impe-
rial commercial regulations, which encouraged New York City merchants to
funnel more and more of the county’s grain and cattle into the lucrative West
Indian trade. No less important, the provincial political establishment had stead-
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fastly supported the power of white masters over their black chattel, crushing
slave rebellions without mercy and tightening the colony’s slave code, until the
color line became absolute and immutable. Even the most Anglophobic
Dutchman could see that nothing good would come from meddling with the sta-
tus quo, least of all in the cause of liberty.’

Just how few Kings County residents sympathized with the Whigs became
clear over the summer of 1774, when a countywide meeting was called to elect
delegates to the first Continental Congress and only two men appeared.® Shortly
thereafter, Congress warned the inhabitants of America to prepare for war,
announced aboycott of British goods, and urged every town and county in America
to form an association to enforce the boycott. This time Kings County did not
respond at all. In fact, the first significant countywide political event—after a
decade of turmoil elsewhere in America—apparently did not occur until mid-April
1775, when twenty-one delegates from all of the towns except Flatlands converged
on the County Hall in Flatbush. Their task was to pick delegates to the Provincial
Convention that would assemble a week later in New York City for the purpose
of choosing representatives to the second Continental Congress. Judging by what
happened elsewhere, the unprecedented interest in the Flatbush meeting probably
reflected a widespread Tory assumption that if they could not stop Congress from
meeting, the next best thing would be to control it.”

But no sooner had the New York Convention concluded its business than
reports began to arrive of the clash at Lexington and Concord. Buoyed by public
outrage, Whigs in the city immediately called for the formation of a Provincial
Congress to stiffen and coordinate resistance. On May 20 the “Magistrates and
Freeholders” of the village of Brooklyn gathered to denounce “the unjust plunder
and inhuman carnage committed on the property and persons of our brethren in
Massachusetts.” They then chose two delegates to the Provincial Congress and
resolved “to observe all warrantable acts, associations and orders, as said Congress
shall direct.” At a second meeting in Flatbush on May 22, deputies from the other
towns added another half-dozen names to the county’s delegation.?

Kings County Whigs nonetheless remained a distinct minority and very
much on the defensive. During the summer and fall of 1775, while the Provincial
Congress cautiously began to assume the powers and responsibilities of gov-
ernment, the county’s Tories drew additional strength from an influx of refugees
fleeing the turmoil in New York City. Flatbush alone played host to such lumi-
naries as Mayor David Mathews, Gov. William Tryon, Chief Justice Daniel
Horsmanden, and William Axtell, a member of the Governor’s Council whose
rural seat, Melrose Hall, stood just north of the village on the road to Brooklyn.
(Flatbush Tories also took comfort from the presence of the Rev. Johannes Rubel,
an outspoken supporter of the Crown who shared the pulpit of the Flatbush
Church with the Rev. Ulpianus van Sinderen, an equally outspoken Whig.) As
one American officer reported from Red Hook the following June, “most of the



24 Edwin G. Burrows

country towns” in the neighborhood were crawling with Tories from the city.
“It is almost incredible how many of these vermin there are.” In October, when
the Provincial Congress drew up a Defense or General Association (not to be
confused with the Continental Association) and prepared to seize the weapons
of those “inimicals” and “equivocals” who refused to sign, and when the
Continental Congress then ordered the arrest of anyone who might endanger
“the safety of the colonies,” Tories prepared for armed conflict.”

Whites throughout the region had in the meantime become alarmed by rumors
of renewed discontent among their slaves. In August 1775, worried that nothing
cooled patriotic ardor like the prospect of servile insurrection, the Provincial
Congress ordered that if a local militia unit were called away to deal with a British
invasion, its commanding officer should leave a detachment behind “to guard
against the insurrection of slaves, or if judged more expedient and safe, may take
the slaves or part of them with him and employ them in carrying baggage, drag-
ging cannon or the like.”!? Then, in late November, came word that Governor
Dunmore of Virginia had offered freedom to any slave who deserted a rebel mas-
ter and enlisted with His Majesty’s forces. Whigs everywhere cried foul, and six
months later the Declaration of Independence would complain that the Crown
“has excited domestic insurrections amongst us.” Kings County slave owners now
had more than enough reason to conclude that they stood on the brink of the abyss.
Support for the Patriots, such as it was, boiled away almost overnight, and by the
end of November, the county evidently did not even hold public elections for del-
egates to the Second Provincial Congress. The few men who eventually served
were probably dispatched by local Whig committees and attended only intermit-
tently. After May 1776, they stopped altogether. !

I

It was against this background of mounting racial tensions and receding
Whig resolve that Kings County endured two invasions—by the Americans in
the spring and summer of 1776, and then by the British, who drove the Americans
out at the end of the summer and held on for the next seven years. What made
the county a prime target for both armies was the understanding that New York
City could not be defended against an enemy who held Brooklyn Heights over-
looking the harbor and was thus able to interdict shipping on the East River. For
His Majesty’s forces, securing Kings County, and indeed all of Long Island, was
also a logistical imperative, because without access to the county’s bountiful
farms, herds, and forests, a prolonged occupation of New York would be
extremely difficult. As General Charles Lee advised Washington in February
1776, “should the enemy take possession of New York, when Long Island is in
our hands, they will find it almost impossible to subsist.”!?
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The American invasion began at the end of February 1776, when
Washington sent Lee to prepare the city’s defenses, and Lee deployed a regi-
ment of 600 Connecticut volunteers to fortify Brooklyn Heights. The Provincial
Congress suggested, with a touch of exasperation, that the Kings County
deputies might want to attend its sessions, so they could help arrange suitable
lodgings for the Connecticut men in Brooklyn. The deputies consented to appear,
and after making inquiries, advised Congress that it would be necessary to bil-
let the soldiers in private houses, for which the inhabitants would charge 7s. per
week for officers and 1s. 4d. per week for privates. Not unreasonable rates, per-
haps, but not exactly a memorable display of patriotism, either—which proba-
bly explains why Congress then “recommended” that local residents also supply
all timber for the project. “The known zeal of the inhabitants of Kings County
to promote the public cause,” Congress added dryly, “we doubt not will stimu-
late them to promote the necessary work.” Once it became definite that the British
were on the way, however, the gloves came off. In mid-March Congress simply
ordered the people of Brooklyn to help on the fortifications by “turning out for
service atleast one-half their male population (negroes included) every day, with
spades, hoes, and pickaxes,” until they finished the job.!3

Construction of the Brooklyn works continued on through the spring and
summer of 1776 under a succession of commanders designated by Washington—
General William Alexander (Lord Stirling), who replaced General Lee in early
March, then General Nathanael Greene, who replaced Stirling in April, and finally
General John Sullivan, who took over from Greene in mid-August. When finally
completed, the American defenses in the county consisted of three elements: first,
a pair of harbor batteries at Fort Stirling on Columbia Heights and Fort Defiance
on Red Hook, which in conjunction with batteries on Governors Island and
Manhattan were intended to prevent British warships from approaching New
York; second, a chain of redoubts, trenches, and palisades along the shore of New
York Bay between Gowanus and Wallabout, situated to thwart an attack on the
harbor batteries by land; and third, an outer line of posts on the roads cutting
through the Heights of Guan or Gowanus, a thickly wooded ridge, forty to ninety
feet high, that split Kings County from southwest to northeast about two miles
outside the inner line. In addition to these fixed positions, a company of
Pennsylvania riflemen patrolled the shore above and below the Narrows to stop
“disaffected” locals from communicating with British warships in the harbor,
evidently a regular occurrence that underscored how little support the American
cause enjoyed in the county.'*

Meanwhile, at the end of June, the much-anticipated British invasion had
begun with the arrival off Staten Island of more than a hundred vessels and nine
thousand regulars under the command of General William Howe and his brother,
Admiral Richard Howe. Generals Henry Clinton and Lord Charles Cornwallis,
having failed to capture Charleston, South Carolina, appeared a month later with
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eight regiments of veterans. Only days behind them came a convoy of twenty-
two ships bearing additional regiments from England and Scotland. Finally, in
mid-August, still another fleet arrived with eight or nine thousand Hessian mer-
cenaries under General Philip von Heister. In all, the Howe brothers now had at
their disposal two men-of-war and two dozen frigates mounting a combined
twelve hundred cannon, plus four hundred transports, thirty-two thousand troops
in twenty-seven regiments, and thirteen thousand seamen. It was the greatest
concentration of military and naval power ever assembled in the colonies and
the largest British expeditionary force in history to date, marshaling better than
40 percent of all men and ships on active duty in the Royal Navy.

Washington, by contrast, had no proper navy, and the forces at his disposal
in and around New York—which by the most generous accounting numbered
over thirty-five thousand men and officers—were a hodge-podge of inexperi-
enced militia and Continental levies without adequate equipment or training.
Often entire units broke camp and went home on a moment’s notice. Worse,
dysentery and “putrid fever” (a term used for both typhus and typhoid fever) ran
through the camps in July and August, laying up as many as one-third of the
men at a time. If Washington had twenty-three thousand troops left and fit for
duty by mid-August, he was lucky.!?

While they waited for the hammer to fall, Washington and the provincial
government continued to grapple with widespread apathy, even defiance, in
Kings County.'® The county’s regiment dwindled alarmingly, as disaffected
militiamen went over to the British on Staten Island or simply dropped out of
sight, “skulking” in the marshes and thickets around Jamaica Bay; provincial
authorities eventually did the prudent thing and moved the regiment within the
lines at Brooklyn, where the men who remained could be kept under tighter dis-
cipline.!” Militia from Queens and Suffolk had in the meantime begun the gar-
gantuan task of stripping local farms of livestock, hay, grain, and anything else
that might be useful to the enemy; what could not be carried off was burned.
This necessary but inevitably unpopular policy bred more disaffection, and the
Provincial Congress, now calling itself the State Convention, soon got wind of
allegations “that the inhabitants of Kings county have determined not to oppose
the enemy.” On August 19 the Convention angrily responded by dispatching a
committee to investigate. Should the rumors prove true, Continental troops from
the Brooklyn defenses would be sent to disarm and arrest troublemakers, seize
or destroy their crops, and if necessary “lay the whole county waste.”'3

Before that order could be carried out, however, General Howe made his
move. At daybreak on Thursday, August 22, 1776, a swarm of British transports
crossed the narrows from Staten Island to Gravesend Bay, disgorging 15,500
redcoats and Hessians along with forty pieces of artillery on the beach below
Denyse’s Ferry in New Utrecht. Marching inland, the men appeared “as merry
as in a Holiday, and regaled themselves with the fine apples, which hung every
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where upon the Trees in great abundance.” Wisely, the Pennsylvania riflemen
on shore patrol nearby offered no opposition, but fell back through the village
of New Utrecht toward Flatbush, burning stacks of hay and shooting cattle as
they went. By late afternoon, the British were spread out along a broad arc, about
eight miles long, that ran east from New Utrecht, where Howe established his
headquarters, through Gravesend, east to Flatlands. General Cornwallis led an
advance column up from Gravesend to occupy Flatbush, whose residents dis-
played some uncertainly as to whether their indifference to the American cause
would matter to His Majesty’s soldiers. “The whole village was in commotion,”
oneresidentrecalled many years later. “Women and children were running hither
and thither. Men on horseback were riding about in all directions.” As the fam-
ily watched nervously, “our faithful old negro man, Caesar” loaded the wagon
with their most prized possessions—*“the great Dutch Bible with its huge brass
clasps and brass corners” and “the old Dutch clock,” as well as assorted furni-
ture and articles of clothing. Instead of fleeing, Dominie Rubel welcomed the
British with open arms and led His Majesty’s soldiers to the extensive wine col-
lection of David Clarkson, one of the village’s few Whigs.!®

Washington quickly sent reinforcements from New York to strengthen the
forward posts on the Gowanus Heights, which under General Sullivan’s man-
agement had become increasingly important to the American defenses. On
Friday the 23", the Americans skirmished with the Hessians on the outskirts of
Flatbush, drove them back into the village, and then withdrew. Several private
houses and other buildings were burned, according to Sullivan, and “one of our
gunners threw a shell into Mr. Axtell’s house where a number of officers were
atdinner.”?° More impromptu skirmishing flared around Flatbush over the week-
end. The Americans gave as good as they got, but Washington began to hear
complaints that his soldiers were looting the homes of friend and foe alike—the
kind of “licentious and disorderly behavior,” he grumbled, that one would expect
of a mob, not a well-regulated army.?!

With instructions to improve discipline, Washington abruptly shifted the
overall command on Long Island from Sullivan to General Israel Putnam of
Connecticut, a crusty but popular old veteran of the fighting in the Seven Years’
War and on Bunker Hill. On Monday, August 26, Washington fed Putnam addi-
tional regiments from New York City, bringing the size of the American force
in Kings County to around nine thousand officers and men. About three thou-
sand were deployed to block the country roads that wound around and through
the Gowanus Heights to Brooklyn. Of these, approximately eight hundred men
from Maryland, Delaware, Pennsylvania, and New York covered the Gowanus
Road, which ran along the shore on the right or west end of the American lines.
Further east, near the American center, a somewhat larger body of troops from
New Jersey, Connecticut, and Rhode Island, supported by a battery of field
pieces, occupied the Flatbush Pass, a wide notch, where the road from Flatbush
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ran up to Brooklyn. The remainder, a mix of Continental regulars and
Connecticut militia, held the Bedford Pass, the point at which the road from
Bedford came down to join the Flatbush Road just above Flatbush village.
Opposing them were almost twenty thousand redcoats, Hessians, and Tories,
including hundreds of newly emancipated blacks from New York and other
colonies. It was a strange scene indeed—British, German, and African soldiers
massing in Dutch fields and villages, while boys from New England, New Jersey,
Pennsylvania, and Maryland, led by a Virginia tobacco planter, waited on the
hills to give them battle.??

The Americans did not wait for long. General Clinton had discovered—
maybe when reconnoitering the American positions, maybe from one of the
many Kings County Tories who attached themselves to the British army—that
Washington or his subordinates had neglected to guard a fourth opening in the
Gowanus Heights. This was the Jamaica Pass, four miles east of Brooklyn on
the far left of the American lines, where the Jamaica Road, running east from
Bedford, wound through a deep ravine on its way to Queens County and east-
ern Long Island. Clinton persuaded Howe to let him attack the pass in strength.
Just after sundown on Monday the 26™, he and Cornwallis led ten thousand reg-
ulars in a two-mile-long column out of Flatlands toward New Lots in the east.
With them went two companies of Long Island Tories under Colonel Oliver De
Lancey and several Tory scouts from Flatbush. To deceive any watching
Americans, they moved quietly and left their campfires burning. At New Lots
they turned north to Jamaica and at about 3:00 a.m. on the 27% slipped through
the Jamaica Pass without opposition. They then wheeled west toward the vil-
lage of Bedford, where they arrived around 8:30 a.m. and fired a signal gun to
alert the rest of the army.

Two smaller forces now swung into action. In the center of the American
line, five thousand blue-coated Hessians charged into the Flatbush Pass. Realizing
from the signal gun that the enemy had somehow snuck around behind them, the
Americans and their commander, General Sullivan, fell back along the road to
Brooklyn—only to discover Howe’s light infantry pounding down the Jamaica
Road from Bedford. Hundreds of Americans sprinted into the woods and fields in
a desperate attempt to reach safety behind the lines in Brooklyn Heights, joined
as they ran by the men who had been defending the nearby Bedford Pass. Those
who failed to get away and attempted to surrender were slaughtered by the oncom-
ing Hessians. “The greater part of the riflemen were pierced with the bayonet to
trees,” gloated a German officer, while a British officer observed that “it was a
fine sight to see with what alacrity they dispatched the Rebels with their bayonets
after we had surrounded them so they could notresist.” Sullivan himself was taken
in a cornfield near what is now Battle Pass in Prospect Park. By late morning the
fighting in this part of the battlefield was done.??
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At Gowanus, on the far right of the American line, Maj. Gen. James Grant
had meanwhile led seven thousand redcoats and two companies of Long Island
Tories against the defenders commanded by General Stirling. Stirling’s men
fought gamely to keep control of the high ground (now “Battle Hill” in Green-
Wood Cemetery), until the collapse of the American center at Flatbush made
their position hopeless. Redcoats from Bedford were closing in behind them,
while Hessians were crashing through the woods on their left. To give the rest
of his force time to escape across the tidal flats along Gowanus Creek, Stirling
counterattacked with a few hundred Maryland troops. Washington, observing
Stirling advance from a small hill where Court Street now crosses Atlantic
Avenue, reportedly cried out, “Good God! What brave fellows I must this day
lose!”” Survivors remembered the “confusion and horror” that followed, as the
fleeing Americans tried desperately to cross eighty yards of muddy flats under
a hail of British canister, grape, and chain. “Some of them were mired and cry-
ing to their fellows for God’s sake to help them out; but every man was intent
on his own safety and no assistance was rendered.” After savage fighting on the
Gowanus Road near the Cortelyou House (today called the “Old Stone House”),
Stirling was captured. By 2:00 p.m. all but a handful of the Marylanders had
been taken prisoner or killed. Thanks to them, however, hundreds of their coun-
trymen managed to wade or swim to safety in Brooklyn Heights.?*

Had Howe kept up the pursuit, he might well have driven Washington’s
demoralized forces off the Heights and into the East River. In only a few hours
of fighting they had lost two or three hundred dead and approximately several
times that number wounded, captured, or missing—among them three generals
and scores of junior officers. The British and Hessians together reported only
63 dead and 314 wounded or missing.?

But despite pleas by Clinton, Cornwallis, and others to finish what they had
begun, Howe stopped—deterred perhaps by the memory of British losses at
Bunker Hill, by the hope that the rebels would give up without a struggle, or by
the contrary winds and rain and tides that prevented his brother from moving
up the fleet to provide cover. Whatever the reason, he allowed the Americans to
remain unmolested on Brooklyn Heights for another two days. That was all the
time Washington needed for one of the boldest strokes of the war. On the night
of Thursday, August 29, under the very noses of the enemy, he quietly evacu-
ated the entire army across the East River to New York. Six weeks later, the
slow-moving Howe crossed the river in pursuit, seized the city, and proceeded
to drive the Americans off Manhattan altogether.
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As the war moved elsewhere, the residents of Kings County began the grim
work of repairing the damage inflicted on their homes and farms by both
armies—fields littered with debris and rotting animal carcasses, orchards put to
the ax for firewood and fortifications, yards full of smashed furniture, wells
stuffed with garbage, houses used as stables.?’” They expected nonetheless that
the restoration of royal authority would allow them to rebuild their lives in short
order, and they took immediate steps to affirm their loyalty—sporting red badges
on their hats and clothes, dispatching congratulations to His Majesty’s victori-
ous generals, and even changing the names of local landmarks (Brooklyn’s Ferry
House Tavern became the King’s Head, a favorite rendezvous for local Tories,
while a racecourse in Flatlands became Ascot Heath). In mid-November, four
hundred men from every town converged on the Flatbush church to sign an oath
of allegiance: “I do sincerely promise and swear, that I will be faithful and bear
true allegiance to His Majesty, King George the Third, and that I will defend his
crown and dignity, against all persons whatsoever. So help me God.” In early
December, several dozen men who had served in the Provincial Congress or on
various local committees also signed a memorial to the royal governor, “reject-
ing and disclaiming all power of Congress and Committees, totally refusing obe-
dience thereto, and revoking all proceedings under them whatsoever, as being
... ruinous to the welfare and prosperity of this County.”?8

It was a short honeymoon. His Majesty’s officers soon grew suspicious of
the alacrity with which people throughout the colony lined up to profess their
loyalty, openly ridiculing them as “red rags.” As one disbelieving officer wrote
to his English patron: “They swallow the Oaths of Allegiance to the King, &
Congress, Alternately, with as much ease as your Lordship does poached
Eggs.”?° For their part, the inhabitants quickly tired of the restrictions imposed
on them by the British military. They needed passes for travel to and from New
York and special certificates to bring goods out of the city. The prices of essen-
tial commodities were regulated by proclamation. Army quartermasters and
barrack-masters commandeered horses, wagons, grain, hay, firewood, and even
slaves as needed, leaving only IOU’s that were almost impossible to redeem.
Shortages became commonplace, and famine a distinct possibility, in what had
once been hailed as among the richest agricultural regions in America. As
Jeremiah Johnson later recalled: “The inhabitants of Brooklyn were often in
great distress for want of food, as no grain or produce of any kind could be raised
on this part of the Island, for the fences were all destroyed and the farms were
all a great common over which the soldiers and animals roamed at will.”
Certainly no one had bargained on quartering all those soldiers in their homes—
especially the Hessians, whose disorderly behavior and habits prompted local
Dutch farmers to dub them the “Dirty Blues.” Nor had anyone bargained on the
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venality of the county’s erstwhile liberators. Over and over again, money
intended to compensate the owners of property taken by the army found its way
into the pockets of officers and other functionaries who had no visible means of
support. William Axtell got into the act, collecting funds to raise a regiment of
five hundred men in the county, recruiting only thirty rather unsavory charac-
ters from somewhere else, and keeping the balance of the money for himself.
He named his so-called “regiment” the “Nassau Blues,” but his disgusted
Flatbush neighbors called them the “Nasty Blues.”30

Adding to the county’s woes was a sharp rise in crime and lawlessness
directly attributable to the occupation. “We were constantly being plundered,”
declared one Flatbush matron, recalling experiences with predatory soldiers that
formed the stuff of local memory for generations. That the Hessians figured
prominently in these stories as well was, as Johnson explained, the consequence
of “their cupidity and proneness to commit petty theft, and their readiness to
appropriate every species of property which they could lay their hands upon.”
Almost as bad as the Hessians were the army’s Tory guides and scouts—hard
men from all over the colonies who fought mainly for personal gain and plun-
dered with impunity; several companies of these ruffians camped out for five
years on a farm in Bushwick, subjecting the residents of that unlucky town to
five years of steady abuse and predation. Many army units were withdrawn from
the island in 1778 to bolster the British offensive in the south, but conditions
actually went from bad to worse because whaleboat raiders from New England—
many of whom were Whig refugees from Long Island living along the
Connecticut coast—seized the opportunity to step up their forays across Long
Island Sound. Tories operating under the authority of the Board of Associated
Loyalists then retaliated in kind, and the ensuing free-for-all rapidly degener-
ated into pointless revenge and brigandage from which no one was immune. As
Judge Thomas Jones of Queens County described matters, it was common for
the whaleboat men to strike even the south shore of the island, where they “fre-
quently landed, robbed the inhabitants of their furniture, linen, wearing apparel,
money, negroes, rum, wine, sugar, and salt; killed their cattle, hogs, sheep, and
poultry; and burnt their hay, their oats, wheat, rye, and Indian corn.” American
raiders from New Jersey descended on New Utrecht and Flatbush twice in 1778,
hunting for prominent Tories they could exchange for American prisoners of
war but allegedly making off with silver and other valuables as well.>!

But nothing proved more worrisome than the unsettling effect of the occu-
pation on race relations. Once Howe’s forces took New York City, it became a
magnet for runaway slaves from all over the colonies, and whites on both sides
of the lines grew fearful that they would soon have no slaves at all. Their fears
mounted in 1779, when General Clinton (now commander-in-chief of His
Majesty’s forces), taking a leaf from Governor Dunmore’s book, issued a procla-
mation offering sanctuary and employment to “every Negro who shall desert
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the Rebell Standdard.” Besides drawing still more runaways to the city, Clinton’s
offer struck a resonant chord with the slaves of Tories as well. As the New York
Weekly Mercury remarked the following year, “A desire of obtaining freedom
unhappily reigns throughout the generality of slaves at present”—particularly
disturbing news for nearby Kings County farmers, who were long accustomed
to relying on their bondsmen to move goods back and forth from the city.

Even more unsettling was the fact that the British often seemed perversely
oblivious to the anxieties and sensitivities of whites on both sides. William
Cunningham, the sadistic Provost-Marshall, thought to intimidate American
prisoners of war by strutting around accompanied by a “negro with a halter.”
British foragers employed black drivers (“chiefly . . . run-away negroes,” Judge
Jones wrote with disdain) to haul grain and wood taken from Tory farmers, blacks
and whites mingled freely in local taverns and racecourses, and black units were
from time to time billeted in and around villages where one out of every three
or four residents was enslaved. At one point, Flatbush voters pleaded with the
British to allow no more taverns in the town, because they led to excessive par-
tying, especially among “our Negroes already sufficiently loose and licentious.”

When trouble occurred, moreover, British officials often failed to support
the customary prerogative of whites to discipline contrary or disobedient blacks.
Military courts-martial were known to accept the testimony of blacks and acquit
them of crimes, even when their accusers were white. Judge Jones recounted
the story of how “a young gentleman of fortune” from Long Island was abused
and insulted “in the grossest manner” by a black driver attached to a foraging
party. After getting a well-deserved boot in the seat of the pants, “the black ras-
cal” complained to a British officer, who hauled the young gentleman before a
court-martial—“For what?” asked Jones incredulously. “For kicking a negro
runaway, in the very act of committing a trespass upon his uncle’s property.” In
1869, drawing heavily on local tradition for his history of Brooklyn, Henry Stiles
likewise observed that British officers “required the utmost condescension from
the inhabitants, who were expected, while addressing them, to hold their hats
under their arms: and should a farmer, in passing, neglect to doff his hat, he ran
a strong risk of a good caning; although if he did it, the Briton rarely deigned to
notice him or return his civility. As a natural consequence, insubordination arose
among the slaves, who either ran away from or became less respectful to their
masters.” More than a few slaves, Stiles added, became the “willing aiding and
abettors” of the bandits who infested the county during the war “and frequently
guided them in their predatory expeditions.” As the war drew to an end, slaves
in Kings County and elsewhere around the state thus found themselves more
feared and despised than ever—by Whigs, who believed they had become Tories,
and by Tories, who believed they had become intractable.3?
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In November 1783 Kings County whites celebrated Washington’s return
to New York with enthusiasm. Residents of Bushwick offered him “our sincere
congratulations, on this glorious and ever memorable era of the sovereignty and
independence of the United States of America,” then treated themselves to an
oxroast on the banks of the East River, just across from Manhattan—a day “spent
in the greatest good humor, decency, and decorum.” In New Utrecht and
Flatbush, revelers fired cannon and raised liberty poles; in Flatbush, “the occa-
sion was one of great joy and hilarity.”33 Although cynics might have recalled
the county’s equally enthusiastic reception of General Howe seven years ear-
lier, there is no reason to assume that these sentiments were anything but gen-
uine. Patriots driven out or silenced by the American defeat in 1776 could now
speak their minds freely; influential Tories like Axtell and Mathews had fled,
never to return; and except for the county’s numerous slaves, the most trouble-
some of whom had probably run away or left with the British, residents of every
political stripe must have been eager to put the long and onerous occupation
behind them.3*

Yet if they imagined that their lives would go on as before, they were in for
another disappointment. An early signal of what lay in store came almost imme-
diately after the war, when a pair of New York developers, Comfort and Joshua
Sands, bought a farm previously confiscated from one of the county’s most noto-
rious Tories, John Rapalje. Lying along the East River between Brooklyn and
Wallabout Bay, the 160-acre tract became the site of their “City of Olympia,”
which the brothers envisioned as a center for ship construction and repair. They
built wharves, warehouses, and a ropewalk, chopped the property into lots, and
sold the lots to several dozen Yankee artisans and their families from New
London, Connecticut. The Sands’s success inspired imitators like John Jackson,
a shipbuilder who laid out Vinegar Hill, close by what would soon be the
Brooklyn Navy Yard, and marketed the development to Irish refugees. In light
of all this hustle and bustle, it comes as no surprise that the county’s population
began to grow at an unprecedented pace, climbing to 4,495 in 1790 (up 872 since
1771, a 24 percent increase in two decades) then to 5,740 in 1800 (a 28 percent
jump in just a single decade). It also explains why the percentage of Dutch res-
idents dropped below 60 percent, the lowest on record, and continued to decline.
Land values in and around Brooklyn meanwhile rose steadily, boosted by New
York City’s spectacular growth over the same period—from 23,610 in 1786 to
60,515 in 1800—and by the city’s continuing appetite for the output of Long
Island farms.®

The pressure of these developments on the traditional order in Kings
County was magnified, as burgeoning numbers of city dwellers acquired a taste
for excursions to bucolic hamlets and shore resorts. Henry Wansey, who took
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“a pleasant rural ramble” through the county in 1794, observed that a Sunday
afternoon in July or August might find three or four thousand Manhattan tourists
strolling around what remained of Brooklyn’s Revolutionary War fortifications,
picking fruit in local orchards, or hiring “coachees” to Flatbush, New Utrecht,
and Gravesend, where enterprising locals had opened seaside boarding houses
and pleasure gardens. Near the Coney Island beach, one entrepreneur report-
edly had plans for “a very handsome tea-drinking pleasure house, to accom-
modate parties who come hither from all the neighboring ports; he intends also
to have bathing machines, and several species of entertainment. It seems par-
ties are made here from thirty or forty miles distance, in the summer time.”
According to Moreau de St. Méry, an observant Frenchman who toured the
United States in the mid-1790s, “many New Yorkers™ had also taken to renting
houses in and around Brooklyn Heights for the entire summer. “The men,” he
wrote, “go to New York in the morning, and return to Brooklyn after the Stock
Exchange closes”—Wall Street commuters taking back the high ground that
Washington had lost fewer than twenty years before.3¢

Yet the decisive blow to the county’s old way of life would be the extinc-
tion of slavery. Despite numerous wartime runaways—and despite a 1784 state
law manumitting the slaves of attainted Tories like William Axtell—the num-
ber of slaves in Kings County actually increased somewhat, from 1,317 in 1786,
to 1,432 in 1790, then to 1,479 in 1800; a significant majority of white house-
holds still relied on slave labor, and the proportion of households with four or
more slaves nearly quadrupled, from 12 percent in 1755 to 44 percent in 1800.
Opposition to the institution was nonetheless building steadily outside the
county. Antislavery Whigs failed to get a clause in the 1777 state constitution
“recommending” abolition, but the Manumission Society (1785), Quakers, and
other groups kept up the pressure. Ultimately, over the strenuous objections of
legislators from Kings County, a gradual emancipation bill passed both houses
of the state legislature in 1799. As one of the measure’s supporters recalled, the
Dutchmen “raved and swore by dunder and blixen that we were robbing them
of their property. We told them that they had none and could hold none in human
flesh . .. and we passed the law.” Many owners hung on as long as they could—
879 slaves still remained in Kings County as late as 1820—but the old order
was doomed.?’

Notes

My thanks to Donald Gerardi, Sara Gronim, Mike Wallace, and the editors for help-
ful readings of earlier versions of this essay.

1. Eighteenth-century Kings County comprised six towns (i.e., townships)—
Bushwick, Brooklyn, Flatbush (the county seat), Flatlands, New Utrecht, and Gravesend.
Within each were assorted hamlets or villages, one of which might bear the same name
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as the town, e.g., Breuckelen or Brookland (now Brooklyn), Bushwick, Flat Bush,
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of Brooklyn annexed the town of Flatlands in 1896, “Brooklyn” and “Kings County”
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village, Gravesend, remained predominately English; it was also the smallest in the
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Queens County

Joseph S. Tiedemann

Revolutionary Queens County constituted what is today the Borough of
Queens and the adjacent County of Nassau. Situated on the western end of Long
Island, it contained 410 square miles and was bordered on the north by the Long
Island Sound, on the east by Suffolk County, on the south by the Atlantic Ocean,
and on the west by Kings County and the East River. In 1776 the county con-
tained five towns—Newtown, Flushing, Jamaica, Hempstead, and Oyster Bay—
and had a population of about 11,000, most of whom were farmers. Because of
the war, Hempstead was divided in 1784 into two towns, North Hempstead and
South Hempstead. !

Economically, the county was divided by a line running from east to west.
The last glacial advance had left in the northern part of the island a soil which
was composed of clay, sand, and granite. Although this “glacial till” was stony,
it was very fertile, and the farms in Newtown, Flushing, Hempstead’s northern
necks, and some Oyster Bay areas, were “wonderfully prolific.” The soil in the
south was sandy and had better drainage but was never as productive. As aresult,
in 1784, the per capita wealth of the inhabitants of Flushing was £546; North
Hempstead, £488; Newtown, £426; Oyster Bay, £367; Jamaica, £277; and South
Hempstead, £265. The sale of agricultural products to the nearby New York City
market made quite a few county families wealthy. Prosperity, in turn, fostered
slavery. In 1771, 20.4 percent of the population of 10,980 people was African
American, most of whom were slaves. In 1786 slaves constituted 16.3 percent
of the population of 13,084 individuals.?

Queens County was not in the vanguard of the American Revolution.
Indeed, if the majority of its people had had their way, there would not have
been arevolution in 1776. Still, the ordeal of county residents from 1763 to 1787
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sheds light on vital aspects of the Revolution. This essay will examine why res-
idents choose the sides they did, how the Loyalists were able in 1775 to out-
maneuver the Whigs in Queens, how the British occupation of the county from
1776 to 1783 did irreparable harm to the royal cause, and how residents in the
postwar period established a new political community based upon the princi-
ples of the Revolution.

Loyalties in Queens County

Despite the passions generated by the Tea Act (May 1774), the Boston Tea
Party (December 1774), and the Coercive Acts (March—-May 1775), most county
residents refused to support either the Whig or Tory cause. Every adult male had
the opportunity—at least once in 1775—to declare himself a Patriot or Loyalist.?
Only a tiny minority, 12 percent, championed the American cause, and only in
Newtown did Whigs outnumber their opponents. The Loyalists, too, were a dis-
tinct minority, constituting only 26.8 percent of the population. A decisive major-
ity, 60.3 percent, remained neutral and uncommitted. Moreover, neither
ideology nor the imperial crises in the years after 1763 determined whether a
person became a Patriot or Royalist. Instead, residents acted in response to spe-
cific local quarrels that had begun in the previous century and that now became
the basis for the Revolutionary divisions within Queens. These local disputes
served as a medium through which partisans acquired an appreciation of the
broader conflict swirling about them. The Revolution in Queens was thus a
small-scale civil war in the midst of an intercontinental, colonial struggle for
independence. Unlike neighboring Kings County, the institution of slavery was
not a key factor in determining allegiance in the struggle. Nor was economic
status an important reason.*

In western Queens—the towns of Jamaica, Newtown, and Flushing—
Patriots and Loyalists divided along religious lines. The quarrel had begun with
the establishment of the Anglican Church in Queens in 1693, and partisans now
saw the Revolution as the latest phase in that enduring dispute. Presbyterians
embraced Patriotism (and eventually Independence) as the path to the disestab-
lishment of the Church of England, and Anglicans proffered their political loy-
alty to the Crown to safeguard their church’s privileged position. The protracted
nature of the struggle between these two denominations—an ordeal that had
lasted almost a century and that had included violence, forcible occupation of a
church, destruction of ecclesiastical property, and sporadic suits in provincial
courts—had politicized participants, provided them with a mind-set and vocab-
ulary attuned to conflict, and predisposed them to take sides in the Revolution.
Whereas 52 percent of the Presbyterians in western Queens became Whigs, 39
percent of the Anglicans became Tories. Despite the religious quarrel, or per-
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haps because of it, neutrality remained a strong force in both churches: 37.1 per-
cent of the Presbyterians and 48.7 percent of the Anglicans remained unaligned.’

Although 47.1 percent of the members of the Dutch Reformed Church in
western Queens also became Loyalists, they were followers and not leaders in
the cause. The Dutch were a foreign-speaking cultural minority that had sought
since the British conquest of New York in 1664 to ensure their autonomy by sus-
taining friendly relations with the Anglican Church.® Tellingly, the Dutch held
few leadership positions in the king’s cause. 18.9 percent of all county Loyalists
were Dutch Reformed, but only 3.6 percent of the Tory political and military
leadership belonged to that denomination. Anglicans, who comprised 32 per-
cent of all county Tories, provided 64.3 percent of the group’s leadership.’

The situation in Flushing is also noteworthy for two reasons. First, the
town’s Presbyterians constituted only about 9 percent of those of known reli-
gion, and the Patriot cause, therefore, lacked the well-disposed group and the
identifiable issues that are so crucial for nurturing a nascent political movement.
Second, Quakers constituted the single largest denomination in town, and their
pacifism set the tone in a community, where more than three-quarters of the res-
idents remained neutral. The data for Flushing signify that without a local griev-
ance serving as a symbol for the larger struggle, few county men readily
comprehended or cared about what was at stake in the dispute between Britain
and its North American colonies.?

In eastern Queens, the American Revolution split the town of Hempstead in
half. Patriots dominated the northern part of town and joined the Whig cause to
achieve home rule. The Royalists, who controlled south Hempstead, were anti-
separatists who supported the status quo in town and empire. Again, a local dis-
pute, which can in fact be traced back in the town records to the seventeenth
century, was crucial in determining how partisans reacted to the Revolution.® In
Oyster Bay, located between Hempstead and Suffolk County, there were fewer
partisans than in most areas of Queens. Not only was the population quite small,
but the town also lacked a history of dissension. Unaccustomed to squabbling over
local issues, few people took up the cudgel for either the Whig or Tory faction.

The most notable fact about Queens County, however, is that a clear major-
ity remained neutral in the Revolution. Most of these neutrals were also apolit-
ical. They were more concerned about the soil, weather, and next crop than with
arguing the merits of Britain’s colonial policies or waging revolution. Their lives
revolved around family, farm, and community. To be neutral was to champion
the local and immediate world they knew best. In short, they preferred harmony
and stability to partisanship, discord, or violent strife. Put another way, the bit-
ter heritage of dissension predisposed a majority of county men to remain firmly
on the sidelines. The very real possibility that their farms would become bat-
tlefields gave them further cause to espouse neutrality. So long as they were left
in peace, they could probably have accepted a government that was either British
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or American. Indeed, the people of Queens had a history of increasing political
apathy. Two studies have proven that popular participation in government had
declined during the eighteenth century. By the 1770s town meetings had stopped
voting on provincial issues, and even some matters of local administration had
passed beyond their purview. Jamaica, for instance, which held an average of
4.87 town meetings per year before 1700, held only one per year between 1760
and 1776, and the agenda was typically confined to electing town officials.!”

The Contest between Whigs and Loyalists

Because so many inhabitants were neutral and apolitical in 1775-1776, it
is not astonishing that in the years following the French and Indian War resi-
dents had said little about the imperial crises that were causing so much turmoil
in New York City. It was not until November 1774, when that city’s Committee
of Correspondence urged Queens County residents to endorse the Continental
Congress and to establish committees of correspondence and observation, that
county men found they could no longer ignore the political storm that would
finally culminate in revolution.!! The county’s response was tepid. Only in
Newtown could Whigs elect a committee that could be said to embody the will
of townsmen. Committees were also formed in Jamaica and Flushing, but it was
plain they did not represent the majority viewpoint, so they had scant influence.'?

In March 1775, after the New York Assembly had repudiated the
Continental Congress, New York City Whigs asked the five towns to choose
deputies to a Provincial Congress that was to convene on April 20. The request
was debated at the annual April town meetings. Newtown and Flushing each
agreed to send a delegate, but the other three towns failed to do so. When New
York City Whigs sent another circular, this time urging the election of delegates
to a new Provincial Congress to meet on May 24, Whigs chose five delegates
from the county at large. But Tories soon dissuaded two from serving. In
September, the Provincial Congress ordered that anyone in Queens who had not
signed the Continental Association was to be disarmed, but the Whigs backed
down when Hempstead Tories threatened armed resistance. In November 1775,
at an election held at Jamaica, the county voted 778 to 221 against representa-
tion in Congress. The next month county Loyalists issued a declaration that they
had not “interrupt[ed] the Quiet of others,” and “wish[ed] only to remain in
peace.” Butif others trampled upon their rights as Englishmen, they would resist
with force.!3 In sum, Lexington, Concord, and Bunker Hill had persuaded very
few county inhabitants of the justice of the American cause or of the need to
combat British imperialism.

The Whig failure and Loyalist triumph in Queens are striking, for the
reverse was the more typical outcome. The tasks Whigs faced in Queens were
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straightforward. They had to win the allegiance of the people, especially the
large number of neutral residents; to develop a viable organizational structure
that was capable of nurturing their nascent cause; and to crush the Loyalists’
will to resist. The Whigs clearly failed, and their defeat resulted partly because
of their own mistakes, partly because of the ability of their adversaries, but most
especially because of the situation in which they found themselves.

Whig propaganda stressed that Patriots championed liberty over the “tyran-
nical measures of the enemies of our country,” who would “reduce it to slav-
ery.”!* Such language plainly appealed to Presbyterians in western Queens and
separatists in north Hempstead, because they both already felt abused. Of course,
it failed to sway residents who belonged to the factions that had opposed these
two groups for as long as anyone could remember. The Whigs’ real problem was
that their message did not persuade their neutral neighbors. Britain’s alleged
abuses, from the Stamp Act to the Coercive Acts, had in Queens (as in other
rural areas) caused scarcely a protest. Imperial issues were too remote—eco-
nomically, politically, and psychologically—for the county’s neutral, apolitical
majority to feel threatened. In truth, these people remained unconvinced even
after the Declaration of Independence. A century of local conflicts had inured
them to the partisan outbursts of their more contentious neighbors. As a result,
patriots failed to shake the apolitical out of their apathy or to remake them into
revolutionaries.

About 20 percent of the county’s neutrals were Quakers, who abhorred the
use of violence. Unlike some other pacifist religious sects, Friends did not hold
anegative opinion of the state. Instead, Quakers were enjoined by their religious
principles to obey civil government, except when its laws demanded that a Friend
commit an immoral act. Overthrowing a secular government was the responsi-
bility of God alone. As aresult, Whig propaganda repelled, rather than attracted,
Friends. Complicating matters for the Patriots was the fact that Quakers had a
demonstrable influence on opinion in the county: the larger the percentage of
Friends in a community, the larger was the proportion of neutrals, not only in
the population as a whole, but also in the non-Quaker segment of it.'

Because Whig propaganda failed to convert the neutral, patriots had real
difficulty setting up the organizational structure needed to advance their cause.
Only in Newtown, where they outnumbered Tories, were they able to score any
lasting successes. As a result, the New York Provincial Congress felt compelled
to attempt coercion as a form of persuasion. On September 16, 1775, it ordered
the disarming of every New Yorker who had not signed the Continental
Association, but backed down in Queens, when local Tories began to arm them-
selves for battle. After the county voted in November at Jamaica not to send del-
egates to the Provincial Congress, and Tories issued their declaration in
December threatening the Whigs with resistance, the Continental Congress
ordered Col. Nathaniel Heard to march troops into Queens, to disarm Royalists,
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and to arrest prominent Tories. Although Heard made some progress, several of
his troops mistreated inhabitants and had to be withdrawn before residents were
even further alienated.'¢

Even though a military solution imposed from the outside risked remak-
ing neutrals into Loyalists, George Washington authorized Gen. Charles Lee to
enter Queens County to disarm the Royalists. Both men were convinced that
most Long Islanders planned to join British forces the moment they landed in
New York. However, Whig committeemen from Hempstead were soon denounc-
ing the abusive behavior of those acting under Lee’s authority.!” The Continental
Congress transferred Lee, but the continued recalcitrance of local Loyalists and
the imminent arrival of the British soon impelled the Provincial Congress and
the Continental Congress to station troops in Queens and to engage in frequent
Tory hunting parties. The presence of Patriot military forces finally allowed
county Whigs to establish a committee system and to wrest control of political
affairs in the county. Coercion had effectively silenced the opposition, but it had
not broken its will. In the end, the Whigs were never able to resolve their chief
dilemma: How could the Loyalist military threat be crushed and an expected
invasion repelled without forsaking the struggle to win the allegiance of neutral
residents?!8

The Whigs were not wholly responsible for their setback in Queens, for
they were opposed by a motivated and disciplined group of local Tories, who
were adept at propaganda and organization. Because Queens was so close to
New York City, royal officials often maintained a residence in the county, and
their presence emboldened local Loyalist leaders. Led by Lt. Gov. Cadwallader
Colden and his son David, the group included George D. Ludlow, a New York
Supreme Court justice; his brother Gabriel G. Ludlow, colonel of the Queens
County militia; Thomas Jones, another Supreme Court justice; Capt. Richard
Hewlett, an officer in the French and Indian War and second in command of the
county militia; and Daniel Kissam, the county’s representative in the Assembly.
This capable group was able to stiffen the courage of local Loyalists and to
exploit the opportunities offered them. For example, the group responded to
Whig propaganda by arguing that a tyranny existed in the county, but avowed
that it was a Whig and not a royal tyranny. To support this claim, they pointed
to the abuses Patriot soldiers and committees had perpetrated in the county. Of
course, Tories had a much easier task than the Whigs. The former needed only
to persuade neutrals to remain uncommitted; Patriots had to convince them to
embrace the American cause.!”

The most significant Tory feat was the Asia affair. In response to requests
made by New York’s royal governor, William Tryon, to British military officials
for assistance in protecting Crown supporters, Capt. George Vandeput of the
Asia provided arms to county Loyalists. How many shipments were made is
unknown, but there were probably more than one. In November 1775 Samuel
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Nostran and Isaac Lossie advised the Provincial Congress that naval officers
from the Asia had supplied Captain Hewlett with powder, ball, small arms, a
cannon, and a gunner to work it. While those arms were being distributed,
Loyalists were told that five thousand British regulars would soon land at
Rockaway, on the county’s south shore. Farmers even stopped marketing their
cattle in expectation of a rise in prices once the British appeared. Then, on
December 18, Vandeput wrote that he had, at Tryon’s request, furnished county
residents with “two Barrels of Powder, some Flints, and 300 Weight of Musket
balls.” Tryon also sent arms to Dow Ditmas for dispersal among Royalists liv-
ing in western Queens. Ditmas also gave instructions about the preparations to
be made in advance of a British landing.?°

The distribution of war materials had a powerful effect. On several occa-
sions Loyalists had threatened to do battle with the Whigs; British arms now
made that threat credible. Although full-scale fighting never broke out, the
Continental Congress and the Provincial Congress were compelled to divide
their already inadequate forces and to commit more troops to Queens than they
could spare. The activities of the Whig soldiers, in turn, antagonized county
inhabitants, making it more difficult for Patriots to win their support. The
weapons were also a key element in the psychological warfare Tories were wag-
ing in Queens, for the arms provided tangible evidence of Britain’s resolve to
retake New York. This equipment emboldened neutrals to oppose the patriot
cause, knowing that the British army was about to snuff out the rebellion in New
York. Nonetheless, even though the Loyalist strategy in Queens had convinced
neutrals not to become Whigs, it had not converted them into Tories.

On July 14, 1776, Gen. William Howe, the commander-in-chief of the
British army in America, and his brother, Adm. Richard Lord Howe, the naval
commander, issued a proclamation announcing their appointment as peace com-
missioners with power to grant pardons to all who would renew their allegiance
to the Crown. Posters to that effectimmediately appeared throughout the county,
informing neutrals that they did not have to fear British retribution after the
Patriots were defeated. The message was obviously important, but so too was
the act of communication itself, for the posters were a conspicuous reminder
that Whig rule over Queens was tenuous at best.?!

The ease of the Loyalist victory makes it appear as if it were inevitable.
But if that were the case, why were Royalists unable to replicate this triumph
throughout British North America? The truth is Queens County was in many
ways unique. It not only had a solid core of Tory leaders prepared to exert them-
selves on the Crown’s behalf; it also had groups, like the Anglicans in western
Queens and the residents of south Hempstead, who were predisposed to become
Loyalist and around whom a movement could be fashioned. Most important,
because Queens was on an island, the British navy could readily arm, protect,
and embolden these local Loyalists. The county was also adjacent to New York
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City, and few doubted the British army would soon recapture the area. It con-
sequently proved impossible for the Whigs to coerce the disaffected or to con-
vert the neutral.

The British Occupation of Queens County

Following the British victory at the Battle of Long Island in August 1776,
Queens County came under the military’s control and would remain so until
1783. From the outset, military officials realized that the war had both military
and political dimensions. To crush the rebellion, the British needed not only to
defeat the enemy in the field but to pursue a policy of reconciliation and to cul-
tivate support in areas that its forces occupied. Success in this noncombative
phase could not substitute for military victory, but the British war effort stood
to benefit greatly from the manpower and materiel civilians could provide.
Military misconduct against civilians would only create enmity, hinder the effec-
tive prosecution of the war, and make postwar reconciliation more difficult.

As events in Queens County make clear, the British army ultimately failed
to win the political struggle. By war’s end the people of Queens had become,
not loyal subjects, but Patriots—as much by British default as by personal
choice. As a British officer correctly observed, “We planted an irrecoverable
hatred wherever we went, which neither time nor measures will be able to erad-
icate. What then are we to expect from it, conciliation or submission?’>? Indeed,
by ordering troops into Queens, the British set in motion a chain of events that
they could not control and that in the end defeated the very purpose for which
military forces had been sent. Instead of destroying the Revolution, the British
army became one of its agents.

The British advantages began to unravel the moment redcoats landed on
Long Island. One British officer argued that “we should (whenever we get fur-
ther into the country) give free liberty to the soldiers to ravage it at will, that
these infatuated wretches may feel what a calamity war is.” Another averred that
“the old Hatred for Kings and the seeds of sedition are so thickly sown against
them, that it must be thrash’d out of them.” The outcome was inevitable. During
the Battle of Long Island, crews from British transport ships interrupted their
mission to plunder inhabitants. Soldiers, who did not understand how they could
wage war when they could not tell Patriot from Loyalist, began abusing all as
rebels. Maj. Gen. James Robertson, commandant of New York City from 1776
to 1778, confessed, “When I first landed I found in all the farms poultry and
cows, and the farms stocked; when I passed afterwards I found nothing alive.”?3

The military’s approach to reconciliation troubled residents in yet another
way. They had expected the British to punish Whigs and reward Tories. But, as
Thomas Jones has described, when Royalists pressed complaints against rebels
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who had harmed them, the British often maltreated the accuser and accused him
of being a Whig.?* Then, on November 30, 1776, the Howes issued a procla-
mation pardoning all who would submit to royal authority within sixty days.
Even Whig leaders could receive free and full pardon, provoking Lord George
Germain, the American secretary of state, to grumble that it would alienate
Royalists to find that rebels who had caused so much misery were now on an
equal footing with those who had persevered in their loyalty.??

If affairs had gotten off to a dismal start, the abuses the army committed
over the next several years against private property and the demands the mili-
tary made each year for supplies only exacerbated the discord. Queens County
not only supplied its own residents, the expanding refugee population within its
borders, and the soldiers quartered there, but it also helped to feed the civil and
military population of New York City and to outfit the army for each campaign.
Establishing efficient and equitable arrangements for procuring war materiel
would have been a good first step toward wining residents’ allegiance. Yet the
collection of supplies was never efficiently organized, and the methods
employed often exhibited a criminal disregard for citizens’ rights.

Commissary officials, for example, sometimes used intimidation to seize
cattle without paying or at prices below those set by the commander-in-chief;
yet the crown still paid full price. Little ingenuity was needed to falsify finan-
cial records to defraud the government. Ambrose Serle, Lord Howe’s secre-
tary, reported that commissary employees often forced inhabitants to sign blank
receipts to secure payment for supplies taken by the army; if a farmer refused,
he was not paid. Officials then made a profit by writing in inflated sums of
money. Such practices wasted government funds and encouraged residents to
view the British army as the enemy. The guilty officials do not even appear to
have been very discrete in conducting their business. Sir George Rodney, a
British naval officer, was so disgusted by the corruption at New York that he
wrote the ministry in 1780, complaining “of a long train of leeches, who suck
the blood of the State, and whose interest prompts them to promote the con-
tinuance of the war.”?’

The longer the war dragged on, the more aggravated British officers became
about their inability to crush the rebellion. They vented their frustration on res-
idents. Some of the misconduct, although degrading, was trivial: Civilians had
to dismount and remove their hats when passing the abode of an army com-
mander. Other actions were more serious. Typical was the action of an officer
on a foraging party, who led fifty horses into an orchard where apples were piled
for making cider. The farmer pleaded with the officer to use another field, where
the pasture was better, but the request was denied, and the farmer was called a
“damned old rebel.” The loss amounted to two hundred pounds. Paul Amberman,
a miller, sold flour to Maj. Richard Stockton, but when he applied for payment,
Stockton took personal offense. The next day, after watching a fellow officer
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horsewhip Amberman, Stockton killed the miller with a sword. Court-martialed
for murder, Stockton was found guilty. The British commander-in-chief then
asked the miller’s widow to sign a petition to pardon the convicted officer.
Despite her refusal, he released the murderer.?

Army officers came from the British upper class and viewed colonists as
social inferiors, greedy and ill-bred. They were “a Leveling, underbred, Artfull,
Race of people that we Cannot Associate with them. Void of principle, their
whole Conservation is turn’d on their Interest, and as to gratitude they have no
such word in their dictionary and either cant or wont understand what it
means.”?” Cooped up on Long Island, some officers sought to relieve their bore-
dom and to prove their superiority by bullying helpless civilians. This happened
so often civilians became alienated, and the entire officer corps shared respon-
sibility by failing to punish offenders. Instead, officers too often overtly sanc-
tioned misconduct by shielding those who broke military discipline.3°

Daily experiences with the military caused county folk to protest that they
were living under a tyranny and not a government of laws. Patrick Ferguson, a
Loyalist officer, wrote in 1779 “that the People in general are become indiffer-
ent, if not averse, to a Government which in the place of the Liberty Prosperity
safety and Plenty, under promise of which it involved them in this war has estab-
lished a thorough Despotism.” The fact that the British could not win the war
only further enraged residents.?!

Inhabitants had no legal recourse against the abuses they were being forced
to endure, because the Howes had placed the county under martial law follow-
ing the Battle of Long Island. At first, they refused to end martial law in the areas
of New York they controlled, until military operations for 1776 had ceased, and
they could reestablish royal authority over the whole province. However, once
it became clear the war would last for at least another year, the Howes found
other reasons to keep civil government dormant. In truth, they were responsi-
ble both for waging war and for securing peace, and the former clearly took
precedence. Reviving civil government, they feared, would hinder the war’s
prosecution, jeopardize a quick triumph, and as a result possibly tarnish General
Howe’s reputation. Although the Howes paid lip service to the war’s political
dimension, they did not sufficiently appreciate that reconciliation was as essen-
tial an objective as military victory.3?

Despite insisting on martial law, the Howes never established a uniform
policy of implementation; it varied by time and place within occupied New York.
In matters relating to the conduct of the war, Col. Archibald Hamilton, com-
mander of the Queens County militia, had overall responsibility. Under him were
not only the militia officers but also the local justices of the peace. The latter
likewise had to obey the commissary, quartermaster, and barrackmaster depart-
ments. At the outset, justices at times called residents together to determine how
the army’s demands were to be met, but by 1779 decisions were typically being
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made at meetings of the justices and the militia officers, who then enforced what
they had agreed upon.

Inhabitants did what they could to preserve as many of their former liber-
ties as possible. Most of the prewar governmental institutions, including town
meetings and the county Board of Supervisors, were allowed to function, so long
as they did not disrupt military operations. Although a civilian could not sue a
British soldier, the Queens County Court of Common Pleas, according to
Thomas Jones, continued to hear cases until 1779, and justices of the peace per-
formed at least some of their customary responsibilities. Nonetheless, town and
county officials had to accept that they had become British collaborators, who
could be abused, ignored, or overruled at any time.3*

As the war dragged on, especially after the defeat at Saratoga in October
1777, the ministry began to realize that it needed to pay more attention to the
war’s political dimension. In February 1778 the government established a new
peace commission, headed by the Earl of Carlisle, in which three of the five
members were civilians. The Carlisle Commission had power to revive civil
government, yet it declined to do so in New York. Even though the commis-
sioners realized the harm already done in the province to the British cause, the
army insisted on continuing martial law. In July 1779 the ministry appointed Sir
Henry Clinton, who had become American commander-in-chief in March 1778,
the sole peace commissioner. Although the ministry instructed him to restore
civil government in New York, Clinton found one reason after another to evade
doing so. At one point, he explained that “to open the Courts of Civil Law would
increase the Confusion, and be productive of many other bad Consequences.”
Although he did not explicitly say so, he feared that if martial law were ended,
New Yorkers would at once begin bringing civil suits for redress of grievances
against military officers. In sum, to save the army from its misdeeds, Clinton
was prepared to risk losing the political struggle for the minds and hearts of the
people.®

In March 1780 the ministry appointed Maj. Gen. James Robertson gover-
nor of New York. Clinton and Robertson then commenced arguing about whether
civil government should be restored.?® Finally, in July 1780, with Clinton’s
approbation, Robertson appointed George Duncan Ludlow superintendent of
the newly created Court of Police on Long Island. The superintendent had power
“to hear and determine peace and good order”; all officials on Long Island were
to assist and obey him. Ludlow’s power even exceeded that of Col. Archibald
Hamilton, the county militia commander. He issued orders on such varied mat-
ters as road and fence repairs, the weight and quality of bread, and the time for
harvesting. In its judicial capacity his office combined the functions of police,
judge, and jury.’” Robertson extolled the Court of Police as a partial restoration
of civil government, but it was merely martial law under a different guise.
Ludlow became known as “the little tyrant of the island.” When prominent local
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Loyalists begged him to reopen the courts, he refused, arguing that doing so
“would be inconvenient, prejudicial, and injurious to the king’s service.”38

Ludlow not only protected dishonest army officials, he made it possible for
the Court of Police to participate in the corruption. For example, for a fee Ludlow
began issuing letters of recommendation that allowed individuals within British
lines to engage in trade with New England, an activity prohibited by law. The
Court of Police also took charge of the property of absentee rebels, allegedly to
assist distressed Tory refugees. During the two years and eleven months that the
Court was in existence, the Court collected £7,660. The refugees got £300, and
Ludlow and his assistants took the rest to pay their salaries. Ludlow, for exam-
ple, collected £1,825 for working one day a month for thirty-five months.?

When the Court of Police was created, the people of Queens seem generally
to have viewed it as a step toward the reinstitution of civil government, but
Ludlow’s tactics (and the British defeat at Yorktown in October 1781) fired dis-
affection afresh. After 1781 Queens County elected fewer Royalists to office each
year. In the end, seven hard years of military misrule by an army that could not
win the war on the battlefield had alienated county residents and readied them for
independence. Loyalists as well as neutrals had come to realize that they were not
British, but that Britain was the enemy. As Thomas Jones, a county resident, plainly
explained it: “Deprived of their property at the caprice of the military, their lives
and liberty under the same arbitrary power, law, justice, and equity denied them,
the civil authority abolished, and the courts of justice shut up. Such were the steps
taken by the military to ‘conciliate’ the affections of his Majesty’s deluded sub-
jects, to ‘reclaim’ the disaffected, and bring in the rebellious.”*?

The Aftermath

The British army’s failure in Queens County and its defeat on the battle-
field did notend the Revolution in Queens County. If the victorious Whigs treated
county residents the way the British had, inhabitants might well have become
an estranged, disruptive force in the postwar period, a fifth column dedicated to
reunion with the mother country. New York Whigs consequently needed to rein-
tegrate residents into the political life of the state. Although some historians have
stressed how harshly New York State treated the Loyalists,*! the evidence for
Queens does not support that contention.

Reintegration did not mean that every county Royalist could or would
become a citizen of the new state. Some Loyalists, especially those who had
actively resisted the Patriot cause, or who could not accept the triumph of the
Whigs, or who refused to live under a republican form of government, volun-
tarily left the new state and went into exile. The Whigs forced other Tories into
exile by threatening them with violence, lawsuits, or prosecution for treason.
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The Loyalists in this group were usually those who had made themselves espe-
cially obnoxious, who had collaborated with the British, or who might become
a threat to the new government. Many refugees suffered greatly and so did their
families and friends who remained behind. However, only about 5 to 6 percent
of the prewar population of Queens became refugees. The vast majority of res-
idents remained to make their peace with the new state government.*?

The state did enact some very harsh anti-Tory legislation.*® This hostility
was in part the result of the bitter, protracted civil war thathad so recently divided
New York, but the laws also expressed the Patriots’ need for psychic reassur-
ance that their efforts had not been in vain and that they could secure in peace
what they had won in war. However, once the state had made explicit the kind
of peace that the more vengeful would impose if Loyalists refused to accept the
new political order, other Patriots successfully advocated leniency in the
enforcement of this legislation. Seen in this light, New York’s anti-Tory legis-
lation was a warning rather than the harsh punishment of a former enemy.

The Forfeiture Act of 1779 ipso facto attainted six prominent county inhab-
itants, and grand juries indicted about fifty more under this law. The state clearly
could not permit Tory leaders to remain after the peace settlement, for if these
leaders mobilized county Loyalists in postwar elections, as they had done before
the war, the Revolution’s success would be imperiled. However, the state gov-
ernment did not attempt after the war systematically to indict Tories under this
law. Moreover, many indicted county residents appeared before the New York
Supreme Court when it opened in October 1783 at Albany. They “were treated
with the utmost hospitality and good humor by the worthy citizens of that com-
munity.” After they pleaded not guilty and no one appeared to testify against them,
the charges were dismissed. If an individual failed to appear, his property was sub-
ject to forfeiture; but few county residents suffered this fate. Probably only twelve
county men had their property confiscated under the Forfeiture Act.**

In May 1784 the state legislature also passed “An Act for raising £100,000
within the several counties therein mentioned,” which levied a tax on areas of
the state within British lines during the war.*> The counties involved could
rightly argue that the levy was vindictive. Queens County’s share of the burden
came to £14,000. Nonetheless, payment of the tax did not cause dire economic
hardship.

Another anti-Royalist enactment, the Voting Act of May 1784, threatened
county inhabitants with disfranchisement. However, the act’s enforcement was
left to inspectors of elections who were to allow “any person” to vote who “by
fear of compulsion” had committed any of the acts listed in the law as a cause
of disfranchisement and who otherwise had been “a friend to freedom and inde-
pendence.” Disqualification thus depended on an inspector’s interpretation of
the law and his willingness to enforce it. Because no poll list for the period has
survived, historians cannot determine exactly how many people were denied the



56 Joseph S. Tiedemann

vote. However, in postwar elections for important town offices in Queens
County, the percentage of officeholders who had been Tories before the war is
as follows: 1783,4.9 percent; 1784, 12.1 percent; 1785, 12.7 percent; 1786, 21.1
percent; and 1787, 23.6 percent. Notably, the 1783 and 1784 elections, in which
the lowest percentages of Loyalists were chosen for office, were held before the
law’s passage. Time mellowed the anti-Loyalist sentiment in spite of the law.
Indeed, the New York Packet reported in February 1786 that South Hempstead,
“that most obnoxious part of the county” and the leading Royalist stronghold
within Queens, had cast 127 of the county’s 359 votes in the 1785 elections for
the New York Assembly. In sum, the paper’s call for legislation to deal with this
“peculiar situation” and the remarkable number of former Loyalists who held
town office make it clear that few residents were disfranchised because of the
Voting Act of 1784.46

A Loyalist could also be sued under the Trespass Act for having occupied
or destroyed the property of a Patriot refugee. But few residents could sue under
this act, for few had fled Queens after the Battle of Long Island and had remained
within American lines for the entire war. Those who did often had no one to sue,
for the defendant was often a property-less Tory refugee who had resided in
Queens during the war, but who had left in 1783 with the British. The act was
amended in 1784 to make it easier for refugee Whigs to recover damages, but
the changes in the law had little impactin Queens.*’ Although the courts attached
the farms of a few Loyalists, one local historian’s assessment of these cases
remains valid: “The suits against the Tories (under the Trespass Act) for dam-
ages done the Whigs did not amount to much. Able lawyers, disagreeing jurors,
certioraries, and the law’s delay were obstacles in the way of indemnity.”*3

In sum, the evidence available regarding the enforcement of anti-Loyalist
legislation indicates that the situation in postwar Queens was not as burdensome
for Loyalists as some historians have supposed. A few Royalists did pay dearly
for their actions and beliefs, but the important point is that most county Tories
escaped legal persecution. Certainly some unofficial harassment may have taken
place, but little evidence of it remains. The difficult ordeal residents as a group
had endured during the British occupation perhaps convinced most Patriots of the
wisdom of forgetting the past. That Tories had outnumbered Whigs by two to one
may also have dissuaded Patriots from making an issue of past differences.

The rapid reestablishment of civil government in Queens in 1783, in partic-
ular, exemplified the state’s conciliatory attitude and determination to reunite all
under the banner of Independence. County Patriots had met in April 1783 to
arrange for the orderly transfer of Queens County from the British army to New
York State, for “inhabitants were under great apprehensions” about the possibil-
ity of violence in the interval between the British evacuation and the arrival of
American troops. The meeting requested Gov. George Clinton’s assistance and
reminded him that county residents were “entitled to a voice with our fellow cit-
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izens of the State in the approaching election.”*® Their trust in Clinton was not
misplaced, and the call for their political rights was not mistaken. The Independent
New York Gazette reported on December 1, 1783, that “the mode of taking pos-
session of their City in Tuesday last, evinced such inviolable regard to order and
discipline, as Tyranny could never have enforced; and which nothing but an . . .
exhaulted sense of the extraordinary worth of the great Offices . . . they have the
honor to attend, natural prompted the troops and inhabitants so rigidly to observe.”
A county man noted rather succinctly, “One day the British patrolled the streets,
next day the American soldiers.”° By the time Governor Clinton called the leg-
islature into session, civil government had already replaced martial law in what
had been British-occupied New York. The five towns in Queens had already held
meetings on the previous December 22, elected local officials, and resumed their
usual responsibilities. Elections had also been held in December to select county
representatives to the state Assembly. This immediate and earnest participation in
the political life of the new state, in turn, betokened the county’s genuine accept-
ance of the Revolution and republican government.
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Suffolk County

John G. Staudt

Just days before the Continental Congress declared independence in July
1776, the British army landed on Staten Island in New York harbor. When
General Washington heard the grim news, he wrote from his headquarters in
New York City: “The Time is now near at hand which must probably determine,
whether Americans are to be, Freemen, or Slaves; whether they are to have any
property they can call their own; whether their Houses, Farms, are to be pillaged
and destroyed, and they consigned to a State of Wretchedness.”!

Less than two months later, Suffolk County, Long Island, New York,
endured the “State of Wretchedness.” British forces occupied the county in late
August, and for seven years soldiers plundered, pillaged, and terrorized the civil-
ian population. American partisans, who behaved more like pirates than Patriots,
conducted raids across the Long Island Sound from Connecticut and com-
pounded the war’s viciousness by looting and killing Loyalists and Patriots alike.
Meanwhile, those who fled to the mainland suffered greatly as wartime refugees.

By the time the British evacuated Long Island in November 1783, the bru-
tality of the occupation had destroyed hundreds of farms, ruined the country-
side, and left what remained of local society in disarray. Although the refugees
returned, and together with those who bore the brunt of the British occupation
rebuilt their communities, Suffolk County changed significantly as a result of
the war. The Revolution’s liberalizing spirit and the traumatic experience of mil-
itary occupation together altered local political, religious, and social institutions
forever. The study of Suffolk County provides an excellent example of how the
Revolution transformed colonial America into a modern republic. It exposes
the “tragic force” of the war—the pain and suffering residents endured during
the agonizing birth of the nation.?

63
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Revolutionary Suffolk County encompassed the eastern two-thirds of Long
Island, covering approximately twelve hundred square miles. It was approxi-
mately ninety miles in length, thirty-four miles at its widest point, and it con-
tained over six hundred miles of coastline. It consisted of eight townships,
including from west to east, Huntington, Smithtown, Islip, Brookhaven,
Southold, Southampton, Easthampton, and Shelter Island. Queens County bor-
dered it on the west, the Long Island Sound on the north, and the Atlantic Ocean
on the south.

In 1776 the majority of Suffolk’s more than thirteen thousand inhabitants
were white yeomen farmers who could trace their family roots back to New
England, especially Connecticut.? Approximately fifteen hundred slaves, about
11 percent of the population, and a few hundred Native Americans, many of
whom were servants, also inhabited the county. According to local census
records, several of Suffolk’s most prominent families owned the largest num-
ber of slaves. In 1776 the families of William Nicoll from Islip, Thomas Tredwell
of Smithtown, and Nathaniel Woodhull, William Floyd, and his cousin Richard,
all of Brookhaven, each owned a dozen or more slaves, but no one in the county
owned more than fifteen. Most local slave owners, however, were less promi-
nent residents who owned on average only one or two slaves per household.
Despite the fact that the majority of Suffolk’s inhabitants did not own slaves,
there was little opposition towards slavery during the colonial period and,
according to one historian, enslaved blacks and Native Americans were “held
by colonists of all social and economic strata.””*

Colonial Suffolk consisted of stratified, parochial communities, in which
a few prominent families dominated local elective and appointive political
offices. In Huntington, a mere five families controlled the position of town super-
visor between 1694 and 1776.5 In Smithtown the Smith family dominated local
government. In 1763 the Smiths held twelve out of nineteen town offices. In
Brookhaven, Daniel Smith, a relative of the Smithtown Smiths, was town clerk
for almost forty years (1738—1775).6 Some individuals were plural officehold-
ers (i.e., simultaneously holding two or more offices). In 1749 Huntington
trustee, Eliphalet Wickes held six different positions including town clerk, treas-
urer, and constable. In Brookhaven Richard Floyd served as supervisor
(1742-1762) and president of the town trustees (1747—-1762). On Shelter Island
Nicoll Havens served as the town clerk (1759-1777) and town supervisor
(1770-1777). Similar patterns appeared on the county level. William Nicoll,
Nicoll Havens’s cousin, was elected county clerk for twenty-six years
(1750-1776). Other county officials were royal appointees. Brookhaven’s town
supervisor, Richard Floyd, was appointed a Suffolk County judge for almost
twenty years (1752-1771). Dr. George Muirson, of Brookhaven, was appointed
county sheriff for twenty-five years (1748—1773); the longest tenure of any
Suffolk County sheriff.
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The Presbyterian Church dictated local religious affairs and limited the tol-
eration allowed to new denominations in Suffolk County.” Town churches were
maintained through the assistance of local taxes, and religious matters were
closely connected to civic affairs.® Ministers were often selected at town meet-
ings, while local taxes and the granting of common lands for parsonages helped
support their wages. Pastors retained their positions for extended periods and
maintained a significant influence over public opinion.” The only non-
Presbyterian parishes to appear in Suffolk’s “puritan domain” before the
Revolution were the Anglican Churches established in Brookhaven and
Huntington. These two congregations languished, however, and after 1773 were
without regular ministers.'?

For most of the eighteenth century, the burdens of government and taxes
were light, and residents readily conformed to Suffolk’s deferential society. Even
as colonial protests occurred elsewhere in the colonies between 1763 and 1774,
Suffolk inhabitants remained aloof and more concerned with agricultural pur-
suits and the weather than with political strife. Following Parliament’s passage
of the Coercive or Intolerable Acts in 1774, however, residents quickly grew
apprehensive that the British government was plotting to extinguish colonial
rights. In the summer of 1774, town committees passed resolves condemning
Parliament’s heavy-handed policies.!! Within a year, revolutionary committees
had seized control of local government, elected delegates to the Continental and
Provincial congresses, and effectively enforced the Continental Association. In
Suffolk County “the great majority of inhabitants” supported the committees,
and over 90 percent of those eligible signed the Association.!?

Local Presbyterian ministers, such as Huntington’s Ebenezer Prime,
Setauket’s Benjamin Tallmadge, and East Hampton’s Samuel Buell were all
born and educated in New England. As a result they maintained close ties with
friends and colleagues across the Sound. Before the British occupation of Long
Island these men helped sway public opinion in favor of colonial resistance.
From their pulpits in Suffolk County, local ministers extolled the actions of the
Continental and Provincial congresses and the righteousness of the American
cause. In 1776 Charles Inglis, the Anglican rector of Trinity Church in New York
City, wrote that he knew of no Presbyterian minister on Long Island “who did
not, by preaching and every effort in their power, promote all the measures of
Congress, however extravagant.”!3

Despite Suffolk’s stance as a “county of Revolutionary consensus,” a small,
steadfast faction of inhabitants remained loyal to the Crown.'* Foremost among
the county’s leading Loyalists were Brookhaven residents Dr. George Muirson;
Col. Richard Floyd, and his brother Maj. Benjamin Floyd; and Southold’s town
supervisor Parker Wickham. These men came from privileged families, owned
huge tracts of land, and were royal placemen. In the town of Brookhaven, four
of the seven trustees and the town supervisor, Benjamin Floyd, were avowed
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Loyalists. In March 1775 these men sent a petition to a New York newspaper
declaring their support for the Crown. Later that summer the Brookhaven com-
mittee wrote to the Provincial Congress that six men in town were being care-
fully guarded, as “they have declared they will furnish the [British] men-of-war
and cutters with provisions.” The following year, Congress put two Brookhaven
men, including a former member of the town’s committee of safety, into “safe
custody” for “taking up arms and corresponding with the British ships, and pro-
moting discord among the inhabitants and seducing many to forsake the cause
of their country.”

Several factors probably explain why Loyalism was more prevalent there
than elsewhere in the county. First, a number of the town’s political leaders were
Loyalists and may have used their offices to confound local colonial resistance.
In a letter of apology written to Congress in June 1775, the Brookhaven
Committee explained that the reason the town had “come so late into
Congressional measures” was “not for want of patriotick spirit” but rather “from
want of better information.” Second, Gen. David Wooster, a Continental Army
officer stationed in Suffolk from 1775 to 1776, complained in August 1775 to
Connecticut’s Gov. Jonathan Trumbull about Brookhaven’s Anglican preacher,
James Lyon: “Parson Lyons” was: “the mainspring of all the Tories on that part
of Long Island. He has considerable money at interest in different hands among
his neighbours, which gives him an ascendancy over them, and he has been inde-
fatigable, both by writing and preaching, and in every other way, to gain prose-
Iytes; and by his connexions with those in other parts of the country, who are
inimical to the cause we are embarked in, he will be able to do great mischief.”
Although Brookhaven Patriots eventually checked the Royalist efforts of “Parson
Lyons” and other Tories, prominent Loyalists such as Col. Richard Floyd, who
later commanded Suffolk’s Loyalist militia during the British occupation,
regained limited power after America’s defeat at the Battle of Long Island.!

In general, Patriots did not purge local officeholders before the British occu-
pation. Because an overwhelming majority of residents, including the members
of the political and religious oligarchy, supported the Revolution, the men who
led the county in the decade before the war remained the leaders between 1774
and 1776. In East Hampton, the longtime supervisor and town clerk, Burnet
Miller (1746-1776), became the town’s committee chairman, a delegate to the
Provincial Congress, and a member of the New York Assembly. Suffolk
County’s treasurer, Col. Josiah Smith of Brookhaven (1764—1776), commanded
the Suffolk militia in the Battle of Brooklyn. Nathaniel Woodhull, also of
Brookhaven, was a member of the colonial Assembly before becoming presi-
dent of the Provincial Congress and a general in the Suffolk and Queens Counties
militias. Before the Revolution, the Havens family dominated local government
on Shelter Island. ' During the war, at least eight family members served as offi-
cers in the Continental Army or as captains on privateers.
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As the military involvement of local Patriot leaders suggests, the defense of
the county was a priority from the outset. In the late fall of 1775, after the Provincial
Congress and the Suffolk militia failed to disarm Queens County Loyalists, Suffolk
Patriots grew anxious. In December of that year, the Huntington Committee asked
Congress to send additional men into Queens to subdue the Loyalists, who were
supposedly “making interest with [their] slaves and other servants.” Although
Suffolk County could not subdue its pro-British neighbors to the west, its own
revolutionary zeal increased, as a British military invasion became more immi-
nent. By 1776 there were approximately two thousand men, over 70 percent of
those eligible, under arms. In January 1776 the Provincial Congress sent over one
thousand pounds of gunpowder to the Huntington Committee and other military
supplies to Suffolk’s local committees. In July 1776 three companies of
Continental troops were sent to supplement the local militia and help protect Long
Island’s east end from British predatory raids.!”

Despite these considerable efforts, the Suffolk militia was no match for the
redcoats. On August 22, 1776, Gen. William Howe and fifteen thousand soldiers
landed on the southern tip of Brooklyn at Gravesend Bay. Five days later Howe
won a decisive victory at the Battle of Brooklyn and subsequently occupied New
York City and all of Long Island.'® Over five hundred Suffolk County troops,
under the command of Col. Josiah Smith of Brookhaven, took part in that bat-
tle and then went home to remove their families and as much property as pos-
sible to safety in Connecticut. On August 29 other elements of the Suffolk militia
attempted to rally in Smithtown; however, fearing their forces insufficient to
oppose the enemy, the officers told their men to go home. Before the end of
September, the British army had occupied Suffolk County and the rest of Long
Island.!® In November the British compelled the local committees to revoke “all
their proceedings under the Congress,” dissolve “their unlawful associations,”
and submit “to the King, His laws and Gov’t.”20

The number of British and Loyalist troops in Suffolk varied for the rest of
the war. At times only a company or so of men and a handful of officers patrolled
each town. At other times, such as in 1779, in response to an expected Franco-
American assault, twenty-five hundred British and Loyalist soldiers were sta-
tioned throughout the county, and a fleet of British ships patrolled the Long
Island Sound.?! The British army also pressed members of the defunct Suffolk
County militia into military service. Most men were reluctant to serve but had
little choice, for the British threatened to “detach” or draft men into the militia.
The British distrusted the loyalty of these men, however, and put them to work
as laborers, drivers, and sentries.2?

At the onset of the British occupation of Suffolk County, the army closed
all civil courts and established martial law.?3 As a result, the military abused the
citizenry.?* One of the greatest burdens the British placed on residents was the
seizure of their property. In September 1776 orders were issued to residents that
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they must support the army by driving “all the fat cattle and sheep in Suffolk Co
... down to Jamaica [Queens County] . . . for the refreshment of the King’s
Troops.” The British also demanded that all farmers turn over grain, straw, and
all of their hay to the army. If residents refused to assist the army, Gen. William
Erskine, the commander of the British troops in Suffolk County, threatened to
“lay waste the property of the disobedient as persons unworthy of His Majesty’s
clemency.”?’

In addition to supplying the army with fresh provisions, residents were
compelled to support the army’s transportation needs, including horses, drivers,
saddles, wagons, and stables. The British also commandeered pastures and farm
fields for the grazing of their livestock. In addition, the army’s appetite for wood
was insatiable. Timber was needed not only for the construction of barracks but
also as fuel for cooking and heating. Thousands of Loyalists seeking refuge in
British-occupied New York served as woodcutters who readily denuded
Suffolk’s public and private woodlands. Wherever the supply of trees ran low,
soldiers tore down churches and fences. In one season alone, Loyalist troops
stationed in Huntington, under the command of Col. Benjamin Thompson,
burned over 5,830 wooden rails, fourteen loads of timber, and three hundred
ninety feet of boards.

Housing was also in great demand. If there was insufficient space indoors,
the soldiers set up tents and built huts or barracks on local pastures and mead-
ows. Most often, however, officers and soldiers lodged either in local taverns
and inns or in private homes. According to historian, Silas Wood, who lived in
Huntington during the British occupation, the officers generally seized the best
rooms and “compelled [owners] to furnish blankets and fuel for the soldiers,
and hay and grain for their horses . . . and seized without ceremony, and with-
out any compensation . . . whatever they desired to gratify their wants or
wishes.”?’

Occasionally, a few officers would give receipts for commandeered goods.
Most of the time, however, soldiers acting with or without orders took whatever
they needed (or wanted) without providing receipts. Even when receipts were
issued, they were almost worthless, because the holders were rarely compen-
sated. For example, Smithtown innkeeper Epenetus Smith was left at war’s end
with receipts worth almost £600 for food, drinks, livestock, grain, hay, blankets,
saddles, farm tools, and other goods and services. One particularly contemptible
British officer, Banastre Tarleton, ran up a tab at Smith’s for over £250. Smith’s
accounts and those of other Smithtown residents were recorded in a town ledger
at the end of the war. The account book includes the names of fifty-four inhab-
itants whose claims came close to £4,000. The first page of the ledger stated that
“however large this amount may seem, certainly know it falls greatly short of
ye real value, with which his Majesties Officers & Army have been supplied
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from time to time.” Huntington residents produced three town ledgers at the end
of the war with claims in excess of over £21,383.28

Unlike Epenetus Smith and his neighbors who bore the brunt of British
tyranny, approximately five thousand Long Islanders, the majority from Suffolk,
fled to Connecticut and upstate New York.? The state and local governments in
Connecticut greatly assisted the removal of refugees by commissioning ship
captains to carry residents and as much property as possible across the Long
Island Sound. Despite Connecticut’s attempt to accommodate the refugees, the
situation of displaced Long Islanders was “most pitiful.” Many Patriot refugees
evacuated Suffolk rather quickly and arrived in Connecticut with few provisions
and little money.>* Many grew so impoverished that they risked returning to
Long Island to remove, sell, or lease whatever property they could. By war’s
end scores of refugees had petitioned the Connecticut General Assembly
requesting permission to go back to Suffolk County either temporarily or per-
manently. For some, though, returning home was impossible, because the British
had confiscated and redistributed their property.

Many Suffolk refugees participated in American whaleboat raids con-
ducted from Connecticut against British and Loyalist targets on Long Island.?!
Rebel sympathizers who remained in Suffolk often assisted and sometimes even
participated in the raids. In December 1777 the British caught Zephaniah Platt
of Smithtown concealing in his barn two whaleboats used by rebel raiders. The
boats were destroyed, Platt was arrested, and his livestock confiscated.?? In
March 1779 Rivington’s New-York Gazetteer printed a “Caution to Travellers,”
warning that American bandits were ambushing Loyalists and robbing homes
in Smithtown. The marauders also “harbored and supplied with provisions and
intelligence” other American insurgents who frequently made incursions into
Suffolk from Connecticut. Rivington’s added that the “unfortunate Loyalists”
in Smithtown “are greatly exposed to the savage cruelty of these assassins,”
because British sympathizers were so “few in number.” This statement is true
for other towns in Suffolk as well. In Huntington, in 1779, Gen. Oliver De Lancey
threatened to deport and confiscate the property of anyone attacking or assist-
ing in an attack on “his majesty’s true and faithful subjects.”3

In 1776 and in 1778, the British attempted to compel the allegiance of res-
idents by forcing all males between the ages of sixteen and sixty who were capa-
ble of bearing arms to take a loyalty oath to the king. Anyone who refused was
threatened with banishment and the confiscation of his property.3* Despite such
efforts to secure local allegiances, residents clandestinely continued to impede
British operations. In 1778 a group of Long Islanders, mainly from Setauket,
developed a sophisticated intelligence organization known as the Culper or
Setauket Spy Ring that provided information to Washington.’> As the war
dragged on, residents openly defied British authority by disobeying direct orders
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to assist the army. In August 1779, 210 members of the Huntington Loyalist
militia refused to obey orders from General De Lancey to work on fortifications
in Brooklyn. The men eventually acquiesced to De Lancey’s demands, but only
after he threatened to deport them and confiscate their property. In July 1781 the
British officially reprimanded the Huntington militia once again, this time for
not helping to repel an attack on Ft. Franklin in nearby Lloyd’s Neck.?®

Suffolk inhabitants opposed British military rule in subtle ways as well.
Although many Patriots had fled and continued their resistance from the main-
land, remaining residents continued to hold town meetings, elect local officials,
and enact ordinances. The minutes of several towns’ wartime meetings reveal
that despite the British occupation and martial law, residents did not reject their
prewar leaders.?” In East Hampton for example, trustee and former committee
chairman, John Chatfield, served as the town clerk (1777-1784); Ezekiel
Mulford, a former captain in the Patriot Suffolk militia, was elected town super-
visor (1780-1785). Nevertheless, as historian Myron Luke has argued, it is obvi-
ous that despite the determined effort of inhabitants to “maintain the appearance
of orderly government . . . in large measure they were at the mercy of whatever
restrictions or decrees the British military wished to impose upon them.””38

In fact, the defiant attitude of many residents led British officers to adopt
a hardline approach in dealing with civilians.?® At various times during the war,
Col. John Graves Simcoe confiscated goods from Huntington residents without
providing receipts, stating he did so “on account of their rebellious principles,
and absolute disobedience of the general orders.” In 1779 Simcoe also laid an
eighty pound fine on the residents of Smithtown, after bandits operating in the
area attacked and robbed his messenger.*? Later that same year, Sir Henry
Clinton, commander-in-chief of the British forces in North America, increased
the number of troops on Long Island. Clinton also warned Adm. Marriot
Arbuthnot that if his fleet lost control of the Long Island Sound “a detachment
of French and New England troops will be passed immediately over to Long
Island, where they will be joined by most of the people at the east end of it, who
are generally disaffected.”*!

Although military oppression touched every aspect of life in wartime
Suffolk, few institutions suffered as severe a fate as the Presbyterian Church.
Presbyterian ministers, many of whom were born and trained in New England,
were staunch promoters of American resistance. The resistance of the eight
Suffolk County ministers to Britain’s repressive colonial policies stemmed from
their close ties to New England and the long-standing animosity between
Presbyterians and the Church of England. During the war Rev. Samuel Buell of
East Hampton corresponded with American officials. Rev. John Storrs, pastor
at Southold, became a refugee and served as a chaplain in the Continental army.
Meanwhile, the son of Brookhaven’s pastor Benjamin Tallmadge, Maj.
Benjamin Tallmadge, served as the chief of Washington’s secret service. In addi-
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tion, several Long Island ministers had sons who joined the American forces.
As a result of the zealous Presbyterian support of the Revolution, the British
desecrated or destroyed many local churches and meetinghouses, including
those in Huntington and Smithtown. In Huntington, British officers devastated
the home of Rev. Ebenezer Prime, whom they referred to as “the old rebel Prime,”
by destroying his library, breaking up his furniture, and vandalizing the rest of
his property, including his stables. Rev. Joshua Hart of Smithtown was impris-
oned in New York City. In addition, the Presbytery of Suffolk was prohibited
from meeting during the war, and most religious services, except those of the
two county Anglican Churches, were forbidden.*?

Col. Benjamin Thompson, a Loyalist officer from New Hampshire, com-
mitted one of the more unnecessarily callous acts of the war. Thompson com-
manded the Loyalist unit, the King’s American Dragoons, during their
occupation of Huntington in the winter of 1782 to 1783. Despite the fact that
the preliminary peace treaty had already been signed, Thompson ordered the
construction of a fort, named Fort Golgatha, on top of the local Presbyterian
church’s burial grounds. He compelled residents to level mounds, knock down
tombstones, and construct the fort on the graves of their ancestors. To obtain the
wood needed for the project, Thompson’s dragoons tore down the Presbyterian
Church, stripped barns of their boards, knocked over rail fences, and cut down
local orchards.*> We will probably never know why Thompson took such
actions. It is possible that he built the fort on top of the burying hill to discour-
age marauders who were still conducting raids from Connecticut. The ruthless-
ness of his actions, however, suggests that he was seeking retribution against
Huntington’s Presbyterian rebels for Britain’s defeat in the war.

Unfortunately, as the war dragged on into its last years, the brutality of
British actions was often matched by the viciousness of American raiders. By
1780 legitimate whaleboat warfare had, with a few exceptions, deteriorated into
pillaging expeditions. Rebel looters from Connecticut and Loyalist marauders
from Queens County indiscriminately robbed and killed Suffolk inhabitants.**
These predatory attacks helped supply and support the illicit trade and black
market operations that extended from the Thames River in Connecticut to the
Shrewsbury River in New Jersey. According to historian Frederick Mather,
“the center of the traffic was the Long Island Sound, and the chief actors [were]
the whale-boat men.”* The British army’s failure to stop the rebels from attack-
ing at will only encouraged further disdain for British authority, and by 1782
residents began to take the law into their own hands. In September a number of
Southampton men took seven bandits by surprise. The group caught the plun-
derers on the beach and in the ensuing struggle killed two, wounded two oth-
ers, and captured the rest. In August 1783 Huntington inhabitants formed a home
guard of eight men who were responsible for sounding an alarm in case of
marauders.*® The British apparently did not interfere with the “vigilantes.” The
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end of the war was drawing near, and the hostilities between imperial and rebel
forces were at an end. Furthermore, the soldiers had had enough. In March 1783,
soon after building Fort Golgatha, British troops in Huntington set fire to their
barracks as a sign of their dissatisfaction with their service in America.*’ Eight
months later, the British evacuated New York, and the Suffolk refugees returned
home to find their churches destroyed, homes damaged, fields ruined, wood-
lands denuded, slaves missing, and livestock gone.*8

Before the Revolution, Elias Pelletreau ran a successful silversmith busi-
ness in Southampton. During the war, the British had converted his shop into a
storehouse, and Pelletreau became a refugee in Connecticut. His account book
records the following notation upon his return in early 1784: “Memorandum
Sent by Cap [paper torn] for Damages done by the British Troops—
Negroman 300 pounds—for the Destruction of our Buildings by the
Commesaries & fences & wood taken by the wagoners 200 pounds, 2 tuns of
hay at 8 pounds pr Ton 16 pounds sum. Total 516 pounds March 26 1784.”4°

Pelletreau’s business eventually recovered, but others were less fortunate.
The British occupation had disrupted the livelihood of many inhabitants and the
economic life of Suffolk as a whole. The amount of property damage was incal-
culable, and although there were no significant changes in land-holding patterns,
changes in land ownership did occur. Because of their active support of the
British, four Suffolk County men, Richard Floyd, George Muirson, Parker
Wickham, and Henry Lloyd II, were named in the New York Act of Attainder
in 1779. As the British evacuated New York, these men became Loyalist
refugees, and the state seized and sold their property to seven purchasers for a
total of £11,424 sterling. Benjamin Tallmadge, Caleb Brewster, and Nathaniel
Norton, all of whom served in the Continental army, were among the purchasers
of the Loyalist property. The other purchasers were John Lloyd II (an active
Patriot and nephew of Henry Lloyd II), Joseph Brewster (a signer of the
Continental Association in 1775), Benjamin Floyd (brother of Richard Floyd),
and Mills Philps, a Suffolk farmer.>°

At the same time as the Loyalist refugees fled from Long Island, Patriot
refugees returned to find their property in ruins. The British had commandeered
their homes for military purposes or leased them to Tories who neglected or
abused their fields and left their tools in great decay. As a result, a number of
refugee families were destitute and could not afford to keep their homes. Several
farms, including six in Huntington, were auctioned off in 1785.3! Even those
refugees who were wealthy enough to recover and retain their farms had to over-
come tremendous hardship. John Foster, a successful prewar ship owner in Sag
Harbor and a member of the Provincial Congress, arrived home to find his ship,
house, barn, outbuildings, books, and papers all destroyed. Henry Scudder, a
committeeman, militia officer, American spy, and whaleboat raider returned to
Huntington to find his woodlands cut down, his fences and outbuildings burned,
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and his cattle driven off. Continental Congressman William Floyd came home
after burying his wife Hannah, who had died as a refugee in Middletown,
Connecticut, in May 1781. Maj. Thomas Wickes, a prominent Huntington com-
mitteeman and member of the New York Assembly, suffered the loss of his wife
and four of his five children in Connecticut during the war.>?

As historian Gordon Wood has argued, the Revolution “shook up tradi-
tional hierarchies, cut people loose from customary ties . . . and brought author-
ity of all sorts into question. To be sure, there was no immediate collapse of the
social order . . . but everywhere there were alterations in the way people related
to one another.” Generally, the traumatic experience of the war altered tradi-
tional notions of power and authority in Suffolk County. The most discernible
changes were an increase in the turnover of public officials and a decline in plu-
ral office holding. In the first decade following the war, the popularly elected
Huntington town supervisor changed hands eight times; more times than dur-
ing the entire colonial era.>® On Shelter Island, in the two decades leading up to
the Revolution, only three men had held the supervisor position. In the same
span of time in the postwar years, seven different men were elected supervisor,
and the office changed hands nine times from 1783 to 1799.%* Similar alterations
occurred on the county level as well. During the colonial era, the Floyd’s of St.
George’s Manor (Richard Floyd I-1V) constituted a dynasty, as successive royal
governors appointed each of them county judge and colonel of the militia. In
the first twenty years after the war, three men served as county judge, the longest
single tenure being ten years. After the Revolution, state law altered the amount
of time that any one person could remain in certain offices. For example, before
the Revolution, Dr. George Muirson had served as county sheriff for twenty-six
years. After the war, an individual could serve as sheriff for no more than four
consecutive years.

In the decades following the war, those Patriots who had contributed most
to the war effort dominated elective and appointive local, state, and national
offices in Suffolk County. William Floyd, Richard Floyd’s cousin, had served
as Brookhaven’s revolutionary committee’s chairman, an officer in the Patriot
militia, a member of the Continental Congress, and signer of the Declaration of
Independence. In the postwar period he was elected to the United States House
of Representatives, the New York State Senate, and was a candidate for lieu-
tenant governor in 1795. Southold’s Ezra ’Hommedieu had been a member of
the following revolutionary organizations: the Committee of Suffolk County,
the New York Committee of Safety, all four Provincial Congresses, the New
York Assembly, and the Continental Congress. Following the war, he was elected
to the New York Senate and served on the New York Council of Appointment
and as a Regent of the University. Smithtown’s Thomas Tredwell served in the
militia, on the town committee, in all four Provincial Congresses, on the New
York Committee of Safety, and in the state assembly. After the war, he served
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as Surrogate of Suffolk County, a member of the Ratifying Convention in 1788,
and was elected to the state senate and the United States Congress.

As with politics, the Revolution also caused significant transformations in
religious life. During the war the British army had desecrated and destroyed
many Presbyterian Churches. In 1784 several of the churches were rebuilt.
Nevertheless, the war had altered the traditional relationship between religion
and civil government, and Presbyterianism suffered a decline in membership
and the loss of its privileged status. Before the Revolution, taxes paid for the
construction of local churches. In the “new order,” however, funds were raised
by private donations. In addition, a state law passed in 1784 formally separated
church and state in New York and allowed religious societies to incorporate and
elect trustees for the administration of their “temporalities.” Evidence indicates
that New York State Senator Ezra L’Hommedieu from Southold helped write
the legislation. The Southold Church was the first on Long Island, and among
the first in New York, to take advantage of this law by incorporating itself as the
“First Church, Congregation or Society in Southold” in June 1784. This law
allowed new religious groups, such as the Methodist and Baptist Churches, to
flourish. As early as the 1790s, union meeting halls appeared in Suffolk County,
where members of different sects, such as Presbyterians, Congregationalists,
Methodists, and Baptists could, according to prearranged schedules, worship.
Historian Robert Cray argues that although new sects had to compete against
established Presbyterian churches, they managed to “attract listeners and even-
tually followers during the early decades of the nineteenth century.” The
Methodist Church was particularly successful in gaining new members and by
1845 was the largest religious denomination in Suffolk.>

In addition to changes in politics and religion, the Revolution altered local
attitudes towards slavery. Before the Revolution local manumissions were rare,
and most residents recognized slavery as just another “form of debasement” in
alargely deferential society.”® Having just suffered dearly in a struggle to secure
their own civil rights, anumber of white residents questioned the justice of deny-
ing slaves their civil rights. As a result, some slaveholders began to manumit
their slaves as early as 1784. In accordance with his will, Huntington and Suffolk
County committeeman Dr. Gilbert Potter released his slave Mark in August
1786. Smithtown’s Patriot leader Thomas Tredwell released his twenty-six-
year-old slave Charles in 1788. In April 1789 Silas Powel of Huntington, an
active Patriot during the war, bought a slave named James for eight pounds with
the intention to “keep him for five Months in service and then let him go free.”
In order to ensure that masters were not just relieving themselves of aged or
decrepit slaves, the Huntington town board examined and certified the health of
slaves before their release. If a slave was deemed a public charge, masters were
compelled to pay the town, which would then see to the slave’s upkeep.’’
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Manumissions were spurred on by the outspokenness of local emancipa-
tionists. For example, in 1788, Constitutional Convention delegate Thomas
Tredwell voted against ratification in part, because the document failed imme-
diately to end the slave trade. As Tredwell stated, the slave trade “was a stain to
the commerce of any civilized nation,” which had “already blackened half the
plains of America with a race of wretches made so by our cruel policy and
avarice, and which appears to me to be already repugnant to every principle of
humanity, morality, religion and good policy.”® Sag Harbor resident and editor
of the Long Island Herald, David Frothingham, condemned public slave sales
and labeled one 1796 auction in Whitestone, Queens, a “disgrace to human-
ity.”>° In 1799 abolitionist pressures compelled the New York Legislature to
pass “An Act for the Gradual Abolition of Slavery,” which provided that all
female slave children born after 4 July 1799, were free at age twenty-five and
male slaves at age twenty-eight. In 1817 New York finally outlawed slavery
within its borders by enacting legislation that completely abolished it by 1827.90

In the end, the tragic violence of the War for American Independence was
both destructive and liberating. It disrupted lives but created a more equitable
society. It demolished churches but eventually produced greater religious free-
dom. It devastated property but eventually liberated chattel slaves. Ultimately,
the pain and suffering Suffolk County’s inhabitants endured during the
Revolution was not forgotten, as many residents worked to propel their com-
munities out of the “state of wretchedness” envisioned by George Washington
in 1776 and into the age of modern republicanism.
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Richmond County,
Staten Island

Phillip Papas

Richmond County, which comprises the present Borough of Staten Island,
is thirteen miles long and eight miles wide; located near the entrance to New
York harbor, it is approximately ten miles southwest of Manhattan. The Narrows
separates the county from what is today the Borough of Brooklyn on Long Island.
Dividing Richmond from New Jersey to the west and south are the Kill van Kull,
Arthur Kill (or creek), and Raritan Bay.

After the Dutch surrendered New Netherland to the English in 1664, Staten
Island came under the jurisdiction of the province of New York and in 1683 was
organized into Richmond County. In 1729 centrally located Richmondtown
became the county seat. The island contained two manorial estates: the fifty-
one-hundred-acre Cassiltowne Manor and Capt. Christopher Billopp’s sixteen-
hundred-acre Bentley Manor.! At the time of the Revolution, Staten Island was
divided into four towns: Northfield, Southfield, Westfield, and Castleton.?

The population of Staten Island grew from 727 in 1698 to nearly 3,000 on
the eve of the Revolution. Settlement was widely scattered along its shoreline
and inland waterways. It is difficult to calculate the ethnic composition of colo-
nial Staten Island. The only study of this topic, which was made by historian
Field Horne, has concluded that the island’s population in 1706 was at least 38
percent Dutch, 21 percent British, 17 percent French, and 24 percent African
American.? Slavery was a conspicuous institution on the island. Slaves com-
prised anywhere from 10 percent to 24 percent of Staten Island’s population.
There were typically an average of no more than three slaves per farm, how-
ever, affluent residents owned between five and ten slaves.*
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The majority of Staten Islanders were prosperous middle-class farmers,
who grew grains such as wheat, corn, rye, and barley; kept vegetable gardens;
and maintained fruit orchards, salt meadows, and woodlots. Staten Islanders also
engaged in domestic manufacturing to supplement their agricultural incomes;
enterprising residents owned grist- and sawmills, operated ferries, managed tav-
erns and inns, engaged in the fishing and oyster trades, sold timber, and main-
tained shipyards. Staten Island’s products were sold in the urban markets of New
York City as well as in Perth Amboy, Elizabethtown (now Elizabeth), and
Woodbridge, New Jersey. The ports of New York and Perth Amboy connected
Staten Islanders to the commercial networks of the transatlantic world.”

By the late colonial period, the Anglican Church (or Church of England)
wielded great political influence. Of the six Staten Islanders who served in the
New York Assembly from 1750 to 1775, five were Anglicans, and one was a
member of the Dutch Reformed Church, who was elected in 1761 with the sup-
port of the island’s Anglican congregation.® The island’s leading families before
the Revolution—the Billopps, Dongans, Micheaus, and Seamans—were
Anglicans. These families “pretty much governed the island” through an intri-
cate network of intermarriage and local political deference.’

Religion was an important factor in determining revolutionary loyalties.
According to historian Philip Ranlet, “about 53 percent” of Staten Islanders who
signed an oath of allegiance to the king in July 1776 “appear to have been
Anglicans.”® Presbyterians and members of the Dutch Reformed Church joined
the Whigs (or Patriots) and supported independence as a way to break the
Anglicans’ political hold over the island and to disestablish the Church of England.
Self-preservation led Staten Island’s Moravians (or Brethren) to become Loyalists.
They had not only flourished under British imperial rule but by the Revolution
tensions existed between them and the local Reformed congregants. Thus, as did
the Anglicans, the Moravians feared the consequences of a new political and social
order that would follow a Whig victory in the Revolution.’

During the Revolution, vulnerable Staten Island was a Loyalist stronghold.
Like Kings County, it was proximate to the center of British power in New York
City, dependent upon the urban market, and defenseless against the British navy.
Following the British occupation of the island in early July 1776, it also became
a haven for Loyalists, especially those escaping from Whig-controlled areas in
New Jersey. The overwhelming majority of Staten Islanders had hoped that calm
heads would prevail during the pre-Revolutionary disputes over imperial taxa-
tion and that a political reconciliation with Britain could be reached. The Whigs’
attempt to force the islanders to embrace the Patriot cause further alienated res-
idents. This essay will focus on the islanders’ defiance of the colonial resistance
movement and examine how almost seven-and-a-half years under British occu-
pation, rough treatment by British regulars, Hessians, and Loyalists, and war-
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weariness turned many Staten Islanders from defenders of the king to people
who accepted the Revolution.

The Events of 1775

Staten Islanders refrained from taking an active part in the protests against
British taxation during and after the Stamp Act crisis. Instead, they deferred
judgment on political matters to a small group of prominent, well-respected
members of the community led by Christopher Billopp and Benjamin Seaman.
Billopp, who was elected to the New York Assembly in 1769, came from a fam-
ily that had long-established ties to the provincial governments of New York
and New Jersey. Benjamin Seaman, who was Billopp’s father-in-law and a jus-
tice of the county surrogate court, had sat in the Assembly since 1756. Both men
were Anglicans, who favored reconciliation and who wielded much influence
on Staten Island.!® When the New York Assembly convened in January 1775,
Billopp and Seaman voted with the majority to repudiate the First Continental
Congress’s measures; the Congress was an illegal body that had usurped the sta-
tus of the constitutional colonial assembly. They also voted against thanking
New York’s Continental congressmen for their service and opposed sending a
delegation to the Second Continental Congress.!!

Staten Islanders were especially opposed to the Continental Association
and the network of local committees of inspection (or observation) that enforced
the boycott. As did many other New York agrarians, Staten Islanders objected
to the measure, because it closed down the lucrative transatlantic export market
to their products, threatened to cut off their access to highly desirable British
manufactured goods and specie, and because the loss of British goods from the
colonial market meant an increase in the price of domestically produced items.
Staten Islanders evaded its provisions by smuggling, which was a long estab-
lished practice on the island.!?

The first real test of the Association in New York came on February 2, 1775,
when the merchant vessel James arrived from Glasgow, Scotland. New York
City’s Committee of Sixty, which had been created to enforce the Association,
ordered the ship to depart the port without breaking cargo. Although the ship’s
captain complied with the Committee’s demand, the James returned the next
week escorted by a British naval vessel. After two days of protests, the James
again left New York with its cargo onboard.'? Immediately following the James’s
departure, rumors circulated that the James had stopped at Staten Island, and
with the assistance of several residents, the captain had unloaded a portion of
the ship’s cargo. Given that the island had had a long history as a smugglers’
haven, these rumors were probably true.
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The island’s failure to abide by the Continental Association led several
committees of observation in eastern New Jersey to coerce Staten Island. On
February 13, 1775, the Committee of Observation in Elizabethtown, New Jersey,
banned all trade with the island until its residents signed the Association. One
week later, the Committee of Observation in Woodbridge, New Jersey, threat-
ened to suspend all trade with Staten Island. This tactic succeeded. By July 1775
Staten Islanders reportedly had “in general signed the Association.”!

In early March 1775, New York City Whigs requested that a Provincial
Convention on April 20 select delegates to represent New York at the upcom-
ing Second Continental Congress and that each county send deputies to that
Convention. On April 11, a meeting for this purpose was held on Staten Island.
There, Christopher Billopp convinced the majority of those in attendance to
repudiate the Congress, which made reconciliation more difficult to achieve.!
Thus, Staten Island did not send deputies to the Convention.

The Provincial Convention met on April 20 and chose a twelve-member
delegation to the Second Continental Congress. When the Convention adjourned
on April 22, news of the bloodshed at Lexington and Concord reached New York
City, inflaming tempers and causing a wave of protests.'6 Staten Islanders were
stunned at the hostilities in Massachusetts and at the mob violence it precipi-
tated, and nervous residents still hoped for political reconciliation. One islander
was distressed to see that “the affairs of America are far from being settled”” and
hoped “a Mode of reconciliation between Great Britain & her Colonies” could
be achieved. Rev. Richard Charlton, an Anglican minister, called for “a Speedy
suppression to insulting Mobs, and a restoration of Loyalty and obedience to
our Parent State.” Christopher Billopp and Benjamin Seaman joined twelve
other Assemblymen in a message to the British army’s commander-in-chief,
Gen. Thomas Gage, that called for a ceasefire and a negotiated settlement to the
crisis.!”

On April 28, 1775, New York City’s Committee of Sixty called on each
county to elect delegates to a Provincial Congress. In addition, on April 29, the
Committee issued the General Association, by which signers pledged to support
the actions of the Provincial and Continental congresses. On May 1 Staten
Islanders chose a five-man delegation of moderate-to-conservative community
leaders to represent them in the Provincial Congress. Self-preservation was
probably the motivation for this sudden turnaround. According to Rev. Hector
Gambold of the Moravian Church, residents “had ‘till the last week generally
opposed . . . having any Thing to do with the Congress,” but the threat of “armed
Force” by the Whigs compelled them to elect a slate of delegates to that gov-
erning body.!8

The men elected to represent Richmond in the Provincial Congress were
Richard Conner, anative of Ireland, a Moravian, and a future captain in the Third
Company of Christopher Billopp’s Brigade of Loyalist Militia; Aaron
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Cortelyou, Benjamin Seaman’s son-in-law and a leader in the Moravian con-
gregation, who later actively assisted the British army with logistics and infor-
mation; John Journeay, an Anglican acquaintance of Benjamin Seaman; Richard
Lawrence, a shipwright, whom Gen. William Howe appointed in July 1776 to
the position of master carpenter of Staten Island’s shipyards; and Paul Micheau
Jr., the county clerk, who was also Benjamin Seaman’s son-in-law. Throughout
the summer of 1775, these congressmen favored reconciliation. Thus, on June
2 they voted for a resolution introduced by conservative Benjamin Kissam of
New York City, which called for “a reconciliation between Great Britain and
these Colonies on constitutional principles” and for the appointment of a com-
mittee “to prepare a plan of such accommodation.”!®

The presence of British warships in New York harbor was one of the most
serious issues facing the Provincial Congress. To prevent violence it authorized
the continued sale of fresh provisions to these vessels, so long as these supplies
did not end up in the hands of the besieged British army in Boston. The Congress
also strictly limited the types of goods and outlined procedures for this trade.
Staten Islanders, however, evaded these regulations. On September 2, for
instance, a New York City resident notified the New York Committee of Safety,
which was sitting for the adjourned Provincial Congress, that “sundry persons
in Richmond County” were supplying livestock and other produce to British
ships.?0

The New York Committee of Safety launched an investigation, which
pointed to John Wetherhead, a native of Britain and a leading New York City
merchant. On September 17, 1775, from aboard the British warship Asia in New
York harbor, where he had gone several months earlier to escape the mob vio-
lence in the city, Wetherhead addressed the Committee of Safety’s suspicions.
Although he admitted having been on Staten Island with an unidentified British
officer, who “purchased some stock from two or three persons,” Wetherhead did
not reveal the identities of the Staten Islanders who had sold the provisions, nor
whether they had been forwarded to Boston. He even sarcastically hinted that
these islanders were responsible for saving New York City from destruction.
“For my part, I thought myself happy, and do still think so,” he wrote to the
Committee of Safety, “that the stock was procured, as it in some measure tended
to quiet the minds of the (British) officers,” who might have taken “some steps
... that would have been very fatal to numbers in the City.” With no further
information and no means of apprehending Wetherhead, the committee dropped
its investigation.?!

In October the Provincial Congress ordered the counties to hold elections
for delegates to the Second Provincial Congress, which was to convene on
November 14. Five counties—Charlotte, Cumberland, Gloucester, Queens, and
Richmond—failed to do so. The first three counties eventually overcame poor
communication and pressing local issues to send delegates. In the Queens
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elections, the Loyalists defeated the Whigs.?? But Richmond residents defiantly
refused to hold an election.

On December 2, the Provincial Congress ordered the Richmond County
Committee of Safety, which was controlled by Loyalist sympathizers, to “cause
an election to be held, without delay.” Two weeks later islanders voted over-
whelmingly against sending a delegation to the Second Provincial Congress.
The committee explained that Staten Islanders had agreed to send delegates to
the First Provincial Congress in the expectation that that body would work for
reconciliation, but they had been disappointed by Congress’s actions, which
might instead provoke “a war with Great Britain” that could be harmful to the
island.?

The Provincial Congress then used economic sanctions against Staten
Island. On December 21, 1775, it announced that the island was in “breach of
the General Association and of an open contempt of the authority of this
Congress” and ordered the county Committee of Safety to make “a list of the
names of those who oppose” holding elections for the Provincial Congress. If
the committee did not forward the list within fifteen days, the island would face
commercial interdiction. This tactic worked. On January 19, 1776, Staten Island
elected moderate Whig Adrian Bancker, who was the brother of the New York
merchant Evert Bancker and a member of the island’s Dutch Reformed con-
gregation, and reelected the Loyalist Richard Lawrence, who had served in the
First Provincial Congress.?*

Staten Island and the Defense of New York

In early 1776 persistent rumors circulated throughout the New York port
area that Gen. William Howe, who had replaced Gage as the British army
commander-in-chief, planned to abandon Boston and make New York City the
focus of British military operations. Any successful American defense of New
York required securing Staten Island. Its proximity to Manhattan, Long Island,
and New Jersey; the ability of the British navy to control its coast; and the
Loyalism of many of its residents made Staten Island an ideal military base of
operations for the British.

Washington promptly appointed Maj. Gen. Charles Lee to defend New York.
Lee quickly fortified several key water approaches to the city.>> However, he failed
to secure Staten Island, leaving it exposed to the British. The New York Committee
of Safety protested, but Lee, who lacked naval support and was short of men and
heavy artillery, decided against fortifying the island. Instead he favored securing
its livestock against British depredations. To carry out this task, the New York
Provincial Congress, which had few troops to spare, asked the New Jersey Whig
government to order Col. Nathaniel Heard of Woodbridge, New Jersey, “to secure
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the live-stock of . . . [Staten] Island from depredation . . . by guarding it on the
island till we have opportunity to determine on the expediency of removing it.”
The Provincial Congress also asked the Elizabethtown Committee of Observation
to deploy some militia to support Heard’s troops.? In the meantime, Brig. Gen.
William Livingston of the New Jersey militia, who would later serve as governor
of New Jersey (September 1776-July 1790), dispatched three hundred men to pro-
tect the livestock on Staten Island and to gather intelligence.?’

On February 12, 1776, Staten Islanders awoke to the sight of Livingston’s
troops patrolling the island. Colonel Heard with seven hundred men arrived four
days later. Several Staten Islanders harassed and insulted the soldiers, while oth-
ers threatened them with death if they tried to confiscate weapons or remove
livestock. A disgusted Heard consequently arrested four respected members of
the community—Richard Conner, Isaac Decker, Abraham Harris, and Minah
Burger—on charges of “inimicality” and sent them to Elizabethtown, where the
local Committee of Observation placed them in jail to await trial.?® Colonel
Heard sent the prisoners there because he probably thought convicting the four
would be impossible in Loyalist-leaning Richmond.

Colonel Heard eventually returned to New Jersey, and he left behind a few
men to guard the island’s coast; but his four arrests further angered Staten
Islanders and stiffened their Loyalism. One resident complained that Heard’s
arrests demonstrated the lengths to which Whigs would go to force persons to
“abide by the Laws of Congress.” The New York Provincial Congress sympa-
thetically explained to Staten Islanders that Heard had been dispatched to the
island only to protect their livestock. Congress also informed the Elizabethtown
Committee of Observation that in New York “all persons charged with any con-
ductinimical to the United Colonies, or transgressing any resolves, rules, or reg-
ulations of the Continental or Provincial Congress” were to be remanded to “the
County Committee of the County in which such delinquents reside.” Congress
then requested that the chairman of the Elizabethtown committee hand over the
four Staten Islanders and any evidence obtained against them to the Richmond
County Committee of Safety, under whose jurisdiction the men were to be legally
tried.?® This was promptly done.

The trial, which took place on March 7, was a farce. Most of the witnesses
called to testify against the suspects either failed to come forward, proclaimed
their ignorance, or faced a barrage of insults while on the stand. One witness
complained to the Provincial Congress that the county committee had allowed
him to endure “insufferable abuse” from the defendants and their supporters
“while under examination.”3 In the end, the charges against the four men were
dropped, and they were released. New York Whigs condemned the county
Committee of Safety’s handling of the trial as “improper and ineffectual.”3!

On March 7, 1776, General Lee left New York for Charleston, South
Carolina, where he was to oversee that city’s defenses. Brig. Gen. William
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Alexander (or Lord Stirling) succeeded him in New York City.3> On March 19
Washington informed Stirling that the British had “abandon’d” Boston two days
earlier. He added: “Where they Intend to make a descent next, is altogether
unknown, but supposing New York to be an Object of much importance . . . I
must recommend your most strenuous and active exertions in preparing to pre-
vent any designs or Attempts they may have against It.”33 Stirling worked
quickly to complete the port’s defenses; he also monitored Staten Island’s resi-
dents. When he received reports that a Staten Islander named John James Boyd
had made “expressions injurious to the country, and in favour of Ministerial
tyranny,” Stirling immediately ordered Boyd arrested and brought before the
New York Provincial Congress. Although Congress released Boyd because it
found him to be “unimportant and insignificant,” Whig troops continued to mon-
itor his activities and those of his fellow Staten Islanders.3*

After they abandoned Boston, the British sailed for Halifax, Nova Scotia,
instead of New York. On March 20 Stirling returned to New Jersey to oversee
that province’s defenses. There, Stirling remained a strong advocate for secur-
ing Staten Island, which was important to the defense of both New York and of
eastern New Jersey. He proposed using Jersey troops to occupy the island’s
heights. In a letter to Gen. William Livingston, Stirling stressed that it was
“highly Necessary” to occupy “some Commanding height on Staten Island” in
order to “Guard” New Jersey.>

Unfortunately for the Patriot cause, Stirling’s efforts to defend Staten Island
did not go well. On April 1, 1776, Stirling warned Washington that the island
remained open to a British invasion. New Jersey’s mobilization of troops was
slow and disorganized. Gen. William Heath in late March assumed command
in the New York port area and asked General Livingston to hasten the occupa-
tion of Staten Island. Heath stressed that the defense of New York and New
Jersey depended “in a very great Measure . . . upon our being well possessed of
Staten Island.” Meanwhile, in New Jersey, Stirling, frustrated by the lack of
progress being made on the island, sought personally to take charge of defen-
sive preparations there.3

On April 3 Maj. Gen. Israel Putnam of Connecticut assumed command of
New York’s defenses. Putnam quickly dispatched three companies of Maryland
and Virginia riflemen to Staten Island, where they were to receive their orders
from Stirling. To prevent British naval commanders from resupplying their ves-
sels with fresh drinking water, Stirling posted riflemen near the Watering Place,
an area containing several natural springs on the island’s northeastern coast.
Others were positioned on the heights overlooking the Narrows. Fresh rein-
forcements arrived throughout April. Some of these Whig soldiers worked on
the island’s fortifications; others had orders to arrest and disarm suspected
Loyalists; and others patrolled the coast to prevent Staten Islanders from con-
tacting British ships.?” Whig troops arrested Darby Doyle, a ferry operator who
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lived near the Watering Place, and charged him with “selling provisions to, and
holding correspondence with the enemy.” On another occasion, Susannah
McDonald, whose husband Alexander was a captain in the Loyalist Royal
Highland Emigrants in Halifax, suffered “a vast many insults & abuses” from
Whig troops who often searched her home for weapons, letters from her hus-
band, and military intelligence.

These actions of the Whig troops made Staten Islanders even angrier.
Residents were frustrated, too, by the failure of Patriot authorities to compen-
sate them fairly and promptly for the army’s use of their homes, produce, live-
stock, woodlands, and labor. In addition, several residents complained that their
fields and gardens had been “over-run and eaten up by the Rebels” without regard
for their property rights. On April 6 Christian Jacobson, a prominent Moravian
and chairman of the county Committee of Safety, warned New York Whigs that
if they expected to obtain Staten Islanders’ cooperation, they must start to respect
residents’ lives and property.3°

On April 13 Washington arrived in New York and assumed command of
its defenses. He ordered three of his subordinate officers to establish signal sta-
tions on the “Heights and Head Lands at the entrance of the Harbour.” The sta-
tions were to use a system of flags and fires to warn of the approach of the British
fleet. One of these signal stations was located on the heights of Staten Island
overlooking the Narrows.** Washington also suggested that the New York
Provincial Congress make arrangements for “the Removal of the Stock of Cattle
and Horses” from Staten Island to prevent the island’s livestock from falling
into British hands. Congress ordered the county Committee of Safety to send to
New Jersey all the livestock, except those animals that the residents deemed
“indispensably necessary.” Because of the committee’s history of lukewarm sup-
port for the Patriot cause, Washington directed Capt. Ephraim Manning of the
Third Connecticut Regiment, which was already posted on the island, to “drive
the Stock off, without waiting for the assistance or direction of the Committee
there [Staten Island].” Residents, however, refused to cooperate. Gov. Jonathan
Trumbull of Connecticut later remarked: “Staten Island are mostly Tory’s—they
are ordered to send off their stock, but they found means to delay & delay, so
that, we had but Just got off the fat Cattle, when the Enemy, as they wished,
came on & prevented our taking off the Lean.”*' Thus, uncooperative Staten
Island residents foiled Washington’s plan to remove the island’s livestock before
the British arrived in the port.

The British Arrival

General Howe reached New York harbor on June 25, 1776, aboard the
frigate Greyhound, four days before the main British fleet from Halifax arrived
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off Sandy Hook, New Jersey. During onboard meetings with Gov. William Tryon
of New York and some local Loyalists, including several Staten Islanders, Howe
was briefed on the military situation of the New York area. Although Howe had
originally planned that his forces should land at Gravesend Bay, Long Island,
Gen. James Robertson, one of his staff officers, persuaded him to go instead to
Staten Island. Its location at the entrance to the harbor; abundance of produce,
livestock, and natural springs; vulnerability to British naval power; and its
largely Loyalist populace made the island a better encampment.*?

At eight o’clock in the morning of July 2, Gen. Howe ordered three war-
ships and the first division of transports to proceed to the Watering Place on
Staten Island. As the ships sailed through the Narrows, they met with limited
resistance from Whig troops stationed on the western edge of Long Island. The
Patriots could also have inflicted heavy damage on the British ships with heavy
artillery from the heights of Staten Island, but there were “no cannon upon these
posts.” The Whigs’ main priority for defending New York had been to fortify
Brooklyn Heights, which overlooked the East River and the city. They there-
fore concentrated most of their limited forces and heavy artillery at that loca-
tion. When the British forces appeared, the undisciplined few Whig troops
stationed on Staten Island quickly retreated.*? British soldiers landed on the
island without opposition.

The landing of nine thousand British troops on Staten Island was fully
accomplished by July 4, 1776. Islanders welcomed them with supplies and assis-
tance. One British officer reported that many of the island’s residents “shew the
Greatest Satisfaction on our Arrival, which has relived them from the most
horred Opresion that can be conceaved.”** Two days later, the members of the
Staten Island colonial militia assembled at Richmondtown and offered their
services to General Howe; also more than five hundred Staten Islanders, nearly
all of the island’s adult male population, took an oath of allegiance administered
to them by Governor Tryon. On July 9 Tryon enlisted volunteers for a local
provincial corps and a company of light horse for defense of the island.
Christopher Billopp was commissioned a lieutenant colonel and given command
of this corps, which was called Billopp’s Corps of Staten Island Militia (or
Billopp’s Brigade). Isaac Decker was appointed captain and commander of the
company of light horse.*?

Some Staten Island Patriots meanwhile fled to New Jersey. Members of the
Mersereau family went to Newark, where they eventually established a spy net-
work that reported to Washington on British troop movements and concentra-
tions in eastern New Jersey. However, those Whigs who failed to flee the British
occupation hid their political sentiments or faced public harassment, the con-
fiscation of their homes and property, and in some cases imprisonment. General
Howe commandeered the home of Adrian Bancker for use as his headquarters.
Dr. John T. Harrison later remembered one Staten Island Whig, who had cho-
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sen to remain on the island. “The British turned him out of his property,” Harrison
recalled, “and he may be said to have suffered everything but death.” British
troops also arrested and detained Barent Dupuy Sr., in a guardhouse. His son,
Barent Jr., would often “go to visit him . . . and carry him snuff, . . . which the
sentries and officers would not allow,” remembered another Staten Islander.*®

On July 12 Adm. Richard Lord Howe, General Howe’s brother, arrived.
On August 1 generals Henry Clinton and Charles Lord Cornwallis, with three
thousand soldiers from the ill-fated attempt to capture Charleston, South
Carolina, reached Staten Island. On August 12 a fleet from Europe brought sup-
plies and ten thousand British and Hessian soldiers. In addition, several fugitive
slaves from Whig-owned farms in eastern New Jersey sought to take advantage
of a proclamation that Virginia’s exiled royal governor, Lord Dunmore, had
issued in November 1775, promising freedom to any slave who ran away from
his Whig master and joined the British army. These fugitives served the British
military in an auxiliary capacity as guides, wagon drivers, orderlies, harbor
pilots, laborers, and spies or joined Black Loyalist regiments that were organ-
ized on the island. By the middle of August, the British had amassed about
twenty-five thousand men and nearly four hundred and fifty ships off Staten
Island, the largest expeditionary force ever assembled until the allied invasion
of Normandy on D-Day in 1944.47

During this military buildup, Admiral Howe, who favored reconciliation
instead of military force, issued a proclamation announcing that he and his
brother would serve as peace commissioners with power to grant pardons and
to declare at peace any region, where royal authority had been restored. But
Admiral Howe’s attempts to open peace negotiations with the Americans failed.
The Howes consequently made New York City their target. However, fearing
that capturing the city without first removing enemy troops and artillery from
Brooklyn Heights could lead to a repeat of the debacle in Boston, General Howe
chose to begin military operations against the city by securing western Long
Island. Although the theater of military operations thus shifted from Staten
Island, the British still considered it strategically valuable. It continued to serve
as a long-term staging area for British military operations and on it was a hos-
pital for its sick and wounded. General Howe ordered a detachment of regulars
toremain on the island to assist Billopp’s Brigade to defend against Whig attacks
from eastern New Jersey.*8

The British Occupation and Partisan Warfare
Throughout the war, the British stationed a small number of regulars and

some Hessian units on Staten Island. The island was also the headquarters of
several prominent Loyalist regiments, including Cortlandt Skinner’s New Jersey
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Volunteers and John Graves Simcoe’s Queen’s Rangers. Loyalists from Whig-
occupied areas in eastern New Jersey fled to the safety of British protection on
Staten Island, where many joined a provincial regiment or purchased land and
became permanent residents.

Loyalist and Hessian units stationed on Staten Island repeatedly made for-
ays into eastern New Jersey. They terrorized Whig partisans and carried off live-
stock, weapons, ammunition, produce, valuables, and prisoners. In turn, New
Jersey Whigs formed vigilante groups that often slipped passed British guards
and gunboats patrolling the island’s coast at night and made retaliatory strikes
against residents and their farms, causing widespread destruction. Thomas
Macdonogh, a Loyalist, complained that the estate of his widowed mother-in-
law Rachel Dawson, “lay contiguous to the posts of the Army,” and was “sub-
ject to Incursions from Jersey, and though capable of yielding great Advantages
yet little or no Benefit was derived from it during the Calamities of the War, as
nothing could be preserved from plunder.” Another Loyalist, Job Smith, noted
thatin 1780 his two boats were burned, and his house was “seized by the rebels.”
During one such raid, some New Jersey Whigs disguised their faces with black
soot, entered the home of Peter Houseman, an island farmer, and demanded his
valuables. When he refused, he was struck on the head with a heavy object and
left to die.*

Regular Whig forces also made incursions onto Staten Island from eastern
New Jersey on three separate occasions. The first came on October 15, 1776,
when a detachment of troops under Brig. Gen. Hugh Mercer penetrated as far
east as Richmondtown; the second occurred on August 22, 1777, and was led
by Brig. Gen. John Sullivan; and the third took place on January 15, 1780, when
Lord Stirling led three thousand men across the frozen Kill van Kull.’ According
to the English traveler Nicholas Cresswell, these Whigs incursions—whether
by vigilantes or regular troops—made residents “‘very uneasy.”!

Staten Islanders also had to endure depredations to their property by the
British, Hessian, and Loyalist troops living among them. Residents complained
frequently about the theft of property and the destruction of homes, fences, barns,
woodlots, gardens, and fields. One resident recalled that British troops
“destroyed all the fences, and when they [British] returned from Jersey they
destroyed them again.” The British military’s enormous need for fuel led to the
deforestation of “Hundreds and Hundreds of acres” on the island. Loyalist New
Jersey Volunteers under the command of Abraham Van Buskirk and Joseph
Barton frequently stole livestock and plundered fields and gardens.>?

Islanders also suffered from acts of brutal violence at the hands of British
regulars, Hessians, and Loyalists. By the late summer of 1776, British troops
were frequently accused of sexually assaulting female Staten Islanders.>? Lt.
Col. Francis Lord Rawdon, a British officer, laughed at residents’ complaints of
sexual assault: “The fair nymphs of this isle [Staten Island] are in wonderful



Richmond County 95

tribulation, as the fresh meat our men have got here has made them as riotous
as satyrs. A girl cannot step into the bushes to pluck a rose without running the
most imminent risk of being ravished, and they are so little accustomed to these
vigorous methods that they don’t bear them with the proper resignation, and of
consequence we have most entertaining courts-martial every day.”>* In addi-
tion, members of the occupation forces also committed acts of murder. Soldiers
from the provincial Queen’s Rangers mortally wounded Christian Jacobson, a
former chairman of the county Committee of Safety, when they broke into his
home looking for valuables. The soldiers were eventually caught, found guilty
by a court martial, and hanged.>

Staten Islanders had profited as early as 1775 from the sale of supplies to
the British military. But wartime regulations designed to control the price of
goods the Quartermaster Department purchased cut into these profits. Residents
also disliked regulations on the type, price, and amount of produce they could
sell to the British army. They resented, too, the fact that British authorities
restricted the markets in which farmers could sell their goods. Moreover, require-
ments that islanders provide the troops with hay, grains, and cordwood added
to their dissatisfaction.

Throughout the war, residents lived under martial law. Except for occa-
sional meetings of the town supervisors, the island’s colonial civil government
ceased to function. The British also shut down county courts, leaving residents
with no legal recourse in civil or military disputes. In February 1778, with the
impending threat of a French entry into the war, the British ministry sent a peace
commission to America headed by the Earl of Carlisle. After the commission
failed to end the war, it recommended to Lord George Germain, the British colo-
nial secretary, that civil government should be restored in British-occupied areas
of America. This proposal would have been an important first step in a new paci-
fication policy.”’

In March 1780 Germain appointed Gen. James Robertson as the new gov-
ernor of New York. In February 1781 Robertson moved to revive civil govern-
ment on Staten Island, when he created a Police Court and appointed Lt. Col.
Christopher Billopp to the office of Superintendent of Police. Billopp was given
authority to “hear and determine Controversies, maintain Peace and good Order,
and regulate the Police . . . until Civil Government in all Forms can take Place.”
Billopp enforced military regulations issued by the British commandant at New
York, dealt with civilian complaints against the military, and heard cases involv-
ing civilians. In essence, the duties of the Police Court and the Superintendent
of Police were similar to those of military police.>

On October 19, 1781, British Gen. Charles Lord Cornwallis surrendered
to Washington at Yorktown, Virginia. Although this battle virtually ended the
Revolution, the war continued for Staten Islanders. With the British still in con-
trol of the island, partisan warfare and depredations continued. During that time,
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the future of island Loyalists remained uncertain, and questions about the struc-
ture of local society in an independent America had yet to be answered.

Staten Island at War’s End

The British defeat at Yorktown forced Loyalists to make a difficult deci-
sion: accept the Whig victory and the new republican state governments or go
intoexile. By August 1782, after Britain agreed to American independence, some
Staten Island Loyalists sought new homes elsewhere in the British Empire rather
than live under a government led by their enemies.

Those Loyalists, whom New York’s republican government deemed dan-
gerous, were banished from the state. In October 1779 New York had enacted
the Act of Attainder (or Confiscation Act), which attainted and banished fifty-
nine influential Loyalists of the state, including two prominent Staten Islanders:
Christopher Billopp and Benjamin Seaman. The law aimed to undermine
Loyalist power in New York and to raise much-needed funds for the war effort
by the sale of confiscated Loyalist property. Given Staten Island’s reputation for
Loyalism, it is remarkable that only two residents were singled out for punish-
ment. Because of the British occupation, the state could not immediately enforce
the law against the two men. Once the British army evacuated the island in
December 1783, the state officially laid claim to the Billopp and Seaman prop-
erties. But speculators who purchased the property at state auction found them-
selves entangled in legal disputes with the local residents, who had earlier bought
sections of the estates from the two. The disputed claims over the confiscated
Loyalist estates took several years to settle.>

In early December 1783, the last of the British forces evacuated Staten
Island, which had been occupied longer than any other community in America.
Most of the residents, whether Whig or Loyalist, who had remained on the island
after the Revolution put aside their wartime differences and rebuilt the com-
munity. The Revolution did not have a drastic impact on Staten Island’s socio-
economic structure. Residents remained predominantly middle-class agrarians.
Except for the confiscation and sale of the Billopp and Seaman lands, there was
no major redistribution of property. The island’s population experienced an
increase from about 2,847 residents at the beginning of the war to 3,835 in 1790.
Of that number, 127 were free African Americans, and 759 were slaves.®°

By 1784 civil government was fully restored in those areas of New York
formerly under British occupation. On Staten Island, the county courts reopened,
elections were held for local and state offices, and the town supervisors met reg-
ularly. Men from Whig families such as the Banckers and Mersereaus replaced
the pre-Revolutionary leadership of Christopher Billopp, Benjamin Seaman,
and their allies. Moreover, the religious affiliation of the island’s post-
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Revolutionary leadership shifted from Anglican to Presbyterian and Dutch
Reformed. The residents of Staten Island, once maligned for their Loyalism, had
made the successful transition to their nation.
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Westchester County

Jacob Judd

A publication prepared as part of New York’s celebration of the one hun-
dred and fiftieth anniversary of the American Revolution sought to summarize
the results of that conflict. “When all the factors are taken into account the
American Revolution was on the whole not an extremely radical movement.
Except for the sundering of political ties with the British Empire, old usages
were not torn up by the roots.”! The veracity of this statement may be challenged
by examining how the Revolution changed Westchester County. A civil war
raged there from 1776 until 1783, a major transferal of property rights from the
aristocracy to the average farmer took place following the conflict, and thou-
sands of Loyalists were compelled to leave their homes.

During the war, much of Westchester was part of the so-called “Neutral
Ground,” an area located between the two armies, which neither side was able
to control. Patriot and Loyalist clashes, along with major military engagements,
occurred in the county from 1776 until the conclusion of hostilities in 1783. Here
George Washington played a major role in the fighting during 1776 to 1777 and,
in the later years of the conflict, Comte de Rochambeau and a French force were
significant. The Revolutionary drama also included the capture of Maj. John
André and the uncovering of Benedict Arnold’s treacherous machinations.

The War for Independence brought profound political and economic
changes to the county. The State of New York confiscated great manorial estates
as well as smaller farms owned or controlled by Loyalists. Many properties were
subsequently redistributed in smaller holdings to former Patriot tenants and to
other approved purchasers. The Revolution also hastened the transferal of a sub-
stantial portion of the governmental powers formerly held by the landlords into
the hands of local governmental units.
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Colonial Westchester was larger than it is today, for it included what is now
the Borough of the Bronx in New York City. It stretched from Dutchess County
(whose southernmost portion is now Putnam County) in the north to the Bronx
Kill in the south. To the east was Connecticut; to the west, the Hudson River;
and to the southeast, the Long Island Sound.? Not only did Westchester border
the Hudson River and Long Island Sound, it also contained a number of impor-
tantrivers, such as the Croton, Pocantico, Saw Mill, Bronx, Hutchinson, Harlem,
and East Rivers. These waterways provided easy access into the interior: water-
power to service saw, grist, and flour mills; and travel routes during those times
when roads were impassable. The Hudson River opened the opportunity for trad-
ing with settlements on its west bank, with northern sections of New York as far
as Albany, and with New Jersey. The Long Island Sound provided a pathway
for trade with Connecticut and Long Island.

The wheat, rye, barley, Indian corn, and flax grown in the county soon found
their way to New York City and beyond to the English sphere of trade.
Westchester’s agricultural and animal productions helped supply a major portion
of the food needed by New York City’s population. Forest products and trapped
furs found ready markets. In addition to animal husbandry and agriculture, asso-
ciated industries developed with grist, saw, and fulling mills; the development of
water transport in the form of sails, skiffs, and local ferries; and the raising and
driving of cattle. In sum, its geographical advantages, its proximity to New York
City, its extensive frontage on the Hudson River and the Long Island Sound, and
its rich agricultural base, all combined to make Westchester one of the most prized
regions during the long period of warfare from 1776 until 1783.

Westchester was one of the few colonial counties where “manorial lords”
held extensive land holdings. During the last half of the seventeenth century,
prominent members of the Philipse, Pell, Van Cortlandt, DeLancey, and Morris
families had acquired royal land grants, each for as much as 75,000 to 90,000
acres in Westchester and adjacent counties. By the Revolution a mixture of ten-
ant farmers, freeholders (small-scale landowners), indentured servants, and
slaves worked these lands. The population came from Dutch, English, Germanic,
Huguenot, Jewish, Native American, Scandinavian, and African backgrounds.
They worshiped in the Dutch Reformed, Huguenot, Anglican, Quaker,
Presbyterian, and Congregational churches. While some groups, like the
Huguenots and the Dutch, created distinctive communities, others melded into
diverse entities.? Their eventual allegiances during the Revolution appear not to
have been determined by religious or ethnic affiliations.

It is difficult to determine the exact population of the county in the 1760s,
but sheriffs’ returns for 1756 placed the European-American population at
11,919 with Native Americans and African-American slaves at 1,338. A later
census of 1771 reported 18,315 European Americans and 3,430 slaves. The num-
bers of slaves owned by an individual master varied, but slave-owning families
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typically owned one or two slaves. Surprisingly, the little Huguenot community
of New Rochelle, with a European-American population of some 290 in 1771,
contained 156 slaves.* Westchester County slaves served in varied capacities:
general field hands, house servants, mill-hands, and seafarers who operated or
manned riverboats.

The region thatbecame Westchester had been home to numerous Algonkian
Indian groups. However, by the start of the eighteenth century most of these
people had “vanished from Westchester as noiselessly as the morning mists dis-
appear before the advancing day.”> By the 1760s only scattered remnants
remained in the area. Consequently, Westchester Indians played no role in the
Revolution.

The county contained several settled localities: the Borough of West Chester
(in the present Borough of the Bronx); and the towns and villages of East Chester,
White Plains, Mamaroneck, Yonkers, New Rochelle, Rye, Bedford (near the bor-
der with Connecticut), and North Castle (about five miles southwest of Bedford).
These communities lay outside the jurisdictions of the manors of Morrisania,
Pelham, Fordham, Philipsburgh, and Van Cortlandt.® Other small settlements
developed along the Long Island Sound and on the east bank of the Hudson River.
They served as trading centers by providing farmers with everyday necessities
and by acting as transportation transfer points for agricultural products.

Throughout the county were large and small farmsteads, located on manor
lands, or held under individual ownership. The fortunate few who were able to
buy property often had to borrow sums from the manor lords, who acted as the
local bankers. Manorial landlords frequently rented out a farmstead of from fifty
to three hundred acres for a period of one to three lives at a stipulated annual
rent. Nonetheless, at the owner’s discretion such tenants could be forced to
vacate their farms.” The relationship between landlord and tenant occasionally
led to disputes and outright conflict. Such controversies occurred on the
Livingston estates in present Columbia County in the 1750s, and in the 1760s
they spread to Philipse’s Highland Patent and to the Roger Morris and Beverly
Robinson estates in Dutchess County. Landlords had to contend with lease-
holders who paid an annual rental; with squatters; and with those who paid a
rental fee for land, even though they had not entered into a formal arrangement.
Furthermore, at the northeastern corner of the county there were lands that were
in dispute between New England real estate speculators and some large
Westchester landowners.

When a Van Cortlandt attempted to eject a tenant from a farm in that cor-
ner of the county, a court suit followed in 1763 and a direct tenant-landlord clash
in 1766.8 Pierre Van Cortlandt, then living at the family manor house in Croton,
complained that, “the Last Mob or Ryot here in the manor” began when a Van
Cortlandt cousin sought to eject one tenant in order to replace him with another
family. Pierre believed that these tenants “only want oppertunity Either to be
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screan’d from paying any Rents at all (or Such as they say shall be Reasonable)
or from paying their Just Debts.” In short, “rather than a contest between ‘lords’
and ‘peasants,’ the New York disturbances grew out of a competition between
landholders and would-be landholders for material advantage.”® During the
Revolution, Van Cortlandt Manor lands straddled two areas, one controlled by
Patriot forces and the other in the “Neutral Ground.” As a result, even though
the Van Cortlandt family became Whigs, the populace divided in their political
allegiances during the years of conflict.

In general, Westchester farmers found the years from 1754 to 1763 to be prof-
itable, for the Seven Years’ War had increased demand for agricultural products.
But the conflict was followed by an agricultural recession, whose repercussions
were felt throughout the county. In 1764 the Rev. John Milner of West Chester
noted that his parish was suffering economically from the “circumstances w[hic]h
the late War & the present discouragements upon our trade” have produced.!? His
remarks referred to the decline in agricultural prices after 1763, for the Sugar Act
(April 1764) had not yet taken effect. Indeed, the typical Westchester farmer did
not protest against that act, for it had little economic impact on his life. However,
there may have been dismay among those who had an active business in forest
and lumber products that were traded with the West Indies.

The Stamp Act (1765) was a different matter. Almost all Americans would
have to use stamps at some point in their normal activities. Explosive reactions
spread throughout British North America. New York City was in the vanguard
of the political and mercantile reactions. Many Westchester farmers, still suf-
fering from the postwar recession, were soon convinced that their economic
problems were attributable to the Sugar and Stamp Acts. As the months passed,
more and more Westchester farmers were also pinched by the trade embargoes
that many colonial cities had adopted in response to the Stamp Act. Such actions
certainly did not relieve the economic plight of the local farmers. However, their
reaction was not as demonstrative as in New York City or Albany.

The role tenant farmers played in politics was limited by suffrage require-
ments and local custom. Freemen and leaseholders could vote for such local
officials as the constable, fence viewer, and assessor. In most instances, only
freeholders could cast ballots in Assembly elections. This matter came to a head
in the hotly contested election of 1768 in the Borough of West Chester.!! The
Stamp Act had been repealed in 1766, only to be replaced by the Townshend
Actsin 1767. New Yorkers were sharply debating how to respond to Parliament’s
latest efforts at taxation and more stringent controls over the colonial economy,
for the imperial crises of the 1760s had already begun to increase political fac-
tionalism within and without the legislature. As a consequence, in the 1768
Assembly elections, the DeLancey and Livingston factions contended vigor-
ously for seats and power. In Westchester John DeLancey defeated Lewis Morris
(a Livingstonite, a politician who belonged to the Livingston faction) for an
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Assembly seat by only three votes. Following a bitter dispute as to whether
freemen had the right to vote in Westchester, it was determined that they did not,
and DeLancey was thus declared the victor. The election underscored just how
deeply the Westchester electorate was divided in 1768.

Van Cortlandt Manor’s head, Pierre Van Cortlandt, was a Livingstonite,
who sought the manor’s Assembly seat, which Pierre’s cousin Philip Verplanck
had held since 1733. The seventy-year-old Philip wanted his son, James, to suc-
ceed him, but Pierre was determined to acquire the seat for himself. In the ensu-
ing 1768 election, Pierre won overwhelmingly. From that year until he stepped
down as lieutenant governor in 1795, Pierre Van Cortlandt was a leading
spokesperson for Westchester in New York politics.!?

In addition to their role in Westchester, the leading landlords were often
involved in New York City politics, and it was in that way that they became
interested in provincial issues. Throughout the 1700s, the Philipse, Van
Cortlandt, Morris, and DeLancey families had relatives serving in the New York
Assembly and on the Governor’s Council. They were most deeply involved in
provincial politics and thus already aware in the early 1760s of the changing
political climate. However, as political debate over Britain’s imperial policies
heated up, more people became involved, and the major county families began
to split over resistance and independence. Thus, the two leading landholding
families, the Van Cortlandts and the Philipses, ultimately became foes. In the
mid-1760s, however, it would have been difficult to foresee such a development.
Moreover, it is unclear exactly when the breach occurred among Westchester’s
aristocratic families. Legislators from the DeLancey, Philipse, Morris, and Van
Cortlandt families sometimes divided on major issues early in the decade.
However, because the leading families so often intermarried, it is difficult to link
specific families with particular factions. For example, Pierre Van Cortlandt was
related not only to the Livingston and Morris families, but also to the DeLancey
and Philipse families. When Pierre entered the Assembly in 1768, he was con-
sidered to be a member of the Livingston faction, but he sometimes supported
the DeLanceys on procedural matters. Nonetheless, from the mid-1760s as polit-
ical opinion sharpened, Morris and Van Cortlandt Assemblymen usually
opposed the positions advocated by the DeLancey-Philipse faction.

The people of the county and province divided over religious as well as
political issues. Yonkers, Rye, and the Borough of West Chester were centers of
Anglicanism. The Huguenots of New Rochelle, although they preferred
Huguenot ministers ordained by the French Reformed Church, accepted
Anglican ones when a Huguenot was not available. Tarrytown clung to the Dutch
Reformed Church. Added to this religious mélange were itinerant ministers who
carried their own brand of religion throughout the countryside. In such an envi-
ronment a minister struggled to earn a living. The only ministers to obtain out-
side financial assistance were Anglican missionaries for the Society for the
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Propagation of the Gospel in Foreign Parts (S.P.G.). But payments were slow
in reaching the county, and Anglican ministers were frequently forced to appeal
for payment of the funds they claimed were due them for their priestly activi-
ties.!3 Of all the denominational clergy, only the Anglican ministers consistently
supported the King and Parliament and sought to keep their parishioners faith-
ful to the Crown. They did so out of conviction, and also because a substantial
portion of their income came from England. The Rev. Ephraim Avery of Rye
reported that he “took a great deal of Satisfaction” in keeping his congregation
from rising up against the Stamp Act.'* Apparently, there had been some local
agitation following the passage of that act.

The Townshend Acts caused little agitation in the county, but the situation
changed dramatically following passage of the Tea Act (1773) and the Coercive
Acts (1774). One prominent Anglican in Westchester who consistently sup-
ported royal control was the Rev. Samuel Seabury (1729-1796). A graduate of
Yale College, he studied medicine at the University of Edinburgh, and was
ordained by the Bishop of London in 1753. He was assigned as an S.P.G. mis-
sionary to the Westchester parish at New Rochelle in 1767. Previously, Seabury
had become embroiled in a controversy over whether an Anglican bishopric
should be established in the colonies. He wrote a series of essays in response to
those who opposed the idea and sought not only to support Anglicanism’s priv-
ileged position, but to bolster royal and parliamentary authority over the
American colonies. He supported the Stamp Act and opposed any demonstra-
tive action that aimed to thwart that measure. As early as 1770, amid the con-
troversies over the Townshend Acts and New York City’s Liberty Pole riot,
Seabury informed the S.P.G. that, “the violent Party Heats which prevail in this
Colony as well as in the Others, engross at present the attention of the People.
But I think that even these Disturbances, will be attended with some Advantage
to the Interest of the Church. The Usefulness & Truth of her Doctrines with
Regard to civil Government, appear more evident from these Disorders, which
other Principles have led the People into. This is particularly remarked & pub-
lickly mention’d with the late clamours for Liberty &c.”!3

When a call was issued in the summer of 1774 for a Continental Congress
todevelop ajointresponse to Parliament’s latest actions, members of New York’s
Assembly had to decide whether to support creation of such a body and whether
to choose representatives to it. It was in that context that Gov. William Tryon
visited Pierre Van Cortlandt at Van Cortlandt Manor. Pierre’s son, Philip, who
would serve as a military officer during the Revolution and in the national gov-
ernment afterwards, recalled that “my Father was a member of the Legislature
and one of the number opposed to the odious Incroachments of the Crown and
when every art and address was made use of to seduce members to join their
party.” As Tryon and his father strolled in the garden, “the Governor commenced
with observing what great favours could be obtained if my father would relin-
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quish his opposition to the views of the King and Parliament of Great Brittain
what grants of Land could and would be the consequence in addition to other
favours of Emmense consequence.” Pierre did not have to mull over this polit-
ical bribery and, according to his son, bragged “that he was chosen a represen-
tative by unanimous approbation of a people who placed a confidence in his
integrity to use all his ability for their benefit and the good of his country as a
true patriot which line of conduct he was determined to pursue.”!®

Patriot fervor heightened in Westchester, when the New York City
Committee of Correspondence urged the county to choose delegates to the First
Continental Congress to be held in Philadelphia. Taking the lead, a group call-
ing itself the “Freeholders and Inhabitants of Rye” urged the other towns to send
representatives to White Plains on August 22, 1774, to select such delegates.
The Borough of West Chester, where the Morris family held sway, not only sent
representatives to White Plains, but adopted a series of resolutions, which
included the assertion, “that all Acts of the British Parliament, imposing taxes
on the Colonies, without their Consent, or by their Representative, are arbitrary
and oppressive, and should meet the detestation of all good men.”!”

The August 22 meeting over which Frederick Philipse presided, chose to
be represented by the delegates New York City had already elected: John Alsop,
James Duane, John Jay, Philip Livingston, and Isaac Low. On September 24,
“83 Inhabitants and Freeholders” of Rye declared that they were “much con-
cerned with the unhappy Situation of public Affairs, think it our duty to our King
and Country, to Declare that we have not been concerned in any Resolutions
into or Measures taken with regard to the Disputes at present subsisting with the
Mother Country.” They went on to assert their continued loyalty and their desire
“to live and die peaceable Subjects to our Gracious Sovereign, King George the
Third, and his Laws.”!8 Shortly thereafter, fourteen Rye residents objected to
the above statement. It was clear that people there differed sharply over the need
for a Continental Congress.

The actions of the Continental Congress, especially the Continental
Association, inspired Reverend Seabury to begin writing his “Westchester
Farmer” articles, which questioned the idea of independence. Seabury concen-
trated on the dire effects nonimportation would have on Great Britain and on
agricultural pursuits in Westchester. He predicted that “clamours, discord, con-
fusion, mobs, riots, insurrections, rebellions” would occur in Britain, Ireland,
and the West Indies. Such upheavals would result from their not obtaining the
flaxseed from New York. He reminded the farmers that “the sale of your seed
not only pays your taxes, but furnishes you with many of the little conveniences,
and comforts of life; the loss of it for one year would be of more damage to you,
than paying the three-penny duty on tea for twenty.”! In stressing how actions
taken in Philadelphia would directly hurt them, Seabury sought to explain the
emerging issues in ways they could readily understand.
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The election of delegates to the Second Continental Congress also caused
discord in Westchester. By March 1775 it was apparent from the arguments over
Seabury’s essays and from developments taking place in some townships that a
sharp dichotomy of opinion had developed in the county. When Westchester was
asked to choose representatives to the Second Continental Congress, twelve men
from East Chester, West Chester, New Rochelle, and Mamaroneck determined
that April 11 would be the day for “Taking the sense of the Freeholders. . . .”
Those responding to this call came chiefly from the southern and eastern por-
tions of the county. On the appointed day, about five hundred men appeared at
White Plains, both supporting and opposing the Second Continental Congress.
The two factions met first at different taverns in town. In the subsequent gen-
eral meeting, the Loyalists took no part in the discussions or in the voting. After
Lewis Morris had been chosen as Westchester’s representative, Isaac Wilkins,
speaking for the opposition, declared his “abhorrence of all unlawful congresses
and committees” and his desire for a continued allegiance to King and
Parliament. The Wilkins group then returned to their initial meeting place, where
a statement was drawn up and signed by over three hundred participants, includ-
ing Frederick Philipse. Lewis Morris rejected the protest by stating that “in this
formidable catalogue of 312 sober and loyal” signers, there were 170 who were
not voters and others who were too young to vote.??

A number of messages soon appeared in Rivington’s Gazette urging “the
Inhabitants of Cortlandt’s Manor” not to participate in any activities leading to
another Continental Congress. One such “Address” stated that, “We never con-
sented to congresses nor committees, we detest the destruction of private prop-
erty, we abhor the proceedings of riotous and disorderly people, and finally, we
wish to live and die the same loyal subjects we have ever been, to his most sacred
Majesty GEORGE the THIRD.” A subsequent message sought to “Form An
Association in Cortlandt’s Manor” of loyal subjects. It declared, “If we have a
right to complain of the British acts of parliament, we have a Governor, Council
and Assembly, to represent our grievances to the King, Lords and Commons;
we are assured that we shall be heard: We have no business with Congresses and
Committees. Such methods only serve to irritate our best friends.”?!

Such statements were met by the following Patriot response: “Let me con-
jure you, to rise from your lethargy, assume the dignity of freemen; smite the
serpents that have spread their poisons round you; burn your associations; and
with dauntless intrepity, join the sons of freedom, who are the only temporal
guardians of the human race.”’??> Henceforth, the allegiance of the inhabitants of
Van Cortlandt Manor was divided in the conflict. One may conjecture why some
individuals became Loyalists and others, Patriots. The safest, mostlogical choice
called for allegiance to King George. Apparently only the foolhardy supported
the Whig cause. What psychological, emotional, and perhaps economic moti-
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vations drove individuals to make fateful, individual decisions may never be
satisfactorily resolved.

Meanwhile, developments taking place in Philadelphia and New York City
had a direct bearing upon local activities. In May Lewis Morris of Westchester
joined the other New York delegates—George Clinton, Francis Lewis, Robert
R. Livingston, and Philip Schuyler—in the Second Continental Congress. This
newly appointed New York delegation signified a dramatic shift in political sen-
timent toward independence. The Continental Congress consequently lost no
time in arranging for enlistments in local militia units, in forming a continental
army, in choosing George Washington as commander of those forces, in organ-
izing a postal service, in boldly planning for an invasion of Canada, and in issu-
ing paper currency. The earmarks of independence were thus present.

In New York the colonial government began to fall apart, and a new revolu-
tionary regime started to emerge. The regular Assembly, which had been grow-
ing increasingly more pro-British, ceased meeting in January 1775. Meanwhile,
ad hoc committees of revolutionaries soon transformed themselves into a series
of four Provincial Congresses that began meeting in April 1775. Pierre Van
Cortlandt sat for Westchester in all four and was chosen to preside over the last
three. In recognition of his firm support for the Patriot cause, a number of Manor
residents placed a notice in The New York Gazette and Weekly Mercury in April
1775, specifically thanking Pierre and John Thomas for “their firm attachment to,
and zeal on a late occasion for the preservation of the Union of the colonies, and
rights and liberties of America.”?* Pierre was also a colonel in Westchester’s Patriot
militia. The Fourth Congress, then sitting at White Plains, ratified the Declaration
of Independence on July 9, 1776. Because these provincial congresses had diffi-
culty maintaining a functioning quorum, they delegated authority to smaller work-
ing groups, designated as committees of safety. Pierre Van Cortlandt assumed the
chairmanship of the main Committee of Safety on January 3, 1776.

In its drive to render the fight a moral crusade against the evil Loyalists,
the Westchester Committee of Safety sought to change the behavior of county
inhabitants. It issued the following notice in August 1775: “Resolved, That all
persons who shall sell or buy any Tea in this County, and all boatmen and oth-
ers who shall purchase Tea at New-York or elsewhere . . . shall be considered
and treated as contemners of the Resolution of the Continental Congress and
this Committee, and as inimical to the liberties of this Country. Resolved, That
it be recommended, and it is hereby recommended to the inhabitants of this
County immediately to desist from Horse-racing and of all kinds of gaming.”?*
The effort to inject moral reform into the Whig platform was similar to what
Samuel Adams and other militants were doing elsewhere.

Because of the martial actions occurring around Boston in 1775 and early
1776, Westchester rebels feared that the British military might descend on the
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Hudson Valley. Westchester was directly in the path between New England and
the New York harbor area. The county also lay along the route British warships
would have to use to sail up the Hudson River to Albany. Westchester, therefore,
was critical to the defense of the Hudson Valley and the emerging state of New
York. Before regular army units could be deployed, the burden of defense fell on
the local militia. Indeed, of the four counties—Westchester, Orange, Ulster, and
Dutchess—that provided the bulk of the militia, it was Westchester that bore “the
major responsibility for the defense of New York above the North River.”?

Early in 1776 New York’s Provincial Congress created regiments of vol-
unteers designated as Minute Men. At the same time, Congress also created on
paper, at least, regiments of militia. Usually, the officers chosen as leaders of
local Minute Men also served as officers in the militia. Although the Minute
Men were apparently paid the same rate as the Continental forces, it is unknown
what their particular duties were or in what actions they may have been engaged.
Volunteers enlisted for very brief periods and seemed to come and go at will.
The Westchester militia, however, formally became part of the American fight-
ing force when the Provincial Congress activated them on July 21, 1776.2
Primarily organized as a home guard, the militia would play only a limited role
in the ensuing conflict.

The War for American Independence came to New York City in June 1776
with the arrival of a flotilla of warships carrying British regulars and Hessian
soldiers. The Continental Congress had instructed Gen. George Washington to
defend the city with a maximum of effort. He consequently placed a major por-
tion of his troops across the East River on Brooklyn Heights and sought to throw
deterrents into the paths of warships seeking to traverse the Hudson River. He
also ordered construction of two fortifications, Fort Washington on the north-
ernreaches of Manhattan Island and Fort Lee on the opposite bank of the Hudson.
Westchester militia units were assigned to guard the eastern bank of the river.

Despite Washington’s best efforts, between late June and mid-September
1776, British forces occupied Long Island and the major portion of Manhattan
Island (but not Fort Washington, which was situated on the northwest corner of
the island). Washington and his staff worried about where Gen. William Howe,
the British commander-in-chief, would strike next. That attack came on October
12, when British forces sought to land on Throg’s (Frog’s, or Throgg’s) Neck
on the southeastern shore of the Long Island Sound in present-day Bronx.
Incorrectly assuming that the site was a peninsula leading to the mainland and
that it was behind American lines, the British plan called for a dash across south-
ern Westchester to the northern part of Manhattan to quickly contain the rebel
forces, which had not yet evacuated New York City. However, Throg’s Neck
was really an island, whose approaches to the mainland were guarded by
Continental units with some militia support. While the British army maneuvered
to bypass the entrenched American forces, Washington held a council of war on
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October 16, at which time it was determined to move American forces north to
a stronger position at White Plains, because * the enemy’s whole force is in our
rear at Frog’s Point.”?’ As the American forces evacuated Manhattan and the
lower portion of Westchester around Kings Bridge, General Howe discovered
a better landing site at Pell’s Point (now Pelham Park in the Bronx). If Howe,
upon landing there, had swiftly marched his men westward across Westchester,
he could still have surrounded and trapped the major portion of the American
army, which now lay between the city and his own army. He was stopped by
John Glover and a small force of Massachusetts men in an action that “saved
the American army from encirclement and complete destruction.” When British
troops, under the command of Lord Cornwallis, reinforced Howe, Glover’s posi-
tion became untenable, and he retreated. This battle of Pelham Bay was a “cru-
cial engagement fraught with strategic significance,” and served “as a stimulus
to the fighting spirit of the entire army. . . .”?8 It so delayed the British that
Washington’s army escaped to northern Westchester.

There, the Americans created a line of defense in the hills overlooking
White Plains. Israel Putnam was placed in command of a division on Purdy’s
Hill, William Heath on Hatfield Hill, and Washington at the center in White
Plains. Another fortified line was also established on Chatterton’s Hill, about a
half mile away to the right of the main force. Separating that hill from the main
force was the valley of the Bronx River. Defending the American position were
some 1,600 men, including 300 militiamen. The Americans did not have long
to wait for the anticipated attack. They watched as the British fighting force of
over 14,000 men was positioned in the valley below Chatterton’s Hill. An
American officer described the scene: “Its appearance was truly magnificent. A
bright autumnal sun shed its lustre on the polished arms; and the rich array of
dress and military equipage gave an imposing grandeur to the scene as they
advance in the pomp and circumstance of war.”? Despite the overwhelming
odds, the Americans held off wave after wave of attacks by British and Hessian
forces. Under strong leadership from John Haslet and the Delaware contingent,
the bulk of the American forces withdrew successfully. Washington’s army had
again escaped the British. According to Charles Stedman, a British officer, the
American army upon leaving White Plains, “retired across the Crotton River to
North Castle, setting fire, in their retreat, to all the houses on White Plains. Their
position was now so advantageous, that any attack on them must have proved
unsuccessful, for the river Crotton stretched along their front, and their rear was
defended by woods and heights.”3? In abandoning White Plains, an overzealous
officer, Major John W. Austin of Massachusetts, had issued an order for a num-
ber of homes to be burned. He was subsequently court martialed and discharged
from the army.

With a British army entrenched on Chatterton’s Hill, Washington quickly
moved his wounded and as much equipment as possible to a stronger position
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in the hills of North Castle.3! Instead of pursuing Washington into northern
Westchester, Howe invested Fort Washington, which remained relatively unpro-
tected at the northern tip of Manhattan Island. Although British forces sur-
rounded the garrison on November 16, the American high command unwisely
decided to defend it. The limited military usefulness of Fort Washington and
Fort Lee (its companion across the Hudson River) had already been demon-
strated on November 6, when British warships passed directly between the two
fortifications. Even the American-created obstruction on the Hudson, a chevaux
de frise, had failed to stop the British. Fort Washington fell quickly on November
16, and Fort Lee on November 20. Now the Hudson was open to the depreda-
tions of the British fleet, and the ground war shifted to New Jersey.

As royal government fell apart in the province, several local committees
of correspondence were created to ascertain the allegiance of local inhabitants.
The committees pressured Westchester residents to sign an oath of allegiance to
the Patriot cause and to the Continental Association. Refusers were regarded as
Tories and subject to house arrest, imprisonment, or banishment to Connecticut.
Their arms were confiscated for use by the militia and continental forces. Among
those arrested were Samuel Seabury and Frederick Philipse. In November 1776
Philipse sent a “Memorial” to the “Committee of Safety of the State of New
York,” objecting to his arrest and confinement in New Haven: “That your
Memorialist has thus been deprived of his liberty without any particular matter
being alledged against him, or ever having an opportunity of ever offering any-
thing in his own defence.” He asserted that he had not “taken any part in the
present unhappy Contest, which could in any ways be construed unfriendly to
the General Interest of America. . . .”3 Soon after, the state committee permit-
ted Philipse to return to his home at Yonkers on condition that he not provide
any intelligence to the enemy, take up arms against the United States, or “say or
do anything inimical to the American cause.” The Westchester Committee of
Safety took a dim view of his release and argued that his return home “would
put it in the power of a professed enemy of the American cause not only further
to disaffect the inhabitants of West-Chester County, but to put many of them in
arms against the United States of America.”? Shortly after returning to Yonkers,
but before he could harm the American cause, Frederick Philipse and his fam-
ily soughtrefuge within British lines in New York City. Although the Westchester
committee had apparently feared that Philipse could persuade his tenant farm-
ers to support the Crown, his tenants were divided: some being rebels; others,
Loyalists; and still others, neutral.

At the end of 1776, the British army, aided by Loyalist groups, controlled
Manhattan, Long Island, and lower Westchester, while American forces were
stationed in the region north of the Croton River around Peekskill in Dutchess
County. The area between the two armies became a no-man’s-land, called the
“Neutral Ground.” The military reality belied this designation; the region was
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not neutral. The area was really a battleground for both armed forces and for
marauding bands operating independently. Local farmers were subjected to peri-
odic forays by both sides. Valuables were buried or sent away, and cattle and
sheep had to be protected day and night. Farmers developed a clandestine cat-
tle trade with New York City, where such animals brought a high price in specie
or in British notes rather than in questionable rebel paper.

The “Neutral Ground” was also an inviting target for militarily led refugee
Loyalists and for other loosely organized bodies, dubbed “Cowboys,” if they
were Loyalist in sentiment, or “Skinners” if they supported the rebel cause.
Washington Irving succinctly characterized the two groups as “pretending to
redress wrongs and punish political offenses; but all prone in the exercise of
their high functions—to sack hen-roosts, drive off cattle, and lay farm houses
under contribution; such was the origin of two great orders of border chivalry.”
In the process, “neither of them in the heat and hurry of a foray had time to ascer-
tain the politics of a horse or cow; nor, when they wrung the neck of a rooster,
did they trouble their heads whether he crowed for Congress or for King
George.”3* The historian Catherine S. Crary has questioned why Westchester
farmers and earlier historians had characterized James DeLancey’s Raiders, one
of the most prominent Loyalist military groups, as “Cowboys.” She averred that
DeLancey’s Raiders acted according to the rules of warfare, and its officers were
regarded as regular officers in the King’s army. Crary also argued that most of
their captured bounty was taken from known rebel families. Captain Samuel
Kipp of North Castle (Chappaqua), an officer in DeLancey’s corps, also asserted
that they acted in accordance with military rules. “They occupied the Post in the
Front of the Lines of the British Army during the whole war, without Pay or any
other Reward than a consciousness of doing their Duty as faithful subjects.”
Crary nonetheless concluded that an “examination of the objectives and con-
duct of DeLancey’s Cowboys does not justify a whitewash of their reputation
or praise for their methods of warfare.”3>

Pierre Van Cortlandt’s daughter, Cornelia, who was married to Gerard G.
Beekman Jr., saw the Cowboys as a cruel menace. She wrote her father in April
1777, while residing near Peekskill, that one of the slaves had admitted to her
that a scheme had been hatched by which a number of slaves would flee upon
the appearance of the next raiding party. In October she and her husband reported
on a visit that various units of the King’s Rangers had made to their home.
“Yesterday 10 Clock Coll. [Edmund] Fanning and Coll [John] Byard with two
hundred of the New Levees March’d by this to destroy barracks N° 2 and the
Village [Peekskill.] the Soldiers immediately rush’d in the house and ask’d who
liv’d hear, we told them Beekman thay then past by then Came others and began
to use abusive Langguage and said that the house was theirs, and that I was the
daughter of the damdest rebel in the Provincel.] all the Shouldiers knew that
much of me and Call’d me a dammaition rebel bitch[.] Every moment, at that
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time Coll Fanning and Coll Byard came to the house to bid them keep their
abuse, but they would not mind, Fanning told me not to be frighted that he would
Pertict me that I should not be hurt.”3¢ This incident provides an interesting com-
mentary. The daughter of New York’s lieutenant governor continued to reside
in her home, despite the violence that swirled about her. Rank and file redcoats
treated the couple disrespectfully, but British officers, in the regular army and
the Rangers, acted in a considerate manner. This may have been a civil war, but
some officers still acted civilly.

By October 1777 the British could travel up the Hudson into state-held
regions with impunity. They raided some river towns and bombarded others,
including Tarrytown, Sing Sing, Croton, and Peekskill. This situation led the
Continental Congress to authorize construction of a fortress to block these raids.
This was the impetus behind the creation of West Point on the west shore of the
Hudson.

British forces from New York City also periodically attacked Westchester’s
interior. Plundering continued. Although the Whig militia sought to protect farm-
ers, residents on occasion realized they needed to band together informally to
guard their own property. One such loosely organized unit eventually played a
key role in uncovering the treason of Benedict Arnold. A recognized hero of
many battles, who had commanded American forces in some of the war’s fiercest
fighting, General Arnold had been personally chosen by Washington to com-
mand the fortress at West Point in August 1780. Unbeknownst to the American
high command, Arnold had been engaged for months in a secret correspondence
with the British over the bounty he would receive for handing over important
plans. As commander at West Point, he now sought to sell the plans for the fort
for twenty thousand pounds. The British agent in the negotiations was Major
John André, aide to Sir Henry Clinton, now British commander-in-chief.

On the night of September 21, 1780, under the cover of darkness, André
left the British warship, the Vulture, for a rendezvous with Arnold on the west
shore of the Hudson. Because the meeting lasted until 4 a.m., it was too close
to dawn for rowers to risk taking André back to the ship undetected. At daylight
André crossed the Hudson at King’s Ferry using a safe conduct pass Arnold had
provided. Riding a horse provided by Arnold, André rode toward the British
lines around White Plains. Upon learning that an American unit was actively
patrolling the road he was about to take, André thereupon turned southwest
toward Tarrytown.

Militiamen frequently scouted the area for adventure and booty. Three such
young men—1John Paulding, Isaac Van Wart, and David Williams—hid beside
the road north of Tarrytown. Along came a stranger on horseback. When chal-
lenged by Paulding, who was wearing a Hessian’s coat, the stranger replied,
“Gentlemen, I hope you belong to our party.” Asked to identify the party, André
replied, “The Lower Party.” Convinced that these men were Loyalists, André
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added, “T am a British officer out of the country on particular business, and I
hope you will not detain me a minute.” Identifying themselves as Americans,
the three ordered him to dismount, led him into some woods, and made him
undress. In his riding boots they found the incriminating documents Arnold had
given him.?” Washington and a grateful Continental Congress treated the three
captors as heroes. And thus in Westchester ended the war’s most audacious plot
of treachery.

If Arnold’s betrayal pained Washington, he was cheered by the arrival at
Newport, Rhode Island, in July 1780, of a French army under the command of
Comte de Rochambeau. Because of the stalemate in the north, General Clinton
had redeployed some of his forces to reconquer the south. Washington conse-
quently determined to use the French army, along with American regulars, to
attack the outlying fortifications around Kings Bridge to compel Clinton to recall
some of his troops from the South. Rochambeau’s forces began to leave Newport
in June 1781, and the first French contingents reached Westchester by July 2.
The French troops were garrisoned across northern Westchester from Peekskill
to North Castle and Bedford. Another force gathered at Teller’s Point at Croton
in order to attack the British fortifications around Yonkers and lower Westchester
and to encircle DeLancey’s Rangers. The plan failed, for British forces in lower
Westchester were stronger than the Americans had been led to believe.
Washington consequently ordered a withdrawal of some of his men to Dobbs
Ferry and White Plains. These new positions gave the Americans control of the
“Neutral Ground” and placed them less than ten miles from the main British line
in Westchester, thus curtailing the raids carried out by DeLancey’s Rangers.

The bulk of the French army, which had remained at North Castle, was then
deployed along the Bronx River and eastward toward White Plains. The French
controlled the eastern part of the county from White Plains to New Rochelle,
while Connecticut troops guarded the area near the Long Island Sound.
However, the Hudson River still remained a defensive quagmire. On July 15
five British warships spotted two rebel sloops carrying supplies to American
garrisons. When these sloops hastened toward shore, they ran aground near
Tarrytown. Although the British vessels were standing nearby, a small group of
French soldiers, who were stationed in the area, waded out to the sloops to unload
them. Joined by a number of American dragoons, the French managed to save
asubstantial portion of the supplies. This event marked the first time that a French
force had been directly engaged in fighting against the British.3

In the summer of 1781, Washington had about ten thousand American and
French soldiers in Westchester. He consequently decided to harass Clinton at
New York City and thus tie up British forces in that region. However, as soon
as Washington learned on August 14, 1781, that Count De Grasse and a French
armada were bound for the Chesapeake, he determined to march his and
Rochambeau’s troops to Virginia. As part of the plan, Sir Henry was deceived
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into believing that an American attack on New York City was imminent. While
elaborate subterfuges were instituted to bolster the American positions in lower
Westchester, especially around Kings Bridge, units of the American army began
late on August 19 secretly to cross the Hudson at King’s Ferry. They were joined
there by French forces, which had crossed at Verplanck’s Point. These united
troops reached the Chesapeake in mid-September and participated in the Battle
of Yorktown (August 30 to October 19, 1781). Meanwhile, the American
redoubts at Dobbs Ferry were dismantled, and a portion of the American troops
moved north of the Croton River. With the withdrawal of these units, lower
Westchester was again left open to the depredations of DeLancey’s Rangers.

Although the American troops still in Westchester learned on October 28
that Lord Cornwallis had surrendered nine days earlier, they continued to keep
up their guard. Westchester, south of the Croton, remained an area that both
Rangers and American Continentals periodically raided to obtain foodstuffs. A
Westchester militia captain wrote to New York’s Gov. George Clinton in
December 1781 that “I must particularly inform you that our Situation is truly
dismal; our strength exhausted, and our Poverty great; the Burden as heavy on
all sides that it is impossible we can bear any further assistance as a County: I
earnestly beg your Excellency’s Attention to our Situation, that you will afford
us the most ready Relief, as the least Delay may be productive of bad
Consequences to the good people on the Frontiers being exposed to a ravaging
Enemy making frequent Incursions Amongst us.”3°

Despite the cessation of large-scale hostilities between the main armies,
guerilla warfare continued in Westchester throughout most of 1782, and the
Americans sought unsuccessfully to capture James DelLancey and his leading
officers. In October 1782, once it became known that conclusive negotiations
were underway for a treaty between Great Britain and an independent United
States, the last British fortified post, Fort Number Eight on the Harlem River,
was evacuated. Whig militia units nonetheless continued to pursue DeLancey’s
men into the next year. Even after the last regular British forces were removed
from Westchester on May 13, 1783, the Whig militia and DeLancey’s men con-
tinued fighting one another. In July Washington finally sent a military force from
New Windsor in Ulster County to quiet the situation. Eight American compa-
nies remained on guard in Westchester, until the British evacuated New York
City on November 25.

The American victory brought change to Westchester, including dramatic
transferences of land ownership. After the peace treaty, Frederick Philipse’s
fifty-thousand-acre estate was divided among many of his former tenants and
other individuals who had actively aided the Patriot cause. In 1779 the New York
State legislature had adopted an Act of Forfeiture, which confiscated the prop-
erty of fifty-nine prominent New York Loyalists, including “Frederick Philipse,
Esquire, now or late of the county of Westchester.”* Historians argue over the
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major purpose of breaking up one of the great landed estates: Was this an effort
at social experimentation or an act of retribution?*!

The Confiscation Act of May 1784 spelled out procedures to be followed
in the confiscation and sale of Loyalist estates. Most of Philipsburgh Manor was
sold off under this act in two separate sales in 1785 and 1786. Former tenants
had preemption rights to their farms, so long as they could demonstrate that they
had taken an “active and decided part to maintain the same” and could obtain
vouchers from twelve Westchester inhabitants as to their “known and undoubted
attachment to the American cause.”*? Untenanted lands, or farms vacated by
Loyalists, were sold as a separate category. One of the Commissioners of
Forfeiture supervising these sales for the state was Brig. Gen. Philip Van
Cortlandt, son of Lt. Gov. Pierre Van Cortlandt. This Patriot family added to
their holdings when the Commissioners of Forfeiture sold the 500 acres com-
prising the Upper Mills portion of Philipsburgh Manor, to Philip’s sister,
Cornelia, and her husband, Gerard G. Beekman Jr. As a result of these sales, the
estate was parceled out to 287 separate owners, each with an average farm size
of 174 acres. Significantly, more than two-thirds of Philipse’s former tenants
became landowners through the exercise of their preemptive rights. A grateful
New York State also made a gift of a farm of 277 acres in Westchester, formerly
owned by a Loyalist, to Thomas Paine, the author of Common Sense, “in con-
sideration for the eminent services rendered to the United States in the progress
of the late war . . . and as a testimony of the sense which the people of this State
entertain of his distinguished merit.”*3

In the years after Yorktown, the new nation endured a postwar depression
that left both state and national governments short of revenue. A major dispute
consequently arose over the establishment and collection of an impost duty. New
York’s Gov. George Clinton wanted to keep tariff collection under state control
and opposed those who would grant the Continental Congress power to collect
import duties. Indeed, in the years from 1784 to 1787 a number of important
issues arose in the state legislature, which signaled whether one supported the
Clintonian policy of state power or sought to enhance federal control at state
expense. A county historian summarized the issues: “legislation dealing with
the issuance of paper money, the Federal Impost bills, disqualification of
Loyalists from serving in the legislature, election of delegates to the
Constitutional Convention, and the debate on holding the ratifying conven-
tion.”* Westchester typically sided with Clinton.

When the time came in 1787 to choose representatives for a state conven-
tion to ratify the proposed Federal Constitution, Westchester surprised almost
everyone by voting for a Federalist slate of candidates: Philip Van Cortlandt,
son of the lieutenant governor, along with Lewis Motris and Philip Livingston,
both large landowners. The Federalists had made an all-out and successful effort
to put their supporters in the state convention. Although the ratification of the
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Constitution was a singular event in United States history, out of a potential
4,408 voters in Westchester, only 1,093 (or 24.8 percent) bothered to vote.*> The
Federalist slate in Westchester won by more than a 2-to-1 margin. Westchester
legislators, who had provided Governor Clinton with a loyal following during
the Confederation period, now left him in order to support the new Constitution.

The Revolution had thus wrought many significant changes in Westchester.
The county had survived eight years of devastation, ruined fields, burned and
vandalized homes, and lost lives. After the warfare had finally ended, many peo-
ple resumed their peacetime lives. However, those who had openly or even
furtively aided the enemy saw their properties confiscated, or sought refuge in
Canada, Nova Scotia, or England. Of importance was the transformation of hun-
dreds of former tenant farmers on Philipsburgh Manor into landowners.
Westchester had undergone a revolution.
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The Central Hudson Valley:
Dutchess, Orange, and Ulster Counties

Thomas S. Wermuth

The central Hudson Valley was one of the most contested battlegrounds in
the War for American Independence, for the Hudson River separated the ardently
revolutionary New England from the rest of the states and also linked Canada
to New York City. In 1777 the Burgoyne campaign, which began in Canada and
was defeated in Saratoga, drew men and resources from the central Hudson
Valley. The American victory at Saratoga has been recognized widely as the
“turning point” of the Revolution. From 1780 to 1781 George Washington’s
headquarters at Newburgh and New Windsor were his last encampments, and
at Newburgh Washington squashed the threatened military conspiracy against
civilian government. Moreover, throughout the war the region was the “bread-
basket” of George Washington’s army, and the area’s fields, flocks, and herds
kept his troops, and, at times, the troops of his enemy, fed. In addition, several
thousand valley men fought in the war, whether for the Continental Army, the
New York militia, or, less frequently, for the King.

The military contest for control of the river valley continued for several years,
affecting local society in the central Hudson Valley. Many of the region’s residents
initially saw the Revolution as a struggle against a tyrannical British government
that was attempting to subvert traditional liberties and rights. As the Revolution
dragged on, others concluded that the conflict meant something else as well.
Indeed, various groups promoted their vision of what the revolution was, or, more
precisely, what they thought the Revolution should be. For some people, the war
years brought the possibility of political empowerment, as many who had hith-
erto been denied access to power found in the revolutionary upheaval the oppor-
tunity for political advancement. Young, enterprising middle-class men, such as
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Dutchess County’s Dirck Brinckerhoff and Jacobus Swarthout, who had enjoyed
few political opportunities before the war, now emerged to challenge the power
and prestige of the landed aristocracy that had dominated the Hudson’s east bank.
Modestly born Ulster lawyer, George Clinton, shocked New York’s elite by being
elected the first governor of New York State in 1777. For still others the revolu-
tion represented an opportunity to challenge the existing social order. The war
revived the tenant conflicts that had troubled the eastern bank of the Hudson in
the years before 1774. Laboring men and women spearheaded boycotts against
profiteering Patriot shopkeepers and seized staple products during periods of eco-
nomic distress, demanding economic justice from local dignitaries. This essay will
examine the transformation that the military struggle caused in the central Hudson
Valley counties of Orange, Ulster, and Dutchess.

The Mid-Hudson Valley: The Setting

On the eve of the Revolution, the mid-Hudson Valley was one of the most
fertile and productive farm regions in British North America. Its grain, flour,
and dairy products were sent to the West Indies, Europe, and South America.
The port towns of Poughkeepsie (in Dutchess County on the Hudson’s east bank)
and Kingston (in Ulster) were thriving little commercial entrepots that served
as regional hubs in the vibrant agricultural trade with New York City.
Nevertheless, the backcountry away from the river had much in common with
Washington Irving’s “Sleepy Hollow,” small towns, where little happened, and
change, when it occurred, happened slowly and imperceptibly.!

The mid-Hudson’s west bank included the counties of Orange and Ulster,
which the Dutch had settled in the mid-seventeenth century. The English followed
soon thereafter, and many French Huguenots and some Germans also came to the
area. Slavery took hold early, and by the Revolution some 15 percent of the pop-
ulation of the Hudson’s west bank consisted of African-American slaves.? Despite
this diversity, on the eve of the Revolution, much of the west bank remained eth-
nically and culturally Dutch, perhaps three generations removed from Europe.
Dutch customs prevailed. The Dutch Reformed Church dominated. When the
Second Continental Congress was approving the Declaration of Independence,
Dutch was spoken more regularly than was English in many west bank towns.
Indeed, as late as 1774, Kingston (a mere two years away from becoming the state
capital) still kept its official town records in Dutch.?

Ulster and Orange Counties were populated by freehold farms. Although
the “Great Hardenbergh Patent” comprised the western part of Ulster, it lay pri-
marily in the Shawangunk Mountains and beyond and had few tenants. A few
families, such as the Hasbroucks and Hardenberghs, dominated local politics
and society, but the Hudson’s west bank was a society of “roughly equal men,”
who owned their own land and marketed the produce of their farms and shops.*
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Dutchess County faced Orange and Ulster across the river on the Hudson’s
east bank. The Dutch and Germans populated the central and northern parts of
the county, but the English predominated in the south. Many of these English set-
tlers were recent eighteenth-century migrants from New England and northern
Long Island. As did Ulster and Orange, Dutchess did have some small commu-
nities, thriving port towns, and also many freehold farm families. But what char-
acterized the Hudson’s east bank, from Westchester north to Rensselaerwyck,
was the continued existence of a manorial system, in which landowners used their
economic power to politically control the county.’

Such landlords as Robert R. Livingston, Beverly Robinson, and Roger
Morris possessed leases for more than five hundred tenant families in Dutchess
County, many of whom owed their manor lords traditional services and duties
that were more characteristic of medieval England than eighteenth-century
North America. For example, leases might run for several generations, demand
that tenants grind their wheat at the landlord’s mill, work several days a year for
the lessor, and require symbolic payment of portions of rent in fowl and fruit.®

The usual tensions between landlords and tenants were exacerbated by this
manorial system. Tenant uneasiness expressed itself in different ways: simple
resentment; the nonpayment of rents; intimidation of the landlord’s agents; and,
at times, outright rebellion. In 1741 and again twenty-five years later, fighting
broke out between tenants and landlords on several of the manorial estates.’

The Great Dutchess Tenant Uprising of 1766 was significant. Beverly
Robinson’s attempt to expel both New England squatters and tenants who were
withholding rents caused the rebellion that included upward of one thousand
participants (about 20 percent of the adult male population) and that resulted in
pitched battles between forces of the landlords and rioters. Although this event
was unrelated to the growing crisis with Britain, the mutual distrust that land-
lords and tenants had for each other only increased, and that helped shape the
relationship of both groups to the Revolution as it unfolded.®

The Revolutionary Crisis Begins

Unlike in New England and New York City, there was little organized anti-
British activity in the central valley before 1774. Indeed, there were few attempts
to challenge British authority or policy. Much like the rest of the northern
colonies, however, this changed rapidly with passage of the Coercive Acts in
1774. In communities throughout the midvalley—from bustling port towns like
Poughkeepsie and Kingston, to smaller, sleepier villages like New Windsor and
Amenia—committees of safety, observation, and inspection sprung into action.
For example, the Kingston Committee of Safety expressed its dismay at
Parliament’s attempt in the Quebec Act (1774) to establish “the Romish Religion
in America.” This committee was equally shocked by the “avowed design of the
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ministry to raise a revenue in America.” The New Windsor Committee of
Observation objected to levying taxes “on us without our consent” and assert-
ing absolute legislative authority over the colonies. The committee resolved that
such efforts were “subversive of our natural and legal rights as British subjects,
and that we would be deficient in point of duty to our King and the British
Constitution were we to yield in tame submission to them.”®

When the warbeganin 1775, the people of the Hudson Valley began to choose
sides. From the start, both Ulster and Orange Counties enjoyed unusually high
responses to Patriot “oath of allegiance” petitions. Indeed, throughout the course
of the war, though Loyalism was present in both counties, devotion to the revo-
lutionary cause was quite strong. Although several distinct ethnic groups—
English, Dutch, German, and French Huguenots—lived in the region, there is no
evidence that any group was more predisposed to Patriotism or Loyalism; indeed,
the one clear fact is that there were few Loyalists in either county.!”

Although Loyalism was weak in Dutchess as well (particularly when com-
pared to nearby Westchester County), the situation was nonetheless more com-
plicated than the one on the west bank. When war began, both landlord and
tenant were wary about taking sides in the crisis. While the Livingstons and
Beekmans, who owned much of the county’s land, generally supported the new
Patriot Provincial Congress and demanded compromises from Parliament, they
also sought to control the protest movement, so that the social and political order,
which they dominated, was not disturbed.!!

For a variety of reasons, tenants viewed the Revolution even more warily.
First, some Dutchess County tenants were chary about siding with landlords
who had oppressed them before 1775, even though other landlords did convince
their tenants to side with them. Second, there were rumors that British agents
were promising tenants ownership of the land they presently held in leasehold
if they fought with the British. Finally, many tenants in southern Dutchess were
simply indifferent to the struggle. Possessing no political and relatively little
economic power, they were absorbed in the daily toil of farming and expressed
little interest in the conflict. Although William Smith thought that tenants in cer-
tain Dutchess towns were “forty to one” against independence, this was most
certainly an exaggeration. Many were lukewarm Patriots, until New York State
offered them the possibility of becoming landowners, when it confiscated and
redistributed Loyalist property.'?

Rise of the Revolutionary Coalition
Although the traditional leadership of the midvalley was at the forefront

of resistance to Parliament in 1774 and 1775, the beginning of the war opened
new opportunities for ambitious men who had been for many years on the periph-
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ery of power. This process was most pronounced in Dutchess, where a power-
ful manorial landlord class still controlled most of the county-wide and town
offices. Landlord Beverly Robinson, who purportedly owned one-third of south-
ern Dutchess, was the first judge of the county and a member of the Whig
Provincial Congress; Phillip Livingston was the county sheriff; and Robert
Livingston Jr., was one of the county’s representatives in the Provincial
Assembly. By 1776 new faces began to join the customary leadership of
Dutchess County: freehold farmers and tradesmen like Dirck Brinckerhoff and
Jacobus Swarthout, as well as tenants like Henry Luddington, who had devel-
oped local power bases, were elected to the committees in the counties.
Nonetheless, their renown had never approached the provincial-wide reputa-
tions of the Livingstons, Beekmans, or Robinsons. By 1777, with the traditional
leadership moving somewhat hesitantly on wartime issues of importance to
county residents, these new, middle-class leaders began to exert greater power
first in local Dutchess politics and then in the New York State Assembly. 3

In Ulster and Orange Counties, a similar challenge to the “old guard” took
place. Although historian Edward Countryman is correct in his assertion that the
Hudson’s west bank was a “society of roughly equal men,” a handful of promi-
nent and powerful families had exerted considerable social, political, and eco-
nomic influence before the war. More often than not, members of the oldest,
most prominent families, including the Coldens, Hardenberghs, and Ellisons,
had held such prestigious political offices as sheriff, county supervisor, and had
been appointed commanders of the local militias. In this hierarchical, deferen-
tial society, family name, education, wealth, and prestige counted for much. !4

As the Revolution unfolded, many of the west bank’s old elite found them-
selves first sharing and then relinquishing their political and military power.
Merchants William and John Hasbrouck, leading members of two of the most
prominent families in the county, had been the commanders of Ulster’s two mili-
tia regiments at the beginning of the war, but they were not reelected to com-
mands they had held by appointment for twenty years. Neither received enough
votes from their volunteer units to compete for leadership.'

Ulster County politics offers a glimpse of the political struggles that char-
acterized this region as it entered the Revolution. On the eve of the conflict, New
Paltz’s Johannes Hardenbergh was a member of the Duzine (the governing board
of the town) as well as the wealthiest man in the town and perhaps in all of Ulster
County. A colonel in the Ulster militia for twenty years and a delegate to the
First Provincial Congress, Hardenbergh was the grandson of the original pat-
entee of the “Great Hardenbergh” Patent, two million acres that sprawled across
western Ulster. In the elections for the county-wide Committee of Safety in 1775,
Hardenbergh’s neighbors deferentially selected him a member and immediately
named him chair and treasurer. Although Abraham Hasbrouck, one of Ulster’s
most prominent merchants was also on the committee, these two traditional
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leaders were joined by new men like Robert Boyd and Johannes Snyder, whose
social standing had previously not given them access to county-wide political
power. Accustomed to being obeyed, Hardenbergh soon clashed with the more
middling members of the committee. Eventually, after a series of squabbles, he
realized he had to work with them if he wanted to remain in power.!®

Although most disagreements between the Hardenberghs and the the
Hasbroucks, on the one hand, and the rest of the committee, on the other, were
generally procedural, they broke sharply on the issue of support for Ulster’s
George Clinton. The New York Assembly had recently appointed Clinton the
general of the New York militia and put him in charge of Ulster’s regiments.
Members of the county’s elite viewed him as an upstart; Col. John Hasbrouck
(Abraham Hardenbergh’s cousin and a substantial farmer) refused to serve in a
regiment “commanded by Mr. Clinton.” Johannes Hardenbergh went further
and, abusing his authority as chair, refused to accept the Ulster Committee of
Safety’s resolution appointing Clinton one of Ulster’s delegates to the Provincial
Congress, where Clinton had much support among the delegates from Ulster,
Orange, and Dutchess. The Provincial Congress reprimanded Hardenbergh,
demanded an explanation for his refusal, and then appointed Clinton to the Ulster
delegation in the Provincial Congress.!”

Following continued disagreements with several other committee mem-
bers, Hardenbergh was ousted from his position as treasurer of the committee.
He complained about these political upstarts and refused to relinquish the £300
in the treasury. The committee threatened Hardenbergh with an “altercation”
and ordered him to turn over the money. Hardenbergh not only relented, but he
soon began cooperating in the new political environment, for which he and most
other committee members had little training: democratic political discussion,
debate, and compromise. '8

Despite Hardenbergh’s preference for deferential politics and his discom-
fort with popular decision-making, he was committed to the revolutionary cause.
Other members of the colonial elite on the west bank were not so inclined, and
they did not fare as well. Cadwallader Colden Jr., son of the lieutenant gover-
nor, made clear his disdain for democratic politics and his loyal support for the
Crown. He suffered the consequences, when a delegation from the New Windsor
Committee of Safety stormed his estate at midnight on June 21, 1776. The com-
mittee searched and ransacked his house and ordered him arrested. Colden hoped
to remain under house arrest and even offered to pay for guards to stay at his
home that night, but the committee refused. When Colden continued to insist
upon house arrest, the committee threatened him with the humiliating alterna-
tive that he would “be rode upon a rail” to the local jail, if he did not accompany
them willingly. This type of theatrical punishment had traditionally been
reserved during the Colonial Period for prostitutes, wife-abusers, and other com-
munity miscreants, not for men of Colden’s stature. To threaten one of the most
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substantial men in the midvalley with such a fate, and his apparent belief that
the committee would make good on their threat, reveals the extent of the mili-
tary conflict’s challenge to the existing social and political order.!”

In the place of this traditional elite there emerged in Ulster and Orange a
group of talented, opportunistic men, such as Robert Boyd, Charles DeWitt, and
Matthew Cantine, who had developed strong local support, but who lacked the
wealth and pedigree of the prewar leadership. These newly elected officials in
the midvalley were not simply new names; they were men who came from a
lower socioeconomic status than the traditional elite. They held divergent views
on political leadership and political participation and had a different under-
standing of the goals of the Revolution. For these men the Revolution offered
the opportunity for political and social advancement, something that had been
denied them before the war. These new political leaders now had the opportu-
nity to assume political roles on the many committees of correspondence, safety,
and inspection. Further, the dramatically increased size of the state legislature
(the delegations from the mid-Hudson Valley doubled in size) opened up new
opportunities at the state level.

The most dramatic example of the new political opportunities in the mid-
valley (or in any part of Revolutionary America, for that matter) was the meteoric
rise of George Clinton. Clinton was not new to political power, nor was he a sim-
ple farmer making his first foray into politics. Born to a “well-to-do” (though not
prominent) family on the Ulster-Orange border, Clinton had practiced law in Ulster
and New York City, and served as the Ulster representative to New York’s
Provincial Assembly from 1769 to 1771. He often spoke in the years before the
war against British policy and had forged careful and practical alliances with such
prominent provincial-wide leaders as Phillip Schuyler and Robert Livingston.?°

Clinton’s rise was swift. In 1776 the New York Congress appointed him a
brigadier general in the New York militia, an appointment that drew the scorn
of Ulster’s traditional aristocracy. Col. John Hasbrouck, commander of the
Ulster militia, pointedly asked the New York Congress “how he [Clinton] comes
to be promoted to so high arank . . . and how it was brought about to supercede
so many brave officers in the regiment.” Clinton’s unexpected triumph as New
York’s first governor in 1777 brought equally critical commentary from the New
York elite. Clinton’s former ally in the New York Assembly, Phillip Schuyler, a
losing candidate, claimed that Clinton’s “family and connections do not entitle
him to so distinguished a predominance.”?!

The War in the Midvalley: 1775-1783

Although no fighting took place in the region during the first year of the
war, from 1776 through 1783, control of the Hudson River Valley remained one
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of the primary strategic objectives of the British high command, and the val-
ley’s defense was equally important to Gen. George Washington. American con-
trol of this region bottled up the British in New York City and kept other British
forces far to the north in Canada. In 1776 Washington, whose army would spend
more than one-third of the Revolutionary War in or in close proximity to the
Hudson River Valley, stated that “the importance of the river in the present con-
test and the necessity of defending it, are so well understood that it is unneces-
sary to enlarge upon them.” Washington nonetheless proceeded to do so, citing
its strategic transportation and communications significance as well as the
importance of its agricultural production.?? His concern for the defense of this
strategic region led the Americans to construct an “Iron Chain” and boom across
the river just north of West Point. This lightweight impediment was soon out-
flanked and destroyed by Sir Henry Clinton’s forces and rendered useless. In
1776 Washington had also ordered the construction of three forts along the
Highlands: Forts Montgomery, Clinton, and Constitution. By the summer of
1777 these three forts were still unfinished and only lightly garrisoned.

The British in New York City engaged in several small raids in the mid-
valley in 1776 and 1777, including a half-hearted shelling of the as yet uncom-
pleted Fort Montgomery in the summer of 1777. The key British campaign for
control of the Hudson River Valley was an elaborate yet poorly coordinated plan
consisting of a three-pronged invasion in 1777. The main force under Gen. John
Burgoyne was to depart from Canada in summer and push southward through
the Adirondacks to Albany, where it was to meet up with a combined British-
Indian force that had been pushing eastward along the Mohawk Valley. The third
force was to be an expeditionary unit from New York City under the command
of Sir Henry Clinton. Clinton’s troops were to move up the Hudson and meet
Burgoyne or at least give him support. The military’s lack of proper planning,
coordination, and execution of this major invasion led directly to the British
defeat at Saratoga, the “turning point of the war.”??

Instead of using all his military resources to support Burgoyne, Sir William
Howe, commander-in-chief of the British army in America, took a large force to
capture Philadelphia and left Sir Henry Clinton only a small contingent to support
the invasion from Canada. About two thousand Continental soldiers and elements
of the Ulster and Orange County militia garrisoned Fts. Montgomery and Clinton.
The state’s new governor, Gen. George Clinton, commanded the posts. On the
morning of October 6, after a night of fierce fighting, British troops captured both
forts and spent the next several days destroying the forts and the iron chain across
the Hudson. The main part of the American force managed to escape northward.?*

Although the British victory was complete, Henry Clinton’s troops suffered
almost twohundred casualties and were delayed by the military action. They finally
resumed their slow movement upriver and stopped at a number of points along
the way, where they landed several small units for limited forays against local
militia units. British forces reached Kingston, the state capital, ten days later.
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Advance British units entered Kingston before dawn on October 16. Many
Kingstonians had already escaped, and local militia forces had stood ready to
conduct a delaying action against enemy forces. However, a British raiding party
of several hundred troops under Maj. John Vaughn quickly drove these militia
units west from the town in predawn fighting on the banks of Esopus Creek just
a few hundred yards from the Hudson. Determined to punish the region, British
troops burned large portions of the town before departing later that afternoon.
Sir Henry Clinton pushed ten miles upriver over the next few days, dropping
landing parties at various points (including the Livingston estate at Clermont)
before heading south to New York City. By this time, Burgoyne had already sur-
rendered his army at Saratoga, and Clinton’s slow northward movement was
now irrelevant.?

Although the next year witnessed only limited military action in the mid-
valley, the Hudson remained a primary target of both British and American
strategies for the remainder of the war. Sir Henry attempted a second invasion
of theriver valley in May 1779, seizing Stony Point in Orange County. However,
Washington kept his army between Henry Clinton and the northern river valley.
In July “Mad” Anthony Wayne drove the British from Stony Point and sent them
retreating southward down the river.¢

It was the importance of the Hudson that had led Washington in 1778 to
order construction of fortress West Point, which overlooked the Hudson in
Orange County. He also ordered that a heavy and formidable great “iron chain,”
be erected to prevent any future British incursion up the river. The British did
make one more attempt to gain control of the Hudson in 1780, when Henry
Clinton opened secret negotiations with Gen. Benedict Arnold, the recently
appointed commander of West Point, to gain control of the fort. Arnold’s plans
were discovered, when Clinton’s aide-de-camp John André was captured. André
was hanged in Westchester County as a spy, and Arnold was barely able to escape
to safety in British-occupied New York City.?’

In the last years of the war, the midvalley remained central to Washington’s
planning. Although the British were defeated at Yorktown in 1781, they con-
tinued to occupy New York City for two more years, and their continued threat
to the river valley kept Washington and his army stationed nearby. The
Continental army encamped in southern Ulster County, in and around the town
of New Windsor, while Washington himself took up headquarters a few miles
north on the Hudson at Newburgh.

Popular Politics and the Committee Movement
The years of military conflict had a significant impact on the mid-Hudson

Valley. The gradual collapse of New York’s colonial government throughout 1775
impelled extralegal committees of safety, observation, and inspection to fill the
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power vacuum. In most towns these committees developed alongside existing
legally constituted town boards and governments. In many communities these
committees exerted their influence not only in the political sphere, but also in the
economic arena by regulating prices, controlling the importation and exportation
of goods, and setting maximum and minimum wage rates for local labor.

The committees enjoyed formidable powers that grew increasingly broad
over time in response to wartime needs. Initially, the committees’ role was sim-
ply to organize and promote revolutionary support and to communicate with the
populace about the latest developments in the imperial crisis. With the disinte-
gration of the official provincial government in late 1775, however, the com-
mittees became quasi-legal institutions replacing the power of the crumbling
old government. Although the committees’ powers were curtailed with the cre-
ation of the New York State government in 1777, these bodies nonetheless
enjoyed significant local authority throughout the late 1770s.

The various committees that emerged in the mid-Hudson Valley during the
war were popularly elected and supported. Among the earliest committees of
correspondence were those elected at the town meetings of the Kingston
Corporation, Poughkeepsie town government, and the New Paltz Duzine.
Participation in these meetings was not open to all residents; only freeholders
could vote. The people initially elected to the committees tended to be chosen
from the traditional community leaders, for the mid-Hudson Valley was still a
hierarchical and deferential society. During the war, as old leaders moved up to
state and continental positions or retired from active efforts, the social and eco-
nomic status of committee members elected by freeholders changed substan-
tially. A majority eventually came from the “middling-sorts.” In this way, the
freeholder-elected committees often served as avenues of advancement for
aspiring political leaders, whose social background had heretofore denied them
access to prominent elective office.?

The powers invested in the committees were often greater than those that
town officials had possessed in the colonial period. In 1776 the Provincial
Congress gave the committees the authority to tax and appoint tax collectors
and assessors. During the war, the committees gradually gained additional polit-
ical powers and became the governments of many midvalley towns. Besides
control over local taxation and legislation, the committees also assumed judi-
cial and police powers. Furthermore, committees employed local militia units
as police to enforce their rulings.

Usually, the committees were able to employ community pressure against
those suspected of unpatriotic actions or of any activity seen as threatening to
the community. These punishments included public denunciations of those con-
sidered to be enemies of the cause, symbolic burnings of effigies, and boycotts
of shopkeepers and tradesmen who were lukewarm to the Revolution. For exam-
ple, the Kingston committee stated that if persons were guilty of actions endan-
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gering the community, “they should be punished in the public newspapers as
enemies to the liberties and privileges of American subjects,” and all residents
should abstain from commerce with the offender.?’ The Ulster Association
instructed county residents not to patronize establishments, businesses, or shops
whose Patriotism was suspect, because “every shilling of property we put in
their hands . . . enable them to purchase the chains to bind us in slavery.”3°

Committees encouraged political action in other ways. At times they spon-
sored the public destruction of Loyalist assets in such places as the Kingston
public market.3! The committee also acted against members of the county’s old-
est and most prominent families, who seemed to impede the war effort. Leading
members of valley towns came under public attack; were dislodged from polit-
ical office; suffered riots or demonstrations at their homes or places of business;
or, more ignobly, were arrested and charged with being “enemies of the cause.”
Some victims undoubtedly were Tories; others simply lacked enthusiasm for the
cause, while still others had put self first and engaged in economic activities that
residents felt compromised the integrity of the local economies that were already
endangered by the extreme war-time dislocations. As a result, the Revolution
successfully challenged the political and social order that had heretofore shaped
life in small valley towns.

The issues upon which committees expended the most energy tended to
be economic. On the eve of the war, the local committees of observation had
supervised economic activities in their counties and towns and enforced the
economic measures required by the Continental Association. During the war,
when shortages and inflation had become rampant, the local committees scru-
tinized the trade and economic activities of local shopkeepers, to ensure that
they engaged in business practices that promoted the war effort and supported
a vibrant local economy.3?

These activities included regulating prices, preventing hoarding and price-
gouging, and forcing shopkeepers to sell necessary foodstuffs at affordable
prices. As early as 1776, local committees had begun enacting price controls on
a variety of staple products, including wheat, flour, and salt. They also fined
shopkeepers and merchants, who violated these price maximums, by confiscat-
ing their goods and foodstuffs. Finally, these committees forbade the exporta-
tion of certain staple products beyond town boundaries.??

As the military conflict dragged on, the committees heightened their efforts
to control Loyalists, motivate neutrals, and prohibit economic activities that
would weaken the American cause. In 1777 the Ulster Committee, which met
regularly at Andrew Oliver’s home, forbade the exportation of flour, meal, or
grain outside of the county. In 1778, at the height of the wartime shortages, the
town leaders of Marbletown gave permission to export flour, but “not more than
four barrels” per person and only on the condition that an equal value of salt be
brought into the town. By 1779 the situation had grown so desperate in several
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west bank communities, that the export of wheat or its use in distillation was
forbidden.>* Even though it is impossible to know today how much illegal trade
there was, committees worked viligently to suppress it.

The state government, too, began regulating the prices of various goods
once it was created in 1777. Each year from 1777 through 1780, it established
various price controls in an unsuccessful attempt to halt hyperinflation. The state
set the prices of all grains, flour, vegetables, leather, shoes, and a variety of other
products. In addition, the state regulated wages and labor, ordering that “the var-
ious kinds of labour of farmers, mechanics and others, be set and affixed, at rates
not exceeding seventy-five per centum” over the normal wages for a given local-
ity. Moreover, in 1779 and 1780 and again in 1782, midvalley political officials
requested that the State Assembly provide greater assistance in regulating prices.
Specifically, the Ulster and Dutchess County committees asked the Assembly
to introduce new, even stricter price controls to regulate the soaring price of
grain and other staples.?

Legislation was passed not only to cap prices and control inflation, but to
regulate economic behavior within communities as well. Many believed, as did
Dutchess County’s Henry Luddington, that the scarcity of bread in that county
in 1776 was not the result of natural forces but of the actions of the “wicked,
mercenary intrigues of a number of ingrossing jockies.” In order to set a proper
example, committees of observation and safety made public examples through-
out the war of those thwarting the committee’s dictates.>® For example, in 1777
New Windsor residents accused Mrs. Jonathan Lawrence of price-gouging and
selling tea for two shillings a pound above the rate the committee had set. Mrs.
Lawrence claimed that she only charged the committee set price of six shillings,
“but will not let the purchaser have the tea unless he takes a paper bag to put it
in at two shillings.” When challenged by the local Committee of Inspection, she
sent the tea to her husband, Jonathan, the commissary at nearby Fort Con-
stitution. The committee consequently seized the tea, discharged Jonathan from
his duties, rebuked the couple, and agreed to keep a careful eye on Mrs. Lawrence
in the future.’’

Crowds, Riots & Popular Revolution in the Mid-Hudson Valley

Even more significant than the actions taken by the committees in these
years was the popular action that occurred throughout the midvalley in the 1770s
and 1780s. As early as 1776, Kingston and New Windsor residents took matters
into their own hands, for they thought that their elected officials were not going
far enough in regulating the economy and prosecuting monopolizers and
engrossers.’® In response, the Ulster Committee reported in 1776 that “we are
daily alarmed, and our streets filled with mobs.” According to the Committee,
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the situation had grown so desperate in Ulster that if the legislature could not
solve the economic woes affecting the central valley, local committees would
have to assume authority in the name “of the People at Large.”?°

Between 1776 and 1779, popular action led to frequent boycotts, forced
sales of necessary products, and riots in the mid-Hudson Valley. The first major
riot occurred in Kingston in November 1776, when a crowd raided warehouses
and stores seizing tea. Two weeks later, one of Ulster County’s first families, the
Ellisons of New Windsor, became victims when a large crowd came to William
Ellison’s store. After accusing him of price-gouging and engrossment, they
seized all the salt “except one bushel,” which they left for his family’s use.

Even merchants who lived outside the three—county—area were not safe
from this form of popular activity.*’ Two Albany merchants who had purchased
tea in Philadelphia had the misfortune of sending it overland through New
Windsor in 1777. A crowd of men and women besieged the transporters, seized
the load, asserting that it was being marketed for more than the six-shilling limit
the local committee had set, and sold it to themselves at that price. Crowds of
local Dutchess women visited Poughkeepsie shopkeeper Peter Messier in the
spring of 1777. Accusing him of selling tea above the Poughkeepsie Committee’s
imposed price-cap, the women used their own weights and measures to divide
and distribute the tea among themselves. The women, accompanied by two
Continental soldiers, offered Messier “their own price,” one that was consider-
ably lower than his selling price. The women returned twice more over the next
several days to repeat these actions.*!

The New Windsor and Poughkeepsie riots reveal that rioters often used the
local committees’ authority to justify their own actions. The rioters at Ellison’s
store reminded the shopkeeper of the committee’s price regulations that he was
allegedly breaking. The women who confiscated Messier’s tea specifically stated
that “they had orders from the Committee to search his house.” However, it is
essential to point out that in each of these activities, the rioters exceeded the
committee’s dictates. Neither riot was authorized by the local committee, and
indeed, some committee members criticized the New Windsor riot.*?

The activities of the committees in controlling prices and commerce, as
well as in prosecuting hoarders, are clear indications of a public economic pol-
icy that aimed to regulate the workings of the free market and protect the com-
munity’s interest. The importance of these activities was not the imposition of
price controls, for many of the powers of market regulation and price-setting
were already well accepted. However, while enforcing these regulations, the
committees were functioning as local governments.*

The actions of the rioters in seizing foodstuffs were yet another matter. The
rioters clearly held traditional economic beliefs that denied the role of an unreg-
ulated market in times of economic crisis. They questioned the unfettered use
of private property, when they seized goods, making clear their belief that a
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shopkeeper was not the only person to decide what to do with his or her mer-
chandise and that the community had a legitimate voice in its distribution as
well. During the Revolutionary War, these beliefs and activities became asso-
ciated, even synonymous, with patriotic behavior and loyalty to the community.
Those who participated in the riots were claiming that by their actions they were
expressing their loyalty to the cause, while their targets, such as William Ellison,
were exhibiting signs of diminished patriotic allegiance and even of Toryism.*

Also remarkable was that many of the rioters were ordinary women who
had no public, political role and who had limited control over property. During
the Revolution, such women often took the lead in Hudson Valley riots. It was
a crowd of women, for example, who first confronted Mrs. Lawrence in 1777
for price-gouging and who by so doing forced the committee to act. Furthermore,
the crowd that three times raided Peter Messier’s store in Poughkeepsie was
composed mainly of women. At a riot in New Windsor, a local observer com-
plained to a tea merchant that “the women! in this place have risen in a mob,
and are now selling a box of tea of yours [the owner] at 6s per 1b.”%

The action of women regarding economic matters was not limited to seizures
and crowd action. Women also used their power as wives and mothers to disrupt
the war effort, if the committees failed to regulate the economy. In August 1776
the women of Kingston surrounded the meeting room of the Committee of Safety
and declared that if the food shortages were not resolved, “their husbands and sons
shall fight no more.**¢ These riots were thus not only economic, but also had clear
political implications. The site of the women’s protest was neither the Kingston
public market nor a shopkeeper’s warehouse, but the meeting-house where the
town’s political authorities conducted business. Finally, these women were not
just making economic threats of boycotts or disruptions, but promising political
action if their demands were not satisfied.

Women, who had few political rights, were now exerting a public voice
about those issues, in which the needs of the domestic sphere crossed those of
the public sphere. Women’s right to demand salt, tea, or flour at what they con-
sidered fair prices fell firmly within the socially and culturally constructed gen-
der roles of eighteenth-century America. Like their counterparts in the French
Revolution, women’s political action usually formed around issues of family
and domestic concerns (particularly food and supplies).*’

Residents of the mid-Hudson Valley were divided over the best policy to
follow in handling the economic dislocations created by the military conflict.
Generally, price controls had been needed before the Revolution only in times
of economic crisis and only on certain necessities. However, some farm fami-
lies benefited from wartime inflation, since it increased the profits they earned
on the sale of farm produce. Yet many other residents suffered from the depre-
ciated currency and soaring prices changed at shopkeepers’ stores. As a result,
by the late 1770s, many midvalley residents led the state-wide battle to imple-



The Central Hudson Valley 141

ment policies that would halt spiraling inflation. Indeed, from 1779 through
1782, calls from the populous midvalley, which did not face a direct military
threat, became increasingly pronounced for government regulation of prices,
quality, and distribution of various staple products.*8

The movement for the community regulation of prices and wages and of
the distribution of goods occurred because of wartime exigencies. Whether in
the eighteenth or the twenty-first century, wars generally engender shortages of
goods and demands for personal sacrifice and community-mindedness. As a
result of revolutionary problems, both local and provincial authorities began
regulating economic affairs. What is remarkable is not these practices per se,
but the methods employed to implement them. Official town authorities who
regulated prices also sponsored boycotts and denounced tepid Whigs who threat-
ened the goals of the Revolution. The people out-of-doors also used extralegal
popular action in the form of seizures, public denunciations, and riots that some-
times supported the local authorities, but that also at times exceeded what offi-
cials thought necessary.

Land Confiscation and Its Effects in Dutchess County

Although Dutchess County was beset by food and price rioting and by other
popular demonstrations throughout the war, a revolution of even more far-
reaching proportions was unfolding there. Indeed, Dutchess witnessed what was,
arguably, one of the most dramatic episodes of the Revolution in New York: ten-
ant unrest and the state’s confiscation of landlord property.

The Revolution was not the first time that mid-Hudson valley tenants had
resorted to mass violence. Serious conflict had occurred as early as the 1740s,
and the Uprising of 1766 was the only time before the Battle of Lexington that
British regulars were used in the North American colonies against provincials.
This agrarian conflict had little to do with the imperial crisis, but much to do
with limited access to land and growing resentment among both longtime ten-
ants and more recent settlers from New England.*®

At the beginning of the war, both Dutchess County landlords and tenants
were generally supportive of, but not enthusiastic about the Revolution.
Although some contemporary observers believed that many tenants were Tories
who hoped for a British victory that would lead to the confiscation of the large
estates and the redistribution of this property among the tenants, there is no
strong evidence to affirm that large numbers of tenants in Dutchess were
Loyalists, although some undoubtedly were. Allegiances were unstable through-
out the war, and Loyalism could also be found among the landlord class.”®

In 1775 the traditional Dutchess elite continued to represent the county in
colonial government. Indeed, landlords Beverly Robinson and Robert
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Livingston were elected to the New York Provincial Congress in both 1775 and
1776. Nevertheless, the landed aristocracy was no longer the only voice speak-
ing for the county. The Dutchess delegation in Congress was now almost dou-
ble the size of the county’s representation in the prewar Provincial Assembly
and included such middle-class representatives as Dirck Brinckerhoff and
Jacobus Swarthout. Although neither Brinckerhoff nor Swarthout were tenants,
they were middle-class men drawn from a very different class than the landlord
elite and had been elected in the tenant-dominated region of southern Dutchess.
Despite these differences, at the outset, both landlord and middle-class repre-
sentatives shared the common goal of resisting British imperialism and gener-
ally worked together in the New York Congress. Once the war began to affect
adversely the economy of the Hudson’s east bank, however, this alliance weak-
ened. In time, the military conflict and the negative economic consequences that
flowed from it sundered the fragile unity between the two groups.”!

Some of the problems facing tenants on the Hudson’s east bank were little
different from those confronting freeholders who lived there or on the other side
of the river. The economic problems created by the war and the British block-
ade of New York City had resulted in inflated prices for necessary goods, short-
ages of essential foodstuffs, and a state tax burden beyond the ability of many
to pay. Because of the apparent failure of Dutchess County’s traditional leader-
ship to resolve these problems, the “old guard” was effectively pushed from
power. In 1777 Robert Livingston lost his reelection bid to the State Assembly,
and Beverly Robinson openly declared himself a Tory and fled his estate. Now
that landlords had lost their monopolistic hold on political power, or were
exposed as Tories, the clamor for the confiscation of Loyalist property began to
grow among the county’s landless class.>?

The war had so eroded the tenuous economic conditions that many
Dutchess tenants now perceived that freehold ownership of land was their only
economic hope. If many Patriot leaders supported the confiscation and sale of
Tory property in order to raise money for the war effort, many tenants of south-
ern Dutchess did so because they believed it would lead to their independence
and freedom as landowners. As political pressure for land redistribution grew,
so too did the possibility that the old, simmering tensions between landlord and
tenant might revive, unless some sort of official action on this front was taken.
The new state government first approached this problem by confiscating
Loyalist-owned manors. In late 1778 a petition from “freeholders and others,
inhabitants of the county of Dutchess” stated that unless Loyalist lands were
confiscated and redistributed, “tumults and insurrections” might result.>3

Dutchess County Assemblymen took the lead in calling for land confisca-
tion. Although it was John Morin Scott of New York City who had proposed in
the Assembly in 1778 the first serious plan for confiscating Loyalist land, the
Dutchess County delegation of Henry Luddington, Jacobus Swarthout, and Dirck
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Brinkerhoff became the champions of land confiscation and redistribution. The
statewide legislative battle over confiscation can be seen in microcosm in the
Dutchess County delegation in the Assembly. Egbert Benson, a conservative rev-
olutionary, who represented landlord interests in the new landscape of popular
politics, fought against the confiscation and sale of land in the 1779-1780
Assembly debates. Dirck Brinckerhoff, representing Fishkill in southern Dutchess
(where a majority of the householders were tenants) led the fight for confiscation
and sale. The legislative battle resulted in a Brinckerhoff victory and the
Confiscation Act, which allowed for the confiscation of Loyalist property through-
out the state. Brinckerhoff emerged as a champion of tenant-claims for land;
Benson, who had previously dominated the Dutchess delegation and been an
important provincial-wide voice in the Assembly, lost his bid for reelection.?

Ultimately, the Confiscation Act provided for the sale of 496 forfeited lots
in Dutchess. Over 80 percent of this land had belonged to the once dominant
Loyalist landlords Beverly Robinson and Roger Morris. The law required that
lots be no more than 500 acres in size, and 401 separate buyers purchased this
land in Dutchess. Although many of these purchasers were already freeholders,
some of Robinson’s former tenants also purchased the lots they had once worked
under lease. In this way, land redistribution of substantial proportion had
occurred in the mid-Hudson Valley. Some 150,000 acres of land once possessed
by just two landlords had been divided among several hundred residents, includ-
ing tenants who had not previously owned land.”>

If tenants demanded land, slaves demanded freedom. Slavery had been an
integral part of the economic and social life of the mid-Hudson Valley since the
early eighteenth century. Approximately 6 percent of Dutchess County’s popu-
lation in the decade before the Revolution consisted of slaves, and the propor-
tion of slaves on the west bank was probably twice as high. The overwhelming
majority of slaves were owned by small freeholders, and very few slaveholders
owned more than a handful. In Ulster County, most freeholders did not possess
slaves, but those who did averaged about three slaves per household, which was
about the same number that the typical Dutchess slaveholder owned.®

Although most slaves in the midvalley worked on farms, many were skilled
tradesmen and artisans. Hudson Valley slaves worked in grain and flourmills;
labored in warehouses on the river docks; and served as teamsters moving goods
around the valley and along the river. For the most part, female slaves worked
around their owner’s home. Michael Groth, the foremost student of slavery in
the Hudson Valley, has found that few owners freed their slaves before the
Revolution, even though some European Americans were already criticizing the
institution.”’

The rhetoric of the Revolution, with its emphasis on freedom from tyranny
and the British attempt to “enslave” North Americans, was surely not lost on
African Americans or on many whites. At the outset of the war, some New
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Yorkers were already questioning slavery. New York Quakers petitioned the
State Assembly very early in the conflict for an end to slavery, and Gov. George
Clinton joined the New York Society for Promoting the Manumission of Slaves,
which was established in 1785. Nevertheless, although the rhetoric of the
Revolution emphasized personal liberty, the wartime need for labor and the
heightened fear of slave insurrections overcame the arguments for manumis-
sion. Ultimately, the strongest opposition in the midvalley to abolition devel-
oped among slaveholding farmers who successfully resisted the ever-growing
demand for emancipation for more than a decade after the Revolution.’8

African-American slaves waged a most powerful battle against slavery in
the midvalley, however. The number of slave runaways increased during the
war, as slaves used the close proximity of the British army and the various
wartime dislocations as their opportunity to flee. Newspaper advertisements
seeking the return of runaway slaves reveal that at least sixty slaves escaped
from owners in Dutchess County during the war, and the actual number was
probably much higher. Some slaves even destroyed their owner’s property
before fleeing. “Rachel,” a Dutchess County slave, fled her master in 1781 with
stolen clothes and other belongings. She returned one week later, however, and
set her owner’s home on fire before escaping south behind British lines.>

Although slavery did not receive its death blow in the Revolution, the con-
tinued existence of the institution was debated often in the New York Assembly,
which actually called for gradual emancipation as early as 1785. Although the
Council of Revisions vetoed the bill, the emancipation of slaves in several other
northern states, including the newly independent Vermont, kept the debate alive
in the decade after the war. Slavery was gradually abolished in New York begin-
ning in 1799 with the passage of an emancipation act. Farmers in Ulster, Orange,
and Dutchess, however, remained opposed.®

War and Economic Opportunity in the Mid-Hudson Valley

Even though the wartime midvalley economy was characterized by short-
ages of staple products, hyperinflation, and an increasingly devalued currency,
it also offered economic opportunities that were not lost on enterprising farm-
ers and artisans.%! The enemy blockade halted the importation of British textiles
and thereby encouraged increased domestic production of clothing and other
manufactured goods. Perhaps most important for Hudson Valley farmers,
between 1781 and 1783, the encampment of Gen. George Washington and his
Continental army around New Windsor created a large market for agricultural
produce. The number of the troops changed from year to year (from only a few
hundred to several thousand), but there was, almost without interruption, a body
of men and women who needed to be fed, clothed, and supplied on a daily basis.®?
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Although this situation was atypical, most people of the area participated
in economic activities to support the war. For example, even before the troops
were encamped around New Windsor, the farmers of the region had been brought
into a production network that supplied the army wherever it was stationed. As
part of this system, the Continental Commissary Department built a series of
supply routes and depots throughout the northeastern states of New York,
Pennsylvania, and Connecticut.®3

The extent of wartime production in the mid-Hudson region can be exam-
ined through the Coenradt ElImendorph Account Book. ElImendorph was an army
commissary, instructed to make purchases for the military throughout Orange
and Ulster counties. He was a resident of Kingston, a lieutenant-colonel in the
Continental Line, and a person of some wartime prestige in the Hudson Valley.
Elmendorph directed purchases, hired laborers to move the produce, employed
the butchers and bakers to service the army, and was one of the Continental gov-
ernment’s representatives in determining the price of goods for a given locality.®

Elmendorph’s “Invoice of Supplies, 1778—1779” records in detail the types
of goods he purchased, the quantity, the unit cost, and total price. He also listed
the farmers from whom he purchased goods, their towns, the date of the pur-
chase, and the payment his customers were to receive. This ledger reveals the
market opportunities that the military conflict created for west bank farmers and
the extent to which they took advantage of the prospects.

Elmendorph transacted business with 440 customers. Production of alco-
hol (primarily in the form of distilled grain whiskey and rum) earned the high-
est profits for local farmers in their dealings with the commissary. Liquor was
part of a soldier’s daily ration and was used in surgery as an anesthetic. It con-
sequently accounted for nearly 40 percent of local earnings, even though far
more farmers engaged in the production of beef or grains than of whiskey. Beef
and pork accounted for about 35 percent of Elmendorph’s purchases. One hun-
dred and eighty-three farmers produced meat products, but only forty produced
alcohol. Elmendorph also purchased grain from local farmers. Two hundred and
sixty-six farmers sold, on average, sixty bushels of grain to Elmendorph.®?

This evidence suggests that a large number of midvalley farmers were
engaged in substantial production for the war. Although Patriotism and devo-
tion to the cause cannot be discounted as a possible motivation, economic self-
interest induced many farmers to sell. However, if farmers refused to sell, the
army would have requisitioned whatever it needed anyway, leaving the farmer
in no position to decide what he wanted to sell to the military and what he wanted
to dispose of in other ways. The most significant aspect of this production, how-
ever, is the way it was marketed. Almost all of the produce was sold to an army
agent who paid in cash or notes, an experience that was new to many mid-Hudson
farmers, who were more accustomed to exchanging produce with neighbors or
bartering with local shopkeepers.
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The war years also witnessed an increase in domestic textile manufactur-
ing. Before the Revolution, the North American colonies annually imported
more than ten million yards of linen and cloth from England. The nonimporta-
tion movement and the Revolution changed that. Not only did the farmers of
mid-Hudson communities agree not to import British manufactures, but they
began wearing homespun and engaging in domestic manufacturing. To increase
wool production the Ulster County Committee of Safety voted in 1775 to
“improve the breed, and increase the number of sheep,” and tried to secure a
pledge from local residents not to kill any “sheep under four years old, or pro-
cure them to be killed by others; neither will we sell the best of our sheep to
butchers, or others employed by them to purchase, whereby the breed of our
sheep is so muchinjured.” Anyone who sold or ate lambs or ewes was denounced
as an enemy of the American cause.®

Furthermore, during the war, the Ulster Committee of Safety employed
hundreds of women to sew stockings and blankets and to weave the fabric needed
for military uniforms. The state government assessed local towns a quota of
shirts, shoes, and other products, and it then sent to the towns the wool, cloth,
or other raw products needed to produce these goods. The local committees dis-
tributed raw materials to local farm families, who spun and wove the finished
products, which were then collected and sent to the army supplier. For exam-
ple, in April 1777, the Provincial Congress paid £600 for stockings and blan-
kets to the Ulster Committee, which then distributed the cloth and yarn to local
farm families for production. Ulster also became a focal point for shoe manu-
facturing for the Continental army, as the various county committees collected
and then sent hides to Marbletown, where the hides were tanned and then “put-
out” to local cordwainers to manufacture shoes at eighteen to twenty shillings
a pair.%”

Even with these developments, the midvalley failed for several reasons to
develop into an extensive postwar manufacturing region. First, the market for
finished products was still small and dispersed, and after the war those urban
areas, where the demand existed, could get their goods more cheaply from
British producers. In addition, local merchants in the region (and elsewhere)
favored investing in bonds, public certificates, real estate, and a variety of other
areas, but not in developing a rural outwork system of manufacturing. These
other mediums of investment were potentially much more profitable in the post-
war period than a large-scale network of outwork production.%®

Nevertheless, the midvalley connection to commercial markets received a
boost from the war, as military contractors and merchants actively sought farm-
ers’ goods and thereby opened up a variety of opportunities and a competitive
market hitherto unknown to many yeoman farm families. After the war, specu-
lators from New York City, recognizing the possibilities that lay in developing
the Hudson Valley into a sophisticated manufacturing region made their way
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north to implement their ideas. Daniel Parker and William Duer won military
contracts and opened a series of stores in Orange and Ulster to purchase local
grain. Dutchess County’s Melancton Smith opened a store in 1783 near the old
main army camp in New Windsor with the plan of promoting a continued high
level of market production in the area. In this way, the war impelled farmers to
view their production and trade in market terms.

The Revolutionary War had other profound effects on the mid-Hudson
Valley economy. First, the valley, like much of the northeast, was flooded with
a variety of paper currencies. Some small farmers had never used cash before,
and most had never used it regularly. The war, therefore, helped produce a farm
population increasingly astute in commercial matters. Before the war many
farmers had dealt only with neighbors or their local shopkeeper. These
exchanges were primarily for obtaining goods; the farm produce they exchanged
was a tool to help obtain the goods they needed.

Although these economic developments were significant for the war period,
the increased production of agricultural goods and textiles was not sustained in
the years following the war. Essentially, this enlarged production, much like the
increased use of cash was a response to immediate wartime needs. The rela-
tively limited market for manufactured goods, as well as the existence of alter-
native, and more profitable, investments for those with capital, restrained, at
least temporarily, the region’s long-term economic development.

The Aftermath of War: The Mid-Hudson Valley after 1783

How had the Revolution changed the mid-Hudson Valley? The most
famous fictional character to live through the struggle, Washington Irving’s Rip
Van Winkle, found that the Revolution brought about dramatic changes to his
community. After he returned to town from the Catskills and some twenty years
of sleep, he was befuddled by the unfamiliar surroundings and was briefly mis-
taken for a Tory. Indeed, he found that the “very character of the people seemed
changed. There was a busy, bustling, disputatious tone about it, instead of the
accustomed phlegm and drowsy tranquility.””"

What did Rip detect to be the big difference? Politics! A new democratic
spirit of debate and discussion (indeed, he is not uncoincidentally returning to
town on election day!). Instead of a small group of Dutch elders sitting on the
porch of the local tavern dictating the activities of this fictionalized town, vil-
lagers are debating and arguing politics, “haranguing vehemently about the
rights of citizens-elections-members of congress.””! In essence, what Wash-
ington Irving described in a fictionalized form was a far more democratic, egal-
itarian society, which he believed, had emerged in the central Hudson in the
years following the Revolution.
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Much happened during the Revolution to support this fictionalized view.
In the first place, the war created new opportunities for political advancement.
Before the war, the political leadership in each of the three counties under analy-
sis came from a small, socially and economically prominent part of the popula-
tion. New leaders emerged in all three counties. Some had been wealthy and
prominent before the war, but many had been modest in their backgrounds and
experience, even if they had been ambitious in their goals. These men used the
new town and county committees, the dramatically expanded state assembly,
and the broader franchise offered by the Revolution to advance themselves and
their own self-interest.

A new “class” of leadership, represented best by middle-class leaders like
George Clinton and Dirck Brinckerhoff, emerged and replaced established fam-
ilies that had led their towns and villages for generations. Many of these new
leaders began their political careers serving on local committees of safety and
inspection and quickly graduated to representing their neighbors in the New
York Provincial Congress and the State Assembly. Yet, many of the old fami-
lies remained powerful and influential. The Hasbroucks and Hardenberghs con-
tinued to wield great economic power and remained important political leaders
on the Hudson’s west bank, but they now did so in a vastly different political
and social environment, one in which power was competitively struggled for
and, often, shared.

Some of the most prominent prewar leaders of the mid-Hudson did not sur-
vive the war with their power intact. Some, like Dutchess landlord Beverly
Robinson became Tories, forfeiting their elite status. Nevertheless, most of the
truly powerful families in the midvalley retained their status and property. Even
though the Livingstons of Dutchess suffered politically during the war (Phillip
lost his reelection bid for county sheriff, and Judge Robert his seat in the
Assembly), they reemerged in the years following the struggle as important
political players in local, state, and national politics. The various branches of
the Livingston family retained their large landholdings and tenants, and con-
tinued to enjoy enormous power through the nineteenth century.

Slavery in the mid-Hudson Valley survived the war virtually intact.
Although the number of runaways increased, midvalley farmers were among
the staunchest defenders of chattel slavery and resisted efforts to end the insti-
tution. Indeed, farmers in the three mid-Hudson counties were still fighting
against the gradual emancipation bill in New York at the end of the eighteenth
century.

Probably the most dramatic development of the Revolution in the mid-
Hudson was the impact of the Loyalist land confiscation program. As described,
hundreds of different buyers purchased lots carved from the estates of Roger
Morris, Beverly Robinson, and others, many of the buyers being former tenants
on these estates. Farmers, who once worked on land that had been leased for
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several generations and for which they were required to make improvements
and perhaps work for several days for the lord, now owned their own five-
hundred-acre lots with no obligations to former landlords. The fact that many
of these new independent landholders lost title to their land over the next few
years because of an inability to pay taxes or to meet loan payments does not
detract from what had been one of the most important developments of the war
and which surely was of great importance to these families. Although tenantry
continued in Dutchess and the northern valley after the Revolution, the land
redistribution of the 1780s opened opportunities for land ownership and free-
hold status previously denied to hundreds of Dutchess farmers.
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7

Albany County

Stefan Bielinski

Historians have referred to Albany County as “the crossroads of the American
Revolution.”! Although Albanians had always lived at a geographical juncture,
after 1763 they were also at a crossroads in their own lives. They were torn between
a heritage of living off the fruits of subsistence agriculture and of now being able
to exploit farm and forest for profit. At the same time, new immigrants further
increased the diversity of the county’s population and challenged entrenched inter-
ests. Many of the newcomers had political and social alliances that brought them
opportunities formerly reserved for New York-born elites. In 1775 the county’s
large settler population would be caught in a crossfire, as the Hudson-Mohawk
corridor became an avenue of war and a major battleground. Rich in resources
and in the line of military march, few Albany people could avoid the demands and
dilemmas that powerful external forces now placed upon them. These were try-
ing times for upriver people from all backgrounds and stations.?

By the eve of the American Revolution, Albany was the largest and most
dynamic of the fourteen counties in the royal province of New York. Even though
its physical size had been reduced dramatically by the recent formation of fron-
tier Tryon, Charlotte, Cumberland, and Gloucester Counties, its population had
more than doubled since 1756 to 42,706, a number that included 3,877 slaves
but not the Native Americans who nonetheless still constituted a significant ele-
ment of the population. In 1772 the county was organized into seventeen dis-
tricts (roughly akin to towns), but the centrally located city of Albany, the
county’s most important trading center and entry point for new people, still polit-
ically dominated the county. This early American entrepdt was located at the
crossroads of the Hudson-Mohawk corridors and was well on its way to becom-
ing an important production center.
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The county’s other settlements radiated out from Albany city. Surrounding
it was the large manor of Rensselaerswyck—a well-settled Dutch land grant—
that in 1775 included three distinct plantations on both sides of the Hudson. At
the time, more than a third of the county’s people were residents of either Albany
or Rensselaerswyck. Schenectady, which was located about eighteen miles from
Albany city, had started as a farming community but was now a borough that
was emerging as an independent market for Mohawk Valley products. East of
Albany city, across the Hudson, were the old agricultural settlements of
Kinderhook, Coxsackie, Schoharie, Half Moon, Hoosick, Schaghticoke, and the
German Camp (or Germantown), which was part of Livingston Manor. North
of Albany in the Hudson Valley were Ballstown, Saratoga, Cambridge, Kings
District, and Great Imboght; these communities were more remote, more
recently settled, and much less populated. Lansingburgh was located north of
Albany and east of the Hudson but had not yet achieved district status. Smaller
numbers of settlers were isolated at marginal locations in the mountain regions
of the Heldebergs and the Catskills to the southwest of Albany and the
Adirondacks foothills to the northwest, and in the hardscrabble uplands along
the New England border.?

Albany’s original European population was descended from the New
Netherland Dutch. They had been joined in the early eighteenth century by
German and Scottish newcomers and some English and Irish soldiers and oppor-
tunists. By the 1750s, all these newcomers had intermarried with the children
of New Netherland to produce a substantial American-born population that was
greatly augmented after 1763 by a significant wave of New Englanders, émi-
grés from other American colonies, and Europeans. African-American slaves,
who constituted almost 10 percent of the total population, resided chiefly in the
oldest and most settled parts of the county. In these areas, slavery was wide-
spread but still concentrated around the wealthiest colonial families.*

Albany people were apprehensive and frustrated about the imperial rela-
tionship, even before the British ministry sought to impose new taxes to help
pay for the Seven Years’ War (1756-1763). They already had firsthand experi-
ence in that war with the depredations of large British armies and their disre-
gard for American rights; they were also affronted by the closing off of the
frontier in 1763 and 1768. The Stamp Act and other revenue-raising measures
were reviled and resisted in the Hudson-Mohawk region. Then the royal gov-
ernment in New York parceled out most of the remaining unclaimed acreage in
the area to British favorites, again frustrating Albany people in their desire for
the uniquely American commodity—investment land! Albany men had fought
against the French and were offended when preference was given to politically
connected New Yorkers and the Indians. Standing firm against the royal gov-
ernment’s plan to appoint a stamp tax collector for Albany, in early 1766 the

9 ¢

city’s “sons of liberty” lashed out at suspected applicants and produced a con-
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stitution signed by ninety-four men. They called on Schenectady and the other
districts to join them. Although the charged atmosphere improved when the
Stamp Act was withdrawn, across the county a division appeared between those
aligning with the British government in New York and those who would follow
a more independent vision of what was best for Albany. This new condition
became more acute in the decade that followed.?

Although bitter memories of British mistreatment rankled many people in
the region, it was Albany’s own growth and development over the next ten years
that brought affairs to a head. As crossroads and landings grew into actual com-
munities, more products were needed to sustain the lives of a larger settler pop-
ulation. Ironically, it was the mostly European newcomers who initially sought
to exploit the natural resources found in the American wilderness. At the same
time, entrepreneurial Americans were eager to take advantage of new tech-
nologies and a talented labor pool of newcomers. However, these would-be
investors were frustrated by British manufacturing prohibitions and by a per-
ceived reluctance on the part of the royal government to make land grants to
patent partnerships that consisted only of Americans.

Despite festering animosities, Albany County nonetheless boomed, as new
settlers started to farm the land. Local landlords and entrepreneurs sought to turn
farm and forest produce into commercial products instead of merely exporting
cutand processed staples toresource-starved British factories and mills. Because
New York’s population was expanding rapidly, trade and commerce flowed from
Albany south to New York City and north to British-controlled Canada. During
the early 1770s, Hudson River skippers began to take their cargoes to the West
Indies, while investors looked to forbidden markets beyond. Local entrepre-
neurs advertised in the Albany Gazette, which began publication in 1771. With
population growth fueled by natural increase and by an influx of new business
and professional people, new development features including roads and water-
ways, docks, mills, kilns, and yards appeared on the socioeconomic landscape
as wide-open Albany reached for sustained economic growth.®

This new development was hindered by the imperial crises that followed
implementation of the Tea Actin 1773. During the summer of 1774, a city-based
Albany committee secretly voted to support sending New York delegates to the
Continental Congress. In January 1775 a county “Committee of Correspondence,
Safety, and Protection,” which contained people from additional settlements, met
publicly at an Albany tavern and agreed to send representatives to a Provincial
Congress and to encourage the districts to form their own action committees.
However, not all of the county’s diverse communities dealt with the situation in
the same way. The city of Albany and surrounding Rensselaerswyck took the lead
in resistance activities. These long-established communities contained few
Britons and were most prominent at county meetings. They also sought to have
the county committee replace the civil government, whose officers were led by



158 Stefan Bielinski

royal appointees. Schenectady formed its own committee that quickly sought to
take charge on the Mohawk frontier. Most of the other less-populated districts
set up their committees and chose delegates to the county committee. However,
they strained to implement the county committee’s decrees on the local level.

As the ice went out of the waterways and farmers prepared to plant crops,
the action at Lexington and Concord, and, closer to home, the American cap-
ture of Crown Point and Ticonderoga, caught most Albany people unaware and
unprepared. Some grasped the gravity of the new military situation, but most
people remained focused on their usual economic activities. With royal gov-
ernment in New York in disarray, extralegal provincial congresses and local
committees spurred the people into action.

Led by Chairman Abraham Yates Jr., and other Albany-based advocates of
American liberties, the insurgent county committee led resistance activities. It
urged the localities to organize, sign a nonimportation agreement, and to assure
Patriot brethren beyond the Albany stockade that “we mean to Co-operate in
this arduous struggle for Liberty to the utmost of our Power.” The county com-
mittee took steps to collect relief materials, to identify potential enemies of lib-
erty, and to support the formation of a new militia.”

In the spring of 1775, the Provincial Congress reconstituted the colonial
militia to protect American liberties. By the end of summer, eighteen Albany
County regiments were organized representing each of the districts. Merchant-
landowner Abraham Ten Broeck was named commander of the county militia,
and each unit was staffed with local officers commissioned by the Provincial
Congress. As in colonial times, militia service was an ongoing obligation for
white males. But now, the demands made on county residents increased dra-
matically, because the Albany committee frequently called on the militia to pro-
tect needed resources, intimidate and apprehend suspected Tories, and even to
march into battle. Throughout the war years, units of the county militia were
mobilized and sent in all directions from Albany. In the fall of 1777, virtually
the entire county militia went to Saratoga, where Albany men helped thwart the
British offensive. Although all adult males were eligible for militia service, mili-
tia companies functionally were composed of young or recently arrived men
from the countryside, while their officers were prominent merchants and land-
holders and their sons. Adult artisans, transporters, and farmers frequently were
exempted, because they were needed for the homefront war effort. At the onset
of each emergency, an allotment of soldiers was drafted out of each militia unit
and sent to Ticonderoga or the Mohawk Valley for active duty. The absence of
these residents placed great strains on the family and community economies
they left behind.

At the intercolonial level, a newly formed Continental army placed Gen.
Philip Schuyler in command of the Northern Department. Four Continental reg-
iments, called the New York Line, were filled with soldiers enlisted from the
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militia companies. The Continental Congress commissioned the officers.
Commissary and quartermaster departments, created to provision and supply
the troops, were headquartered in New York, in the mid-Hudson region, and in
Albany. The Second Regiment of the Line represented Albany and the coun-
tryside to the north. It was commanded by Goose Van Schaick who was, like
Schuyler and Ten Broeck, a veteran of the French and Indian War. Most of its
officers were sons of prominent New Netherland ancestry families.

From the beginning of the conflict, a British attack from Canada was
expected, and the Champlain-Hudson corridors figured to become scenes of bat-
tle. From their Albany homes, General Schuyler and Colonel Van Schaick took
charge of filling out rosters, mobilizing defenses, helping establish supply net-
works, and dealing with the Iroquois, whose neutrality (if not support) was
viewed as critical to the war effort and to the safety of the region. Merchants,
artisans, transporters, and agriculturists were asked to contribute their specific
talents and resources in defense of American liberties. Moreover, a widely rep-
resentative Albany County committee pressed their neighbors from Cambridge
in the north to Catskill in the south to participate in the war effort.?

In well-populated Albany, Rensselaerswyck, and Schenectady, the com-
mittee was successful in engendering support and in identifying and neutraliz-
ing those who opposed resistance activities. Merchants and shippers were
watched to keep them from profiteering and dealing in restricted commodities.
But in the expansive and more recently settled Albany countryside, some farm-
ers (especially those newcomers without extensive kinship ties to older com-
munities) sought to tend their fields and stock. Some rural districts answered
county committee requests with petitions to be excused from participating in a
military mobilization. Motives for nonparticipation were complex and only
became clear as the conflict developed.

The county endured its first test later in 1775, when the Continental
Congress ordered Schuyler to attack British strongholds to the north. Although
the Continental army constituted the actual invasion force, the Albany militia
was called on to garrison Fort Ticonderoga and other newly acquired northern
outposts, to establish transportation links, and to maintain supply lines for the
invading Americans. However, the initiative failed, placed a wintertime strain
on Albany resources, revealed that many county people did not support such
aggressive measures, and assured that the British would seek revenge in the
months to come. The ill-fated campaign also brought to Albany County a large
number of soldiers and their families who had left Quebec to find liberty. Many
of these French-ancestry Canadians would find new homes in the upper Hudson
and Mohawk Valleys. But until the return of peace, they were refugees.’

The beginning of 1776 was much different from the previous year, as most
Albany people now began to grasp the gravity of the situation and to understand
that they had reason to fear the future. New York’s royal government had ceased
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toexist, leaving the Albany County Committee of Correspondence to take charge
on the homefront. First, it launched a concerted effort to collect spare arms and
ordnance in the county for the American army besieging Boston. It then began
an active campaign, first against “non-associators” and then against a growing
number of “disaffected” peoples who were now identified as “enemies of
Liberty!” Overt Tories first left for Canada and later for British-occupied New
York City. Others, like the Tunnicliffs, an extended family of recent English
émigrés, withdrew to the Unadilla River, and to the more remote parts of the
county. Others, including Abraham C. Cuyler, an Albany native and the last royal
mayor, were apprehended and sent to New England, where they would pose less
of a threat to the county’s internal security. More recently arrived royal place-
holders like Postmaster John Monier would be incarcerated in the newly estab-
lished Tory jail or placed under house arrest. The removal of all these British
adherents from active life left the committee in control of their property and of
the persons they left behind.'°

Watershed events during the summer of 1776 set up an irrevocable course
of action. The Declaration of Independence, the British occupation of greater
New York City, and the attack from Canada placed Albany County directly in
the line of fire. Military preparedness took on anew urgency. Therefore, Schuyler
began building roads and readying bateaux and other watercraft to carry sol-
diers and supplies to the anticipated front lines in the north. In the months that
followed, the old fort and hospital at Albany were reinforced; an armory and
powder house were erected; a barracks was built in Schenectady; Schoharie and
Schaghticoke were fortified; and a blockhouse was established at Ballstown to
protect the county’s northern borders.

With the invasion of Canada in 1775, Albany had reverted to its historic
role as a staging area for military operations. In the years that followed, large
armies were massed at Albany and its environs. Most of these American sol-
diers came from other colonies and needed to be quartered, supplied, and pro-
visioned. Continental commissary and quartermaster offices were set up in
Albany and staffed with local merchants who were deputized to find and secure
supplies and provisions from a large but increasingly depleted countryside. An
outstanding prewar breadbasket, in the autumn of 1776 greater Albany experi-
enced a stunted harvest caused by the pressure of an anticipated British attack;
the reluctance of a large, unsympathetic (if not hostile) segment of its popula-
tion who were hesitant to part with their crops; and the loss of many young farm-
ers and husbandmen to military service.

The closing off of New York City and the lower Hudson Valley created
serious shortages throughout the county. Once Albany farmers had diverted
enough of their harvests to family subsistence, they had little left over for sale.
Those who hoarded country products or sold imported items were likely to be
branded as Tories and thus have their stocks and staples confiscated. Every
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household in the county felt the effects of scarcity, because all producers and
vendors eventually lost control of their ability to do business.

The British occupation of lower New York sent hundreds of wealthy
Patriots upriver to the safety of family holdings in the city of Albany and its
countryside. Prewar commercial links were severed; dozens of individuals who
had conducted business in Albany and New York City were now in exile upriver
and unable to connect with the Manhattan port area. At the same time, vulner-
able settlers on the large and undefended frontier were leaving their farms and
retreating to the safety of the more settled areas. By the end of 1776, the county’s
most populated areas felt the burden of these increasingly demanding refugee
groups.

The situation was grim. The American army had been pushed out of lower
New York, and the peripatetic state Convention was struggling to form a new
government. To compound these problems, Albany people understood that a
more determined British offensive would take place in 1777. To check poten-
tial Tory incursions, in the fall of 1776 Ranger companies were organized and
stationed at Ballstown, Coxsackie, Schoharie, and other vulnerable locations.
Throughout the next spring, the county committee accelerated its efforts to main-
tain and improve supply and communications lines and to take an even firmer
hand at rooting out the enemies of American liberty who still lived in the
county.!!

Influenced by disparately cautious newcomers from Albany and Mass-
achusetts, the old farming village of Kinderhook stood out in its reluctance to
support the American cause. Although Patriots were found in the local militia,
the Kinderhook committee was unable to comply with Albany’s directives and
generally could not be counted on to fill militia or supply quotas or to suppress
internal enemies. On several occasions, the county committee sent militia units
and rangers to apprehend troublemakers. Among the most recalcitrant native
sons were the Van Schaacks. Peter was a one-time New York attorney of some
distinction, whose conscience prevented him from supporting any war. His older
brother, Henry, was a complex character who evolved from Whig committee
member to Tory prisoner and then exile in New England. Insulated by geogra-
phy from the actual fighting, multiethnic Kinderhook never developed an effec-
tive revolutionary movement. Despite Albany’s prodding, it was known as a
Tory haven throughout the war. In the spring of 1777, the fear of Tory activities
prompted General Gates to station Continental soldiers in the Kinderhook
District. Because of its somewhat isolated inland location, multiethnic Kinder-
hook people were never directly stressed by military imperatives.!?

Immediately east of Kinderhook was the King’s District, which had been
settled a decade earlier by Connecticut Whigs who had been frustrated in their
attempts to secure a New York patent for land technically within the boundaries
of Van Rensselaer Manor. These settlers represented a growing New England
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presence within eastern New York’s emerging “Yankee Zone.” In contrast to
unresponsive Kinderhook, the revolutionary cause could count on “a thousand
men” under arms in the King’s District (today’s Canaan, New York) and on its
leaders to lend support and suppress Tories. Politically ambitious landholder
Matthew Adgate emerged from this group as a revolutionary leader of statewide
importance. '3

Because large invasion forces threatened Albany from three directions in
1777, county people braced for an unprecedented but certain siege. During the
summer, farmers in the outlying districts were instructed to take their remain-
ing livestock and other animals beyond the range of British foragers. At old
Saratoga, General Schuyler’s extensive farmlands were not burned as tradition
claims, but his estate was evacuated, and many of his terrified neighbors fell
back to Albany, leaving fields and farms to the mercy of the invaders. At the
same time, Schaghticoke farmers were offering to sell their abandoned crops to
the Continental army.

At harvest time, the bounty of eastern Albany County Schaghticoke and
Hoosick farms did not escape the notice of John Burgoyne’s advancing and hun-
gry army. On August 16, Hessian hunters headed for a supposed supply cache
at Bennington. They were ambushed and routed by American forces along the
Walloomsac River a few miles west of the new independent “nation” of Vermont.
Among those killed in the engagement was Francis Pfister, a one-time British
officer and engineer and one of a number of loyal British subjects who had set-
tled in the greater Hoosick Valley just prior to the outbreak of war. He was a
member of a Tory militia unit that threatened the New Englanders and native
New Yorker Patriots. They were in the majority in the Hoosick, Schaghticoke,
and Cambridge districts, but the advancing British armies had plundered their
farms. After the so-called Battle of Bennington, most of these eastern New York
Loyalists fled to Canada.

Burgoyne’s massive army moved west across the Hudson River on
September 13, 1777. Over the next month, one of the most significant military
actions in American history unfolded across the farms of northern Albany
County. Most farmers had already fled either south to Albany or north to British
Canada. Militiamen, suppliers, and transporters from every part of the county
played important parts in this great American victory. However, the battle left
the landscape so devastated that it remained unproductive for many years.
During the Saratoga campaign, Albany served as a staging area for the American
defense. Soldiers and supplies were shipped north on newly made bateaux, while
the sick and wounded turned the former British army hospital in Albany into a
major medical center.!4

With the simultaneous approach of British ships from the south, the Dutch
and German farmers of exposed Coxsackie and Great Imboght (Catskill) dis-
tricts were instructed to drive their stock into the forest to prevent capture, to
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pack their valuables for a speedy withdrawal, and to ship wheat and grains to
the comparative safety of Albany City. Southern county farmers had been early
supporters of the fight for American liberty. More than 220 freeholders signed
the “Coxsackie Association” in May 1775, and the region contributed soldiers
and supplies throughout the war. The Eleventh Regiment of the Albany County
Militia protected the southern west bank and also fought at Saratoga. While local
militia stood with Continental forces at Saratoga, the war came dangerously
close to home in October, when British raiders from New York City burned the
Livingston Manor House, less than fifty miles from Albany.!

Although the British had been repelled, Albany County was in a shambles.
Its diverse peoples were dislocated, dismayed, and no longer able to live off of
stored resources. The more settled areas were clogged with refugees, soldiers,
and the sick and wounded. The outlying districts feared raids by Tories and
Indians. In mid-December, a fire destroyed a number of homes in Schenectady,
and inhabitants were left to beg for relief from Albany and the rest of the county.
But it was clear that the people of the county would need to rebuild their soci-
ety or they would starve and perish.

The spring of 1778 brought a new resolve to return to a more normal exis-
tence, toreclaim the land, to begin producing foodstuffs and staples, and to make
in quantity the weapons, implements, and supplies needed for the American war
effort. An immediate need, however, was for a functional civil government. The
first meetings of the new state government in 1778 drew many of the county’s
leaders to Kingston. Meanwhile, municipal government resumed in the city of
Albany. Governor Clinton appointed citywide officers. After a two-year hiatus,
the Common Council met again on April 17 and began considering petitions
from new and old Albany people for space to open stores, shops, and new pro-
duction facilities.

Revolutionary leaders were anxious for greater Albany to resume agricul-
tural operations as well. Across the county, saw and gristmills were refurbished,
and their owners were pushed to turn out more boards and bags of flour. With
fields and forests no longer directly menaced by the enemy, asheries, tanneries,
and breweries also underwent similar revivals. In Albany workhouses (primi-
tive factories) were established to make shoes and other leather products. Always
at a premium, cattle and livestock were more closely monitored by Continental
commissaries to prevent their disappearance. Weavers were tapped for cloth that
local men and women made into sails, tents, and clothing. Metal craftsmen were
called on to engage and organize apprentices to turn out shovels, nails, knives,
and bayonets.

The destruction caused by the campaign of 1777 also stifled cultural and
spiritual life. The only printers in the region had been Tories who fled to New
York City, where they started a Loyalist newspaper. Budding Anglican congre-
gations in Albany, in Schenectady, and in frontier chapels withered, because they
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carried the stigma of “Church of England.” Their demise deprived English
speakers of an important social institution. Impeded by wartime conditions, itin-
erant Lutheran pastors made even fewer visits to Albany County chapels, and
the recently formed Presbyterian meetinghouse fell into limbo as well. But the
functioning Dutch Reformed churches in Albany, Schenectady, Kinderhook, and
Schaghticoke became a haven for those seeking spiritual as well as material
relief. With the appearance of more soldiers, victuallers, medical people, army
officers, and agents of the new state government, Albany became the center of
operations in upstate New York. This new influx of talented outsiders included
a cadre of lawyers who removed to Albany pending the end of the war. These
newcomers joined with local leaders to lay the foundation for what would
become the nerve center of the Empire State.!®

The royalist cause in Albany County might have been much stronger had
Sir William Johnson not died suddenly in the summer of 1774. The passing of
that British stalwart left a leadership vacuum among the growing number of
native English speakers in the Hudson-Mohawk region. Many of the county’s
newer residents who arrived after the Seven Years’ War were Scots—Irish
Highlanders or discharged British soldiers with strong ties to the Crown. They
were not welcomed by an entrenched New York-born settler population of non-
English background. Instead, they supported royal government and settled in
the remote reaches of the county beyond the established settlements carved out
by the children of New Netherland. By the end of 1776, many of these immi-
grants were overt Loyalists and either had been neutralized by the Albany com-
mittee or had fled the county. Even though a large number of loyal British
subjects still remained in the Albany countryside, the Burgoyne invasion of 1777
seriously overestimated the level of support loyal farmers could provide. With
the failure of the Burgoyne campaign, the new state sought to punish those who
had supported it. A set of legislative enactments set up mechanisms (oaths) for
identifying the disloyal, banishing them, and then sequestering and finally con-
fiscating their property. The Act of Attainder of October 1779 condemned the
state’s fifty-nine most obvious Tories to death if found within the borders of New
York. Included in this group were erstwhile Albany mayor Abraham C. Cuyler,
Robert Leake, and Edward and Ebenezer Jessup, local landholders and Loyalist
officers.!”

In 1778 the State legislature had created the Commissioners for Detecting
and Defeating Conspiracies to guard “against the wicked Machinations and
Designs of . . . Foreign and Domestic Foes.” Subsequent legislation defined the
organization’s responsibilities and established boards in different counties.
Having brought internal enemies under control in the most settled areas during
the two previous years, this body was the political tool Albany’s revolutionary
leaders needed to secure the more isolated parts of the countryside. As late as
1780 active Loyalists still posed a real threat in the outlying districts. Over the
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next two years, the Albany Commissioners rooted out Loyalists in the county.
Informants were cultivated in each district, as the commissioners gathered infor-
mation on potential internal enemies. Evidence on dozens of suspected Tories
was evaluated. Militia detachments were sent into the countryside to bring in
suspected Tories for examination. Many with ties to upstanding revolutionaries
typically were required to post bail guaranteeing their good behavior. Strangers
were ordered to leave the county. In February 1783 the commissioners dealt
Albany’s remaining Loyalists a final blow by banishing thirty-one prominent
residents for refusing to sign the loyalty oath.!®

Of particular concern were two enclaves of English religious extremists
who had settled first in Watervliet and afterwards near the Massachusetts bor-
der in the King’s District. These “shaking Quakers,” or “Shakers,” were paci-
fists who were denounced by their neighbors, especially after the Shakers refused
to bear arms themselves, were implicated in plans to purchase munitions for the
enemy, and began encouraging slaves to flee to the British who promised them
freedom.!?

The county’s large African ancestry minority was concentrated around the
wealthiest of the old Albany families most of whom lived around Albany and
Schenectady. Patriot masters used slave men and boys to perform a range of
war-related tasks, for which owners were sometimes compensated by the Albany
committee. Female slaves continued to perform domestic chores for which they
received little remuneration. During wartime, the already loose restrictions char-
acteristic of slavery in the north became even more lax, for Patriot owners often
were absent or preoccupied. Because of this breakdown in discipline, some
slaves were able to earn wages that made them historically visible as individu-
als for the first time. During the late 1770s, references to small enclaves of free
blacks began to appear in the historical records of Albany, Schenectady, and
Watervliet. Men and women of African ancestry found themselves able to
acquire enough wealth to purchase or lease house lots. Moreover, the presence
of free blacks as soldiers in the armies stationed at and passing through Albany
during the war, allowed Afro-Albanians to envision a future that might include
freedom.

From the start of the conflict, patriot leaders were aware that the large slave
population of unknown loyalty might pose a threat to the safety and security of
the region. Unsolved mysterious events and violent disturbances were likely to
be blamed on “Negroes.” Much revolutionary rhetoric charged that all slaves
were Tories who were likely to flee to the British at the first opportunity. Except
for unfounded reports, the sole incidence of slave disloyalty came in March
1778, when a group of slaves was caught trying to leave Albany in a boat.?’

The defeat of Burgoyne’s army at Saratoga destroyed British ambition to
mount another large-scale offensive. Instead, they adopted terror tactics across
upstate New York to divert American forces away from more southern battle-



166 Stefan Bielinski

fields and to inhibit the Americans’ ability to produce food and supplies for the
larger war effort. From 1778 to the end of the war, British-inspired raiders
attacked settlements on the New York frontier, especially exposed western set-
tlements in Tryon County. But the fear of attack touched every community in
Albany County as well. In Duanesburgh, a large proprietorship located between
Schenectady and the Schoharie Creek, many of James Duane’s tenants were
unable to work their farms, mills, and asheries because of the constant fear of
Tory raiders.

Albany County did not escape the torch entirely, for Tories and Indians
attacked isolated farms in the years following Saratoga. In the autumn of 1780,
Sir John Johnson led a large raiding party east from Niagara into the Schoharie
Valley breadbasket, burning the fields in his path. On October 17 he engaged an
American force at Middle Fort (Middleburgh), destroyed the settlement, and
burned old Schoharie (Lower Fort). Then he torched his way to the Mohawk,
leaving the Schoharie Valley smoldering in ruin, as German and Dutch farmers
took to the hills, unable to protect their homes and fields. Also that month, another
party of British and Indian raiders commanded by John Munro, a former
Schenectady merchant, attacked Ballstown. Avoiding the stockade fort, the
raiders destroyed several outlying homes and carried away more than twenty
prisoners.”!

These were dark days in the struggle for independence. Uncertainty bred
suspicion, disputes, and denunciations. Justifiable fear of spies and plots haunted
the people, especially after Tory raiders menaced a number of prominent revo-
lutionary leaders. One of these was Gen. Philip Schuyler, who for years was
rumored to be the victim of Tory kidnapping plots. By August 1781 he had gath-
ered his family into a guarded compound at his Albany home, where a party of
Tory marauders subsequently captured one of the guards, wounded another, and
stole some silver.??

As the war was winding down, refugees returned to their homes in the
county’s outlying districts, and the militia reverted to its original peacekeeping
role. In Schaghticoke, a well-populated agricultural satellite situated northeast
of Albany, most of the landed farmers sided with their revolutionary kin in
Albany, and the Fourteenth Regiment under Col. Johannes Knickerbacker stood
guard against Tory incursions and would-be Vermont squatters. However, dur-
ing the latter stages of the conflict, many of those suspected of Loyalism were
actually recent émigrés from New England, who simply sought better farmland.
However, the Commissioners on Conspiracies forced them to post bail guaran-
teeing good behavior or pressed them into service.?

In June 1782 General Washington and his advisors visited Albany to eval-
uate options for repelling a possible attack from Canada. Feted and granted the
keys to the city, his party then went on to Schenectady. His presence bolstered
morale and raised hope that the end of the long conflict was in sight. Washington
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returned the following summer and made an extensive tour of the entire region.
Along his circuitous route, as people turned out to greet him, their mood shifted
from depression to hope as Albanians now realized that the war was over.2*

On a late August Market Day in 1783, the Albany air buzzed with energy
and excitement. The city’s main streets were busy and crowded with people in
motion. The commotion began with the familiar sight of country people bring-
ing grains, produce, and livestock to be valued at the city market. From all direc-
tions, farmers and husbandmen converged on Albany, their boats and wagons
loaded with animals, farm, and forest products that for the past eight years mostly
had been preempted by the military. With the Articles of Peace already in place,
these farmers from the outlying districts understood that everything they pro-
duced would be much in demand. At every store and shop, country people were
met by merchants and artisans eager to trade. Many of these businessmen were
long familiar; some customers were hailing them as “cousin” and “uncle.” But
an even larger number of the anxious storekeepers had been in Albany for a
decade or less. These new traders with strange sounding voices caught produc-
ers’ ears, for they usually offered the most interesting items in exchange for
country produce.

In the street, long-standing Albanians rubbed elbows with an extraordinary
array of new people: immigrants from Europe, Yankees, and other Americans
who were willing to pay inflated prices for the goods they needed, as they headed
out to new homes in the north and west. For the first time in years, only a few
uniformed soldiers were visible on the street, quite a contrast to the years since
1775, when hundreds of new men and boys in red and blue were jammed into
the city. Some of these recently discharged Patriots were returning home, oth-
ers were outsiders who had come to Albany to stay. Long-time Albany people,
aflood of transients, government employees and officials, soldiers awaiting dis-
charge, and many new people occupied vacant city buildings and petitioned the
city council for permission to build on almost every parcel of available land.

Independence and the end of the war dramatically changed the county’s
political, social, and economic landscapes. Within two decades, old Albany had
been carved into six additional counties, all of which were settled by people
from New England and beyond. The land that now encompassed postfrontier
Albany County was confined to the west side of the Hudson and was bounded
by the Mohawk River in the north and the Heldeberg Mountains on the west.
Nonetheless, the county’s population continued to grow—reaching 25,155 by
1800 and 34,661 a decade later. By 1797 New York State government had set-
tled permanently in Albany, and the city became the defacto state capital. Some
of those who came to Albany as wartime refugees either returned home or moved
on. But another wave of talented and ambitious newcomers was drawn to the
center of New York State government and the upstate hub of budding medical,
education, and publishing enterprises as well.
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Immediately these newcomers joined in and competed with residents of
old Albany in an effort to take advantage of new technologies, resources, and
markets. Born of necessity during the struggle for independence, factories and
mills now sprang up all over the county, particularly in the new manufacturing
center of Watervliet (West Troy). These new industries were also prominent
along the streams, which flowed through Bethlehem, Coeymans, and
Guilderland and eventually emptied into the Hudson, and in the Heldeberg hill
towns as well. With the coming of age of Stephen Van Rensselaer III in 1784,
feudal Rensselaerswyck began to evolve into more modern forms, with cities,
manufacturing complexes, military installations, schools, and canals—the out-
standing features of Albany County’s nineteenth-century landscape!?
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printed, 1974). For conditions at the military hospital in Albany, see Dr. James Thatcher’s
Military Journal during the American Revolutionary War from 1776 to 1783 (Boston,
1823), entry for Oct. 24, 1777. See also Mary C. Gillett, The Army Medical Department,
1775—-1818 (Washington, D.C., 1981), chapter 4.

15. An exceptional window on the southern Albany homefront is found in Letters
Froma Revolution, 1775-1783: A Selection From the Bronck Family Papers At the Greene
County Historical Society, ed. Raymond Beecher (Coxsackie and Albany, 1973). Horne,
Greene County Catskills, chaps. 4-5.

16. This section is based on an interpretive reading of the sources and narratives
cited elsewhere in this essay. Especially interesting (yet puzzling for their contradictory
information) are the numerous accounts and reminiscences of visitors to the Albany area.
See, for example, the notorious Thomas Anburey, Travels through the Interior Parts of
America (London, 1789); [author unknown], The Sexagenary: or, Reminiscences of the
American Revolution (Albany, 1866); and Simeon E. Baldwin, ed., Life and Letters of
Simeon Baldwin (New Haven, 1918), 86—180, an extensive commentary by a Yale-edu-
cated Albany schoolmaster. Conditions in Albany County are reported and discussed
throughout Public Papers of George Clinton, First Governor of New York, vol. 2, edited
by Hugh Hastings (Albany, 1900). See also Gerlach, Proud Patriot, chapters 10-11.
Copies of all known narratives on early Albany are archived at the Colonial Albany
Project office.

17. The latest word on the subject is Philip Ranlet, The New York Loyalists
(Knoxville, Tenn., 1986), but it is little concerned with Loyalists in the Albany country-
side or in its communities. For the pro-British mindset of the newcomers, see Bailyn,
Voyagers to the West, especially as described in the final chapter, entitled “New York:
Swarming to the North,” 573-637. Also see, Alice P. Kenney, “The Albany Dutch:
Loyalists and Patriots,” New York History 42 (October 1961), 331-50. The most
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comprehensive chronicle of anti-Loyalist measures still is found in Alexander C. Flick,
Loyalism in New York during the American Revolution (New York, 1901).

18. Minutes of the Commissioners for Detecting and Defeating Conspiracies in the
State of New York: Albany County Sessions, 1778-1781, 3 vols., ed. Victor H. Paltsits
(Albany, 1909-1910; reprinted 1972), hereafter cited as CDDC. The Albany commis-
sioners have been more closely studied by Sean O’Mara in “Defining and Regulating a
Revolutionary Community: The Albany Board of the Commissioners for Detecting and
Defeating Conspiracies,” an unpublished conference paper on file at the Colonial Albany
Project. Almost all of those listed on the “Return of the Persons banished at Albany” were
born in Albany County, a testimony to the thoroughness of the inquisition. Printed in
Calendar of Historical Manuscripts Relating to the War of the Revolution (Albany, 1868),
2:364. This was the last of a number of lists of the “disaffected.”

19. The Commissioners’ dealings with the Shakers are chronicled in their printed
minutes, CDDC, 2:452-71, 504, 555, 592, 678-80, 724. As early as 1781, informants in
King’s District were passing along information about Shaking Quakers. For the Shakers,
see Stephen J. Stein, The Shaker Experience in America: A History of the United Society
of Believers (New Haven, Conn., 1992).

20. The evolution of a free black community in Albany is considered in Stefan
Bielinski, “The Jacksons, Lattimores, and Schuylers: First African-American Families
of Early Albany,” New York History 77:4 (October 1996), 373-94, and on the Internet in
an expanded form at: http://www.nysm.nysed.gov/albany/art/art-jls.html. Sources iden-
tifying and describing the activities of slaves and free blacks during this period include
the records of government (particularly the Revolutionary committee and commission-
ers), assessment rolls and real estate records, church records, and account books. The
March 1778 incident is described in Stefan Bielinski, “Slavery and Community: Afro-
Albanians and the War,” a manuscript chapter from an in-progress monograph available
online at: http://www.nysm.nysed.gov/albany/or.html. An exciting new window on
African-American women in the local economy comes from ‘“African-American
Consumers in the Segregated Economy of Albany,” a chapter in Aileen B. Agnew, “Silent
Partners: The Economic Life of Women on the Frontier of Colonial New York™ (Ph.D.
diss., University of New Hampshire, 1998), 80—122.

21. Revolutionary leader James Duane was an absentee landlord whose managers
were ineffective in turning the more than fifty prewar tenancies into profit-making enter-
prises. See Edward P. Alexander, A Revolutionary Conservative: James Duane of New
York, 1733—1797 (New York, 1938), 54-59, 216-19. For Schoharie, see Simms,
Schoharie County, and an even more romanticized derivative in William E. Roscoe,
History of Schoharie County, New York (Syracuse, 1882), especially chapter 3.

22. For the attack on Schuyler’s home, see Gerlach, Proud Patriot, 458-60. The
folklore surrounding that event is chronicled in Division for Historic Preservation,
Schuyler Mansion: A Historic Structures Report (Albany, 1977), 29-30.

23. For events in Schaghticoke, see Klopott, “Town of Schaghticoke,” 90-101.
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24. Philip Schuyler hosted Washington on both of his visits; see Gerlach, Proud
Patriot, 479-80, 511-12.

25. Population statistics and information on the formation of new political entities
have been culled from J. H. French, comp., Historical and Statistical Gazetteer of New
York State, (Syracuse, 1860; reprinted 1980). For the city of Albany in the postwar period,
see Stefan Bielinski, “Episodes in the Coming of Age of an Early American Community:
Albany, N.Y., 1780-1793,” in World of the Founders: New York Communities in the
Federal Period, ed. Stephen L. Schechter and Wendell Tripp (Albany, 1990), 108-37.
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Tryon County

Robert W. Venables

Tryon County was established in 1772 as a separate political entity within
the British colony of New York, although the first white settlement in the area
had begunin 1689 as part of Albany County. Tryon included all the lands claimed
by the colony of New York west of the counties of Ulster, Albany, and Charlotte.
The county’s western border was the boundary line established by the Iroquois
Confederacy and the British government at the 1768 Treaty of Fort Stanwix
(now Rome, N.Y.).! On the eve of the American Revolution, the Iroquois
Confederacy was the oldest “empire” in the region. The Iroquois Confederacy
(the “Haudenosaunee,” or people of the longhouse) was made up of a core of
five nations: the Mohawks, Oneidas, Onondagas, Cayugas, and Senecas, rein-
forced through adoptions of other Indian individuals and nations such as the
Tuscaroras. The colonists referred to the Tuscaroras, who had been adopted by
1722, as the sixth nation of the Confederacy, and hence the Iroquois were widely
known as the Six Nations. The Iroquois had established trade and political influ-
ences beyond their homeland’s borders both before and after European contact,
and during the colonial period their extensive commercial and political influ-
ence was recognized by the relatively new empire, that of the British. The
Revolution did not end imperialism among either the whites or the Iroquois, but
rather led to new definitions of empire.

When the Revolution began, Tryon County was within the political domain
of both the Iroquois Confederacy and the British empire—two separate but inter-
dependent sovereign states. Specifically, Tryon County was within the age-old
political domain of two of the Iroquois Confederacy’s member nations: the
Mohawks and the Oneidas.? This factor would complicate the political and mil-
itary course of the Revolution in Tryon County. Although the Oneidas still
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claimed the western reaches of the Mohawk River, by the outbreak of the
Revolution their primary settlements were west of the boundary line marked by
the 1768 Treaty of Fort Stanwix.

In Tryon the European-American families who adhered to the Patriot cause
had generally lived in this frontier county longer than those colonists who
became Loyalists. Many of the Patriot families had endured more than a gen-
eration of warfare with French Canada, during which their families’ safety and
interests had often been ignored in far-away London. In contrast, the Loyalists
tended to be directly tied to Crown employment. Royalists rallied around the
most important Loyalist clan, the family of the late Sir William Johnson, the
Crown’s Superintendent of Indian Affairs who had died in 1774. Patriots tended
to be those colonists who were outside the Johnson clan’s immediate circle. In
general, ethnic identities were not as important as social, political, economic,
and family connections. For example, there were Germans on both sides, and
their individual choices were based on their connections. And even though a
majority of a particular family joined either the Loyalist or Patriot cause, one
or more members of that same family sometimes chose the opposite side or
neutrality.

The Patriots of Tryon County were divided into two basic factions: mod-
erates and radicals. Moderates often had friendships within the Johnson clan.
These friendships were sometimes enhanced by ties through the Masonic lodges,
as in the case of moderate Jelles Fonda.? Before independence was declared in
1776, the moderates wanted to believe that all colonists desired reform within
the British empire, even though Loyalists might “differ with us, in the mode in
Obtaining a Redress of Grievances.” The radicals, on the other hand, resented
the Johnson clan and were determined to overthrow them. The radicals also
wanted to end Iroquois influence in the region; some radicals even sought to
drive Iroquois neighbors out of the county, even though these Iroquois had fought
alongside them against the French. The radicals avidly supported independence
and saw their pro-British opponents, both white and Indian, in simplistic terms
that evolved during the Revolution into outright hatred.’

The oldest families were, of course, Mohawk, and, like their neighbors,
they were divided into factions—Mohawk Loyalists, Mohawk Patriots, and
Mohawk neutrals. But gradually, between 1775 and the summer of 1777, the
actions of one Mohawk family in particular—the extended family of Molly and
Joseph Brant, who were in turn connected to the Johnsons—encouraged most
of the Mohawks to support the British cause.

As with so many other revolutions, friends sometimes became enemies, and
moderates on all sides—Iroquois and colonists alike—gradually lost control of
the Revolution after warfare broke out in Massachusetts in April 1775. By the end
of August 1777, political policies and military actions were being determined by
individuals on both sides who were increasingly willing to use brutality.
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Colonial Background

In 1689 a Swiss, Heinrich Frey, entered the Iroquois Confederacy’s terri-
tory of the “Eastern Door” of the Mohawk nation. With the Mohawks’ permis-
sion, Frey became the first permanent white settler in the area by building a log
cabin near Canajoharie Creek. Frey was both a farmer and fur trader, whose
descendants played major roles in both the Patriot and Loyalist causes.® Two
significant steps in the development of Tryon County’s colonial frontier society
occurred around 1722. That year, about thirty German families moved to the
rich river flats fifty-five miles west of Schenectady and established a settlement
called German Flats.” At about the same time, the Oneidas just west of these set-
tlers adopted Tuscarora refugees from North Carolina. The resettlement of these
Germans and Tuscaroras by two different, overlapping governments—one
British and the other Haudenosaunee—demonstrates how the region could
evolve under coexisting political systems, and that the future of this frontier set-
tlement was not inevitably “either” EuroAmerican “or” Indian.

The distances between colonial settlements in the Mohawk Valley in the
1720s were great. Twenty miles from Schenectady were the settlements of
Caughnawaga and Tribe’s Hill, where the Fonda and Hanson families were dom-
inant. Thirty-five miles from Schenectady were the settlements of Canajoharie,
Palatine, and Stone Arabia, where the Frey and Loucks families were promi-
nent. Finally, farthest west of all was German Flats, twenty miles from the near-
est settlement and fifty-five miles from Schenectady and dominated by the
Herkimer family. Colonists spent the next decades filling in the lands between
these major white settlements, and settlers in the valley profited by supplying
and transporting newcomers. The Mohawk provided an excellent route into the
interior, and soon the valleys that branched off to the south were inhabited by
scattered colonial families. In 1738 Cherry Valley, ten miles south of the
Mohawk River below the German town of Palatine, was settled by a group of
Scotch-Irish from Connecticut and other New England colonies.®

The Mohawks did not fear being engulfed by the colonists. They often gave
away or sold some of their land. In fact, the Mohawks were boldly experiment-
ing and altering their society, continually adapting European technology and ideas.
This adaptation sometimes included layering Anglican Protestant Christianity
upon their own religion.® In 1738 William Johnson arrived in the Mohawk Valley.
He was an Irish colonist with significant family connections within the British
empire. With generous gifts of land from the Mohawks, he built a vast manor estate
and established Tryon County’s most important family.

During the French and Indian War, William Johnson gained military suc-
cesses, a fortune, and the title of baronet, enabling him to be identified as “Sir.”
Sir William soon served the Crown as superintendent of Indian Affairs for the
northern colonies. His closest advisors and friends were beneficiaries of his
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success. His friend Daniel Claus, a German who had been an indigent in
Philadelphia just thirteen years before, married Sir William’s oldest daughter,
Nancy, in 1762. As deputy superintendent of Indian Affairs under Sir William,
Claus served diligently in Montreal after the French and Indian War as the sole
agent for the Canadian Iroquois.!!

Guy Johnson, Sir William’s nephew, acted as Sir William’s principal assis-
tant and secretary. In 1763 Guy married Sir William’s second daughter, Polly.
As a belated wedding gift, Sir William built them a handsome two-story stone
mansion in 1766 on the edge of the north bank of the Mohawk River eighteen
miles west of Schenectady. Sir William included over five thousand acres of
land with the mansion and named the estate “Guy Park.”!?

Perhaps the most significant factor in the influence of Sir William Johnson
was his intimate relation with a prominent Mohawk woman at Canajoharie,
Molly (Mary) Brant. Born about 1736, Molly’s Mohawk name was Gonwat-
sijayeeni (“Kon?watsi?tsiai e n?ni”’), meaning “someone lends her a flower.”!3
In the spring of 1759, Johnson’s German wife, Catherine Weissenberg, died. She
had borne him a son John and two daughters, Ann and Nancy. Molly Brant soon
rose to prominence as Sir William’s consort. Whether Molly Brant married Sir
William in a Mohawk ceremony is unknown. Whatever the circumstances, in
September 1759 she gave birth to their first of eight children. Molly Brant’s
influence among the Mohawks and within the entire Confederacy was consid-
erable, because Iroquois women wielded considerable power through their
clans.!* Sir William, as supportive of his Iroquois relatives as he was of his white
kin, encouraged Molly’s younger brother Joseph, born in 1743.15 As Molly’s
own influence increased over time, she became an elder leader or “clan mother”
among these women.'® Sir William had thus gathered around him an energetic
biracial, multiethnic clan, as his able assistants were now his Mohawk wife and
her considerable Mohawk connections; his children by both Catherine and
Molly; his sons-in-law; and his close friends.

In the midst of the political crises of the 1760s, the Mohawk Valley con-
tinued to prosper. New churches were built to accommodate the growing pop-
ulation, while established congregations replaced their old frame and stone
churches with new, larger edifices. Speculation in Iroquois lands continued to
be the major investment for men such as John and Hendrick Frey, Jelles Fonda,
and Nicholas Herkimer, as well as for Sir William Johnson. The fur trade pros-
pered under the security of peace with the Iroquois. Farmers’ wheat, butter, and
pearl ash brought good prices at Albany and New York, and bateauxmen kept
busy transporting goods up and down the river. An important indicator of the
valley’s postwar prosperity and growth was Sir William Johnson’s successful
petition of January 2, 1772, to the New York Assembly requesting that the area
west of Schenectady be formed into a new county apart from Albany County.
The Assembly granted the petition and created Tryon County, named after Gov.
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William Tryon. Five districts were created: the Mohawk District north of the
river around Fort Johnson; Stone Arabia (Palatine) directly west of the Mohawk
District; Kingsland to the north; Canajoharie on the south side of the river; and
German Flats farthest west on both sides of the river. On July 30, 1772, the new
county was officially inaugurated, when Governor Tryon presided over a provin-
cial council meeting at Johnson Hall. The governor and Johnson spent a few
days reviewing the militia at Johnstown, German Flats, and Fort Herkimer, and
then attended a four-day Indian conference at Johnson Hall.!”

In July 1774, during another conference with the Iroquois Confederacy at
Johnson Hall, Sir William suddenly died. His death came just as colonial protests
over British taxation and imperial policy were about to propel Tryon County’s
multiracial, multiethnic population toward revolution. '3

The Revolution

In 1775 there were about five thousand colonists in Tryon County. About
20 percent of these were tenant farmers of the Johnson family. There were also
about five hundred Mohawks in the county.'”

On March 16 Sir John Johnson, Guy Johnson, and the majority of the mag-
istrates and grand jury of Tryon County signed a declaration opposing the
Continental Association. Then, on April 19, the opening battles of the Revolution
were fought at Lexington and Concord in Massachusetts. Now that political
debate had been trumped by violent confrontation, Patriots in the Mohawk
Valley reacted. Sometime between May 2 and May 15, a large crowd came
together near the road that ran past Jelles Fonda’s home and store on the north
bank of the Mohawk, about eight miles west of Fort Johnson. The crowd had
gathered to raise a Liberty Pole on behalf of the Continental Congress. No one
in the crowd knew how the Johnsons and other Loyalists would respond. The
answer came suddenly, as Sheriff Alexander White led mounted men directly
into the midst of the crowd and dispersed the Patriots. Not a single shot was
fired. No one was hurt. But Tryon County’s Revolution moved from debate to
confrontation, and moderation would thereafter give way to ever-escalating vio-
lence, ironically beginning on the land of the moderate Jelles Fonda.?°

Committees of correspondence in the five districts in the county had been
organized to exchange ideas sometime before June 1775. In the aftermath of
Sheriff White’s action, the local committees began calling themselves
“Committees of Safety” as well as “Committees of Correspondence.”?! On May
24 four committees ( Palatine, Canajoharie, Kingsland, and German Flats) met
as the Tryon County Committee of Correspondence, also known as the United
Committee. Only the committee members for the Mohawk District, the location
of the Johnson clan, did not attend—perhaps because they had not yet entirely
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organized. The other committees assembled at William Seeber’s tavern in
Canajoharie to discuss Guy Johnson’s opposition to the protestors. In addition
to Christopher P. Yates, John Frey, Isaac Paris, and Andrew Finck (the charter
members of the committee) the Palatine district was represented by six other
men, including Peter Waggoner, an important farmer, whose many sons owned
farms neighboring his; Harmanus Van Slyck, a member of a prominent county
family that ran a gristmill and owned extensive lands; and Jacob Klock, the son
of George Klock, a man accused by both the Mohawk Nation and the late Sir
William Johnson of fraudulently obtaining Mohawk lands.??

Canajoharie, which included the entire south bank of the Mohawk River
in Tryon County, sent six representatives, including Nicholas Herkimer,
Ebenezer Cox, David Cox, and William Seeber, in whose tavern the meeting
was held. The Coxes owned extensive lands directly on the Fort Stanwix Treaty
Line. The intolerant and heady Ebenezer Cox was a skilled builder, who had
erected a large gristmill for Nicholas Herkimer. A potential antagonism existed
between these two Patriots, however, because a Cox relative, Julian Cox (per-
haps his father) had been sued and arrested for a debt of £80 by Nicholas in
1767.23

Thirteen men from Kingsland and German Flats attended this United
Committee meeting. They included George Herkimer, Nicholas’s brother;
Duncan McDougal, a relative and probably the brother of Daniel McDougal,
who was amember from Palatine; William Petry, a close friend of the Herkimers;
and Edward Wall, teacher at the Johnstown school established by the late Sir
William Johnson. The United Committee discussed the increasing danger of an
open split with the Johnson clan. The committee assigned David Cox, Edward
Wall, and Duncan McDougal to go to Albany to secure some much-needed pow-
der and to bring it back without being detected by Guy Johnson. The commit-
tee then adjourned.?*

In May, Guy Johnson, who had succeeded Sir William as superintendent
of Indian Affairs for the north, met with some Iroquois near Guy Park. The coun-
cil was convened to hear Indian grievances, including the concerns about a fron-
tier war against some Iroquois’ allies in western Pennsylvania and western
Virginia. Guy was determined to maintain the Iroquois’s alliance with the
Crown, an alliance that had endured for more than a century.?

The Mohawk District Committee of Safety had organized by late May and
included Adam Fonda, the son of the prominent trader Jelles Fonda; Frederick
Fish and Volkert Veeder, two prominent landholders and traders; and Abraham
Yates. Some Patriots from all five district committees of safety convened at
Warner Dygert’s home in Canajoharie. As “the United Committee,” they drafted
a June 2 letter to Guy Johnson, because they were concerned about any politi-
cal decisions he might have made at his May council with the Iroquois.
Moderates such as Nicholas Herkimer, Christopher Yates, and Adam Loucks
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wrote a temperate letter, which explained that the United Committee appreci-
ated Guy’s efforts to deal with the anger of the Iroquois. The letter also declared
that the Patriots had met peacefully only to protest the unconstitutional acts
passed by Parliament. The committee promised to protect Guy in the discharge
of his duties as Indian superintendent. But they protested Sheriff Alexander
White’s dispersal of the peaceful Liberty Pole crowd in early May; the armed
force that Guy kept around his manor; and the searching of all people traveling
on the King’s Highway, which went past Guy’s home. It was also in this letter
that the moderate position was clearly defined: “We cannot think that as you and
your family possess very Large Estates in this County you are unfavorable to
American Freedom altho you may differ with us, in the mode in Obtaining a
Redress of Grievances.”?0

Nicholas Herkimer and Edward Wall, the Johnstown schoolmaster, took
the letter to Guy that same day. Herkimer and two other men decided to wait at
Guy Park for the answer and, while they waited, to observe Guy’s Indian coun-
cil. Herkimer personally knew some of the Iroquois attending, because he often
traded with them. In fact, his close friend Joseph Brant (Thayendanegea, mean-
ing “bundle of sticks” or “two sticks of wood bound together’’), one of the most
popular Mohawk leaders, lived only three miles from him. Brant and Herkimer
were also fellow Masons in St. Patrick’s Masonic Lodge, established in 1766
by Sir William Johnson.?”

Sir Guy Johnson and his agents were concerned lest the Iroquois ally with
the Patriot cause. In December 1774, five months before the Battle of Lexington,
Daniel Claus had taken measures in Canada to make sure that the Indian nations
there remained allied to the king. Claus advised the British commander in
Canada, Gen. Frederick Haldimand, to order councils with the Iroquois held at
garrisons such as Fort Niagara, that were far beyond any white settlement. Thus
the presence of British troops would impress them, and the Patriots would have
difficulty contacting them. Like Claus, Guy Johnson, now in June 1775, began
to feel that Indian councils would not serve the Crown’s cause, if they were held
where the Patriots might intervene. As an example he had only to watch his old
friend and fellow Mason Nicholas Herkimer observing his current council. Thus,
in the midst of the council, Guy suddenly announced that he was going to German
Flats, where he would continue the meeting on the large farm of John Thompson,
one of his agents. But after a short council there, during which he spoke against
the Patriot cause, he moved to Montreal, taking with him his chief assistants,
Daniel Claus and John Butler, as well as all of his agents and interpreters. From
now on, royal direction of Indian affairs in the northern colonies would come
from Canada.?®

Tryon Patriots replaced Loyalists in county offices, beginning with the mili-
tia. When Guy Johnson fled to Canada, Nicholas Herkimer was appointed in his
place as colonel of the militia. Daniel Claus, another militia officer was replaced
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by Frederick Fisher. Other officers who had followed the Indian Department’s
superintendent to Canada were also replaced. At Johnson Hall, Sir John Johnson
viewed this reorganization with apprehension. Sir John had remained in Tryon
to protect his own property and that of his family and friends. For example, he
had ordered all of Daniel Claus’s cattle except those needed to feed his tenants
removed from the riverbank meadows to Claus’s isolated farm in the northern
part of the Mohawk District, away from the center of Patriot activity. Sir John
also supervised the planting of wheat by Claus’s tenants.?? Because he remained
in Tryon, Sir John could see that the United Committee was destroying the soci-
ety that Sir John and his associates had dominated. He became even more
alarmed, when the United Committee disarmed all of John Butler’s tenants. Sir
John wrote to his brother-in-law, Daniel Claus, that “if they make any Attempt
here you may expect to hear of some thing being done.”°

During the fall of 1775 the United Committee was busy rallying support
for the Patriot cause and suppressing those who opposed it. The Patriots replaced
Sheriff Alexander White with John Frey, a founder of the first committee of cor-
respondence in Tryon County. The United Committee and its subordinate dis-
trict committees assumed still more power, when they imprisoned men for the
“crime” of opposing the “Association” of the Continental Congress. The
Association had originally been an oath to uphold the trade embargo declared
by the Continental Congress in 1774, but it had evolved into a pledge of alle-
giance to the Patriot cause, the Continental Congress, and local committees. A
Tryon Loyalist was usually given the chance to sign the Association; once he
did so, he was left alone, so long as he did not openly espouse the Loyalist
cause.’!

Sir John Johnson was alarmed by the radicalism of the Patriots in Tryon
County, for there was even talk of independence. To guard against his own
imprisonment by the Patriots, Sir John fortified Johnson Hall, which was already
flanked by two blockhouses. He also gathered powder and guns from his neigh-
bors and tenants. On January 11, 1776, his preparations prompted Isaac Paris to
warn Maj. Gen. Philip Schuyler in Albany that Sir John had cannons, but the
Patriots had none. Schuyler could not tolerate the existence of a Loyalist fort on
New York’s western flank, so he marched into Tryon County with a small detach-
ment of Continentals. Moderates like Nicholas Herkimer agreed that a show of
force was needed. Herkimer, commander of the county militia, thus joined
Schuyler (a moderate himself) with a large number of militiamen to intimidate
Sir John.3?

When the American force arrived, the Mohawk River was frozen over, and
the ice made a convenient parade ground. In front of Major Jelles Fonda’s store,
the combined force of well over one thousand men marched in review. The pre-
vious September, Sir John had declared that he would not allow the Patriots to
disarm his tenants, as they had disarmed John Butler’s. But in the face of this
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combined Patriot force, Sir John quietly surrendered his tenants’ guns and
returned with General Schuyler to Albany. Sir John was paroled almost imme-
diately, more Tryon citizens signed the Association, and the winter of 1775 to
1776 passed peacefully in Tryon County.3?

In the Spring of 1776, talk of independence greatly escalated. Because
Tryon’s inhabitants had no local newspaper, the chairman of the United
Committee, Isaac Paris, gathered over sixty-five subscriptions to purchase any
New York City newspaper at Albany, to be delivered by express rider.*

At Johnson Hall, Sir John’s hopes of neutrality vanished, when he learned,
sometime during the first two weeks of May, 1776, that the Tryon County
Committee of Safety had unanimously instructed Tryon County’s delegates to
the New York Provincial Congress to vote for independence. Although Sir John
could understand, if not agree, with opposition to specific acts of Parliament, he
could never accept independence.?

Hastily gathering provisions, Sir John assembled 170 of his loyal tenants
and fled Johnson Hall on May 13, 1776. Many of his followers took their wives
and children with them, but Sir John left his wife Mary at Johnson Hall, because
she was four months pregnant. Guided by three Mohawks, the Loyalists trudged
north through the wilderness along the path the Iroquois had marked out earlier
that spring. A few days after the Loyalists left Johnson Hall, a Mohawk mes-
senger caught up with Sir John and told him that the Patriots had taken Lady
Johnson hostage and sent her to Albany. Deeply distressed by this news, Sir John
nevertheless led his party on. After seven days, their provisions ran out, and his
people were forced to eat roots, leaves, and wild onions. Finally, after nine days,
they reached the Mohawk town of Akwesasne (St. Regis), on the St. Lawrence
River seventy-five miles west of Montreal .3

Military Actions in Tryon County

After the Patriots declared independence, the course of the Revolution in
Tryon County was shaped primarily by military events. The British capture of
New York City during the summer of 1776 cut off Patriot access to that major
port. During the summer of 1777, a three-pronged British campaign attempted
to seize control of all New York and to divide New England from the rest of the
rebelling states. A major British column under Gen. John Burgoyne moved
southward along Lake Champlain toward Albany, while a smaller detachment
pushed northward up the Hudson from New York City. Meanwhile, the third
component of this British campaign under Col. Barry St. Leger, moved south
from Oswego toward the Mohawk Valley and on August 2 besieged Patriot-held
Fort Stanwix at the western boundary of Tryon County. About 760 Patriot mili-
tia under Nicholas Herkimer, supported by Oneida-Iroquois scouts, attempted
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to relieve the fort, but on August 6 they were ambushed. The ferocious Battle
of Oriskany ended in a draw, but casualties among the British, the Loyalists, and
their Iroquois allies, together with the approach of another Patriot relief column,
compelled the British to lift the siege of Fort Stanwix.

The Battle of Oriskany was costly to both sides. Among the militia, the
usual killed-to-wounded ratio was reversed; about fifty Patriots were wounded
and at least two hundred were killed. About thirty Patriots had been taken pris-
oner, including Maj. John Frey of the important Canajoharie family and Col.
Frederick Bellinger, owner of the trading post and tavern at German Flats.’
Both Frey and Bellinger had been active in the Committee of Safety, and from
them the British discovered that a great number of committee members and key
Patriot leaders had been killed or severely wounded. Colonel Cox, Major Van
Slyck, Samuel Billington, John Dygert, and Jacob Snell were dead. Nicholas
Herkimer was mortally wounded, and Isaac Paris, the radical chairman of the
county’s United Committee, was a prisoner of the Iroquois. Colonel St. Leger
wrote to General Burgoyne that “almost all the principal movers of rebellion in
that country” were dead.® It was no exaggeration. The county’s Committee of
Safety sent a letter to the Albany committee, which concluded: “Faithful to our
country, we remain, your sorrowful brethren, the few members of this commit-
tee.”3” On August 17, 1777, eleven days after the battle, Tryon County’s most
experienced Patriot soldier, Nicholas Herkimer, died of his wounds. Herkimer’s
death stilled the voice of the county’s most powerful moderate Patriot. Although
his most vehement critic, Ebenezer Cox, was also dead, other radicals now
assumed control of the Patriot cause.*® Because the Battle of Oriskany had been
an extremely bloody encounter, many embittered Patriots came to hate their for-
mer neighbors, Loyalist and Mohawk alike, and the intensity of those emotions
strengthened the radicals.*!

The Loyalists, including Sir John’s regiment and Butler’s Rangers, lost
about fifty men, or one-fourth of their number. The Seneca Iroquois lost thirty
killed, including a few popular leaders. After the battle, Joseph Brant referred
to the decimated ranks of his own warriors as the “poor Mohawks.”*? The results
of the Battle of Oriskany deprived General Burgoyne of needed reinforcements
from the west and materially contributed to his decision to surrender at Satatoga.
The year 1777 was thus the turning point of the Revolution for the Loyalists and
pro-British Iroquois warriors.

Radicals in the Committee of Safety led by Dr. Moses Younglove and Isaac
Paris now controlled the county. Both men had been captured at the Battle of
Oriskany but had managed to return to the county by the end of February 1778.
In the following month, Paris was also elected to the State Assembly. The rad-
icals continued to imprison suspected Loyalists and even unsuccessfully
demanded the impeachment of moderate state senators Jelles Fonda and Michael
Edick.*? These two were wealthy merchants who publicly opposed the com-
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mittee’s harsh restrictions on suspected Loyalists. Above all, moderates like
Fonda deplored the apparently arbitrary and extreme actions that the commit-
tee took in the name of “liberty,” including the imprisonment of Peter Bellinger
and three other Patriots, all with extensive farms, because they refused to sell
their wheat to the committee at a price below the market value. Radicals in the
committee had also encouraged Oneida Iroquois to attack and burn out suspected
Loyalists. The Mohawks, whatever their loyalty, also suffered at the hands of
the radicals. White Patriots had already threatened two neutral Mohawk chiefs,
Isaac and John, who were also prosperous farmers, and forced them to flee the
valley in 1777. Now in 1778, with the tacit approval of the committee, whites
robbed and looted the homes of the few neutral or pro-Patriot Mohawks still in
Tryon County. General Schuyler finally warned the committee on March 11,
1778, to take steps to stop these crimes, but by that time it was too late. Most
neutral and pro-Patriot Mohawks had fled.**

Schuyler’s letter did not dampen the zeal of the committee against white
Loyalists, as the committee continued to advocate strict suppression of suspected
Loyalists. When the New York Constitution of 1777 provided for county judges,
committee members often became judges, and the committee leaders thereby
continued to maintain power. In the spring of 1778, the state legislature abol-
ished all committees of safety in New York in favor of the “Commissioners of
Conspiracy” appointed by the governor. There was no longer any justification
for the continuation of the Tryon County Committee, but even after all the other
committees in New York had dissolved themselves, Tryon County radicals
refused to relinquish their power to the state. They feared that state-appointed
Commissioners of Conspiracy would be men of wealth and influence, and there-
fore of moderation. The committee of safety’s demise came in May 1778, when
it decided to free a debtor from the county jail. The committee organized an
armed posse, forcibly released the man from jail, and proceeded to charge the
creditor with all of the costs of the case. The state legislature learned of the case
and successfully demanded that the committee disband.*’

To raise money to support the Patriot cause, the Commissioners of
Sequestration—Christopher P. Yates, Jacob Klock, Jeremiah Van Renssalaer,
and Henry Oathout—sold portions of Loyalist estates. In addition, farms of
Loyalists who had fled to Canada were rented out. Personal property, such as
bedsteads, chairs, slaves, sheep, and cows were sold from the estates of Sir John
Johnson, John Butler, Daniel Claus, and other propertied men. Then, on October
20, 1779, all the lands and homes of these prominent Loyalists were declared
forfeit. Sir John’s manor, Johnson Hall, and seven hundred acres were sold to
James Caldwell from Albany for $30,000 in public securities.*®

Among the Patriots, Loyalists, and Iroquois, the largest burden of the
Revolution fell upon the widows of the men who died at Oriskany or in later
battles. Among the Patriots, for example, Elizabeth Irine was left with six
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children, aged five to thirteen. She petitioned Gov. George Clinton for relief
and was granted £7. Loyalist and Iroquois refugee families in Canada received
similar compensation.*’

Of all the settlements in Tryon County, German Flats was the most vul-
nerable to attack, because it lay on the fringe of the frontier. As a result, by the
end of the war, the settlement had been devastated. In 1777 the community lost
“a great many of our Sons and Neighbors” at Oriskany.* On September 12,
1778, 300 Loyalists, Joseph Brant, and 150 Iroquois struck the settlement at
dawn. The pro-British Iroquois were angered not only by the losses at Oriskany,
but also by how Patriots had driven neutral and pro-Patriot Mohawk families
out of their homes. The inhabitants of German Flats had been warned by scouts
and were safely inside two forts, but the Loyalist attackers burned most of the
homes, barns, and the freshly harvested wheat. On November 11, 1778, the
Iroquois and their Loyalist allies, led by Joseph Brant and Walter Butler, John
Butler’s son, launched another attack, this time on Cherry Valley to secure win-
ter food supplies for their families. This raid was necessary because supplies the
British had promised to the Iroquois had not arrived at Fort Niagara, and the
Iroquois were desperate. During the raid on Cherry Valley, some of the Iroquois
warriors killed more than 30 civilians.

Although the horrors of war were attributed by each side to everyone on
the “other side,” terrorist tactics in Tryon County were evidently carried out by
only a minority on either side. On both sides, a few lost their self-control and
were caught up in the passion of their cause. In Tryon County this process began
when some Patriot zealots drove neutral Mohawks from their homes and was
intensified when some Iroquois attacked victims at places like Cherry Valley.
Whatever the reasons, the escalation of havoc continued after 1778. The Iroquois
raids of 1778 prompted the Patriots to launch an invasion of Iroquois country
in 1779, in what became known as the “Sullivan-Clinton Campaign” after its
commanders, Gens. John Sullivan and James Clinton. In April the first wave of
this assault was launched from Fort Stanwix against the Onondagas. Patriot
troops under Col. Goose Van Schaick killed warriors, women, and children—
the exact number is not known. Patriot soldiers raped some young Onondaga
women and then murdered them.*°

In August a main Patriot army marched into the country of the Cayugas
and Senecas. The Iroquois warriors, knowing what had happened at Onondaga,
withdrew the women, children, and old people from their towns. The campaign
destroyed Iroquois towns and cornfields but did not knock the Iroquois out of
the war. Iroquois warriors retaliated in the following years. The last significant
battle fought in Tryon County occurred late in October 1781. Maj. John Ross,
Capt. Walter Butler (whom the Patriots detested because of the devastating raid
on Cherry Valley), and a force of seven hundred Loyalists, regulars, and Iroquois
attacked the Mohawk Valley near Johnstown. About eight hundred militia and



Tryon County 191

Continental soldiers met Ross’s force at Johnstown and fought to a stalemate,
after which Ross’s force withdrew. As the Patriots pursued the retreating col-
umn, an Oneida warrior scouting for the Patriots shot and killed a Loyalist
Ranger who turned out to be Walter Butler.”

Intermittent raids continued. In June 1782 Loyalists burned the mill serving
German Flats, forcing the farmers to cart their grain twenty-two miles to the next
mill. Then on July 15, 1782, a month after the mill had been burned, a large force
of Iroquois and Loyalists struck German Flats again. All residents were evidently
safely inside the forts, but the raiders burned all but seven of the sixty homes, left
only five barns standing, and carried off or slaughtered all the cattle.>!

Revolutionary Warfare Fades to an Uneasy Peace

When the war ended in 1783, pro-British Iroquois warriors and Loyalists
felt that they had been betrayed. Under the Treaty of Paris, the new United States
claimed jurisdiction over all Iroquois lands. The peace settlement included only
a vague provision to compensate Loyalists for property that had been seized by
the Patriots. It was a “ruinous peace.””?

Although the frontier line of white settlements at German Flats never col-
lapsed, the Patriot inhabitants of Tryon County were too few, too exhausted, or
too economically depressed to play a major role in the expansion that followed
the war. Land speculators from New York City and other eastern cities were soon
selling choice lands in German Flats to strangers from Massachusetts and
Connecticut. In the late 1790s Adonijah Barnard from Connecticut carved out
a farm on the fertile slopes that rose from bog and narrow creek where, in 1777,
two hundred Tryon County men had given their lives in the Battle of Oriskany.>

After the war, Jelles Fonda reestablished his friendship with Loyalists like
John Butler, and they agreed to settle prewar debts. Fonda’s tolerant spirit is
especially remarkable because pro-British Iroquois warriors under the command
of Sir John Johnson had killed his elderly father, Douwe Fonda, during a raid in
1780. Fonda, the moderate Christopher Yates, and the Loyalist Hendrick Frey did
their best to persuade, but could not get the state legislature to reimburse
Loyalists for their losses. In return, John Butler arranged to have Fonda’s slaves,
who had been captured and taken to Canada during the war, returned to him.>*
This act of cooperation, however, simultaneously reveals that for most slaves
neither Loyalism nor liberty meant freedom.

For more than two centuries after the Revolution, the Mohawk Nation did
not reestablish its presence in the Mohawk Valley. Finally, in 1993, the nucleus
of anew Mohawk community was established in the valley by Chief Tom Porter
(Sakokwenionkwas—“The One Who Wins”). The educational center there
encourages the survival of the Mohawk language and Mohawk traditions, and
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is partially supported by the community’s bed and breakfast. The Mohawk and
colonial backgrounds of Tryon County’s Revolution are evoked by two names
visitors encounter there. First, the name of the Mohawk community itself:
Kanatsiohareke (Ga-nah-jo-ha-lay-gay), the Mohawk spelling of Canajoharie,
meaning “akettle-shaped hole in the rock” or “the pot that washes itself” because
of arushing stream that seemed to boil over the hole.> The second name appears
on a metal sign erected by the State of New York that notes that this particular
piece of land was once owned by the Patriot Jelles Fonda.>
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Charlotte County

Paul R. Huey

Colonial Charlotte County was created on March 12, 1772, out of north-
ern Albany County. In 1786, without what is now Vermont, it had a population
of 4,456 persons. The story of this county is one of constant hostility among a
few people in a large region. The new county included all of Lakes George and
Champlain, the eastern Adirondack Mountains, the headwaters of the Hudson
River, and what is now western Vermont. After the Revolution, the part that
remained in New York State included most of present-day Washington, Warren,
and Franklin Counties and all of Essex and Clinton Counties.

Throughout the colonial period, the territory that became Charlotte County
included the Hudson River-Lake George-Lake Champlain corridor, which was
economically crucial and the major trade route between Albany and Canada.
From 1690 to 1815, this corridor was the scene of nearly continuous military
conflict and civil unrest. Following Britain’s victory in the French and Indian
War (1754-1763), an explosive mixture of people—Anglican and Con-
gregational New Englanders, immigrants (including Scottish and North Irish
Presbyterians and British veterans), New Yorkers, and New Jersey
Presbyterians—inundated the region to acquire farms, exploit its natural
resources, and develop its economy. Many settlers had arrived carrying land
titles that conflicted with those held by other residents and settlers.

In the Revolution, as in earlier wars in the northern colonies, much of
Charlotte became a “Seat of War.” Nonetheless, to this multiethnic population
the military events taking place here, although some of the most consequential
in the state, were secondary to the bitter land disputes that plagued them. Thus,
Charlotte was really a series of frontier settlements, whose residents were more
concerned with wresting a living or a fortune from the land than with debating
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or resisting British imperial policy. This essay will demonstrate that allegiances
during the Revolution were, in part, the results of colonial conflicts, as many
prewar friends and allies remained so in wartime, and many prewar antagonists
remained so after 1775. The Revolution inadvertently helped to force the set-
tlement of old grievances throughout the region.!

Disputes over land titles, many of which turned violent, were fundamen-
tal in shaping Charlotte County throughout the colonial and Revolutionary peri-
ods.? The eighteenth-century struggle for empire between Britain and France
palpably influenced the pace of settlement and the ensuing conflicts in Charlotte
County. King George’s War (1740-1748) and the French and Indian War halted
settlement along the upper Hudson River. However, during the interwar period,
the thirst for land provoked discord. In November 1749 Gov. Benning
Wentworth of New Hampshire notified New York’s royal governor, George
Clinton, of his intention to issue land grants in western New Hampshire. He
asserted that his colony’s southern boundary line, when extended westward, met
the Hudson at its junction with the Mohawk River. Clinton replied that New
York and Connecticut had agreed in 1684 to set the latter’s western boundary,
which was finally surveyed in 1725, at about twenty miles east of the Hudson,
but that north of Connecticut, New York’s eastern boundary remained the
Connecticut River. In 1751 Wentworth intrepidly issued the Bennington grant,
in present Vermont, which conflicted with New York grants in the same area. In
March 1751 he unilaterally “extended the Western Boundary of New Hampshire
as far West as the Massachusetts have done theirs, that is, within twenty miles
of Hudsons River.” During the French and Indian War, Wentworth issued New
Hampshire land grants in the area west from the Connecticut River (the present
western boundary of New Hampshire) to twenty miles east of the Hudson.?

During the war, the British constructed new bastions at Fort Edward, Lake
George (Fort George), Ticonderoga, and Crown Point. Nearby communities that
had been abandoned at the war’s outset could now be reoccupied, and new set-
tlements established. Because New York claimed this region from the upper
Hudson through Lake Champlain as part of northern Albany County, it distrib-
uted several grants in the area. In 1761 John Henry Lydius, who had earlier set-
tled at Fort Edward, sought a land grant to establish a community of New
Englanders on the east side of the upper Hudson. In May 1762 New York’s act-
ing governor, Cadwallader Colden, gave Irish-born James Bradshaw and
twenty-two associates, mostly from southwestern Connecticut, a grant for the
town of Kingsbury, just north of Fort Edward.* In 1759 Maj. Philip Skene (a
retired British army officer, who had been wounded in the war) had petitioned
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Maj. Gen. Jeffery Amherst, the British commander-in-chief, for land at the
southern edge of Lake Champlain, where he had already settled a “number of
poor families” in what would become Skenesboroughin 1765. Meanwhile, Irish-
born William Gilliland in 1763 petitioned New York for land on the west side
of Lake Champlain, north of Crown Point. All of the patents were in areas
claimed by New Hampshire.’

Settlers were not far behind. Many Connecticut families traveled up the
Housatonic River and headed west along the Batten Kill, the southern bound-
ary of what would become Charlotte County. Former British soldiers were apply-
ing for land from New York pursuant to the British Proclamation of 1763, which
provided for land grants to veterans of the French and Indian War. New Yorkers
were consequently alarmed that New Hampshire continued to complicate land
titles by pushing its claim westward to Lake Champlain and by granting new
townships there. New Hampshire considered its boundary to be twenty miles
east of the Hudson, even though at this latitude the river was many miles west
of Lake Champlain. In 1764 the Board of Trade decided the dispute in New
York’s favor, by declaring that the boundary between the two colonies was the
Connecticut River. New Hampshire ceased issuing grants. But violence erupted
almost immediately in the area, between the Connecticut and Hudson Rivers,
where New York and New Hampshire had been issuing conflicting land patents,
because settlers with New Hampshire patents refused to acknowledge that the
Green Mountain region belonged to New York.® Meanwhile, settlement
occurred rapidly in the region twenty miles east of the Hudson and north of the
Batten Kill, where in 1764 Lt. Gov. Cadwallader Colden issued several patents:
the Argyle Patent of 47,450 acres to a group of Scottish immigrants; the
Provincials Patent of 26,000 acres; the Artillery Patent of 24,000 acres; a grant
of 10,200 acres to John Tabor Kempe, John Morin Scott, and others; and another
patent of 25,000 acres to Alexander Turner and a group of investors from
Massachusetts and New Hampshire. In 1765 Turner sold part of his patent to
Rev. Thomas Clark (a Scottish-born Presbyterian minister, physician, and fin-
ancier) and his congregation from northern Ireland. They named the settlement
New Perth. Settlers from New England bought another part of the same patent
and called their community White Creek. Along the Batten Kill, Baptists from
Rhode Island also began settling in 1764.”

Conflict occurred almost immediately between Yorkers and Yankees and
between previous and recent New York grantees. In the spring of 1765, on the
Argyle Patent, several new allottees under New York patents found theirland occu-
pied by a person claiming title under an earlier New York patent. Violence ensued,
and the original settler was arrested. Other newcomers faced land title conflicts in
the Lake Champlain region, because parts of the area had already been granted as
seigniories to French owners. Some New York patentees, such as Philip Skene
and William Gilliland, were angry with Colden and his son Alexander, the sur-
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veyor general, for not promptly settling patent conflicts. Trouble developed, too,
in Gilliland’s Willsborough settlement on the west side of Lake Champlain, north
of Crown Point. Between February and June 1766 at least eight disgruntled ten-
ants left the patent with some of his property. Soldiers from Crown Point were
called out to subdue them. Interestingly, this event coincided with the violent ten-
ant riots in Dutchess and Albany counties and the Stamp Act disturbances in the
cities of New York and Albany. Clearly many Charlotte County residents were
more concerned about local disputes than imperial relations.?

Increasing numbers of New Englanders settled on the east side of the lake.
On May 20, 1766, Capt. John Montresor, a British officer, reported: “They
declare that possession is Eleven points in the Law and that they will take advan-
tage of these [Stamp Act] Disturbances and as no law prevails at present will
support themselves . . . as new England men.” Subsequently, a number of set-
tlers owning land or living at Willsborough, Crown Point, Ticonderoga,
Skenesborough, but especially at Kingsbury (because of its strong Connecticut
ties) supported the New Hampshire grants. Another alarming development was
the rapid and very visible decay of the recently built British forts at Ticonderoga
and Crown Point by 1765. Who would defend the new settlers from Indians or
from rival claimants?’

Despite these problems, the economic potential of the Lake Champlain
region impressed many people. English- and Irish-born veterans continued to
arrive in Skenesborough and elsewhere in 1767 and 1768, while Connecticut
settlers flocked to Kingsbury.!? More settlers, many from Scotland, Ireland, and
England, arrived between 1770 and 1774. Groups from southeastern and west-
ern Massachusetts settled in Skenesborough and nearby Granville. Connecticut,
too, contributed settlers: from Killingly in the eastern part of the colony; from
Hebron and Lebanon in the central part; and from Colchester, Woodbury,
Wallingford, and New Haven in the west. In addition, members of a Presbyterian
congregation in Morris County, New Jersey, moved to Willsborough.!!

The growing population inevitably caused more conflict over land titles.
OnJune 11, 1771, Robert Cochran and a band of fourteen armed men, who sup-
ported the New Hampshire grantees, violently dispossessed a patentee of his
350 acres in Argyle Patent, attacked some of his neighbors, and burned their
homes. Gov. William Tryon of New York warned the British ministry that unless
the problem of conflicting land titles was resolved, “the daring insults of these
people will in a short time lead to serious consequences.” On December 9, Tryon
offered a reward for the arrest of Cochran, Ethan Allen, Remember Baker, and
Seth Warner, the leaders of the “New Hampshire Rioters.” In February 1772
these men responded with a defiant proclamation offering rewards for the appre-
hension of New York attorneys, James Duane and John Tabor Kempe, because
they had purchased from New York authorities lands that New Hampshire
grantees claimed.'?
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Despite the unrest, Governor Tryon issued still more grants early in 1771,
including over one thousand acres at Crown Point to Adolphus Benzel and his
wife. Northwest from Crown Point, Tryon granted Philip Skene three thousand
acres that included a valuable iron ore bed. Skene began to mine the ore and
transport it to Skenesborough. He built a large new home, Skenesborough
House, a barn of limestone, a bloomery to produce iron from his mines, and ves-
sels to navigate Lake Champlain between Skenesborough and Canada. In one
of the first statements made in this region about the impending imperial conflict,
he had declared in 1770 that as a British officer he would have stoutly opposed
the mob at the Boston Massacre, and that Americans were attempting rapid
change a century too soon.!3

Despite their distance from population centers, some aspiring households
developed considerable refinement. A visitor to Adolphus Benzel’s Crown Point
home later recalled “seeing silver plate upon the table, with other appliances of
wealth and luxury in the village.” A letter promoting Gilliland’s Willsborough
settlement mentioned “the men in good circumstances, and remarkable for
industry and activity.” English-born William Duer arrived in New York in 1768,
purchased timberland, established large sawmills along the Hudson River in the
Fort Miller area, and built an elegant frame house having “an air of baronial
splendor.” An observer considered it the “first regular country-house” south of
Canada and wondered how this “magnificent” house, which “could be called a
small castle,” existed “in this wilderness.” At Fort Edward Irish-born Patrick
Smyth, who acquired land from Duer in 1772, also built a stylish, two-story
frame house.!*

In the early 1770s land speculators continued to obtain large tracts. In July
1772, four months after New York had established Charlotte County, the
Mohawk and Oneida Indians conveyed about nine hundred thousand acres to
Thomas Palmer’s syndicate and to Joseph Totten and Stephen Crossfield of New
York City. Because these large tracts involved direct private purchases and were
contrary to the Proclamation of 1763, the British government sharply scolded
Gov. William Tryon. Nevertheless, Totten ultimately became a Loyalist. In late
1772 Edward and Ebenezer Jessup of Connecticut and some Dutch investors
from the Mohawk Valley obtained forty thousand acres from New York in the
rugged mountain area of the upper Hudson, where they established the town-
ship of Hyde."

Violence soon came. On the morning of April 21, 1773, a fire broke out at
Crown Point in a barracks chimney. The fire spread, and the magazine bastion
exploded. “New England People” allegedly started the fire and plundered the
burning fort. They were further antagonized when New York and Massachusetts
resolved their boundary dispute by extending the New York-Connecticut bound-
ary line northward to the Green Mountain region claimed by New Hampshire.
Ethan Allen and the “New Hampshire Rioters” soon embarked on a campaign
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to drive out settlers having New York land grants between the Connecticut River
and Lake Champlain. The renewed violence led William Gilliland to request
that New York protect the fifty families he had settled near Lake Champlain and
also persuaded other patentees to abandon plans to settle the nearby Beekman
patent with Highland Scots.!6

With New Englanders now building their own blockhouses east of Lake
Champlain, New York hoped to rebuild Crown Point, but the British instead
built a solid redoubt at Point au Fer at the north end of Lake Champlain. In des-
peration, the New York Council sought from Gen. Thomas Gage, the army
commander-in-chief and governor of Massachusetts, two hundred troops to
reestablish control over the region the “New Hampshire Rioters” were terroriz-
ing. Gage instead wrote the ministry for instructions, and in November 1774 he
received orders to repair the forts at Crown Point and Ticonderoga. Soon there-
after, in June 1775, when Philip Skene arrived in Philadelphia from England,
where he had been lobbying to be named lieutenant governor of Crown Point
and Ticonderoga, the Americans arrested him. The Revolution had begun. The
British never rebuilt Crown Point.!”

2.

The situation in Charlotte was so confused at the outbreak of the Revolution
that people’s allegiances are difficult to explain. Many picked a side and
remained firm in their loyalty throughout the war. Some residents (and patent-
ees) switched from the American to the British side; others did the opposite. Too
often, the reasons are unknown and can only be conjectured. Robert Cochran,
for example, one of the “Green Mountain Boys,” whom New York once con-
sidered an outlaw, became an officer in the New York Continental Line in 1776.
Inexplicably, several inhabitants became spies, even double agents. Perhaps long
years of self-interested conflicts over land had led some Charlotte residents to
look upon the Revolution as but a way to advance their own ends. '3

Understanding how the Revolution affected the allegiances of people in
specific towns is also complicated. Although some communities had an ethni-
cally orreligiously mixed population, many people lived in patent-based, closely
knit communities with distinctive cultural origins. The latter often agreed to sup-
port one side in the Revolution. This was especially true in places where
Presbyterian and Baptist congregations had been established, for these churches
tended to control their settlements and to uphold a cohesive moral discipline. In
June 1775, for example, the Rhode Island Baptist congregation along the Batten
Kill began recording their meetings and documenting their rigid discipline.'®
Members of the congregation supported the Patriot cause.
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If the outbreak of war bound many communities more closely together, it
created or sharpened divisions in others. Typically, a community that was divided
against itself before the Revolution split over the Revolution. Argyle, for exam-
ple, had three hostile groups of inhabitants: Scottish immigrants, to whom New
York had granted patents in 1764; earlier settlers, who claimed title under the old
New York Lydius patent; and defenders of the New Hampshire titles. Argyle pre-
dictably had its mixture of Patriots and Loyalists. Skenesborough and Kingsbury
also split into Loyalist and Patriot factions. Skenesborough had been settled not
only by people from Massachusetts and eastern Connecticut but also by settlers
recruited by Philip Skene. Kingsbury was populated by settlers from both east-
ern and western Connecticut. Included were Anglicans, who tended to become
Loyalists. Thomas Sherwood of this town joined the British, and his brother Justus
Sherwood of Vermont became a British agent, while their cousin, Seth Sherwood,
became an American militia captain.?°

These three settlements suggest that one’s place of origin helped deter-
mine the side one took in the Revolution. In general, the New Englanders, who
populated the area of colonial Charlotte that became part of New York, were
from Connecticut, Massachusetts, and New Hampshire. Interestingly, most
Massachusetts settlers became Patriots. Settlers from Connecticut as well as
from the vicinity of Pelham, Hampshire County, in western Massachusetts were
attracted to White Creek; many became Patriots. Those from Westfield,
Hampshire County, in southwestern Massachusetts went chiefly to Skenes-
borough and also included Patriots.?!

Connecticut presents a complicated picture, but a pattern emerges. How
Connecticut people living in Charlotte split over the Revolution reflected what
was happening in Connecticut itself. With a few notable exceptions, if a line is
drawn on a map of that state connecting Saybrook, Middletown, Farmington,
and Simsbury, it appears that settlers from west of that line tended to become
Patriots, and that those from the east leaned toward Loyalism. Many Patriot set-
tlers who came from the vicinity of Woodbury, Litchfield County, in western
Connecticut, settled at Crown Point/Ticonderoga, Granville, Black Creek, New
Perth/White Creek, Argyle, Kingsbury, and the township of Hyde. For exam-
ple, Seth Warner, a Green Mountain Boy who eventually became a Patriot mili-
tia captain, came from Woodbury. Remember Baker, another Green Mountain
Boy, and his aunt, who was Ethan Allen’s mother, also came from Woodbury.
Ethan himself was born in Litchfield County.??

The relatively few people of this region who came from western Connecticut
and became Loyalists included Kingsbury’s Benjamin and Ebenezer Seelye (of
New Milford and Litchfield), Thomas Sherwood (of Stratford), James Bradshaw
(of New Milford), and the Jessup brothers (of Stamford). Ebenezer Jessup was an
Anglican, and most of Connecticut’s Loyalists were also Anglicans, people who
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lived concentrated “in the southwestern Fairfield County towns of Newtown,
Redding, Ridgefield, Stratford, Stamford, and Norwalk, extending as far north as
Woodbury, Litchfield, and Waterbury and east as far as New Haven.” Hence, it
may well be that the Charlotte Patriots who had migrated from western Connecticut
were anti-Anglicans who left because of old conflicts with their predominantly
Anglican neighbors in that part of Connecticut.??

Eastern Connecticut had “the reputation of being more radical than the
western part of the colony.” Hence, settlers who left this area for Charlotte before
the Revolution and who later became Loyalists may have done so to escape their
more radical neighbors. Eastern Connecticut, which was more densely settled
than the western area of the colony, also suffered from an acute land shortage.
The area around Killingly in northeastern Connecticut furnished numerous
future Loyalists in Willsborough, Kingsbury, Skenesborough, and Granville, but
especially in the latter two.

In 1775 the Charlotte Patriot militia was organized in the county’s south-
eastern region and was commanded by English-born Col. John Williams, of the
White Creek-New Perth area. Called the Dorset Regiment, it was composed of
companies from White Creek, Kingsbury, Argyle, Black Creek, Skenesborough,
and Granville. Interestingly, Dr. Thomas Clark’s son, Ebenezer, and two mili-
tia officers, Capt. John Barnes and the Scottish-born Alexander Webster (who
won election to the New York Provincial Congress in 1776), challenged
Williams’s leadership in 1778. The three complained to New York Gov. George
Clinton about the harsh treatment and unreasonable fines that Williams had
imposed on “a great many of our poor Distrest Inhabitants for Different rea-
sons.” Webster also accused Williams of “taking the New England’s peoples
part, who are Determined to root out the old Country people if they Can.”
Williams threatened to resign his commission as colonel, unless he (and not
Webster) was appointed judge of the Charlotte County Court of Common Pleas.
However, on June 25, 1778, Williams was dismissed from the militia for using
false payrolls to defraud the Continental Pay Office, and he was also removed
as a judge of that court. On April 13, 1779, Webster presided as judge over the
Court of Common Pleas, which was held, ironically, “at the house of Dr. John
Williams in New Perth.”?*

The intensifying military struggle in 1775 soon sharpened divisions among
Charlotte residents. In May the British reinforced Ticonderoga with a small
detachment of fifty troops from Canada. On May 10, Benedict Arnold, Ethan
Allen, and the Green Mountain Boys captured Ticonderoga. The next day Seth
Warner and another body of about one hundred Green Mountain Boys captured
Crown Point.?> The same month, the Charlotte County townships elected Dr.
John Williams and William Marsh as the county’s two delegates to the New York
Provincial Convention. By June more than one hundred residents signed an
Association in support of the Continental Congress. The first signer was William
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Duer. Among the others were the brothers, Patrick and George Smyth, from Fort
Edward, both of whom would eventually become Loyalists. Not to be outdone,
ardent Loyalists soon began to unite in open opposition to the Association. An
anti-Patriot “mob” of Charlotte County residents, who were “mostly debtors,”
joined by some men from Albany County, marched on the County Court with
the “evil design” of closing the court and putting “a period to common law.”
However, the mob dispersed when Connecticut militia stationed at the fort,
assisted by Remember Baker and Robert Cochran, two Green Mountain Boys,
prepared to intercept them. In January 1776, Ebenezer Jessup, an Anglican,
began raising Loyalist troops, while his brother Edward quickly sold lots in the
mountainous township of Hyde to a Loyalist Anglican investor. The Jessups
then successfully led a party of Loyalists to Canada, thanks to intelligence pro-
vided by Patrick and George Smyth.2¢

In the summer of 1776, as the American army that had been defeated in
Canada retreated into the Lake Champlain region, tensions increased within
Charlotte. At Crown Point, demoralized American troops clashed with the inhab-
itants of the nearby village, many of whom were Loyalists. In July most of the
army withdrew southwards. In October British troops from Canada occupied
Crown Point, but when they returned to Canada in November, most Crown Point
residents and many other county Loyalists fled with them. The American Patriots
soon arrested William Gilliland and some of his tenants who had remained in
the town for allegedly aiding the British.?’

In 1777 a British army under Lt. Gen. John Burgoyne invaded New York
by advancing southward through the Champlain Valley. They captured Crown
Point, Ticonderoga, Skenesborough, and then pushed on to Fort Edward, turn-
ing Charlotte into a battlefield. State authorities arrested Patrick Smyth of Fort
Edward for Loyalism and took him to Albany. However, many other local
Loyalists fled to Burgoyne. Adding to the confusion, the Indians who were aid-
ing Burgoyne occasionally failed to distinguish Loyalist from Patriot. On July
26, in a bloody surprise attack, they raided the Argyle farm of John Allen, a
Loyalist sympathizer, and brutally killed him, his wife, their two small children
and baby, his sister-in-law, and two slaves. Their house afterward “presented a
horrid spectacle.” The next day, near Fort Edward, Indians captured, killed, and
scalped a young woman named Jane McCrea, who was betrothed to a Loyalist
officer serving under Burgoyne. This event “caused quite an uproar in the army,”
and Burgoyne severely reprimanded the Indians. News of both events spread
terror throughout the region. The story of Jane McCrea later became romanti-
cized, and she was transformed into a virtuous beauty—albeit a Loyalist. She
became symbolic of the chaos of Burgoyne’s campaign; the Allen family tragedy,
on the other hand, has largely been forgotten.?

Burgoyne’s army continued south, and on August 14 he made his head-
quarters across from Fort Miller at the palatial home of William Duer, now a
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delegate to the Continental Congress. However, Burgoyne soon learned that Lt.
Col. Friedrich Baum, whom he had sent on a foraging expedition toward the
southeast, had been defeated near Bennington. Within a month, the Americans
had also attacked Burgoyne’s overextended supply line from Canada, hitting the
British at Ticonderoga and other places. At Ticonderoga, the Americans cap-
tured 200 bateaus, 17 gunboats, an armed sloop, and 293 prisoners, and they
freed the more than 100 British-held prisoners. The Americans then sailed south-
ward on Lake George but failed to take Diamond Island on September 24.
Burgoyne was in trouble; help from Canada was not forthcoming, the British
failure to pass Oriskany stopped help coming from the west along the Mohawk
Valley, and aid from Sir Henry Clinton in the lower Hudson Valley never mate-
rialized. Outnumbered, Burgoyne was defeated at the Battle of Saratoga in
October 1777.%

A number of Loyalists remained in the county after the battle, quietly
worked on their farms, and hoped to escape retribution; others actually pur-
chased farms or additional land in 1778. A few who quietly accepted the new
state government remained after the war. But other more militant Loyalists insti-
gated fear among residents by spreading rumors of another allegedly imminent
British attack or of Loyalist terrorism. An anonymous letter found in Albany in
late February 1778 stated that “the plan is to burn your City, all your Stores and
all your Mills, as soon as the River opens; great many negroes are enlisted,
Regular Soldiers, Tories.” Such reports led frantic Patriots to ask Gov. George
Clinton to send soldiers to Skenesborough, Fort George, and Jessup’s Patent.
Lacking available troops, Clinton could do nothing.3°

Avyear after Burgoyne’s defeat, the route along the Hudson, northward from
Stillwater in Albany County to past Fort Edward, was still “marked with
Devastation, and of the many pleasant habitations . . . , some were burnt, others
torn to Pieces and rendered unfit for Use, and but a few of the meanest occu-
pied: the Inhabitants in general having been forced to leave their once peaceful
Dwellings to escape the Rage of War. Thus this once agreeable and delightful
Part of the Country now displayed a most shocking Picture of Havock and wild
Desolation.” Reconstruction would be a slow, complicated process. It required
that aid be given to the inhabitants, that the New Hampshire land title contro-
versy be settled, and that militant Loyalists be driven out and their property con-
fiscated. The task would not be easy. The old controversy over New Hampshire
land titles flared again in 1778, probably because Ethan Allen, who had been a
British prisoner since his capture at Montreal, was released. In May, Allen omi-
nously threatened “that Vermont at present was contented with moderate
Bounds: but, if these could not be enjoyed in peace, they should extend them by
right of Conquest!” He and his supporters harassed Charlotte residents who held
New York land titles and forced them to “acknowledge themselves subjects of
the pretended State of Vermont.” The New York Legislature finally decided on
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October 21, 1779, to submit the matter to the Continental Congress for resolu-
tion. However, the Continental Congress failed to reach a decision until August
20, 1781, when it declared that if it ever recognized Vermont, that state would
be required to accept a western boundary beginning at the northwest corner of
Massachusetts and running northward twenty miles east of the Hudson.?!

On October 22, 1779, the New York legislature passed an Act of Attainder,
under which the estates of “Persons who have adhered to the Enemies of this State”
could be forfeited and sold. The law ipso facto forfeited the property of fifty-nine
individuals, including some who owned land in Charlotte: Robert Leake of Albany
County (a partner in Palmer’s Purchase [1772]), Peter Dubois of Ulster County
(apartnerin the Provincials Patent [ 1764]), Edward and Ebenezer Jessup of Albany
County, John Tabor Kempe, Philip Skene, and his son Andrew. The law also stated
that if the Continental Congress decided in New York’s favor in the land grants
dispute, the 1779 Act of Attainder could be used against anyone who owned land
in that area and had assisted the enemies of the state.??

As late as 1780, Charlotte County still remained vulnerable to British
attack. Destitute families were leaving for Canada, claiming to be Loyalists.
Spies abounded. Dr. George Smyth of Fort Edward, whom the Americans still
trusted, was sending valuable information to the British in Canada under the
code name “Hudibras.” In part, because of this information, in May 1780 the
ardent Loyalist Sir John Johnson, son of Sir William and owner of thousands of
acres in the Mohawk Valley, led an expedition of more than fifty men against
that valley. He started at Crown Point and moved down and across the southern
Adirondacks to ravage his home area.’3

The charismatic Ethan Allen was at the heart of the Vermont problems. His
activities aroused suspicion among Patriots at the time, and they remain an enigma
to historians today. InJuly 1780 George Washington’s spy, “Amicus Republicae,”
reported that Allen had arrived in New York City on July 2 for negotiations with
the British. He had “entered this City in disguise & was introduced by a Mr.
Griffis, [a noted British partisan] to the Commandant by whom he was most gra-
ciously received, & had a long Conference with his Honor, after which he retired
with the most profound Secrecy, & was to take his departure from hence for
Bennington, the Same Night.” Undercover New York City Patriots reportedly
believed “that he came with Propositions from the Green Mountain Boys in
Consequence of Congress refusing to acknowledge Vermont a Seperate State.”
These same Patriots “farther imagined, that he with a large Body of his valiant
Countrymen, will join [Joseph] Brant & [Walter] Butler, raise the Savages &
make Sad Havoc on your frontiers, or by a Conjunction will divert Genl.
Washington, while Genl. Clinton attempts the Reduction of the grand Fort at West
Point. The Preparations that are making a Movement indicate its Probability.”
They could learn nothing further about this “plan of operations.” However, by
the time of Allen’s visit to New York City, British power in Charlotte was already
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in decline for several reasons. First, the British were losing some of their
intelligence-gathering capability; spies were being detected and forced either to
flee or to be arrested. For example, Dr. George Smyth of Fort Edward had been
discovered, arrested, and released on bail on good behavior, although he evi-
dently continued to send some information to Canada through his son, Terence.
Second, many Charlotte Loyalists had already fled to Canada.?*

Washington’s appointment of the traitorous Benedict Arnold to command
West Point, on August 2, 1780, further complicated the Vermont problem.
Leaving Canada only a day or so after the American detection of Arnold’s plot
to surrender West Point, British troops under Maj. Christopher Carleton attempted
another attack. They captured both Fort Anne and Fort George. To aid the inva-
sion Loyalists destroyed much property for a distance of fourteen miles below
Fort Edward. However, doubtless upon hearing of Arnold’s capture, Carleton and
his forces retreated to Ticonderoga. When news of this retreat reached Albany,
Dr. George Smyth requested permission “to go With his Family to Canada.”
Because Smyth reportedly remained an “agent for [the British] secret service,”
the request was rejected. The doctor nonetheless made “his escape to Bennington
in Vermont, thinking himself safe there,” but the governor of Vermont turned him
over to New York authorities, who restricted him to a farm outside Albany. Smyth
nonetheless continued preparing detailed spy reports for Gen. Frederick
Haldimand, the British governor of Quebec, who was secretly negotiating with
Vermont. Unfortunately for Smyth, one of these reports was intercepted on May
27, 1781. The New York Commissioners for Detecting and Defeating Con-
spiracies immediately tried to arrest him and his son, Terence. The son (“Young
Hudibras”) was caught, but his father escaped to Canada early in June.?>

On October 26, 1780, the British forces under Carleton that were leaving
Ticonderoga for Canada received orders to remain on Lake Champlain to facil-
itate negotiations with Vermont. Two days later Capt. Justus Sherwood, a
Vermont Loyalist, began a series of private meetings with Ethan Allen. Officially,
Sherwood was only to negotiate a truce for the exchange of prisoners. However,
he proposed that because of their land disputes with New York and the
Continental Congress’s mistreatment of them, Vermonters should “resume their
former Allegiance to the King.” Protesting that he would be part of “no Damd
Arnold Plan to sell his Country and his own honour by Betraying the trust reposd
in him,” Allen scoffed at Sherwood’s suggestion. He insisted that the British
could assist Vermont to be independent. As a result, Sherwood not only agreed
to a prisoner exchange, but recognized Vermont’s jurisdiction as far west as the
Hudson. In effect, the British were now recognizing that river as Vermont’s west-
ern boundary, if Vermont remained aloof from New York.3¢

The crisis over Vermont rapidly worsened. Unaware of the details of
Sherwood’s truce and fearful of fresh British incursions, Gov. George Clinton noti-
fied Washington of “the very extraordinary Conduct of Colo. Allen.” The general
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ordered a further investigation and directed that Allen be apprehended, if that
proved advisable. In January 1781, British military officials in Canada, detecting
the arrival of rebel troops in Albany, concluded that the Americans were organiz-
ing an expedition “for the Reduction of Vermont.” In February Vermont declared
that its jurisdiction extended from the Connecticut River westward over all the
land north of the Massachusetts border and east of the Hudson River. Just below
Lake George the Hudson River veers northwest; its headwaters are in the
Adirondacks significantly west of Lake Champlain. By expanding its western
boundaries north from that river’s headwaters to the Canadian border, Vermont
was claiming much of northern New York. This placed the southwest corner of
Vermont opposite the junction of the Mohawk and Hudson Rivers (near present-
day Troy, New York), giving Vermont access to the Hudson and providing the state
with its own tidewater port at New City (present day Lansingburgh). To counter
this threat, New York State tried to gain the support of some of its enemies by
leniently treating Charlotte residents suspected of Loyalism. This was done over
the objections of Governor Clinton and Col. Alexander Webster, who apparently
in protest resigned from the Charlotte County militia.>”

Vermont next announced that a convention would be held on May 9, 1781,
in Cambridge (Albany County) to decide upon a proper defense of its frontiers,
the quota of Vermont troops to be raised, and the “Articles of Union” with the
area of Charlotte that Vermont now claimed.?® Fortunately for the American
cause, spies soon uncovered details of the relationship between Vermont and
British officials in Canada. They discovered that the British planned to issue a
proclamation, declaring that the Continental Congress had no authority over
Vermont and that Vermont troops would garrison Fort Edward and Skenes-
borough once the “Articles of Union” were signed. Gen. Philip Schuyler, whose
property at Saratoga was in danger of being annexed to Vermont as a result of
these developments, was incredulous that people in that area, “chiefly emigrants
from the eastern states,” could be so misled by their leaders and could defect
“from the common cause” because of their disputes over land with New York.
“I confess my faith in the political virtue of these people is . . . staggered.”>°

The convention at Cambridge lasted from May 9 to 15, 1781. The result-
ing “Articles of Union” affirmed Vermont’s newly claimed western and south-
ern boundaries and avowed that Vermont military forces would defend these
borders, “especially against the Common Enemy.” The Articles declared fur-
ther that Vermont would in due course apply to the Continental Congress for
admission to the United States and proposed terms of reconciliation. The con-
vention set May 22 as the date for a meeting of the various districts in Charlotte
to vote on the Articles.*

Emboldened by the “Articles of Union” and eager to reinforce Vermont’s
claim to the territory from Lake Champlain westward to the headwaters of the
Hudson (an area that included much of the Adirondacks), dozens of individuals
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petitioned the Vermont Legislature between May and July for land grants in this
area. At the end of June 1781, striving for control of the region, Washington
appointed Gen. John Stark of New Hampshire to command the area north of
Albany because of his “knowledge of, and influence amongst the Inhabitants of
the Country.” Washington ordered Stark to march to Saratoga with four hundred
Massachusetts militiamen from Berkshire and Hampshire Counties to replace
other regiments that Washington began withdrawing. New Yorkers justifiably
had misgivings about Stark. However, as mentioned above, on August 20, 1781,
the Continental Congress resolved that if it ever recognized Vermont, that state
would be required to accept a western boundary beginning at the northwest cor-
ner of Massachusetts and running northward twenty miles east of the Hudson
to Lake Champlain.*!

This decision did not please Vermont leaders, so they continued to negoti-
ate with the British. By October 1, 1781, the British had decided to issue a procla-
mation confirming and granting the territorial claims that Vermont desired.
Meanwhile, British troops advanced southward from Canada toward Ticon-
deroga. Fearful rumors of this new invasion spread rapidly. On October 14,
Washington ordered New Hampshire and Massachusetts regiments, with
artillery, to advance from the Highlands of the Hudson Valley, near West Point,
to Albany, where, according to the American Gen. William Heath “matters wore
a more serious aspect.” But military developments elsewhere intervened. The
American siege of Yorktown had begun on October 1, 1781, and within two
weeks the British position there was crumbling. By October 15 it was clear that
Britain was losing the battle and the war. Britain therefore delayed further action
in regard to Vermont.*> By coincidence, on the evening of October 14, a sharp
skirmish occurred in New City (present day Lansingburgh) between American
militia and some Loyalists commanded by Col. Samuel Fairbanks, who held a
Vermont commission. The clash resulted in a military impasse between New
York and Vermont that lasted for several months and that nearly caused a civil
war in the region. In November, despite Yorktown and the defeat of a Loyalist
raid from Niagara into the Mohawk Valley, Vermont rejected the boundary the
Continental Congress had proposed and declared that it would resist by force
any claim New York State made to the entire jurisdiction it claimed.*?

The situation in Charlotte remained confused and tense. Ongoing com-
munications between the British in Canada and their spies in upper New York
State as late as February 1782 strongly suggest that the British had not yet aban-
doned their efforts to keep Vermont loyal to the Crown. Nevertheless, on
February 22, the Vermont Assembly reconsidered its demands and accepted the
boundary set by the Continental Congress, twenty miles east of the Hudson,
extending north from the northwest corner of Massachusetts to Lake Champlain.
Although this decision dissolved the “Articles of Union,” Ethan Allen wrote
Haldimand on June 16, 1782: “I Shall do Every thing in my Power to render this
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State a British province.” One of Washington’s agents warned in July 1782 that
the British also persisted in “there intention to Execute rigorus measures against
the opposers of Vermont.” New York State halfheartedly intensified its policy
and arrested some county residents who had been loyal to Vermont, even though
it forgave others.*

That summer, the Americans in northern New York dreaded fresh British
assaults from Canada, and the British feared an American and French attack. To
defend their position the British assured Ira Allen, Ethan’s brother, that the
British would recognize Vermont’s “Articles of Union” despite the defeat at
Yorktown. Nonetheless, in a coded letter General Haldimand in Canada wrote
Sir Henry Clinton, the British commander-in-chief in New York, that further
negotiations with Vermont were pointless and that it would be necessary to
reduce Vermont by force. Ira Allen, for his part, concluded that further com-
munications on certain topics with Capt. Justus Sherwood, who was now assisted
by Dr. George Smyth, were simply too dangerous to continue. Nonetheless both
sides continued negotiating prisoner exchanges, including one for the return of
the American-held Terence Smith, “Young Hudibras.” Even after hostilities
between the United States and Britain had ceased, the situation in Charlotte
remained fraught with peril. Dr. George Smyth, Ethan Allen, and Ira Allen were
still attempting to negotiate “a Mutual Intercourse, and Free Trade” between
Vermont and Canada, and British officials ominously maintained a military pres-
ence on Lake Champlain.*?

American officials were apprehensive. On July 12, 1783, Washington sent
Baron von Steuben to Canada to meet with Haldimand and to arrange for the
transfer to the United States of all posts that remained under British control and
that were situated on American territory. When Von Steuben and Haldimand met
in August, the British general was entirely uncooperative, refusing even to nego-
tiate the surrender of the military posts until a final treaty was signed. Old land
disputes and the grudges that resulted from them also continued to poison the
atmosphere in Charlotte. At Crown Point, for example, a land investor with a
New York patent, Robert Cochran was embroiled in a bitter, violent dispute over
New York land he claimed there. On September 3, 1784, at least four men
attacked him, his family, and an associate. Years of controversy finally led
Cochran in 1787 to advertise his “Valuable Farm” of seven hundred acres at
Crown Point for lease and to move elsewhere.*¢

3.

Even though for some people the war dragged on past the proclamation of
the end of hostilities early in 1783, Charlotte did begin the process of renewing
itself. Symbolically, the county’s name was changed to Washington County. As
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most observers could doubtless have predicted, land sales and speculation now
abounded. For example, in 1784, through the purchase of military warrants,
Zephaniah Platt of Dutchess County and thirty-two associates acquired almost
thirty-five thousand acres on the west side of Lake Champlain. The next year, the
group purchased Skene’s old ore bed tract of three thousand acres. They com-
menced building mills and began preparing to mine iron ore. William Gilliland,
who had suffered heavy financial losses during the war, began selling some of
his lands in the county. When he was unable to pay damages to an ex-slave who
had successfully sued him, he was imprisoned for debt in 1786 and remained in
jail until 1791. New York State forced other landholders to defend their prewar
titles against appropriation. In 1785 the proprietors of the huge Totten and
Crossfield Purchase, many of whom were Loyalists or had strong ties to promi-
nent Loyalists, petitioned the state to protect their land claims in the Adirondacks.
In the end, however, the townships of the patent were redistributed in 1786.47

It is probably impossible to ascertain the total amount of land that New
York State confiscated from Charlotte Loyalists. A “Book of Forfeitures” for
Washington County, which was apparently begun in 1784, listed three hundred
fifty lots or parcels of Loyalist property seized and sold. Of these lots, 45 per-
cent were in Skenesborough, 42 percent in New Perth-White Creek, and 5 per-
cent in the Artillery Patent. Some Loyalists, however, managed to keep their
property and make remarkable financial recoveries.The lucky ones were usu-
ally people who had been passive or nonbelligerent and had made no significant
enemies during the war. Some even returned from Canada to start over.
Noteworthy is the case of William Sherriff, who had received in 1765 a two
thousand-acre grant for land northeast of the Argyle Patent. In March 1766 he
wed Margaret Bayard, the cousin of Margaret Kemble, the wife of Gen. Thomas
Gage, then the British commander-in-chief. Gage soon secured for Sherriff a
promotion in the army and the post of deputy quarter master general. He served
very profitably (and corruptly) in that position during the Revolution in Boston
and New York City. Sherriff returned to England in 1779, a rich man. Because
he was British, and not a Loyalist, William Sherriff of the “Kingdom of Great
Britain” was able to keep possession of his two-thousand-acre patent, which he
sold in parcels between 1790 and 1792.43

Most individuals and groups adjusted as best they could to the changed
world in which they now lived. The Baptist congregation that was located on
the Batten Kill at the southern edge of Charlotte County gambled on peace and
voted in November 1782 to build a new meetinghouse. Dr. Thomas Clark and
his New Perth congregation had endured the hard years of war to find them-
selves pulled in different directions afterwards. A few members of his flock went
to Abbeville, South Carolina, where he joined them as their minister in 1786.
The conflict over naming the town “New Perth” or “White Creek” was resolved
in 1787, when residents agreed to call the town “Salem.”*
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That area of colonial Charlotte that eventually became part of Vermont had
a longer, harsher road to travel before finding peace. Vermont remained inde-
pendent of the United States through the 1780s, and unrest continued in the area
for the entire period. Finally, in October 1790, a joint commission, whose mem-
bers were appointed by New York and Vermont, decided that the western bound-
ary of Vermont would begin at the northwest corner of Massachusetts and extend
northward to Lake Champlain and through the middle of that lake to Canada.
Vermont agreed to pay New York thirty thousand dollars for land claims. The
way was thus clear for Vermont to enter the union as the fourteenth state on
March 4, 1791. At last, the key land title dispute that had caused Charlotte so
much conflict during the late colonial and Revolutionary periods had come to
an end. The people who lived in what had been Charlotte could now face the
future with hope. Even though most Charlotte residents had been more con-
cerned at the outset of the Revolution with their land disputes than they had been
with the imperial crisis, the Revolution did fortuitously help settle many out-
standing claims and thus promote peace throughout the region.>”
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Conclusion

The Other New York, the people of the rural counties examined in this book,
endured wartime experiences and conditions that were significantly different
from those of the metropolis. Some of these counties survived similar ordeals,
such as their occupation by the British army from 1776 to 1783. Others had dif-
ferent experiences; for example, the British army never occupied the mid-
Hudson Valley counties.

Outside of New York County, the province and state was overwhelmingly
agricultural. The urban interests of the port city in the years following the Seven
Years’ War were different from those of the many communities in the hinter-
land, whether these were situated close by New York City or remotely distant
from it in the north and west. The only other major urban center in the province
was the city of Albany. Its residents had formed committees as early as the Stamp
Act, but had difficulty getting such bodies established elsewhere in its county.
The manors, estates, and small farms that surrounded that city limited Albany
County’s consciousness of imperial and continental issues. Hence, The Other
New York experienced a significantly different American Revolution than did
the city and county of New York.

The Other New York comprised several distinct regions. The port area, com-
posed of those counties that were near the metropolis, included Richmond
County (Staten Island); Kings, Queens, and Suffolk Counties on Long Island;
and Westchester County. Their proximity to New York City, their contact with
royal officials, the presence of the British navy, and their wartime occupation
by the British army made the experiences of the people who lived here similar
in many ways. To mention but one, Loyalism was stronger in the port area than
elsewhere in the province and was probably strongest in Richmond County,
which had no active protestors. The exception was Suffolk County, which still
had strong ties to New England. The people of the mid-Hudson Valley—
Dutchess, Orange, and Ulster counties—endured their own experience, albeit
with variations caused by their economic and social differences. Orange and
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Ulster lacked the landlord-tenant disputes that plagued Dutchess and
Westchester counties. Further north, Albany had a somewhat different experi-
ence because of its urban center, although its rural regions survived the war in
ways similar to the mid-Hudson Valley. Finally, the frontier region to the north—
Charlotte County—and to the west—Tryon County—although different ethni-
cally and economically, were both involved in the invasions of 1777 and suffered
several raids from Canada and Niagara.

The chapters of The Other New York discuss allegiance and suggest that
several factors influenced how and why people took sides in the Revolution.
One element was the presence of British power. The greatest fleet in the world
shadowed Long Island and helped to suppress the Patriot cause. In Queens, a
sizable minority supported the king, until the severity of the British occupation
finally impelled most residents into the Patriot camp. In Suffolk, Patriotism was
suppressed early in the British occupation, but as the severity of that control
became onerous, Whig sentiment reemerged, as it had done in Queens. On Long
Island’s Kings County, Loyalist tendencies were related to Dutch antipathy to
non-Dutch neighbors; the British offered support against these non-Dutch
colonists, who threatened to relegate the Dutch to a minor significance. As an
island, Richmond was at the mercy of the British fleet. One need only look at a
map of the port area to note why Britain poured men and equipment into
Richmond. To control New York City, it had to control Richmond and Kings,
two counties that throttled the entrance to New York’s massive harbor at The
Narrows. Richmond was, from the beginning of the imperial crisis, over-
whelmingly loyal, and the presence of British troops in the county did little more
than reinforce this support. The British presence also clearly swayed sentiment
in Westchester. The threat posed by British forces in Canada had an important
influence on political developments in Charlotte and Tryon counties. However,
in Albany and the mid-Hudson counties, where New Yorkers were isolated from
direct British military threat, Loyalism was weakest in the state.

Local circumstances and conflicts also influenced how people sided in the
Revolution. In Suffolk County, as already noted, the American cause found its
greatest support among the descendants of New England. In western Queens,
Patriotism was strongest among Presbyterians, who resented Anglican hege-
monic pretensions. The Dutch in Kings County linked British power to their cul-
tural survival and to their ownership of slaves. In Richmond, no ethnic or cultural
motives clearly explain the county’s Loyalism. However, the county’s small
population may have led its people to feel isolated and thus dependent on royal
power in a time of trial. Also the two key families that dominated the county’s
political and economic life were ardent Loyalists, carrying with them many
dependent people. Another possible cause of Richmond’s overwhelming loyal
political allegiance may have been its isolation from the rest of New York. In
Westchester, residency was an important determinant of allegiance; inearly 1775
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the Whig cause was most popular in the southern and eastern portions of the
county. Later in the war, however, civil strife, guerilla conflicts and banditry
blurred these allegiances, and people appear to have taken sides in response to
which brigands had molested them.

The local situation also played a role elsewhere in New York. In Dutchess
County, unpopular landlords drove their tenants into the opposite camp, butland-
lords who were perceived as benefactors won the allegiance of their retinue. The
same may well have occurred in Tryon County, where the powerful, land-rich
Johnson family, appears to have been the touchstone of allegiance. The family’s
members, tenants, and friends became Loyalists; its prewar enemies became
revolutionaries. In Orange and Ulster Counties, which had few powerful
Loyalists, British and Dutch settlers tended to join the Whig cause.

The situation in nearby Albany County was much more complicated
because of its multiethnic population. The Whigs, many of whom were descen-
dants of the original Dutch settlers, dominated the city and surrounding
Rensselaerwyck, an area where few Britons lived. In Watervliet, the pacifist
Shakers sought to stay neutral in a multiethnic district that had many Loyalists.
The Connecticut immigrants, who had settled in nearby Kings District became
ardently pro-American. Northern Albany County and Charlotte County, how-
ever, were inhabited by many discharged British soldiers who had fought in the
Seven Years’ War to defend and expand the empire. Along with other recent
British immigrants and Anglican settlers from eastern Connecticut, these vet-
erans constituted the zealous core of Loyalism on the northern frontier, south of
Canada.

Throughout the northern part of the province, where many British veter-
ans settled after the Seven Years’ War, Loyalism and neutrality were strong.
These settlers lacked the American experience to appreciate the colonists’ fears,
arguments, and frames of reference. These newcomers consequently did not per-
ceive the British policies of the 1760s and 1770s as detrimental. They became
a threat to the success of the Revolution. Of course, some of these veterans,
including revolutionary generals Richard Montgomery and Horatio Gates, were
exceptions to the Loyalist tendency of these people.

Although the British army was headquartered in New York City, the area
north of southern Westchester remained under American political control. The
Britishinitiated raids northward up the Hudson River, but their forces were never
strong enough to risk an invasion; because redcoats were needed to occupy
Manhattan, Long, and Staten Islands. In 1777, during Gen. John Burgoyne’s
campaign from Canada, Gen. Sir Henry Clinton sent a raiding party up the river.
It burned Kingston and reached Livingston Manor. However, following
Burgoyne’s surrender at Saratoga, Clinton’s forces retreated to the city and never
again menaced the heart of the state. North of Westchester the American forts
and iron chain across the Hudson helped to maintain the boundary.
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Warfare and violence nonetheless permeated the state. Probably Orange
and Ulster Counties suffered least, but they were victims of British raids. In the
north and west, Charlotte and Tryon counties were the sites of destructive raids
throughout the war. Albany was not attacked after 1777; but Loyalist raiders,
prisoners brought in from the frontiers, and the constant ebb and flow of troops
disrupted the normal patterns of everyday life. Dutchess County was vexed by
the hard feelings that had characterized the landlord-tenant fights. Westchester
endured horrific violence; brigandage and vigilante activities destroyed the sem-
blance of civilian government. Queens, Kings, Suffolk, and Richmond were
occupied by British troops and suffered from the violence engendered by auto-
cratic martial law. The rancor over military occupation was doubtless greater in
the port area than in areas the American army held, because Loyalism was
strongest in that region. The people who had identified the most with the mother
country before 1776 were now horrified at and alienated by being treated as if
they were foreigners. Ironically, if the presence of the British navy helped secure
New York to the empire before the Battle of Long Island, the British military’s
subsequent occupation of the port area helped to seal the empire’s demise in
New York.

By the end of the conflict, New York was a changed place. In 1771 the
colony’s total population had been 168,000, of which 11 percent were African
Americans. On the eve of the Revolution, Albany was by far the most populous
county with over 42,000 people. It had nearly twice the population of the next
most populous county, Dutchess. As a region, the mid-Hudson Valley counties
(Ulster, Dutchess, and Orange) had over 46,000 people, slightly more than
Albany by itself. The lower counties (Westchester, Richmond, and those on Long
Island) had 52,000 residents. New York County had 21,800. Thus the part of the
colony that straddled the Hudson north of Westchester had almost 89,000 peo-
ple, over half the colony’s population. New York City may have been the
colony’s capital and a major port region for the Middle Colonies, but it did not
have the majority of the province’s population. Albany, the most populous
county, also had the largest African-American population. However, blacks con-
stituted a larger percentage of the population of Kings County (over 30 percent)
than they did in any other county.

By 1786, despite war and its destruction, the population of New York State
had grown by over 70,000 people, an increase of over 42 percent. The county
with the largest growth was Albany, which increased by 69 percent. The remark-
able expansion occurred, even though Tryon (postwar Montgomery County)
and Charlotte (postwar Washington County) were carved from it, and the Green
Mountain area was lost to Vermont. The mid-Hudson Valley counties increased
by almost 50 percent. The Long Island counties and Richmond increased by
approximately 11 percent. Westchester lost almost 6 percent of its population,
probably because people had fled from the almost constant guerilla warfare con-
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Table 3
Total Population of Counties: 1771 and 1786

COUNTY 1771 1786 INCREASE %
Albany 42,706 72,360 29,654 69%
Charlotte included in

(Washington) Albany 4,456 — —
[Dutchess 22,404 32,636 10,232 45%
Kings 3,623 3,986 363 10%
New York 21,863 23,614 1,751 8%
Orange 10,092 14,062 3,970 39%
Queens 10,980 13,084 2,104 19%
Richmond 2,847 3,152 305 11%
Suffolk 13,128 13,793 665 5%
Tryon included in 15,057 — —

(Montgomery) Albany
Ulster 13,950 22,143 8,193 58%
Westchester 21,745 20,554 -1,191 5%
TOTALS 168,007 238,897 70,890 42%

From Evarts B. Greene and Virginia D. Harrington,
American Population Before the Federal Census of 1790
(New York: Columbia University Press, 1932), 102-104.

ducted there during the war. The data are less clear for African Americans, but
their numbers probably increased from over 19,000 in 1770, to approximately
21,000 in 1780, and over 25,000 in 1790 (21,193 of whom were slaves).

With this tremendous rise in population came dynamic social and economic
change: Native Americans forcefully pushed westward; a more heterogeneous
population of Europeans; new settlements founded; more land cultivated; the
development of new markets; and increased production of foods, raw materi-
als, and semifinished products, including flour and lumber dressed for use. This
period also witnessed the relative decline of traditional Protestant religions,
including Anglican/Episcopal and Presbyterian, and the relative increase in
importance of such Protestant denominations as the Baptists and Methodists.
The Dutch churches slowly atrophied, as use of the Dutch language declined,
and these people became more culturally American.

The Revolution also opened political opportunities to a broader segment
of the state’s population. From the outset the Patriots had needed manpower to
defend the state, to fill the ranks of the militia and state regiments, and to assume
local and state offices. Even before the first state elections were held in 1777,
the many district, town, and county committees had already become de facto
local governments, and the Provincial Congresses the effective provincial
authority. The old colonial elite was manifestly incapable of satisfying this need
for new civil and military officeholders; not only was the group too small, but
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some had become Loyalists. Thus, with a myriad of new offices to fill, Patriots
had to recruit new people, people who had never before enjoyed political power.
Ambitious middle-class men seized the opportunity by serving in the officer
corps, running for office, or accepting appointive positions. The increased pop-
ular participation in government understandably created political and social ten-
sions in the state, for the old gentry was forced to share and sometimes to
surrender political power. The change was irreversible.!

Although property qualifications for voting and office holding remained,
the tendency was for a widened distribution of property among white male New
Yorkers and thus an expanded electorate.? After the Treaty of Fort Stanwix
(1784), New York State opened to white settlers frontier territory in Tryon
County that had belonged to the generally pro-British Iroquois nations. As
Native Americans moved into Canada, the state encouraged the westward move-
ment of white settlement toward Niagara.? In addition, some confiscated or for-
feited Loyalist properties also passed into the hands of small farmers and
lower-class Americans, especially in Dutchess and Westchester Counties. New
York State generally gave the tenants on confiscated Loyalist estates the oppor-
tunity to buy the property they had farmed before the war. However, because
the state government desperately needed money for the war effort and postwar
reconstruction, Loyalist property throughout the state tended to be purchased
by Patriots who could pay for it. For example, in Suffolk County, seven men—
John Lloyd II, Benjamin Floyd, Benjamin Tallmadge, Joseph Brewster, Caleb
Brewster, Mills Philips, and Nathaniel Norton —purchased the property that the
state had confiscated from four county Loyalists.*

White males shared in this democratization of power, but not women or
African Americans. The war did give many women a chance to participate in
the struggle. Their participation in the boycotts opposing parliamentary legis-
lation was noteworthy. They also used their social and economic power to resist
price gouging in the marketplace. They demonstrated and participated in riots
to stop some profiteering Patriot merchants from driving up prices during short-
ages. However, after the peace treaty, these activists typically returned to their
homes and did not remain an active political force.

The Revolution did bring about a gradual end to slavery in the state, even
though the institution had been widespread and economically significant in colo-
nial New York. Not only did many African Americans take advantage of the
wartime situation to gain their freedom, but the ideological and intellectual
underpinnings of the Revolution also led many European Americans to con-
clude that abolition was necessary. Manumission became common among
whites in many parts of the state but especially among the small-scale farmers
of Long Island. Nonetheless, farmers in the mid-Hudson Valley consistently
resisted the passage of legislation designed to end slavery gradually in New York
State. Although the reasons for the difference between Long Island and the mid-



Conclusion 229

Hudson Valley are not clear, it is already possible to see in the latter area the
beginning of what later became a common tendency. Leaders in the fight for
increased white suffrage, white landholding, and white political participation
tended to oppose the manumission of slaves, civil rights for free blacks, and
expanded rights for women. Advocates for these reforms were often influential
persons, new aristocrats, gentry, or intellectuals, including Gov. George Clinton,
John Jay, and Alexander Hamilton.

Thus did the Revolution seriously affect The Other New York. At the out-
set, many Americans in the rural counties had interpreted the Revolution in terms
of their own local perspectives and interests. In consequence, the imperial issues
that divided the British Empire were, for many New Yorkers, intimately con-
nected to issues (and conflicts) within their own towns, cities, and counties. To
put it another way, between 1774 and 1776, many residents perceived imperial
problems as local problems, writ large. Nonetheless, by 1790, the Revolution
had already changed New Yorkers in a number of ways that made them more
alike. For example, new political leaders, from different social classes, had
emerged to govern New York; religious freedom had been extended; new eco-
nomic enterprises had been started; and the institution of slavery had been put
on the road toward legal extinction. Hence, although New Yorkers from the var-
ious regions had initially understood the Revolution in different ways because
their perspectives had been shaped by their particular circumstances, the event
itself was a unifying force that led them to create a new state that was more open,
free, and republican than colonial New York had been. There was not as much
freedom and liberty as the Declaration of Independence had promised, but a
solid start had been made.

Notes
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AB.C,7

Act for the Gradual Abolition of Slavery
(N.Y.), 75

Act of Attainder of 1779 (N.Y.). See
Forfeiture Act of 1779

Adgate, Matthew, 162

Adirondack Mountains, 134, 156, 211,
214; eastern, 199; southern, 209

African Americans, 83, 96, 128, 144,
165; Albany Co., 156, 165; central
Hudson Valley, 143; Loyalists, 93;
New York State, 12, 226, 227, 228;
Westchester Co., 108

Akwesasne, N.Y. (or St. Regis), 187

Albany County, N.Y., 155-68, 202,
207-12 passim; allegiance in, 159-63
passim; eastern, 162; northern, 162,
199, 200, 225; population, 10; and
Revolution, 10, 11, 223, 224, 225,
226; rural districts, 159, 163;
southern, 163

Albany Gazette, 157

Albany, N.Y. (city), 55; and central
Hudson Valley, 134, 139; and
Charlotte Co., 199, 202, 210, 212,
223; in Revolution, 4, 7, 9, 10; in
Revolutionnary Albany County,
165-68; and Tryon Co., 179, 182-89
passim; and Westchester Co., 108,
110, 116

Alexander, William. See Stirling, Lord

Allen family, 9

Allen, Ethan, 9; in Charlotte Co., 202-13
passim

Allen, Ira, 213

Alsop, John, 113

Amberman, Paul, 51, 52

American Board of Customs at Boston
(Britain), 8

Amberst, Jeffery, 201

Amicus Republicae, 209

André, John, 107, 120, 135

Anglican Church, 224, 225, 227; Albany
Co., 163; American bishop, 112;
Bishop of London, 112; Queens Co.,
44, 45; Richmond Co., 84; Suffolk
Co., 71; Westchester Co., 108, 111

Anglicans, 199, 205, 206, 207;
Richmond Co., 84, 85; Queens Co., 9,
44, 45, 49; Westchester Co., 111, 112

anti-Tory legislation (N.Y.), 55, 56, 72,
96, 112, 122

Appalachian Mountains, 5

Arbuthnot, Marriot, 70

Argyle Patent, N.Y., 201, 202, 205, 214

Arnold, Benedict, 107, 120, 121, 135,
206, 210

Arthur Kill (or creek), 83

Articles of Union (Vt.), 211-13 passim

Artillery Patent, N.Y., 201, 214

Asia (British warship), 48, 49, 87

Association (Ulster Co.), 137

Austin, John W, 117

Avery, Ephraim, 112

Axtell, William, 23, 27, 31, 33, 34

Baker, Remember, 202, 205, 207
Ballstown, N.Y., 156, 160, 166
Bancker, Adrian, 88, 92
Bancker, Evert, 88

Bancker family, 96

Baptist Church, 204, 214

233



234

Baptists, 201, 227; Suffolk Co., 74

Barnard, Adonijah, 191

Barnes, John, 206

Batten Kill (or creek), 201, 204, 214

battles: Bennington, 162; Brooklyn, 26;
Bunker Hill, 27, 29, 46; Concord, 9,
23, 46, 86, 158, 183; Forts
Montgomery and Clinton, 134;
Golden Hill, 6; Long Island, 50, 52,
56, 66, 67, 226; Oriskany, 10, 188-91
passim, 208; Pelham Bay, 117;
Saratoga, 53, 127, 134, 135, 156, 158,
162-66 passim, 188, 208—12 passim,
225; Stony Point, 135; Yorktown, 54,
95, 96, 122-23, 135, 212-13. See also
Lexington, Battle of

Baurmeister, Carl, 22

Bayard, Margaret, 214

Bedford Pass, N.Y., 28

Bedford, N.Y,, 28, 29, 109, 121

Beekman family, 130, 131

Beekman, Gerard G., Jr., 119, 123

Beekman patent, N.Y., 203

Bellinger, Frederick, 188

Bennington, Vt., 162, 209, 210

Benson, Egbert, 143

Benzel, Adolphus, 203

Billington, Samuel, 188

Billopps, Christopher, 83—-86 passim, 92,
95, 96

Billopps family, 11, 84

Black Creek, N.Y., 205, 206

Board of Associated Loyalists (Britain),
31

Boston, Mass., 87-90 passim, 93, 115,
160, 214; mentioned, 1, 8

Boston Massacre, 203

Boston Port Act (Britain), 1

Boston Tea Party, 8, 44

Boyd, John James, 90

Boyd, Robert, 132, 133

Bradshaw, James, 200, 205

Brant, Joseph, 180, 185, 188, 190, 209

Brant, Molly, 180, 182

Brewster, Caleb, 72, 228

Brewster, Joseph, 72, 228

Index

Brinckerhoff, Dirck, 128, 131, 142, 143,
148

Brookhaven, N.Y., 64-67 passim, 70,
73

Brooklyn Heights, N.Y., 24, 28, 29, 92,
93,116

Brooklyn, N.Y., 23-34 passim

Buell, Samuel, 65, 70

Burgoyne, John Lord, 10, 188; campaign
of 1777, 127, 134-35, 162, 164, 187,
207-208, 225; defeat at Saratoga, 135,
165

Burnaby, Andrew, 21

Bushwick, N.Y,, 31, 33

Butler, John, 185-91 passim

Butler, Walter, 190, 191, 209

Butler’s Rangers, 188

Byard, John, 119, 120

Caldwell, James, 189

Cambridge, N.Y., 156, 159, 162, 211

Canada (British), 115, 124; and Albany
Co., 157, 159-62 passim, 166; and
central Hudson Valley, 127, 134; and
Charlotte Co., 199, 203-15 passim;
and Revolution, 9, 11, 224, 225, 228;
and Tryon Co., 185, 186, 191; upper,
11

Canada (French), 10, 180

Canajoharie Creek, N.Y., 181

Canajoharie, N.Y., 181-84 passim, 188,
192

Cantine, Matthew, 133

Carleton, Christopher, 210

Carlisle Peace Commission, 53, 95

Carlisle, Earl of (Frederick Howard), 53,
95

Cassiltowne Manor, N.Y., 83

Castleton, N.Y,, 83

Catholics, 10

Catskill Mountains, N.Y., 146, 156

Catskill, N.Y., 159, 162

central Hudson Valley, 127-49;
slaveholders in, 143, 144; and
Revolution, 223, 224, 226

Champlain-Hudson corridor, 159



Index

Charleston, S.C., 25, 89, 93

Charlotte County, N.Y., 199-215, 226,
227; allegiance in, 200, 204, 205, 206;
mentioned, 9, 87, 155, 179

Charlton, Richard, 86

Chatfield, John, 70

Chatterton’s Hill, N.Y., 117

Cherry Valley, N.Y., 181, 190

Church of England. See Anglican
Church

Clark, Ebenezer, 206

Clark, Thomas, 201, 206, 214

Clarkson, David, 27

Claus, Daniel, 182, 185, 186, 189

Clinton County, N.Y., 199, 208

Clinton, George (Britain), 200

Clinton, George (N.Y.), 4; Albany (city),
163; central Hudson Valley, 128,
132-34 passim, 144, 148; Elizabeth
Irvine, 190; John Williams, 206;
Queens Co., 56, 57; slavery, 229;
Vermont, 210, 211; Westchester Co.,
115, 12224

Clinton, Henry, 28, 53, 93; André, 120,
121; Battle of Long Island, 25, 28-32
passim; British navy, 70; Burgoyne
campaign, 134, 135, 225; and
Vermont, 209, 213

Clinton, James, 190

Cochran, Robert, 202, 204, 207, 213

Coercive Acts. See Intolerable Acts

Colchester, Conn., 202

Colden, Alexander, 201

Colden, Cadwallader, 132; Charlotte
Co., 200, 201; Queens Co., 48

Colden, Cadwallader, Jr., 132

Colden, David, 48

Colden family, 131

Committee of Sixty (N.Y.C.), 85, 86

Committees of Correspondence: Albany
Co., 157-65 passim, 188;
Brookhaven, N.Y., 66; Flushing, N.Y.,
46; Jamaica, N.Y., 46; New York City,
46 113; Newtown, N.Y., 46; Queens
Co., 48; Suffolk Co., 65; Tryon Co.,
183-89 passim
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Committees of Observation (N.J.):
Elizabethtown, 86, 89; Woodbridge,
86

Committees of Safety: Albany Co., 158;
Brookhaven, N.Y., 66; central Hudson
Valley, 135, 136, 137, 138, 148;
Dutchess Co., 138; Huntington, N.Y.,
66, 67; Kinderhook, N.Y., 160;
Kingston, N.Y., 129, 136, 137, 140;
Mohawk District, 184; New Windsor,
N.Y.,, 132, 138, 139; New York City,
87, 88; New York State, 115, 118,
189; Poughkeepsie, N.Y., 139;
Richmond Co., 88, 89, 91, 95;
Schenectady, N.Y., 158; Suffolk Co.,
67, 73; Ulster Co., 131, 132, 137, 138,
146; Westchester Co., 115, 118

Common Council (Albany), 163

Common Sense, 123

Coney Island, N.Y., 34

Confiscation Act of 1784 (N.Y.), 123

Confiscation of Loyalist property, 228;
Albany Co., 160, 164; central Hudson
Valley, 130, 141; Dutchess Co., 143,
148; Charlotte Co., 208, 209, 214,
Kings Co., 33, 34; Queens Co., 55,
56; Richmond Co., 96; Suffolk Co.,
69, 72; Westchester, 122

Congregational Church: Westchester Co.,
108

Congregationalists, 199; Suffolk Co., 74

Connecticut, 90, 91, 145; and Albany
Co., 161; and Charlotte Co., 200-207
passim; eastern, 205, 206, 225; and
Kings Co., 25, 27, 31, 33;
northeastern, 206; southwestern, 200,
206; and Suffolk Co., 63—73 passim;
and Tryon Co., 181, 191; and
Westchester Co., 108, 109, 118, 121;
western, 205, 206; western boundary,
203

Connecticut Assembly, 69

Connecticut Valley, 9

Conner, Richard, 86, 89

Continental Association, 8; central
Hudson Valley, 137; Charlotte Co.,
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Continental Association (continued)
206, 207; Kings Co., 23, 24; Queens
Co., 46, 47; Richmond Co., 85, 86;
Suffolk Co., 65, 72; Tryon Co., 183,
186, 187; Westchester Co., 113, 118

Continental Congress, 8; and Albany
Co., 157, 159; and Kings Co., 23, 24;
and Queens Co., 46, 47, 48, 49; and
Suffolk Co., 63, 65, 73; and Charlotte
Co., 206-12 passim; and Richmond
Co., 85, 86, 89; and Tryon Co., 186;
and Westchester Co., 112-66 passim,
120, 121, 123

Cornwallis, Charles Lord, 117, 122;
Kings Co., 25, 27, 28, 29; Richmond
Co., 93,95

Cortelyou, Aaron, 87

Cortlandt, Manor of, N.Y., 114

Countryman, Edward, 131

Court of Common Pleas (Queens Co.),
53

Court of Police (Long Island), 53, 54

Court of Police (Richmond Co.), 95

Cowboys (Loyalists), 119

Cowenhoven family, 22

Cox, David, 184

Cox, Ebenezer, 184, 188

Cox family, 184

Cox, Julian, 184

Coxsackie, N.Y., 156, 160, 162, 163

Crary, Catherine S., 119

Cresswell, Nicholas, 94

Crossfield, Stephen, 203, 214

Croton, N.Y., 109, 121

crowd actions: central Hudson Valley,
137, 139, 140, 141; New York City, 7.
See also land riots

Crown Point, N.Y., 158, 200-209 passim

Culper Spy Ring, 69

Cumberland County, N.Y., 87, 155

Cunningham, William, 32

Currency Act of 1764 (Britain), 5, 6

Cuyler, Abraham C., 160, 164

Dawson, Rachel, 94
De Grasse, Count Francois, 121

Index

De Lancey faction, 110, 111

De Lancey family, 108, 111, 119

De Lancey, James, 122

De Lancey, John, 110, 111

De Lancey, Oliver, 28, 69, 70

De Lancey’s Rangers, 121, 122

de St. Méry, Moreau, 34

Decker, Isaac, 89, 92

Declaration of Independence, 24, 47, 73,
115, 160, 230

Declaratory Act of 1766 (Britain), 7

Delaware, 27, 117

DeWitt, Charles, 133

Ditmas, Dow, 49

Dobbs Ferry, N.Y., 121, 122

Dongan family, 84

Doyle, Darby, 90

Duane, James, 113, 166, 202

Duanesburgh, N.Y., 166

Duer, William, 146, 203, 207

Dunmore, Earl of (John Murray), 24, 31,
93

Dupuy, Barent, Jr., 93

Dupuy, Barent, Sr., 93

Dutch Reformed Church, 227; Albany
Co., 164; Kings Co., 21; mid-Hudson
Valley, 128; Queens Co., 45;
Richmond Co., 84, 88; Westchester
Co., 108, 111

Dutch, 10; Albany Co., 10, 156, 162,
166, 225; central Hudson Valley, 128,
129, 130, 147, 225; Charlotte Co.,
203; Kings Co., 21-23 passim, 27, 28,
30, 33, 224; Queens Co., 45;
Richmond Co., 83, 84, 97;
‘Westchester Co., 108

Dutchess County, N.Y., 127-49, 214;
allegiance in, 141; and Revolution, 4,
10, 223-28 passim; rioting in, 202;
southern, 108; and Westchester Co.,
108, 109, 116, 118

Dygert, John, 188

Dygert, Warner, 184

East Chester, N.Y., 109, 114
East Hampton, N.Y., 65, 66, 70
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East India Company (Britain), 8
Easthampton, N.Y., 64
Edick, Michael, 188
Elizabethtown, N.J., 84, 89
Ellison family, 131, 139
Ellison, William, 139, 140
Elmendorph, Coenradt, 145
emancipation of slaves (manumission),
34,75, 144, 148, 165, 228-29
Erskine, William, 68
Essex County, N.Y., 199
Evertsen, Cornelis, 22

Fairbanks, Samuel, 212

Fairfield County, Conn., 206

Fanning, Edmund, 119, 120

Ferguson, Patrick, 52

Ferry House Tavern, N.Y., 30

Finck, Andrew, 184

Fish, Frederick, 184

Fisher, Frederick, 186

Fishkill, N.Y., 143

Flatbush, N.Y., 23, 27-34

Flatlands, N.Y., 23, 27, 28, 30

Floyd, Benjamin, 65, 72, 228

Floyd family, 73

Floyd, Hannah, 73

Floyd, Richard, 64, 65, 66, 72, 73

Floyd, William, 64, 73

Flushing, N.Y., 43-46 passim

Fonda, Adam, 184

Fonda, Douwe, 191

Fonda, Jelles, 180-92, passim

Fordham, Manor of, N.Y., 109

Forfeiture Act of 1779 (N.Y.): Albany
Co., 169; central Hudson Valley, 143;
Charlotte Co., 209; Queens Co., 55;
Tryon Co., 189; Westchester Co., 122

Fort Stanwix, Treaty of, 180, 228; Treaty
Line, 184

forts: Anne, 210; Clinton, 134;
Constitution, 134, 138; Defiance, 25;
Edward, 200, 203, 207-11 passim;
Franklin, 70; George, 200, 208, 210;
Golgatha, 71, 72; Herkimer, 183;
Johnson, 183; Lee, 116, 118; Lower
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Fort (Schoharie), 166; Middle Fort
(Middleburgh), 166; Miller, 203, 207;
Montgomery, 134; Niagara, 185, 190;
Number Eight, 122; Stanwix, 179,
184, 187, 188, 190; Stirling, 25;
Ticonderoga, 158, 159; Washington,
116, 118; West Point, 134, 135, 209,
210, 212

Foster, John, 72

Franklin County, N.Y., 199

Freeman, 7

French and Indian War. See Seven Years’
‘War

French Reformed Church: in Westchester
Co., 111

Frey family, 188

Frey, Heinrich, 181

Frey, John, 184, 186, 188

Frothingham, David, 75

Gage, Thomas, 9, 86, 88, 203, 214

Gambold, Hector, 86

Gates, Horatio, 161, 225

General Association (N.Y.), 24, 88

George 111, King (Britain), 30, 113, 114,
119

Germain, Lord George, 51

German Camp (or Germantown), N.Y.,
156

German Flats, N.Y., 181-91 passim

Germans, 10, 182; Albany Co., 156, 162,
166; central Hudson Valley, 128, 129,
130; Tryon Co., 180, 181; Westchester
Co., 108

Gilliland, William, 201, 202, 203, 207,
214

Gloucester County, N.Y., 87, 155

Glover, John, 117

Governors Island, N.Y., 25

Gowanus, N.Y., 25-29 passim

Grant, James, 29

Granville, N.Y., 202, 205, 206

Gravesend Bay, N.Y., 26, 67, 92

Gravesend, N.Y., 26, 27, 34

Great Imboght, N.Y., 156, 162

Green Mountain Boys, 205-209 passim
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Green Mountains, 7, 9, 201, 203, 204,
226

Greene, Nathanael, 25

Grenville ministry, 1, 5

Greyhound (British warship), 91

Groth, Michael, 143

Guy Park, 182, 184, 185

Haldimand, Frederick, 185, 210, 212,
213

Half Moon, N.Y., 156

Halifax, Canada, 5, 90, 91

Hamilton, Alexander, 229

Hamilton, Archibald, 52, 53

Hardenbergh, Abraham, 132

Hardenbergh family, 128, 131, 132, 148

Hardenbergh, Johannes, 131, 132

Hardenbergh Patent, N.Y., 128, 131

Harris, Abraham, 89

Harrison, John T., 92, 93

Hart, Joshua, 71

Hasbrouck family, 128, 132, 148

Hasbrouck, John, 131, 132, 133

Hasbrouck, William, 131

Haslet, John, 117

Hatfield Hill, N.Y., 117

Havens family, 66

Havens, Nicoll, 64

Heard, Nathaniel, 47, 88, 89

Heath, William, 90, 117, 212

Hebron, Conn., 202

Heldeberg Mountains, 156, 167, 168

Hempstead, N.Y., 43—49 passim, 56;
north, 9, 45, 47; south, 9, 45

Herkimer family, 184

Herkimer, George, 184

Herkimer, Nicholas, 182-88 passim

Hessians, 162; in Kings Co., 22, 26-31
passim; in Richmond County, 84, 93,
94; in Westchester Co., 116, 117, 120

Hewlett, Richard, 48, 49

Hoosick, N.Y., 156, 162

Horne, Field, 83

Horsmanden, Daniel, 23

Howe brothers, 26, 51, 52, 93

Howe, Richard, Lord, 25, 49, 51, 93

Howe, William, 134; Kings Co., 25-33
passim; Queens Co., 49; Richmond
Co., 87, 88, 91, 92, 93; Suffolk Co.,
67; Westchester Co., 116, 117, 118

Hudibras. See Smyth, George

Hudson River, 187, 225, 226; and
Albany Co., 155-57 passim, 162, 164,
168; and central Hudson Valley,
127-49 passim; and Charlotte Co.,
199-203 passim, 208—12 passim; east
bank, 9, 109, 116, 128, 129, 142; iron
chain, 135; upper, 200, 203; west
bank, 4, 108, 120, 128-32 passim,
138, 143, 167; Westchester Co., 108,
116, 118-22 passim

Hudson Valley, 4, 6, 9, 156, 159;
Highlands, 212; lower, 116, 160;
northern 135, 149. See also central
Hudson Valley

Hudson-Mohawk region, 155, 156

Huguenots: central Hudson Valley, 128,
130; Westchester Co., 108, 109, 111

Huntington, N.Y., 64—74 passim

Hyde, N.Y., 203, 205, 207

Intolerable Acts (Britain), 1, 8, 65, 112

Ireland, 86, 201, 202

Irine, Elizabeth, 189

Irish, 199-203 passim; Albany Co., 156

Iroquois Confederacy (Six Nations): and
Tryon Co., 179-91 passim; Cayugas,
179, 190; Mohawks, 179-92 passim,
203; Oneidas, 179, 181; Onondagas,
179, 190, 203; and Revolution, 228;
Senacas, 179, 190; Tuscaroras, 179,
181

Irving, Washington, 119, 128, 146, 147

Islip, N.Y., 64

Jackson, John, 33

Jacobson, Christian, 90, 95

Jamaica Bay, N.Y., 26

Jamaica Pass, N.Y., 28

Jamaica, N.Y., 43-47 passim; Battle of
Long Island, 26, 28; mentioned, 9, 68

James (merchant ship), 85
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Jay, John, 4, 113

Jessup family, 205, 207

Jessup, Ebenezer, 203, 205, 207;
attainted, 164, 209

Jessup, Edward, 203, 207; attainted, 164,
209

Jews: Westchester Co., 108

Johnson family, 180, 183, 184, 186;
mentioned, 11

Johnson, Guy, 184, 185; marriage, 182;
opposes Continental Association, 183

Johnson Hall, N.Y., 183, 186, 187, 189;
mentioned, 10

Johnson, Mary, 187

Johnson, Sir John, 186-91 passim;
Mohawk Valley expedition, 209;
opposes Continental Association, 183;
in Schoharie Valley, 166

Johnson, Sir William, 10, 11, 164; and
Tryon County, 180-85 passim

Johnstown, N.Y., 183, 184, 185, 190,
191, 209

Jones, Thomas, 31, 32, 48; and Queens
Co., 50, 53, 54

Journeay, John, 87

Kemble, Margaret, 214

Kempe, John Tabor, 201, 202, 209

Killingly, Conn., 202, 206

Kinderhook, N.Y., 156, 160, 161, 162,
164

King George’s War, 200

King’s American Dragoons, 71

Kings Bridge, N.Y., 117, 121, 122

Kings County, N.Y., 17-34; allegiance
in, 22, 23, 24, 30; mentioned, 43, 44,
84; in Revolution, 223-27 passim

Kings District, N.Y., 156, 161, 162, 165

King’s Ferry, N.Y., 120, 122

Kingsbury, N.Y., 200, 202, 205, 206

Kingsland, N.Y., 183, 184

Kingston, N.Y., 136, 145, 163;
described, 128; Loyalists, 137;
mobing in, 138, 139, 140; raided, 134,
135

Kipp, Samuel, 119
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Kissam, Benjamin, 87
Kissam, Daniel, 48

Klock, George, 184

Klock, Jacob, 184, 189
Knickerbacker, Johannes, 166

L’Hommedieu, Ezra, 73

Lake Champlain, 9, 199-203 passim,
207, 210-15 passim; northern, 203

Lake George, 9, 199, 200, 208, 211

land patents: New Hampshire, 9; New
York (colony), 9

land riots (N.J.), 7

land riots (N.Y.), 203; Albany Co., 202;
Hudson Valley, 6, 128, 129, 141;
Dutchess Co., 7, 129, 202;
Westchester Co., 109

Lansingburgh, N.Y., 156, 211, 212

Lawrence, Jonathan, 138

Lawrence, Mrs. Jonathan, 138, 140

Lawrence, Richard, 87, 88

Leake, Robert, 164

Lebanon, Conn., 202

Lee, Charles, 88, 89; and Kings Co., 24,
25; and Queens Co., 48

Leffertse family, 22

Leger, Barry St., 187, 188

Leisler, Jacob, 22

Leisler’s Rebellion, 22

Lewis, Francis, 115

Lexington, Battle of, 23, 46, 86, 141,
158; and Tryon Co., 183, 185; impact
in New York (colony), 7, 9

Liberty Pole Riot (N.Y.C.), 112

Litchfield County, Conn., 205

Litchfield, Conn., 205, 206

Livingston family, 111, 130, 131, 148;
Clermont, 135; mentioned, 4, 10

Livingston faction, 10, 110, 111

Livingston Manor, N.Y., 156, 163, 225

Livingston, Philip, 131, 148; elected to
Continental Congress, 113; elected to
State Ratifying Convention, 123

Livingston, Robert R., 129

Livingston, Robert, 131, 133, 142, 148

Livingston, Robert, Jr., 131
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Livingston, William, 6, 89, 90

Lloyd, Henry, II, 72

Lloyd, John, II, 72, 228

Lloyd’s Neck, N.Y., 70

Long Island Herald, 75

Long Island Sound, 24, 27-33 passim,
43, 64,70, 71, 108, 109, 116, 121;
mentioned, 9, 11

Long Island, N.Y., 83, 88, 92, 108, 116,
118, 129; eastern, 28, 64, 70; northern,
43; postwar, 223-28 passim; Queens
Co., 50-53 passim; south shore, 31;
Suffolk Co., 63-74 passim; western,
21, 92, 93; Whig refugees, 31

Lord Stirling (William Alexander), 25,
29

Lossie, Isaac, 49

Lott family, 22

Low, Isaac, 113

Loyalist refugees: Albany Co., 160, 163,
164, 165; Charlotte Co., 207, 209,
210; New Jersey, 94; Richmond Co.,
96; Tryon Co., 185, 187, 190

Luddington, Henry, 131, 138, 142

Ludlow, Gabriel G., 48

Ludlow, George D., 48, 53, 54

Luke, Myron, 70

Lutheran Church: Albany, 164

Lutherans, 10

Lydius, John Henry, 200, 205

Lyon, James, 66

Macdonogh, Thomas, 94

Mamaroneck, N.Y., 109, 114

Manhattan Island, N.Y., 160, 225; and
Kings Co., 21, 25-34 passim;
northern, 116, 118; and Richmond
Co., 83, 88; and Westchester Co.,
116-18 passim

Marbletown, N.Y., 137, 146

Marsh, William, 206

martial law: Queens Co., 52, 53, 54;
Richmond Co., 95; Suffolk Co., 67

Masons: in Tryon Co., 185

Massachusetts, 23, 86, 117; and Albany
Co., 160, 165; and Charlotte Co.,

Index

200-205 passim, 211, 212;
northwestern, 209, 212, 215;
southwestern, 205; and Revolution, 8,
9; and Tryon Co., 180, 183, 191;
western, 202, 205

Mather, Frederick, 71

Mathews, David, 23

McDonald, Alexander, 90

McDonald, Susannah, 90

McDonnell clan, 10

McDougal, Daniel, 184

McDougal, Duncan, 184

Melrose Hall, N.Y., 23

Mercer, Hugh, 94

merchants: Albany, 159, 160, 167;
British, 11; and crowd actions, 139;
central Hudson Valley, 146; New York
City, 6, 22; price controls, 137; Tryon
Co., 188; Ulster Co., 131

Mersereau family, 92, 96

Messier, Peter, 139, 140

Methodist Church: Suffolk Co., 74

Methodists, 227; Suffolk Co., 74

Micheau family, 84

Micheau, Paul, Jr., 87

Middleburgh, N.Y., 166

Middletown, Conn., 73

Miller, Burnet, 66

Milner, John, 110

Mohawk District, 183; northern, 186

Mohawk River, 166, 167, 180, 181, 186,
200, 211; mentioned, 9, 10; north
bank, 182, 183; south bank, 184

Mohawk Valley, 4, 10, 11, 134; and
Albany Co., 156-59 passim; and
Charlotte Co., 203, 208, 209, 212; and
Tryon Co., 181-83 passim, 187, 190,
191

Monier, John, 160

Montgomery County, N.Y., 226

Montgomery, Richard, 225

Montreal, Canada, 182, 185, 187

Montresor, John, 202

Moravian Church, 87; Richmond Co., 86

Moravians, 86, 87, 90; Richmond Co.,
84
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Morris County, N.J., 202

Morris family, 108, 111, 113
Morris, Lewis, 110, 114, 115, 123
Morris, Roger, 109, 129, 143, 148
Morrisania, Manor of, N.Y., 109
Muirson, George, 64, 65, 72, 73
Mulford, Ezekiel, 70

Munro, John, 166

Native Americans, 21, 64, 134; Albany
Co., 155, 156, 159, 163, 166; and
Revolution, 6, 10, 11, 227, 228;
Westchester Co., 108, 109

New City, N.Y., 211, 212

New England, 28, 31; and Albany Co.
156, 160, 161, 166, 167; and central
Hudson Valley, 127, 129, 141; and
Charlotte Co., 199-206 passim; and
Revolution, 4, 7, 9, 10, 224; and
Suffolk Co., 64, 65, 70; and Tryon
Co., 181, 187; and Westchester Co.,
109, 116

New Hampshire, 71, 200-205 passim,
208, 212; rioters from, 202, 203;
western boundary, 200, 201

New Haven, Conn., 202, 206

New Jersey, 71, 108, 118, 199; and

Kings Co., 27, 28, 31; and Revolution,

7, 11; and Richmond Co., 83-94
passim; eastern, 90, 92, 93, 94
New Lots, N.Y., 28
New Milford, Conn., 205
New Paltz, N.Y., 131; Duzine, 131, 136
New Perth, N.Y., 205, 206, 214

New Rochelle, N.Y., 109-14 passim, 121

New Utrecht, N.Y., 26-34 passim

New Windsor, N.Y., 122, 127, 129,
13546 passim

New York (colony) Assembly: and
central Hudson Valley, 131, 133, 142;
and Queens Co., 46, 48; and
Richmond Co., 84, 85; and Suffolk
Co., 66; and Westchester Co., 110-15
passim

New York (colony) Governor’s Council,
111, 114, 203

New York (colony) Provincial Congress,
227; and Albany Co., 157, 158; and
central Hudson Valley, 130-36
passim, 142, 14648 passim; and
Kings Co., 23-30 passim; and Queens
Co., 46-49 passim; and Richmond
Co., 86-91 passim; and Suffolk Co.,
65-73 passim; and Tryon Co., 187;
and Westchester Co., 115, 116

New York (colony) Provincial
Convention, 206

New York (state) Assembly: and central
Hudson Valley, 131-33 passim,
138-48 passim; and Queens Co., 56,
57; and Suffolk Co., 66, 73; and Tryon
Co., 182, 188

New York (state) Commissioners for
Detecting and Defeating Conspiracies,
164, 165, 166, 189; in Charlotte Co.,
210; in Tryon Co., 189

New York (state) Commissioners of
Forfeiture, 123

New York (state) Commissioners of
Sequestration: in Tryon Co., 189

New York (state) Constitution of 1777,
189

New York (state) Convention, 23, 26,
160

New York (state) Council of
Appointments, 73

New York (state) Council of Revisions,
144

New York (state) Ratifying Convention,
74,123

New York (state) Senate, 73, 74

New York (state) Society for Promoting
the Manumission of Slaves, 34, 144

New York (state) Supreme Court, 48, 55

New York Bay, N.Y., 25

New York City, N.Y.: and Albany Co.,
157, 160, 163; and central Hudson
Valley, 127-29 passim, 133-35
passim, 142, 146; and Charlotte Co.,
202, 203, 209; and Kings Co., 22-24
passim, 29-33 passim; and Queens
Co., 43-51 passim; and Revolution,
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New York City (continued)
1, 4, 7-12 passim, 223-26 passim;

and Richmond Co., 84-93 passim; and

Suffolk Co., 63—67 passim, 71; and
Tryon Co., 182, 187, 191; and
Westchester Co., 108-22 passim

New York County, N.Y., 21, 223, 226

New York Gazette and Weekly Mercury,
115

New York harbor, 83, 87, 91, 116, 224

New York Packet, 56

Newark, N.J., 92

Newburgh, N.Y., 127, 135

Newport, R.I, 1, 4, 121

Newtown, Conn., 206

Newtown, N.Y., 43, 44, 46, 47

Niagara, N.Y., 166, 212, 224, 228

Nicoll, William, 64

North Carolina, 181; Regulator
Movement, 7

North Castle, N.Y., 109, 117-21 passim

North Hempstead, N.Y., 43

North ministry, 8, 9

Northfield, N.Y., 83

Norton, Nathaniel, 72, 228

Norwalk, Conn., 206

Nostran, Samuel, 49

Nova Scotia, Canada, 124

oath of allegiance: Loyalists in Kings
Co., 30

Oathout, Henry, 189

Oliver, Andrew, 137

Onondaga, N.Y., 190

Ontario, Canada, 11

Orange County, N.Y., 116, 128-35
passim, 14446 passim; and
Revolution, 1, 223-26 passim

Oswego, N.Y., 187

Oyster Bay, N.Y., 43, 45

Paine, Thomas, 123

Palatine District, N.Y., 184
Palmer, Thomas, 203

Paris, Isaac, 184, 186, 187, 188

Index

Parker, Daniel, 146

Paulding, John, 120

Peekskill, N.Y., 118, 119, 120, 121

Pelham, Manor of, N.Y., 109

Pell family, 108

Pell’s Point, N.Y., 117

Pelletreau, Elias, 72

Pennsylvania, 1, 7, 10, 25-28 passim,
145; Paxton Boys, 7; western, 184

Perth Amboy, N.J., 84

Petry, William, 184

Pfister, Francis, 162

Philadelphia, Pa., 8, 113, 115, 134, 139,
203; mentioned, 1

Philips, Mills, 72, 228

Philipsburgh, Manor of, N.Y., 109, 123,
124

Philipse family, 108, 111

Philipse, Frederick, 113, 114, 118, 122

Philipse’s Highland Patent, N.Y., 109

Platt, Zephaniah (Charlotte Co.), 214

Platt, Zephaniah (Suffolk Co.), 69

Porter, Tom, 191

Potter, Gilbert, 74

Poughkeepsie, N.Y., 128, 129, 136, 139,
140

Powel, Silas, 74

Presbyterian Church, 201-204 passim,
227; Albany, 164; Suffolk Co., 65,
70-74 passim, 108

Presbyterians, 199; Queens Co., 9,
44-47 passim, 224; Richmond Co.,
84; Suffolk Co., 70, 74

Presbytery: in Suffolk Co., 71

Prime, Ebenezer, 65, 71

Proclamation of 1763, 5, 201, 203

Provincials Patent, N.Y., 201, 209

Purdy’s Hill, N.Y., 117

Putnam, Israel, 27, 90, 117

Quakers. See Society of Friends

Quartering Act (Britain), 6

Quebec Act (Britain), 129

Quebec, Canada, 159, 210

Queens County, N.Y., 43-57; allegiance
in, 44-51 passim, 54; Board of
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Supervisors, 53; Loyalist refugees, 55;
martial law, 57; mentioned, 26, 28, 31,
64—67 passim, 71, 87, 223-27 passim;
south shore, 43, 49; western, 44, 45,
47,49

Rachel (Dutchess Co. slave), 144

Ranlet, Philip, 84

Rapalje, John, 33

Rapelje family, 22

Raritan Bay, 83

Rawdon, Francis, Lord, 94

Red Hook, N.Y., 23, 25

Redding, Conn., 206

Remsen family, 22

Rensselaer, N.Y., 9

Rensselaerswyck, Manor of, N.Y., 156,
157, 159, 168; mentioned, 225

Rensselaerwyck, N.Y., 129

Revenue Act of 1762 (Britain), 5

Revenue Act of 1764 (Britain), 5, 110

Rhode Island, 4, 27, 201, 204

Richmond County, N.Y., 83-97;
allegiance in, 84—85; British
occupation, 96; and Elizabethtown,
N.J, 84, 86, 89; Heard’s expedition,
88-89; martial law, 95; mentioned, 11,
223-27 passim

Ridgefield, Conn., 206

riots, 138, 139, 141; central Hudson
Valley, 139; New York, 139, 141. See
also crowd actions

rivers: Bethlehem, 168; Bronx, 117, 121;
Coeymans, 168; Connecticut, 200,
201, 203, 211; Croton, 108, 117, 118,
120, 122; East, 21, 24, 29, 33, 43, 92,
108, 116; Guilderland, 168; Harlem,
108, 122; Housatonic, 201;
Hutchinson, 108; Pocantico, 108; Saw
Mill, 108; Shrewsbury, 71; St.
Lawrence, 187; Thames, 71; Unadilla,
160; Walloomsac, 162. See also
Hudson River

Rivington’s New-York Gazetteer, 69, 114

Robertson, James, 50, 53, 92, 95

Robinson family, 131
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Robinson, Beverly, 109, 129, 131,
141-43 passim, 148

Rochambeau, Comte de, 107, 121

Rockaway, N.Y., 49

Rockingham ministry, 7

Rodney, George, 51

Ross, John, 190, 191

Rubel, Johannes, 23, 27

Rye, N.Y,, 109, 111, 112, 113

Sag Harbor, N.Y., 72, 75

Salem, N.Y. See New Perth, N.Y.

Sands, Comfort, 33

Sands, Joshua, 33

Sandy Hook, N.J., 92

Saybrook, Conn., 205

Scandinavians: in Westchester Co., 108

Schaghticoke, N.Y., 156, 160—66 passim

Schenectady, N.Y., 156-66 passim

Schoharie Creek, 166

Schoharie Valley, N.Y., 166

Schoharie, N.Y., 156, 160

Schuyler, Philip, 115, 133, 158-62
passim, 166, 186-89 passim, 211

Scotland, 202

Scots Irish: in Albany Co., 164

Scots, 199, 201-206 passim; in Albany
Co., 156; mentioned, 10

Scott, John Morin, 142, 201

Scudder, Henry, 72

Seabury, Samuel, 112, 113, 114, 118

Seaman, Benjamin, 85, 86, 87, 96

Seaman family, 84

Seeber, William, 184

Seelye, Benjamin, 205

Seelye, Ebenezer, 205

Serle, Ambrose, 51

Setauket, N.Y., 65, 69

Seven Years’ War, 22, 27, 110, 156, 159,
164; and Charoltte Co., 199-201
passim; and Revolution, 4, 6, 9, 10,
223, 225

Shakers, 165; Albany Co., 225

Shawangunk Mountains, 128

Shelter Island, N.Y., 64, 66, 73

Sherriff, William, 214
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Sherwood, Justus, 205, 210, 213

Sherwood, Seth, 205

Sherwood, Thomas, 205

Simcoe, John Graves, 70, 94

Simsbury, Conn., 205

Sing Sing, N.Y., 120

Skene, Philip, 200-205 passim, 209,
214

Skenesborough House, N.Y., 203

Skenesborough, N.Y., 201-208 passim,
211,214

Skinner, Cortlandt, 93

Skinners (Whigs), 119

slave insurrections: fears of, 24

slaveholders: central Hudson Valley,
143, 144; Dutchess Co., 143; Kings
Co., 22, 24; Richmond Co., 93;
Suffolk Co., 64, 74; Westchester Co.,
108

slavery, 12, 144; Albany Co., 156, 165;
central Hudson Valley, 128, 143, 144,
148; fugitives, 22, 31-34 passim, 93,
119, 144, 148, 165; Kings Co., 23,
32, 34, 226; New York State, 144;
military actions, 32; Queens Co., 43,
44; Richmond Co., 83; Suffolk Co.,
64, 74, 75; Tryon Co., 191;
Westchester Co., 108. See also
emancipation of slaves

Smith, Daniel, 64

Smith, Epenetus, 68, 69

Smith family, 64

Smith, Job, 94

Smith, Josiah, 66, 67

Smith, Melancton, 4, 146

Smith, William, 130

Smithtown, N.Y., 64, 67-74 passim

Smyth, Edward, 207

Smyth, George, 207, 209, 210, 213

Smyth, Patrick, 203, 207

Smyth, Terence, 210, 213

Snell, Jacob, 188

Snyder, Johannes, 132

Society for the Propagation of the
Gospel in Foreign Parts (S.P.G.), 112;
in Westchester Co., 112

Society of Friends: Queens Co., 45, 47;
slavery, 144; Westchester Co., 108

South Carolina, 214; Regulator
Movement, 7

South Hempstead, N.Y., 43

Southampton, N.Y., 64, 71, 72

Southfield, N.Y., 83

Southold, N.Y., 64, 65, 70, 73, 74

St. George’s Manor, N.Y., 73

St. Leger, Barry, 10

Stamford, Conn., 205, 206

Stamp Act (Britain), 47, 85, 110, 112,
156, 157; described 6-7; mentioned,
202, 223

Stark, John, 212

Staten Island, N.Y. See Richmond
County, N.Y.

Stedman, Charles, 117

Stiles, Henry, 32

Stirling, Lord (William Alexander), 1,
90, 94

Stockton, Richard, 51, 52

Stony Point, N.Y., 135

Storrs, John, 70

Stratford, Conn., 205, 206

Sudaym family, 22

Suffolk County, N.Y., 26, 43, 45, 63-75;
allegiance in, 65-69 passim; Loyalist
refugees, 72; in Revolution, 223,
224-28 passim; Whig refugees, 63,
69, 72

Sugar Act. See Revenue Act of 1764

Sullivan, John, 25, 27, 28, 94, 190

Sullivan-Clinton Campaign, 190

Swarthout, Jacobus, 128, 131, 142

Tallmadge, Benjamin, 65, 70, 72, 228
Tarleton, Banastre, 68

Tarrytown, N.Y., 111, 120, 121

Tea Act (Britain), 8, 44, 112, 157
Ten Broeck, Abraham, 158, 159
Thomas, John, 115

Thompson, Benjamin, 68, 71
Thompson, John, 185

Throg’s Neck, N.Y., 116
Ticonderoga, N.Y., 200—12 passim
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Totten, Joseph, 203, 214

Townshend Acts (Britain), 1, 7, 8, 110,
112

Townshend, George, 7

Treasury Board (Britain), 8

Tredwell, Thomas, 64, 73, 74, 75

Trespass Act (New York), 56

Troy, N.Y., 211

Trumbull, Jonathan, 66, 91

Tryon County, N.Y., 155, 179-92;
allegiance in, 180; in Revolution,
224-28 passim; western, 166; western
boundary, 179

Tryon, William, 23, 92, 112, 202, 203;
and Queens Co., 48, 49

Tunnicliff family, 160

Turner, Alexander, 201

Ulster County, N.Y., 116, 128-46
passim, 179, 223-26 passim
Ulster, Ireland, 9

Van Brunt family, 22

Van Buskirk, Abraham, 94

Van Cortlandt family, 108, 109, 110, 111

Van Cortlandt, Cornelia, 119, 123

Van Cortlandt, Manor of, N.Y., 109-14
passim

Van Cortlandt, Philip, 112, 123

Van Cortlandt, Pierre, 109-15 passim,
119, 123

Van Renssalaer, Jeremiah, 189

Van Rensselaer, Manor of, N.Y., 161

Van Rensselaer, Stephen, 3rd, 168

Van Schaack family, 161

Van Schaack, Henry, 161

Van Schaack, Peter, 161

Van Schaick, Goose, 159, 190

van Sinderen, Ulpianus, 23

Van Slyck, Harmanus, 184, 188

Van Wart, Isaac, 120

Vandeput, George, 48, 49

Vaughn, John, 135

Veeder, Volkert, 184

Vermont, 162, 166, 199, 200, 205-15
passim, 226; mentioned, 144;
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southwestern, 211; western, 199, 210;
western boundary, 209, 211, 212,
215

Verplanck, James, 111

Verplanck, Philip, 111

Verplanck’s Point, N.Y., 122

Virginia, 24, 28, 90, 93, 121; western,
184

von Heister, Philip, 26

Von Steuben, Frederick, 213

Voting Act of 1784 (N.Y.), 55, 56

Waggoner, Peter, 184

Waldeck, Chaplain, 22

Wall, Edward, 184, 185

Wallabout, N.Y., 25, 33

Wallingford, Conn., 202

Wansey, Henry, 33

Warner, Seth, 202, 205, 206

Warren County, N.Y., 199

Washington County, N.Y., 199, 213, 214,
226

Washington, George, 1; and Albany Co.,
166; and central Hudson Valley, 127,
134, 135, 144; and Kings Co., 24-29
passim, 33, 34; and Richmond Co.,
88-92 passim, 95; and Suffolk Co.,
63, 69, 70, 75; and Tryon Co., 209-13
passim; and Westchester Co., 107,
115-22 passim

Waterbury, Conn., 206

Watervliet, N.Y., 165, 168, 225

Wayne, Anthony, 135

Webster, Alexander, 206, 211

Wentworth, Benning, 200

West Chester, Borough of, N.Y., 109-14
passim

West Indies, 8, 22, 110, 113, 128, 157

West Point, N.Y., 120

Westchester County, N.Y., 105-24;
mentioned. 129, 130, 135; “Neutral
Ground”, 119, 121; northeast, 109;
northern, 117, 118, 121; in
Revolution, 10, 223-28 passim;
southeastern, 114; southern, 116, 225

Westfield, N.Y., 83
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Wetherhead, John, 87

whaleboat warfare, 71

Whig refugees: from Albany Co., 163;
from Canada, 159; from lower New
York, 160; from New York frontier,
160; from Richmond Co., 92; from
Tryon Co., 189; in Albany Co., 164,
167

White Creek, N.Y. See New Perth, N.Y.

White Plains, N.Y., 109, 113—17 passim,
120, 121

White, Alexander, 183, 185, 186

Whitestone, N.Y., 75

Wickes, Eliphalet, 64

Wickes, Thomas, 73

Wickham, Parker, 65, 72

Wilkins, Isaac, 114

Williams, David, 120

Williams, John, 206

Willsborough, N.Y., 202, 203, 206

women, 229; and boycotts, 128; and
crowd actions, 139, 140, 228; and
democratization of power, 228; in
Iroquois Confederacy, 182; and the
war effort, 146, 228

Wood, Gordon, 73

Wood, Silas, 68

Woodbridge, N.J., 84, 88

Woodbury, Conn., 202, 205, 206

Woodhull, Nathaniel, 64, 66

Wooster, David, 66

Wyckoft family, 22

Yale College, Conn., 112

Yates, Abraham Jr., 4, 158, 191
Yates, Christopher, 184, 191

Yates, Christopher P., 184, 189
Yonkers, N.Y., 109, 111, 118, 121
Young Hudibras. See Smyth, Terence.
Younglove, Moses, 188



